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This Annual Report on Form 10−K and the documents incorporated herein by reference contain forward−looking statements based on our current
expectations, estimates and projections about our industry, beliefs, and certain assumptions made by us. Words such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “estimates,”
“expects,” “projections,” “may,” “potential,” “plan,” “continue” and words of similar import, constitute “forward−looking statements.” The
forward−looking statements contained in this report involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results to be
materially different from those expressed or implied by these statements. These factors include those listed under the “Risk Factors” section contained in Item 1
and elsewhere in this Form 10−K, and the other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, including our most recent reports on
Form 8−K and Form 10−Q, and amendments thereto. We cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. You should not place
undue reliance on these forward−looking statements.

PART I

Item 1.

Business

Overview
We have created an online service that is the leading consumer destination on the Internet for home and real estate−related information, products and media
services, based on the number of visitors, time spent on our websites and number of property listings. We provide a wide variety of information and tools for
consumers and are a leading supplier of online media and technology solutions for real estate industry professionals, advertisers and providers of home and real
estate−related products and services.
Our consumer websites include REALTOR.com®, HomeBuilder.com™, Homestore® Apartments & Rentals, and Homestore.com®. We also provide
software and related services to real estate industry professionals through several industry leading applications, and provide printed advertising and home plan
products to pre−move and post−move consumers.
The emergence and acceptance of the Internet has fundamentally changed the way that consumers and businesses communicate, obtain information,
purchase goods and services and transact business. The real estate industry and home services market is particularly well suited for the Internet because of its
complexity, fragmented nature, and reliance on the exchange of information. Real estate professionals currently spend almost nine billion dollars per year on
marketing their services to apartment hunters, homebuyers and homesellers. Traditional methods of marketing for real estate professionals include classified
advertisements, print media and other offline sources. These methods do not allow for interactivity and may use data that is incomplete or outdated. Additionally,
these methods reach consumers only within specific local markets and are often distributed on a weekly or less frequent basis. These traditional marketing
sources also lack content that can be searched based on specific detailed criteria, and do not have the ability to offer two way communication. The Internet
overcomes many of the limitations of traditional real estate marketing methods by providing consumers with access to information on market supply and demand
and enabling consumers to search for real estate information based on specified, detailed criteria, without geographical limitations. The Internet offers a
compelling means for consumers, real estate professionals, homebuilders, property managers and owners, and ancillary service providers to communicate and
transact business together.
We were incorporated in the State of Delaware in 1993 under the name of InfoTouch Corporation, or InfoTouch. In February 1999, we changed our
corporate name to Homestore.com, Inc. In May 2002, we changed our name to Homestore, Inc. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” for a further description of our history.
2

Table of Contents
Our Vision
Our vision statement incorporates the provision of products and services to consumers, real estate professionals and advertisers prior to, during and
immediately following a move:
“We create media and technology solutions
to promote and connect
Real Estate Professionals
to Consumers
before, during and after a move.”
Our Operating Segments
During 2002, we realigned our business to ensure that each of our products and services directly support this vision, and we organized our operating
activities into four reporting segments:
Media Services. Media Services represents our products and media services that promote and connect real estate professionals to consumers through our
REALTOR.com®, HomeBuilder.com, Homestore Apartments & Rentals and Homestore.com websites. This segment also includes our limited international
activities.
Online Advertising. Online Advertising is comprised of numerous online advertising products, including banner ads, sponsorships, integrated
text−based links and rich media applications, which historically have been sold to those businesses interested in reaching our targeted audience. Starting in
2003, we expect that an increasing percentage of our advertising products will be purchased by real estate industry professionals. As a result, it is expected
this segment will be combined with the Media Services segment in future financial presentations.
Software and Services. Software and Services includes our property listing management and customer relationship management applications for
REALTORS®, Multiple Listing Services, or MLSs, and homebuilders, offered through our Top Producer®, WyldFyre™, and Computers For Tracts, or
CFT, businesses, respectively.
Offline Advertising. Offline Advertising incorporates the targeted, new−mover advertising products provided by our Welcome Wagon®unit, and sales
of new home plans and related magazines through our Homestore Plans and Publications businesses.
Key Characteristics
We believe there are several characteristics of our business that help distinguish Homestore from other real estate media and technology companies. These
characteristics include the strength and depth of our real estate industry relationships, the high volume of visitors to our websites and the technology that powers
our websites and applications.
Industry Relationships
To provide consumers with timely and comprehensive real estate listings, access to real estate professionals and other home and real estate−related
information and resources, we have established relationships with key industry participants. These participants include real estate market leaders such as the
National Association of REALTORS®, or NAR; the National Association of Home Builders, or NAHB; hundreds of MLSs; the Manufactured Housing Institute,
or MHI; and leading real estate franchisors, including the six largest franchises, brokers, builders and apartment owners. Under an agreement with NAR, we
operate NAR’s official website, REALTOR.com®. Under our agreement with NAHB, we operate NAHB’s official website, HomeBuilder.com. Under our
agreements with NAR, NAHB, and MHI we receive preferential promotion in their marketing activities. “REALTOR®” is a registered collective membership
mark which may be used only by real estate professionals who are members of NAR and subscribe to its code of ethics.
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National Association of REALTORS®. The NAR is the largest trade association in the United States that represents real estate professionals. NAR consists of
residential and commercial REALTORS®, including brokers, agents, property managers, appraisers, counselors and others engaged in all aspects of the real
estate industry. NAR had approximately 840,000 members as of December 31, 2002.
National Association of Home Builders. The NAHB is the second−largest real estate trade association in the United States. As of December 31, 2002,
NAHB had approximately 205,000 members. Approximately one−third of NAHB’s members are homebuilders and/or remodelers and the remainder work in
closely related fields within the residential real estate industry such as mortgage, finance, building products and building services, including subcontractors.
Manufactured Housing Institute. The MHI is a nonprofit national trade association representing all segments of the manufactured housing industry including
manufactured home producers, retailers, developers, community owners and managers, suppliers, insurers and financial service providers. As of December 31,
2002, the MHI had approximately 300 member companies and approximately 100 affiliate members through its affiliated state associations.
Multiple Listing Services. MLSs operate networks that provide real estate professionals with listings of properties for sale and are typically regulated by a
governing body of local brokers and/or agents. There are over 800 MLSs nationwide that aggregate local property listings by geographic location.
Leading Consumer Websites
The Homestore network of websites includes REALTOR.com®, the official site of NAR; HomeBuilder.com, the official new homes site of NAHB;
Homestore Apartments & Rentals, an apartments content and search site; and Homestore.com, a home information resource site with an emphasis on content
related to mortgage financing, moving and storage, and home and garden activities.
Collectively, the Homestore network of sites attracts approximately 9.1 million unique users per month, according to January 2003 data obtained from third
party Internet traffic auditor comScore Media Metrix. January is seasonally one of the highest traffic months for each of our sites. Our traffic grew approximately
10% from January 2002 (excluding traffic attributable to ConsumerInfo.com which we sold in the second quarter of 2002), which we attribute to both increasing
consumer use of the Internet and greater reliance on the Internet for real estate related content.
The typical visitor to the Homestore network visits us more than two times per month and spends approximately 37 minutes per month on our sites.
Individually, REALTOR.com®, our flagship site, is the Internet’s No. 1 real estate site with approximately 400.0 million page views and approximately
5.2 million unique users recorded in January 2003, according to comScore. REALTOR.com® visitors spend a great deal of time browsing home listings —
approximately 44 minutes per unique user in a typical month. HomeBuilder.com is the No. 1 Internet destination for gathering information and contacting
homebuilders related to newly constructed and to−be−built homes, having attracted approximately 555,000 unique users in January 2003. Homestore Apartments
& Rentals is the No. 1 apartment website, having attracted approximately 1.5 million unique users in January 2003. Homestore.com, which comprises all of our
consumer traffic not directed to one of our three property sites, attracted approximately 4.0 million unique users in January 2003.
We are the exclusive provider national property listings across AOL, Netscape, CompuServe and Digital City. In addition, we produce moving, home and
garden content for a home−related channel on AOL and provide AOL’s over 26.5 million domestic subscribers an online area to find home−related information,
tools and services. Other significant portal relationships include Yahoo! Inc., The Excite Network, Inc., iWon.com, Internet Broadcast Systems, Inc. and its
websites for 52 local network−affiliated TV stations, United Online through its Net Zero and Juno brands, Overture Services, Inc. and Google Inc.
REALTOR.com®. The REALTOR.com® website offers consumers a comprehensive suite of services, tools and content for all aspects of the residential real
estate transaction. The REALTOR.com® website includes a directory of approximately 110,000 REALTORS® to help guide buyers and sellers through the real
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estate transaction process. For buyers, there is a searchable database of approximately two million existing homes for sale. For sellers, there are tools and
information about understanding the value of their home, preparing the home for sale, listing and advertising the home and completing the sale. We receive
listing content from over 800 MLSs across the United States. Our property listings typically provide information that is more detailed and timely than the
information included in other media channels, such as newspaper classified advertisements and print magazines. In addition, we offer consumers information and
tools on mortgages, home affordability, the offer process, applying for a loan, closing the purchase, planning the move and neighborhood profiles.
HomeBuilder.com. The HomeBuilder.com website offers consumers a comprehensive resource for information on builders as well as information on newly
built homes and housing plans. We aggregate information on more than 100,000 new and model homes for sale throughout more than 7,100 new home
communities and planned developments throughout the United States. Homebuyers can browse through our database under three types of search queries: new
homes, builders and manufactured homes. In addition to offering this information, we also provide consumers with community profiles and the ability to send
detailed requests to builders via electronic mail or fax for further information on particular properties.
Homestore Apartments & Rentals. Homestore Apartments & Rentals provides consumers with a large and comprehensive rental housing database. As of
December 31, 2002, our rental housing database consisted of more than 50,000 properties, representing approximately 6.5 million apartment units located in
more than 6,000 cities nationwide. With the acquisition in February 2001 of Move.com, Inc. and Welcome Wagon International, Inc., collectively referred to as
The Move.com Group, we added Rent.net, which expanded our search services and provided us with the capabilities to include senior housing, corporate housing
and self storage listings. We also provide consumers with information relating to moving services, renter’s insurance and neighborhood profiles. Additionally,
consumers can create personalized moving checklists and receive email reminders.
Homestore.com. As a complete home−information resource, Homestore.com offers a wide range of content on a variety of home related topics including
mortgage financing, moving, and home and garden. The site utilizes content prepared by our in−house editorial staff as well as information obtained and
displayed through third party relationships. The Homestore.com site is organized into three primary channels:
Homestore Home Finance. Our Home Finance channel contains information and decision support tools that help consumers understand and satisfy their
home financing and mortgage needs. A variety of content, tools, and interactive guides are available to help consumers with mortgages, loans, credit,
insurance, legal matters and taxes. Additionally, consumers have access to our “Find a Lender” directory, which provides access to a variety of lending
professionals.
Homestore Moving & Storage. Our Moving & Storage channel contains content, tools and interactive guides for consumers moving to new homes or
relocating to another community. These resources provide movers with custom moving quotes and other resources necessary for making moving decisions,
such as salary calculators, school reports and neighborhood information.
Homestore Home & Garden. Our Home & Garden channel is an online resource for consumers seeking to make improvements to their existing home,
including remodeling, home improvement, landscaping and home maintenance needs. It provides an online resource for consumers seeking decorating ideas
and information. The channel includes information for planning, budgeting and visualizing options, as well as specific advice on a room−by−room basis.
The channel is designed to help consumers locate qualified professionals as well as provide them with do−it−yourself information.
Technology
We seek to maintain and enhance our market position with consumers and real estate professionals by building proprietary systems and consumer features
into our websites, such as search engines for real estate listings and the technologies used to aggregate real estate content. We regard many elements of our
websites and underlying technologies as proprietary, and we attempt to protect these elements and underlying
5
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technologies by relying on trademark, service mark, patent, copyright and trade secret laws, restrictions on disclosure and other methods. We have been issued a
patent with respect to the technology we use to enable searches of the real estate listings posted on our property listing websites. See “ — Intellectual Property.”
Our Software and Services segment companies have also developed proprietary applications to enhance the productivity and profitability of real estate
professionals. In many instances we enjoy the largest installed base of customers with respect to our applications. We are continually attempting to add
functionality and features to our applications, including integration with our leading consumer websites. We believe that our ability to assist real estate
professionals in managing relationships with their customers enables us to better distinguish the value of our media properties.
Products and Services
Most of our revenue, including the majority of our Media Services, Online Advertising and Software and Services segments, is derived from
subscription−based products. Although our financial reporting comprises four distinct segments, the products we offer can be described in three sections because
our Media Services and Online Advertising segments, which we expect will be combined in future financial presentations as described herein, share many of the
same products.
Media Services and Online Advertising Segments
Our Media Services and Online Advertising segments provide marketing and website solutions that allow real estate professionals to reach and connect with
a highly targeted potential customer audience represented by the consumer traffic on our websites. We do this by allowing our customers to personalize the
personal, corporate and property listing information contained on our websites and by allowing our customers to connect their personal or corporate website
directly to our database of property information, our professional directories and to traditional Internet advertising products such as banner ads.
Our products enable real estate professionals to manage their online content and branding presence through a personal or corporate website, and to use our
listing enhancements such as virtual tours and printable brochures. We also enable real estate professionals to market themselves and their properties directly to
anonymous potential buyers whose search criteria match a set of listing criteria specified by the real estate professional. We also design, host, and maintain
personal and corporate home pages for real estate professionals. Through our websites, real estate professionals can increase their visibility among prospective
buyers and sellers, especially those outside of their geographic area.
Because of our focus on home and real estate−related information, we believe our websites draw an attractive national target audience for advertisers and
providers of home−related products and services. We also believe that because our websites attract a significant number of consumers that are contemplating a
real estate transaction or a move, we provide businesses such as mortgage companies, home improvement retailers and moving service providers with an efficient
way to find and communicate with their potential customers.
During 2003, we will be changing the way we offer many of our products to customers, including a particularly significant change to our REALTOR®
product offering. Historically, we have required our REALTOR® customers to purchase a templated website, or homepage, in order to connect themselves to the
listings displayed on REALTOR.com®. This templated website and listing enhancements were generally offered at the same price in different markets, and did
not provide for differential pricing based on the advertising value delivered to the customer. Beginning in the second quarter of 2003, we intend to offer these
services under a more traditional media model where pricing is dependent upon geographic market, placement, content and length or quantity of the media run.
This change is intended to permit us to compete more effectively with traditional offline media products. The purchase of our templated website is no longer a
requirement, but is an optional feature. Our implementation of these changes will be phased in during 2003.
In addition, due to a new emphasis on selling our online advertising inventory, consisting of impressions created around our property listings and other
content, to real estate professionals, we expect that an increasing percentage of our online advertising revenue will come from real estate professionals. As a
result of
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these changes in the business, our Online Advertising segment is expected to combine with Media Services as one segment in the first quarter of 2003.
We offer the following products and services through our Media Services and Online Advertising segments:
Classified Advertising. We offer a number of classified advertising opportunities throughout our network of websites, primarily in the form of property
listing enhancements on our REALTOR.com®, HomeBuilder.com, and Homestore.com Apartments & Rentals websites.
Enhanced Listings. We offer our professional customers the ability to enhance their listings on our websites by adding their own personal
promotion in the forms of custom copy, photographs, text effects, links to their homepage and/or virtual tours, and more.
Featured Homes™ Deluxe. Featured Homes™ Deluxe allows our REALTOR® subscribers to more prominently display their property listings on
the REALTOR.com® website during geographical property searches by consumers. Properties featured through the Featured Homes™ Deluxe product
are viewed first in any search of their respective zip code.
Online Brochures. Our primary product for rental, corporate housing and senior housing property owners and managers is an online brochure
displayed on our Homestore Apartments & Rentals website. We also offer a similar product to our homebuilder customers for display on our
Homebuilder.com website. Our online brochures include property photos, floor plan images, virtual tours, unit descriptions, community descriptions,
interactive mapping, driving directions and links to property owners’ or managers’ websites. A variety of enhancements are also available to assist in
increasing the visibility of specific properties to our online audience.
Virtual Tours. We are the exclusive provider of the patented iPIX® virtual tour technology to the residential real estate market through our
HomeTour 360® product. Our professional customers may purchase HomeTour 360® to enhance their online listings on REALTOR.com®,
Homebuilder.com and our Homestore.com Apartments & Rentals website. In addition, we integrate other virtual tour products into our websites. These
products allow consumers to interact with 360−degree views of properties, essentially allowing them to “walk through” the home while viewing the
property online.
Display Advertising. A variety of online display advertising in the form of banners, vertical “skyscraper” ads, and other Internet Advertising Bureau, or
IAB, standard ad sizes can be purchased for placement throughout the Homestore network of websites by companies or individuals wishing to reach the
largest and most targeted real estate−oriented audience. While companies make up the bulk of our display advertising customers, we also offer a number of
unique display advertising opportunities to individual real estate professionals to brand themselves online to consumers in their local market.
General Advertising. Advertisers can purchase IAB standard advertising units as well as certain custom advertising units on our websites. We offer
advertisers branding and performance−based opportunities, generally sold on a cost per thousand, or CPM, basis. Our advertising offerings include
online ads, text based links and rich media.
Sponsorships. Sponsorships allow advertisers to maximize their exposure on our websites by featuring fixed “buttons” or other prominent
placements on certain pages on our websites. These advertisements present users with the opportunity to click−through directly to the advertiser’s site.
Sponsorships may also include other advertising components such as content or online advertisements.
Directory Listings. Advertisers can purchase placement in our online directory products. Our network of websites includes directories of
REALTORS®, homebuilders, lenders, storage facilities and moving companies. We believe our directory products offer advertisers the opportunity to reach
qualified consumers based upon the targeted audience that visits our websites. Our directory advertisers receive a listing in our directory and a customized
web page that can be used to market their products and services.
7

Table of Contents
We believe our directory products are a cost−effective way for professionals to generate leads from online consumers.
XLerator™. Available to subscribers to our REALTOR® directory and website products, XLerator™ is an online prospecting tool that enables
REALTORS® to market themselves to potential buyers during the earliest stages of the research process when they search for homes on
REALTOR.com®. Consumers can select a checkbox on REALTOR.com® that indicates they would like to be contacted by a REALTOR® from the
area in which they are searching. While protecting the consumer’s privacy, XLerator™ gathers this data and helps REALTORS® reach out to these
prospects via the Internet and to create a proactive marketing campaign.
Websites. Our website product line is comprised of templated and custom websites for individuals as well as companies. We build websites based either
on an a la carte features and functionality basis or bundled with pre−selected features based on industry segments, including websites designed specifically
for REALTORS®, brokers, builders and manufactured housing retailers. For customers seeking websites with specialized features and expanded
functionality we design and build customized websites. In addition to the design and set−up of the websites, we also offer hosting and maintenance services.
One Place™. One Place™ is a suite of products, including a website, that integrates with an interactive voice response system that is linked to a
pager network. One Place™ enables REALTORS® to be paged when a potential homebuyer or homeseller submits an inquiry about a specific property
listing. Additionally, if a prospective buyer contacts the REALTOR® after viewing a “for sale” sign, the interactive voice response system will provide
the consumer with details about the property and then page the REALTOR® with a notification of the caller’s telephone number and the property
listing for which the consumer has inquired.
International. In October 2001, we entered into an agreement with the International Consortium of Real Estate Associations. This consortium, formed in
May 2001, consists of approximately 24 real estate associations worldwide and was created to provide consumers with a single Internet−based source for real
property around the world. Pursuant to this agreement, we agreed to operate the consortium’s website and have been endorsed as the exclusive provider of certain
products and services to real estate agents in the countries in which members of the consortium have operations. To date, our international activities have not
generated any significant amounts of revenue.
Software and Services Segment
Our software businesses, Top Producer, WyldFyre and CFT, provide software solutions and related services to real estate professionals. Each business has
gained a strong position in its relevant marketplace.
Top Producer. Top Producer is the No. 1 contact management software specific to real estate agents. The company’s Top Producer products have an
installed customer base of more than 100,000 agents. Top Producer’s line of desktop and Internet applications for real estate agents features client management,
appointment and task scheduling, prospecting automation, comparative market analysis, customer presentations and mobile data synchronization for Palm and
other wireless devices. Products are private labeled for some of the country’s largest brokers and franchise brands, such as GMAC, ERA, Coldwell Banker and
Prudential to offer to their affiliated agents and include applications for back office management, listing and transaction administration and recruiting and sales
management tools.
WyldFyre. WyldFyre offers a suite of products for real estate professionals designed to help them access property listing information. WyldFyre’s software
products are used daily by more than 110,000 real estate professionals in more than 100 markets throughout the U.S., Australia and Canada for access, display
and manipulation of property information, photos, and maps. WyldFyre Listings™ is our listing productivity suite that provides real estate professionals with
tools to create comprehensive listing presentations for buyers or sellers. This suite of products provides real estate professionals web−based access to MLS data.
Using the WyldFyre products, real estate professionals can access information from MLSs and store the information on their laptops so that they can display this
information to their prospective clients. Additionally, WyldFyre
8
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products allow real estate professionals to create customized comparative market analysis and presentations that incorporate photographs and maps. WyldFyre
products are also sold under private labels to distributors and MLSs.
Computers for Tracts. CFT is a leading provider of sales force automation and warranty request management solutions to the home building industry. The
company serves approximately 30% of the Builder 100, which together sell approximately 100,000 new homes each year using CFT technology. CFT’s sales
force automation products deliver sales office presentation, contact management, sales contract generation and change order management functionalities. CFT
also sells a warranty request management software product that manages post−closing service requests from new homeowners.
Offline Advertising Segment
Welcome Wagon. Welcome Wagon offers local merchants the opportunity to reach new homeowners shortly after their move through a targeted direct mail
product. The Welcome Wagon New Mover Program integrates local merchant information into a welcome gift delivered to new homeowners through the mail.
The welcome gift contains a customized neighborhood address book with exclusive merchant listings as well as coupons and special offers from local
advertisers. Additionally, local advertisers receive the names and contact information of the new homeowners in their selected area that have received the
welcome gift. This allows local merchants the opportunity to continue to build their relationship with these new homeowners through their own direct marketing
initiatives. This product is sold to merchants on an annual subscription basis.
Homestore Plans and Publications. Homestore Plans and Publications offers consumers, building professionals, suppliers, and real estate professionals the
ability to browse, select, modify and purchase new home designs and project plans from one of the largest selections of home plans and project plans available.
Homestore Plans and Publications has business relationships with many designers that provide us the right to sell the designers’ home plans on an exclusive or
non−exclusive basis directly to consumers. These plans are sold through newsstands, distributors and retailers nationwide as well as through its website,
homeplans.com, and through approximately 100 affiliate partner sites. We also produce home design software that is distributed through major retailers.
Competition
We face competition in each segment of our business.
Media Services and Online Advertising Segments
Newspapers and home/apartment guide publications are the two primary offline competitors to our media offerings. We compete with newspapers and
home/apartment guide publications for the advertising dollars spent by real estate professionals to advertise their offerings. Although more than half of all
homebuyers use the Internet as a starting point for their new home search (according to Fannie Mae), real estate professionals currently spend only a small
percentage of their marketing budget to display their listings on the Internet. In addition, newspapers and the publishers of home/apartments guides, including
Classified Ventures, Inc., PRIMEDIA Inc., and Network Communications Inc., have extended their media offerings to include an Internet presence. We must
continue to work to shift more real estate advertising dollars online if we are to successfully compete with newspapers and real estate guides.
We compete with a variety of online companies and websites providing real estate content that sell classified advertising opportunities to real estate
professionals and sell display advertising opportunities to other advertisers, including real estate professionals, seeking to reach consumers interested in products
and services related to the home and real estate. Several of these websites are seeking to increase visits to their sites by offering rebates to homebuyers that
purchase homes with the assistance of a real estate professional who was introduced to them via such websites. Such websites charge referral fees to real estate
professionals that advertise on their sites and use a portion of those referral payments to provide the rebate to the homebuyer. By attracting more users to their
sites, the operators of these sites are seeking to improve the advertising value proposition they offer to real estate professionals.
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Our primary competitors for online real estate advertising dollars include Realestate.com, Microsoft Network and Yahoo! Real Estate. In addition, our
apartments and rentals website faces competition from ApartmentGuide.com, Rent.com and Apartments.com, and our home builder website competes directly
with NewHomeGuide.com and NewHomeSource.com. Our Homestore.com website also faces competition from general interest consumer websites that offer
home and finance content.
We also face competition when selling virtual tour enhancements to real estate professionals for their online listings. We compete with a number of virtual
tour providers in the marketplace. Some of the larger competitors include circlepix.com, Visual Tour, EGG Solution Optronics, Home Debut, Inc. and
VideoHome Tours.
Software and Services Segment
While no single entity competes directly against us in all of our software businesses, our software and services segment faces broad competition from
companies with a major presence in the real estate industry, such as Fidelity National Information Solutions, Inc., and also more direct competition from software
companies that offer products and solutions that cater to specific segments of the real estate industry.
Top Producer Systems. Our Top Producer business faces competition from Fidelity National Information Solutions, Inc. which offers a competing solution
to real estate professionals. Top Producer also competes with a variety of software companies that offer customer relationship management solutions to real
estate professionals, including Interealty’s MLXchange solution, Best Software Inc.’s ACT! solution, FrontRange Solution Inc.’s GoldMine product, and
Microsoft Corporation’s Outlook solution. In addition, there are several smaller start−up companies that have developed contact management tools for real estate
professionals.
WyldFyre Technologies. Our WyldFyre business also faces competition from Fidelity National Information Solutions. In addition, a variety of other real
estate software companies offer solutions that include features that are competitive with portions of WyldFyre’s product offerings, including Realigent, Inc. and
Terra Soft Solutions, Inc.
Computers for Tracts. Our CFT business competes with a number of custom software providers in the builder market, including MH2 Technologies.
Additionally, several national homebuilders have developed their own similar solutions.
Offline Advertising Segment
Welcome Wagon. Our Welcome Wagon business competes with numerous direct marketing companies that offer advertising solutions to local and national
merchants. Competitors include Imagitas, Inc., ADVO Inc., Valpak Direct Marketing Systems, Inc., Pennysaver and MoneyMailer, LLC. These competitors, like
Welcome Wagon, target homeowners at various stages of the home ownership life cycle with advertising from third parties.
Homestore Plans and Publications. Our Plans and Publications business faces direct competition from several large publishing companies that print multiple
publications, including home plan publications. Our major competitors are Hanley−Wood, LLC, The Garlinghouse Company and Meredith Corporation.
Infrastructure and Technology
Our websites are designed to provide fast, secure and reliable high−quality access to our services, while minimizing the capital investment needed for our
computer systems. We have made, and expect to continue to make, technological improvements designed to reduce costs and increase the efficiency of our
systems. We expect that enhancements to our family of websites, and to our products and services, will come from internally and externally developed
technologies.
Our systems supporting our websites must accommodate a high volume of user traffic, store a large number of listings and related data, process a significant
number of user searches and deliver frequently updated information. Any significant increases in utilization of these services could strain the capacity of our
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computers, causing slower response times or outages. We host our Homestore.com, REALTOR.com®, HomeBuilder.com, Homestore Apartments & Rentals and
custom broker web pages in Thousand Oaks, California. Because substantially all of our computer and communications hardware for each of our websites is
located at this location, our systems are vulnerable to fire, floods, telecommunications failures, break−ins, earthquakes and other force majeure events. Our
operations are dependant on our ability to protect our systems from such occurrences. See “ — Risk Factors — Internet Industry Risks” for a more complete
description of the risks related to our computer infrastructure and technology.
Intellectual Property
We regard substantial elements of our websites and underlying technology as proprietary. We attempt to protect this intellectual property by relying on a
combination of trademark, service mark, patent, copyright and trade secret laws, restrictions on disclosure and other methods. We have been issued a patent with
respect to the technology we use to enable searches of the real estate listings posted on our family of websites.
Despite our precautions, our intellectual property is subject to a number of risks that may materially adversely affect our business, including but not limited
to:
• it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use our proprietary information without authorization or to develop similar technology
independently;
• we could lose the use of such trademark or the REALTOR.com® domain name, or be unable to protect the other website addresses that are important to
our business, and therefore would need to devote substantial resources toward developing an independent brand identity;
• we could be subject to litigation with respect to our intellectual property rights;
• we may be required to license additional technology and information from others, which could require substantial expenditures by us; and
• legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of proprietary rights in Internet−related businesses are uncertain and continue
to evolve, and we can give no assurance regarding our ability to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights.
See “ — Risk Factors” for a more complete description of the risks related to our intellectual property.
Employees
As of December 31, 2002, we had approximately 1,800 full−time equivalent employees. We consider our relations with our employees to be good. We have
never had a work stoppage, and no employee is represented by collective bargaining agreements. We believe that our future success will depend in part on our
ability to attract, integrate, retain and motivate highly qualified personnel and upon the continued service of our senior management and key technical personnel.
See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business — Our business is dependent on our key personnel.”
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RISK FACTORS
The following risk factors and other information included or incorporated by reference in this Form 10−K should be considered carefully. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we deem to be currently
immaterial also may impair our business operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and operating results could be
materially adversely affected.
Risks Related to our Business
Litigation and an SEC investigation relating to accounting irregularities could have an adverse effect on our business.
In December 2001, we announced that the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors was conducting an inquiry of certain of our accounting practices and
that the results of the inquiry to date determined that our unaudited interim financial statements for 2001 would require restatement. In February 2002, we
announced that we would restate our financial results for the year ended December 31, 2000. In connection with the restatement, in March 2002 we filed an
amended Form 10−K for the year ended December 31, 2000, and in March 2002 we filed amended an Form 10−Qs for each of the first three quarters of 2001.
Following the December 2001 announcement of the discovery of accounting irregularities, approximately 20 lawsuits claiming to be class actions and three
lawsuits claiming to be brought derivatively on our behalf were commenced in various courts against us and certain of former officers, directors and employees
by or on behalf of persons purporting to be our stockholders and persons claiming to have purchased or otherwise acquired securities issued by us between
May 2000 and December 2001. The California State Teachers’ Retirement System has been named lead plaintiff (the “Plaintiff”) in the consolidated shareholder
lawsuits against us. In November 2002, the Plaintiff filed a first amended consolidated class action complaint naming us, certain of our current officers and
employees, certain of our former officers, directors and employees and various other parties, including among others MaxWorldwide, Inc. (formerly L90, Inc.),
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, AOL, and Cendant Corporation. The amended complaint makes various allegations, including that we violated federal securities
laws and seeks an unspecified amount of damages.
On March 7, 2003, the court dismissed, with prejudice, the Plaintiff’s claims against a number of corporate and individual defendants whom the Plaintiff
alleged either assisted in the planning and execution of the purportedly fraudulent transactions at issue, or who were parties to those transactions. Those
defendants included MaxWorldwide, Inc., AOL and Cendant, among others. The court also dismissed, without prejudice, the Plaintiff’s claims against a number
of our current and former officers and employees. With regard to those claims dismissed without prejudice, the Plaintiff has the opportunity to file another
amended complaint attempting to cure the defects in the original claims against those defendants. At the same time, the court denied the motions to dismiss of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and our former chief executive officer. We did not file a motion to dismiss the Plaintiff’s claims against us, but answered the
complaint. Accordingly, the March 7, 2003 decision did not make any ruling with respect to the claims asserted against us.
It is possible that we may be required to pay substantial damages or a substantial settlement amount in connection with the litigation although, as is the case
with any litigation, it is difficult to predict the outcome of this matter. However, in light of the fact that we determined that it was necessary to restate our 2000
and 2001 financial results, due to the circumstances forming the basis of the Plaintiff’s allegations, and the fact that four of our former employees have pled
guilty to violating federal securities laws in connection with the financial results which required restatement, this litigation poses a significant risk of a material
adverse effect on the conduct and scope of our business, our results of operations and our financial position. Because we are unable to estimate the amount of
damages that we might incur as a result of the outcome of this litigation, we have not recorded any liability or reserve related to it. For further description of the
nature and status of the legal proceedings in which we are involved, see “Part I — Item 3. Legal Proceedings.”
In January 2002, we were notified that the SEC had issued a formal order of private investigation in connection with matters relating to the restatement of
our financial results that occurred in March 2002. The SEC has requested that we provide them with certain documents concerning the restatement of our
financial
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results. The SEC also requested access to certain of our current and former employees for interviews. We have cooperated and continue to cooperate fully with
the SEC’s investigation.
In September 2002 and March 2003, certain of our former employees entered into plea agreements with the United States Attorney’s Office and the SEC in
connection with the investigation. Also in September 2002, the SEC and the Department of Justice informed us that they would not bring any enforcement action
against us because of the actions taken by our Board of Directors and our Audit Committee and our cooperation in the SEC’s investigation. Because the
investigation is on−going and we are committed to cooperating with the SEC, we will likely continue to incur additional costs related to the investigation and
management time and attention may be diverted until the investigation concludes.
Our employees, investors, customers, business partners and vendors may react adversely to the restatement of our previous financial statements and to
the related litigation brought against us.
Our future success depends in large part on the continued support of our key employees, investors, customers, business partners and vendors who may react
adversely to the restatement of our 2000 and interim 2001 financial statements. The restatement of our financial statements and the uncertainty associated with
substantial unresolved lawsuits referred to above has resulted in substantial amounts of negative publicity about us. We may not be able to motivate or retain key
employees or retain customers or key business partners if they lose confidence in us, and our vendors may re−examine their willingness to do business with us. In
addition, investors may lose confidence in us, which may continue to adversely affect the trading price of our common stock. If we lose the services of our key
employees or are unable to retain our existing customers, business partners and vendors or attract new customers, our business, operating results and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected.
Limitations of our Director and Officer Liability Insurance and potential indemnification obligations may adversely affect our business.
Several securities and derivative actions currently are pending against us and certain of our former and current officers and directors. During the relevant
time period, our liability insurance provided limited claims−made coverage for allegations of wrongful acts by our officers and directors, which allegations, in
part, form the basis of the pending actions. During the relevant time period, our insurers provided a total of $80.0 million in primary and excess coverage. As the
policies are written — and subject to their unique terms and provisions — our officers and directors are insureds under the applicable policies. We, as an entity,
also are an insured party under those applicable policies, which represents the first $30.0 million in coverage. The failure of our policies to adequately cover
liabilities or expenses incurred in connection with the pending actions could materially and adversely affect our business and financial condition.
Several of our insurance carriers — representing $60.0 million in coverage — also have purported to rescind their respective policies of insurance and have
filed lawsuits seeking judicial confirmation of their actions. See “Part I — Item 3. Legal Proceedings — Insurance Coverage Litigation.” The failure of our
policies to cover liabilities imposed or expenses incurred in connection with the pending actions could materially and adversely affect our business and financial
condition.
Under Delaware and California law, our charter documents, and certain indemnification agreements we entered into with our executive officers and
directors, we may have certain obligations to indemnify our current and former officers and directors. The indemnification may cover any expenses and/or
liabilities reasonably incurred in connection with the investigation, defense, settlement or appeal of legal proceedings. We may have to spend significant
resources indemnifying our officers and directors or paying for damages caused by their conduct. Our business and financial condition could be harmed if we
have to make significant payments for indemnification.
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Our common stock price may be volatile, which could result in substantial losses for individual stockholders.
The market price for our common stock has decreased substantially in recent periods. It is likely to continue to be highly volatile and subject to wide
fluctuations in response to many factors, including the factors described herein and the following, some of which are beyond our control:
• actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results;
• announcements of technological innovations or new products or services by us or our competitors;
• changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;
• conditions or trends in the Internet, technology and/or real estate and real estate−related industries;
• market prices for stocks of Internet companies and other companies whose businesses are heavily dependent on the Internet, which have generally proven
to be highly volatile, particularly in recent quarters;
• Cendant’s allegations that we may have breached certain representations and warranties made in our agreement with Cendant relating to our acquisition of
the Move.com Group from Cendant as a result of the restatement of our 2000 financial statements; and
• adverse publicity relating to litigation.
The low price of our common stock could result in the delisting of our common stock from the NASDAQ SmallCap Market, which could cause our
common stock to decline and make trading in our common stock more difficult for investors.
In November 2002, we filed an application with NASDAQ to transfer our common stock to The NASDAQ SmallCap Market from The NASDAQ National
Market because our common stock failed to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share as required by the applicable NASDAQ Marketplace Rule. We
began trading on The NASDAQ SmallCap Market on November 18, 2002. The NASDAQ SmallCap Market is viewed by some investors as a less desirable and
less liquid marketplace than The NASDAQ National Market. We must satisfy the NASDAQ SmallCap Market’s minimum listing maintenance requirements to
maintain our listing on The NASDAQ SmallCap Market. The listing maintenance requirements set forth in NASDAQ’s Marketplace Rules include a series of
financial tests relating to stockholders’ equity, market capitalization, net income, public float, market value of public float, number of market makers and
stockholders, and maintaining a minimum closing bid price of $1.00 per share for shares of our common stock. On March 11, 2003, NASDAQ notified us of our
non−compliance with such minimum closing bid price requirements. We now have to demonstrate in the succeeding 180 days a closing bid price of at least $1.00
per share for a period of ten consecutive business days to regain compliance. If we are unable to achieve a $1.00 per share bid price prior to the expiration of this
period, we may be eligible for an additional 180−day extension of the bid price exception, provided that we demonstrate stockholders’ equity of at least
$5.0 million, a market capitalization of at least $50.0 million or net income of at least $750,000 from continuing operations for the year ended 2003. We must
also demonstrate compliance with all requirements for continued listing on The NASDAQ SmallCap Market. As of December 31, 2002, our stockholders’ equity
was $38.7 million. If our common stock is delisted from The NASDAQ SmallCap Market, the common stock would trade on either the OTC Bulletin Board or
the “pink sheets,” both of which are viewed by most investors as less desirable and less liquid marketplaces than The NASDAQ SmallCap Market. Thus,
delisting from The NASDAQ SmallCap Market could make trading our shares more difficult for investors, leading to further declines in our share price.
Our future success depends upon our management’s ability to execute its business plan.
In January and October 2002, we replaced much of our senior management team. The current senior management team includes W. Michael Long, our Chief
Executive Officer, Jack D. Dennison, our Chief Operating Officer, and Lewis R. Belote, III, our Chief Financial Officer. In addition, Allan Dalton was appointed
as President of the REALTOR.com® unit and Michael R. Douglas was appointed as Executive
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Vice President and General Counsel. Allan P. Merrill is our Executive Vice President of Strategy and Corporate Development and Patrick R. Whelan is our
President of Media Services. Our future success will depend in part on the continued integration of senior management with other members of management and
the rest of our employees and business partners, their understanding of the business, and their implementation of processes and procedures that allow us to
respond to our customers’ needs.
Focusing on our core business may require sales of assets and/or discontinuing certain operations, which could lead to write−offs or
unusual/non−recurring items in our financial statements.
In February 2002, we announced that we would re−focus on our core business objective — to make real estate professionals more productive and profitable.
This focus has involved and may continue to involve the disposition of non−strategic business and corporate services. For example, in February 2002, we sold
our eNeighborhoods division, and in March 2002 we entered into an agreement to sell all of the capital stock of Homestore Consumer Information Corp., which
includes ConsumerInfo.com, for $130.0 million in cash to Experian Holdings, Inc. In addition, in the first quarter of 2003, we sold substantially all of the assets
of The Hessel Group, our relocation tax software and services business. As a result of this focus, we may incur significant write−offs or one−time, non−recurring
gains or losses or a reduction in visitors to our websites.
Our agreement with the National Association of REALTORS® could be terminated.
The REALTOR.com® trademark and website address and the REALTOR® trademark are owned by NAR. NAR licenses these trademarks to our subsidiary
RealSelect under a license agreement, and RealSelect operates the REALTOR.com® website under an operating agreement with NAR.
Although the REALTOR.com® operating agreement is a lifetime agreement, NAR may terminate it for a variety of reasons. These include:
• the acquisition of us or RealSelect by another party;
• a substantial decrease in the number of property listings on our REALTOR.com® site; and
• a breach of any of our other obligations under the agreement that we do not cure within 30 days of being notified by NAR of the breach.
Absent a breach by NAR, the agreement does not contain provisions that allow us to terminate.
Our agreement with NAR contains a number of provisions that could restrict our operations.
Our operating agreement with NAR contains a number of provisions that restrict how we operate our business. These provisions include the following
restrictions and requirements:
• we must make quarterly royalty payments of up to 15% of RealSelect’s operating revenue in the aggregate to NAR and the entities that provide us the
information for our real property listings (“data content providers”). However, in 2002 we amended the operating agreement with NAR such that we now
must make fixed payments to NAR as follows:
— For 2003, we must pay $1.3 million in four installments of $325,000 due on the last day of each calendar quarter of 2003.
— For 2004, we must pay $1.4 million in four installments of $350,000 due on the last day of each calendar quarter of 2004.
— For 2005, we must pay $1.5 million in four installments of $375,000 due on the last day of each calendar quarter of 2005.
— For 2006, we must pay $1.5 million plus or minus, as the case may be, the percentage change in the Consumer Price Index for 2005, in four equal
installments due on the last day of each calendar quarter of 2006.
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— For 2007 and beyond, we must pay the amount due during the prior calendar year plus or minus, as the case may be, the percentage change in the
Consumer Price Index for the prior calendar year, in four equal installments due on the last day of each calendar quarter for that calendar year;
• we amended and continue to amend many of our agreements with the data content providers to change the method of payment to a fixed amount per listing
rather than a percentage of our revenue and to reduce the amounts that we must pay to such entities. In exchange, in some cases, we shortened or are
shortening the duration of these agreements, including those agreements under which we receive the real property listings on an exclusive basis;
• we are restricted in the type and subject matter of, and the manner in which we display, advertisements on the REALTOR.com® website;
• NAR has the right to approve how we use its trademarks, and we must comply with its quality standards for the use of these marks;
• we must meet performance standards relating to the availability time of the REALTOR.com® website;
• NAR has the right to review, approve and request changes to the content on certain pages of our REALTOR.com® website; and
• we are restricted in our ability to create additional websites or pursue other lines of business that engage in displaying real property advertisements in
electronic form.
In addition, our operating agreement with NAR contains restrictions on how we can operate the REALTOR.com® website. For instance, we can only enter
into agreements with entities that provide us with real estate listings, such as MLSs, on terms approved by NAR. In addition, NAR can require us to include on
REALTOR.com® real estate related content that it has developed.
If our operating agreement for REALTOR.com® were terminated, NAR would be able to operate the REALTOR.com® website.
If our operating agreement with NAR were terminated, we would be required to transfer a copy of the software that operates the REALTOR.com® website
and assign our agreements with data content providers, such as real estate brokers or MLSs, to NAR. NAR would then be able to operate the REALTOR.com®
website itself or with a third party.
We are subject to non−competition provisions with NAR, which could adversely affect our business.
We were required to obtain the consent of NAR prior to our acquisition of our SpringStreet, Inc., Move.com and HomeBuilder.com websites. In the future, if
we acquire or develop another service that provides real estate listings on an Internet site or through other electronic means, we will need to obtain the prior
consent of NAR. Any future consents from NAR, if obtained, could be conditioned on our agreeing to operational conditions for the new website or service.
These conditions could include paying fees to NAR, limiting the types of content or listings on the websites or service or other terms and conditions. Our
business could be adversely affected if we do not obtain consents from NAR, or, if a consent we obtain, contains restrictive conditions. These non−competition
provisions and any required consent, if accepted by us at our discretion, could have the effect of restricting the lines of business that we may pursue.
Our agreement with the National Association of Home Builders contains provisions that could restrict our operations.
Our operating agreement with NAHB includes a number of restrictions on how we operate our HomeBuilder.com website:
• if NAR terminates our REALTOR.com® operating agreement, for six months thereafter NAHB can terminate its operating agreement with us on three
months’ prior notice;
• we are restricted in the type and subject matter of advertisements on the pages of our HomeBuilder.com website that contain new home listings; and
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• NAHB has the right to approve how we use its trademarks and we must comply with its quality standards for the use of its marks.
Our Homestore Apartments & Rentals website is subject to a number of restrictions on how it may be operated.
In agreeing to our acquisition of SpringStreet, NAR imposed a number of restrictions on how we can operate the Homestore Apartments & Rentals website
(formerly the SpringStreet.com website). These include:
• if NAR terminates its consent for any reason, we will have to transfer to NAR all data and content, such as listings, on the rental site that were provided by
real estate professionals who are members of NAR, known as REALTORS®;
• listings for rental units in smaller non−apartment properties generally must be received from a REALTOR® or a REALTOR®−controlled MLS in order to
be listed on the website;
• if the consent is terminated, we could be required to operate our rental properties website at a different web address;
• if the consent is terminated for any reason, other than as a result of a breach by NAR, NAR will be permitted to use the REALTOR®−branded web
address, resulting in increased competition;
• we cannot list properties for sale on the rental website for the duration of our REALTOR.com® operating agreement and for an additional two years;
• we are restricted in the type and subject matter of, and the manner in which we display, advertisements on the rental website; and
• we must offer REALTORS® preferred pricing for home pages or enhanced advertising on the rental website.
NAR could revoke its consent to our operating our Homestore Apartments & Rentals website.
NAR can revoke its consent to our operating our Homestore Apartments & Rentals website for reasons which include:
• the acquisition of us or RealSelect by another party;
• a substantial decrease in property listings on our REALTOR.com® website; and
• a breach of any of our obligations under the consent or the REALTOR.com® operating agreement that we do not cure within 30 days of being notified by
NAR of the breach.
The National Association of REALTORS® has significant influence over aspects of our RealSelect subsidiary’s corporate governance and has a
representative on our Board.
NAR has significant influence over RealSelect’s corporate governance.
Board Representatives. NAR is entitled to have one representative as a member of our Board of Directors and two representatives as members of
RealSelect’s Board of Directors.
Approval Rights. RealSelect’s certificate of incorporation contains a limited corporate purpose, which purpose is the operation of the REALTOR.com®
website and real property advertising programming for electronic display and related businesses. Without the consent of six−sevenths of the members of the
RealSelect Board of Directors, which would have to include at least one NAR−appointed director, this limited purpose provision cannot be amended.
RealSelect’s bylaws also contain protective provisions which could restrict portions of its operations or require us to incur additional expenses. If the
RealSelect Board of Directors cannot agree on an annual operating budget for RealSelect, it would use as its operating budget that from the prior year, adjusted
for inflation. Any expenditures in excess of that budget would have to be funded by us. In addition, if RealSelect
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desired to incur debt or invest in assets in excess of $2.5 million without the approval of a majority of its board, which would have to include at least one
NAR−appointed director, we would need to fund those expenditures.
RealSelect also cannot take the following actions without the consent of at least one of NAR’s representatives on its Board of Directors:
• amend its certificate of incorporation or bylaws;
• pledge its assets;
• approve transactions with affiliates, stockholders or employees in excess of $100,000;
• change its executive officers;
• establish, or appoint any members to, a committee of its Board of Directors; or
• issue or redeem any of its equity securities.
The emergence of Virtual Office Websites may adversely impact our business.
Operators of Virtual Office Websites, or VOWs, currently can display aggregated property listings sourced from MLSs regardless of whether the brokers
that supplied the listings to the MLSs have consented to such display. Such listings typically can be viewed by consumers only after completing a registration
process. The NAR has convened a special work group to analyze the impact of VOWs on the real estate industry and to recommend NAR policy for governing
the use of VOWs. If VOWs are allowed to continue operating in their current form, this could adversely affect our ability to competitively secure relationships
with online traffic aggregators or portals.
We must continue to obtain listings from Multiple Listing Services, real estate brokers and home builders.
We believe that our success depends in large part on the number of real estate listings received from MLSs, brokers, home builders and rental owners. Many
of our agreements with MLSs to display property listings have fixed terms, typically 12 to 36 months. At the end of the term of each agreement, the other party
may choose not to renew their agreement with us. We incur significant expenditures to secure agreements with providers of real estate information. We are
continuing our efforts to renegotiate our agreements with MLSs to reduce our costs. If, as a result of our renegotiation efforts, or otherwise, owners of large
numbers of property listings, such as MLSs or large brokers in key real estate markets, choose not to renew their relationship with us, then our websites could
become less attractive to other real estate industry participants or consumers.
It is important to our success that we support our real estate professional customers.
Since many real estate professionals are not sophisticated computer users and often spend limited amounts of time in their offices, it is important that these
customers find that our software and website products significantly enhance their productivity and are easy to use. To meet these needs, we provide customer
training and have developed a customer support organization that seeks to respond to customer inquiries as quickly as possible. If we do not maintain adequate
support levels, our customers may choose not to renew their subscriptions for our software and website products.
Failure of real estate professionals to accept online media−based pricing may adversely affect our financial results.
We have adopted a new pricing strategy for the media products that we sell to real estate professionals. In the past we have sold products and media services
at a single national rate for all customers. Beginning in 2003, we intend to offer these products and services under a more traditional media model where pricing
is dependent upon geographic market, placement, content and length or quantity of the media run, which will affect the pricing levels currently paid by our
customers. The success of our new pricing strategy will depend on its acceptance by our customers. If real estate professionals do not accept our new pricing
structure this could lead to a decrease in our sales which could have an adverse affect on our financial results.
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We must dedicate significant resources to market our subscription products and media services to real estate professionals.
Real estate agents are generally independent contractors rather than employees of brokers and typically spend a majority of their time outside the office. As a
result it is often necessary for us to communicate with them on an individual basis. This results in relatively high fixed costs associated with our inside and
field−based sales activities. In addition, since we offer products and media services to both real estate brokers and agents, we are often required to contact them
separately when marketing our products and media services.
A failure to establish and maintain strategic online relationships that generate a significant amount of traffic could limit the growth of our business.
We have established strategic relationships with online companies that generate a significant amount of online traffic for our websites. Failure to maintain
these relationships and create new ones could limit the growth of our business. Although we expect a significant portion of our online customers will continue to
come to our websites directly, we also continue to rely on third−party websites with which we have relationships, including websites operated by AOL, Yahoo!,
Excite, iWon.com, Internet Broadcast Systems, Universal Online through its Juno and NetZero brands, Overture and Google for online traffic. We may also be
required to pay significant fees to establish, maintain and expand our existing online relationships. As a result, our revenue may suffer if we fail to enter into new
relationships or maintain existing relationships or if these relationships do not result in online traffic sufficient to justify their costs.
We have a history of net losses and expect net losses for the foreseeable future.
We have experienced net losses in each quarterly and annual period since 1993. We incurred net losses of $163.4 million, $1.5 billion and $146.1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. As of December 31, 2002, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.9 billion, and are unsure when
or if we will become profitable on a recurring basis. The size of our future losses will depend, in part, on the rate of growth in our revenues from broker, agent,
home builder and rental property owner web hosting fees, advertising sales and sales of other products and services. The size of our future net losses will also be
impacted by non−cash stock−based charges relating to deferred compensation and stock and warrant issuances, and amortization of intangible assets. As of
December 31, 2002, we had approximately $82.4 million of stock−based charges and intangible assets to be amortized. In addition, we will continue to use cash
to repay existing liabilities that have arisen from prior contractual arrangements and recent restructuring charges until those liabilities are satisfied.
Our quarterly financial results are subject to significant fluctuations.
Our results of operations may vary significantly from quarter to quarter. In the near term, we expect to be substantially dependent on sales of our
subscription and advertising products and media services. We also expect to incur significant sales and marketing expenses to promote our brand and services.
Therefore, our quarterly revenue and operating results are likely to be particularly affected by the number of customers purchasing subscription and advertising
products and media services as well as our expenditures on sales and marketing for a particular period. If revenue falls below our expectations, we will not be
able to reduce our spending rapidly in response to the shortfall.
Other factors that could affect our quarterly operating results include those described below and elsewhere in this Form 10−K:
• the level of renewals for our subscription products and the purchase of media services by real estate agents, brokers and rental property owners and
managers;
• the amount of advertising sold on our websites and the timing of payments for this advertising;
• the amount and timing of our operating expenses;
• the amount and timing of non−cash stock−based charges, such as charges related to deferred compensation or warrants issued to real estate industry
participants;
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• the sale or disposition of assets; and
• the impact of fees paid to professional advisors in connection with litigation and accounting matters.
The market for web−based subscription and advertising products and services relating to real estate is competitive.
Our main existing and potential competitors include websites offering real estate related content and services as well as general purpose online services, and
traditional media such as newspapers, magazines and television that may compete for advertising dollars.
The barriers to entry for web−based services and businesses are low, making it possible for new competitors to proliferate rapidly. In addition, parties with
whom we have listing and marketing agreements could choose to develop their own Internet strategies or competing real estate sites. Many of our existing and
potential competitors have longer operating histories in the Internet market, greater name recognition, larger consumer bases and significantly greater financial,
technical and marketing resources than we do. The rapid pace of technological change constantly creates new opportunities for existing and new competitors and
it can quickly render our existing technologies less valuable.
Our future success depends largely on our ability to attract, retain and motivate personnel.
Our future success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled technical, managerial and sales personnel. Volatility or lack of positive
performance in our stock price may also adversely affect our ability to retain key employees, many of whom have been granted stock options. Due to the decline
in the trading price of our common stock, substantially all of the stock options held by our employees have an exercise price that is higher than the current trading
price of our common stock, and therefore these stock options may not be effective in helping us to retain valuable employees.
Also, we have recently executed workforce reductions and have announced that we are restructuring our business operations. As a result, we will need to
operate with fewer employees and existing employees may have to perform new tasks. These factors and our current financial health may create concern about
job security among existing employees that could lead to increased turnover. We may have difficulties in retaining and attracting employees. Employee turnover
may result in a loss of knowledge about our customers, our operations and our internal systems, which could materially harm our business. If any of our
employees leave, we may not be able to replace them with employees possessing comparable skills. Attracting and retaining qualified personnel with experience
in the real estate industry, a complex industry that requires a unique knowledge base, is an additional challenge for us. The loss of services of any of our key
personnel, excessive turnover of our work force, the inability to retain and attract qualified personnel in the future or delays in hiring required personnel may
have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition.
Our organizational realignment and cost reduction plan may not meet its objectives and could adversely affect our results of operations and financial
position.
In October 2001, we announced an organizational realignment and cost reduction plan to focus us more closely on our core customer segments and to allow
for increased operational efficiencies. This restructuring plan included a reduction in workforce of up to 700 employees or about 20% of our workforce.
In February 2002, we announced plans to reduce our staff by an additional 270 employees. In September 2002 we implemented a restructuring focused on our
Media Services division. If we do not meet our restructuring objectives, we may have to implement additional plans for restructuring in order to reduce our
operating costs. Developing and implementing restructuring plans are time consuming and could divert management’s attention, which could have an adverse
effect on our financial results.
We need to continue to develop our content and product and service offerings.
To remain competitive, we must continue to enhance and improve the ease of use, responsiveness, functionality and features of our websites and products.
These efforts may require us to develop internally or to license increasingly complex technologies. In addition, many companies are continually introducing new
20

Table of Contents
Internet−related products, services and technologies, which will require us to update or modify our technology. Developing and integrating new products,
services or technologies into our websites could be expensive and time consuming. Any new features, functions or services may not achieve market acceptance
or enhance our brand loyalty. If we fail to develop and introduce or acquire new features, functions or services effectively and on a timely basis, we may not
continue to attract new users and may be unable to retain our existing users. Furthermore, we may not succeed in incorporating new Internet technologies, or, in
order to do so, we may incur substantial additional expenses.
We may experience difficulty in integrating our acquisitions.
During our history, a significant portion of our growth was attributable to acquisitions. However, we may not receive the desired benefits from these
acquisitions. Risks related to our acquisitions include:
• difficulties in assimilating the operations of the acquired businesses;
• potential disruption of our existing businesses;
• assumption of unknown liabilities and litigation;
• our inability to integrate, train, retain and motivate personnel of the acquired businesses;
• diversion of our management from our day−to−day operations;
• our inability to incorporate acquired products, services and technologies successfully into our websites;
• potential impairment of relationships with our employees, customers and strategic partners; and
• inability to maintain uniform standards, controls procedures and policies.
Our inability to successfully address any of these risks could materially harm our business.
Delaware law, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and other agreements contain provisions that could discourage a takeover.
Delaware law, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, our operating agreement with NAR, other agreements with business partners and a stockholders
agreement could have the effect of delaying or preventing a third party from acquiring us, even if a change in control would be beneficial to our stockholders. For
example, we have a classified Board of Directors. In addition, our stockholders are unable to act by written consent or to fill any vacancy on the Board of
Directors. Our stockholders cannot call special meetings of stockholders for any purpose, including to remove any director or the entire Board of Directors
without cause. In addition, NAR could terminate the REALTOR.com® operating agreement if we are or RealSelect is acquired.
Our business is dependent on our key personnel.
Our future success depends to a significant extent on the continued services of our senior management and other key personnel. The loss of the services of
key employees would likely have a significantly detrimental effect on our business. Several of our key senior management have employment agreements that we
believe will assist in our ability to retain them. However, many other key employees do not have employment agreements. Competition for qualified personnel in
our industry and geographical locations is intense. We can give no assurance that we will be successful in attracting, integrating, retaining and motivating a
sufficient number of qualified employees to conduct our business in the future.
We rely on intellectual property and proprietary rights.
We regard substantial elements of our websites and underlying technology as proprietary. Despite our precautionary measures, third parties may copy or
otherwise obtain and use our proprietary information without authorization or develop similar technology independently. Although we have one patent, we may
not achieve the desired protection from, and third parties may design around, this patent or any other patent that we may obtain in the future. In addition, in any
litigation or proceeding involving our patent, or any other patent that we may obtain in the future, the patent may be determined to be invalid or unenforceable.
Any
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legal action that we may bring to protect our proprietary information could be expensive and distract management from day−to−day operations.
Other companies may own, obtain or claim trademarks that could prevent or limit or interfere with use of the trademarks we use. The REALTOR.com®
website address and trademark and the REALTOR® trademark are important to our business and are licensed to us by NAR. If we were to lose the
REALTOR.com® domain name or the use of these trademarks, our business would be harmed and we would need to devote substantial resources toward
developing an independent brand identity.
Legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of proprietary rights in Internet−related businesses are uncertain and evolving,
and we can give no assurance regarding the future viability or value of any of our proprietary rights.
We may not be able to protect the website addresses that are important to our business.
Our website addresses, or domain names, are important to our business. However, the regulation of domain names is subject to change, and it is also possible
that the requirements for holding domain names could change. Therefore, we may not be able to obtain or maintain relevant domain names for all of the areas of
our business. It also may be difficult for us to prevent third parties from acquiring domain names that are similar to ours, that infringe our trademarks or that
otherwise decrease the value of our intellectual property.
Funds held by a letter of credit in connection with the lease of our corporate headquarters have been called upon because of our inability to extend the
letter of credit with a financial institution.
In March 2002, we received a notice of default under the office lease for our corporate offices because of our inability to extend our letter of credit under the
lease. The lease provides that the landlord has the ability to call upon the letter of credit and to hold the proceeds as part of the security deposit. The original
amount of the letter of credit required by the lease was $8.3 million. The landlord has called upon the letter of credit and now holds $7.5 million in cash. A
deterioration in the financial condition of our landlord could have a negative impact on our ability to recover these funds under the terms of the lease. It is our
intent to restore the letter of credit as soon as our financial condition will allow us.
We could be subject to litigation with respect to our intellectual property rights.
Other companies may own or obtain patents or other intellectual property rights that could prevent, limit or interfere with our ability to provide our products
and services. Companies in the Internet market are increasingly making claims alleging infringement of their intellectual property rights. We could incur
substantial costs to defend against these or any other claims or litigation. If a claim were successful, we could be required to obtain a license from the holder of
the intellectual property or redesign our advertising products and services.
Our agreement with the International Consortium of Real Estate Associations may expose us to higher costs and greater risks.
In October 2001, we entered into an agreement with the International Consortium of Real Estate Associations. This consortium, formed in May 2001,
consists of approximately 24 real estate associations worldwide. Pursuant to that agreement, we agreed to operate the consortium’s website and have been
endorsed as the exclusive provider of certain products and services to real estate agents in the countries in which members of the consortium have operations. As
we expand our service and product offerings to the consortium’s member associations, and if we begin to receive revenue from them, our exposure to currency
exchange rate fluctuations will increase. In addition, we may be subject to the following risks:
• increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;
• potentially adverse tax consequences;
• compliance with a wide variety of complex foreign laws and treaties;
• reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;
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• licenses, tariffs and other trade barriers; and
• disruption from political and economic instability in the countries in which the consortium member associations are located.
These factors may impose additional costs upon us.
Real Estate Industry Risks
Our business is dependent on the strength of the real estate industry, which is both cyclical and seasonal.
The real estate industry traditionally has been cyclical. Recently, sales of real estate in the United States have been at historically high levels. Economic
swings in the real estate industry may be caused by various factors. When interest rates are high or general national and global economic conditions are or are
perceived to be weak, there is typically less sales activity in real estate. A decrease in the current level of sales of real estate and products and services related to
real estate could adversely affect demand for our family of websites and our subscription and advertising products and services. In addition, reduced traffic on
our family of websites would likely cause our subscription and advertising revenue to decline, which would materially and adversely affect our business. We may
experience seasonality in our business. The real estate industry generally experiences a decrease in activity during the winter.
We may particularly be affected by general economic conditions.
Purchases of real property and related products and services are particularly affected by negative trends in the general economy. Substantially all of our
revenue has been, and is expected to continue to be, derived from customers in the United States. Recent economic indicators, including growth in gross
domestic product, reflect a decline in economic activity in the United States from prior periods. The success of our operations depends to a significant extent
upon a number of factors relating to discretionary consumer and business spending, and the overall economy, as well as regional and local economic conditions
in markets where we operate, including:
• perceived and actual economic conditions;
• interest rates;
• taxation policies;
• availability of credit;
• employment levels;
• wage and salary levels; and
• fears of terrorist attacks or the threat of war.
In addition, because a consumer’s purchase of real property and related products and services is a significant investment and is relatively discretionary, any
reduction in disposable income in general may affect us more significantly than companies in other industries.
Recessionary pressures traditionally impact real estate markets.
During recessionary periods, there tends to be a corresponding decline in demand for real estate, generally and regionally, that could adversely affect certain
segments of our business. Such adverse effects typically are a general decline in rents and sales prices, a decline in leasing activity, a decline in the level of
investments in, and the value of real estate, and an increase in defaults by tenants under their respective leases. All of these, in turn, adversely affect revenue for
fees and brokerage commissions, which are derived from property sales, and annual rental payments and property management fees.
We have risks associated with changing legislation in the real estate industry.
Real estate is a heavily regulated industry in the U.S., including regulation under the Fair Housing Act, the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act and state
advertising laws. In addition, states could enact
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legislation or regulatory policies in the future, which could require us to expend significant resources to comply. These laws and related regulations may limit or
restrict our activities. As the real estate industry evolves in the Internet environment, legislators, regulators and industry participants may advocate additional
legislative or regulatory initiatives. Should existing laws or regulations be amended or new laws or regulations be adopted, we may need to comply with
additional legal requirements and incur resulting costs, or we may be precluded from certain activities. For instance, Homestore Apartments & Rentals was
required to qualify and register as a real estate agent/broker in the State of California. To date, we have not spent significant resources on lobbying or related
government issues. Any need to significantly increase our lobbying or related activities could substantially increase our operating costs.
Internet Industry Risks
We depend on increased use of the Internet to expand our real estate−related advertising products and services.
If the Internet does not continue to be a viable marketplace for real estate content and information or if the pace of adoption by consumers of the Internet
slows, our business growth may suffer. Broad acceptance and adoption of the Internet by consumers and businesses when searching for real estate and related
products and services will continue only if the Internet continues to provide them with greater efficiencies and improved access to information.
In addition to selling subscription products and media services to real estate professionals, we depend on selling other types of advertisements on our
websites.
We have experienced a deterioration in the demand for our advertising services due to the slowdown in the U.S. economy, decreased corporate spending and
concerns about the effectiveness of Internet advertising. Our ability to generate advertising revenue from selling banner advertising, display ads and sponsorships
on our websites will depend on, among other factors, the development of the Internet as an advertising medium, the amount of traffic on our websites and our
ability to achieve and demonstrate user demographic characteristics that are attractive to advertisers. Most potential advertisers and their advertising agencies
have only limited experience with the Internet as an advertising medium and have not devoted a significant portion of their advertising expenditures to
Internet−based advertising. No standards have been widely accepted to measure the effectiveness of web advertising. If these standards do not develop, existing
advertisers might reduce their current levels of Internet advertising or eliminate their spending entirely. The widespread adoption of technologies that permit
Internet users to selectively block out unwanted graphics, including advertisements attached to the web pages, could also adversely affect the growth of the
Internet as an advertising medium. In addition, advertisers in the real estate industry, including real estate professionals, have traditionally relied upon other
advertising media, such as newsprint and magazines, and have invested substantial resources in other advertising methods. These persons may be reluctant to
adopt a new strategy and advertise on the Internet. If the demand for the Internet advertising remains sluggish due to current economic conditions or a weak U.S.
economy, our revenue and operating results could be harmed materially.
Government regulations and legal uncertainties could affect the growth of the Internet.
A number of legislative and regulatory proposals under consideration by federal, state, local and foreign governmental organizations may lead to laws or
regulations concerning various aspects of the Internet, including online content, user privacy, access charges, liability for third−party activities and jurisdiction.
Additionally, it is uncertain how existing laws will be applied to the Internet. The adoption of new laws or the application of existing laws may decrease the
growth in the use of the Internet, which could in turn decrease the usage and demand for our services or increase our cost of doing business.
Taxation of Internet transactions could slow the use of the Internet.
In November 2001, Congress extended the Internet Tax Freedom Act, which placed a moratorium on state and local taxes on Internet based transactions
through November 1, 2003. If Congress chooses in the future, however, not to renew this legislation, U.S., state and local governments would be free to impose
new
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taxes on electronically purchased goods. The imposition of such taxes could impair the growth of electronic commerce and thereby adversely affect the growth of
our business.
We depend on continued improvements to our computer network and the infrastructure of the Internet.
Any failure of our computer systems that causes interruption or slower response time of our websites or services could result in a smaller number of users of
our websites or the websites that we host for real estate professionals. If sustained or repeated, these performance issues could reduce the attractiveness of our
websites to consumers and our subscription products and media services to real estate professionals, providers of real estate−related products and services and
other Internet advertisers. Increases in the volume of our website traffic could also strain the capacity of our existing computer systems, which could lead to
slower response times or system failures. This would cause the number of real property search inquiries, advertising impressions, other revenue producing
offerings and our informational offerings to decline, any of which could hurt our revenue growth and our brand loyalty. We may need to incur additional costs to
upgrade our computer systems in order to accommodate increased demand if our systems cannot handle current or higher volumes of traffic. We may not be able
to project accurately the rate, timing or cost of any increases in our business, or to expand and upgrade our systems and infrastructure to accommodate any
increases in a timely manner.
Our ability to increase the speed with which we provide services to consumers and to increase the scope of these services is limited by and dependent upon
the speed and reliability of the Internet. Consequently, the emergence and growth of the market for our services is dependent on the performance of and future
improvements to the Internet.
Our internal network infrastructure could be disrupted.
Our operations depend upon our ability to maintain and protect our computer systems, located at our corporate headquarters in Westlake Village, California
and our technology facility in Thousand Oaks, California. Temporary or permanent outages of our computers or software equipment could have an adverse effect
on our business. Although we have not experienced any material outages to date, we currently do not have a fully redundant system for our websites and other
services at an alternate site. Therefore, our systems are vulnerable to damage from break−ins, unauthorized access, vandalism, fire, earthquakes, power loss,
telecommunications failures and similar events. Although we maintain insurance against fires, earthquakes and general business interruptions, the amount of
coverage may not be adequate in any particular case.
Experienced computer programmers, or hackers, may attempt to penetrate our network security from time to time. Although we have not experienced any
material security breaches to date, a hacker who penetrates our network security could misappropriate proprietary information or cause interruptions in our
services. We might be required to expend significant capital and resources to protect against, or to alleviate, problems caused by hackers. We also may not have a
timely remedy against a hacker who is able to penetrate our network security. In addition to purposeful security breaches, the inadvertent transmission of
computer viruses could expose us to litigation or to a material risk of loss.
We could face liability for information on our websites and for products and services sold over the Internet.
We provide third−party content on our websites, particularly real estate listings. We could be exposed to liability with respect to this third−party information.
Persons might assert, among other things, that, by directly or indirectly providing links to websites operated by third parties, we should be liable for copyright or
trademark infringement or other wrongful actions by the third parties operating those websites. They could also assert that our third−party information contains
errors or omissions, and consumers could seek damages for losses incurred if they rely upon incorrect information.
We enter into agreements with other companies under which we share with these other companies’ revenue resulting from advertising or the purchase of
services through direct links to or from our family of websites. These arrangements may expose us to additional legal risks and uncertainties, including local,
state, federal and foreign government regulation and potential liabilities to consumers of these services, even if we do
25

Table of Contents
not provide the services ourselves. We cannot assure you that any indemnification provided to us in our agreements with these parties, if available, will be
adequate.
Even if these claims do not result in liability to us, we could incur significant costs in investigating and defending against these claims. Our general liability
insurance may not cover all potential claims to which we are exposed and may not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability that may be imposed.

Item 2.

Properties:

We maintain the following principal facilities:

Location

Principal executive and corporate office
Technology facility
Operations and customer service center
Welcome Wagon
Top Producer
Homestyles
WyldFyre Technologies
Enterprise
Computers for Tracts

Westlake Village, CA
Thousand Oaks, CA
Scottsdale, AZ
Westbury, NY
Richmond, BC
St. Paul, MN
Campbell, CA
Milwaukee, WI
Orange, CA

Square
Feet

137,762
13,717
62,169
60,500
29,098
24,645
19,492
13,016
6,300

Lease
Expiration

2008
2006
2007
owned
2003
2006
2004
2005
2006

We believe that our existing facilities and office space are adequate to meet current requirements.

Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are party to various litigation and administrative proceedings relating to claims arising from our operations in the ordinary course of
business. As of the date of this Form 10−K and except as set forth herein, we are not a party to any litigation or administrative proceedings that management
believes will have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.
Shareholder Litigation
Beginning in December 2001, numerous separate complaints purporting to be class actions were filed in various jurisdictions alleging that we and certain of
our current and former officers and directors violated certain provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The complaints contain varying
allegations, including that we made materially false and misleading statements with respect to our 2000 and 2001 financial results included in our filings with the
SEC, analysts reports, press releases and media reports. The complaints seek an unspecified amount of damages. In March 2002, the California State Teachers’
Retirement System was named lead plaintiff (the “Plaintiff”), and the actions have been consolidated in the United States District Court, Central District of
California. In July 2002, the Plaintiff filed a consolidated amended class action complaint naming us, certain of our former officers, directors and employees,
along with MaxWorldwide, Inc. (formerly L90, Inc.) and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. In November 2002, the Plaintiff filed a first amended consolidated class
action complaint naming us, certain of our current officers and employees, certain of our former officers, directors and employees and various other parties,
including among others MaxWorldwide, Inc., PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, AOL and Cendant. The amended complaint makes various allegations, including
that we violated federal securities laws and seeks an unspecified amount of damages.
On March 7, 2003, the court dismissed, with prejudice, the Plaintiff’s claims against a number of corporate and individual defendants whom the Plaintiff
alleged either assisted in the planning and execution of the purportedly fraudulent transactions at issue, or who were parties to those transactions. Those
defendants included MaxWorldwide, Inc., AOL and Cendant, among others. The court also dismissed, without prejudice, the Plaintiff’s claims against a number
of our current and former officers and employees. With regard to those
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claims dismissed without prejudice, the Plaintiff has the opportunity to file another amended complaint attempting to cure the defects in the original claims
against those defendants. At the same time, the court denied the motions to dismiss of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and our former chief executive officer. We
did not file a motion to dismiss the Plaintiff’s claims against us, but answered the complaint. Accordingly, the March 7, 2003 decision did not make any ruling
with respect to the claims asserted against us.
It is possible that we may be required to pay substantial damages or a substantial settlement amount in connection with the litigation, although, as is the case
with any litigation, it is difficult to predict the outcome of this matter. However, in light of the fact that we determined that it was necessary to restate our 2000
and 2001 financial results, due to the circumstances forming the basis of the Plaintiff’s allegations, and the fact that four of our former employees have pled
guilty to violating federal securities laws in connection with the financial results which required restatement, this litigation poses a significant risk of a material
adverse effect on the conduct and scope of our business, our results of operations and our financial position. Because we are unable to estimate the amount of
damages that we might incur as a result of the outcome of this litigation, we have not recorded any liability or reserve related to it.
In September 2002, Matt L. Brody filed a class action complaint in Superior Court for the State of California, Los Angeles County against us, certain of our
former officers and directors, and certain underwriters, purporting to state claims under Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Exchange Act, alleging that our
January 26, 2000 registration statement contained materially false and misleading statements. In October 2002, defendants removed the action to the United
District Court, Central District of California. As the case is in a very early stage, we are unable to express an opinion at this time as to its merits.
In November 2002, Stuart Siegel and certain other former owners and directors of iPlace, Inc. filed a complaint against us in the United States District Court,
Eastern District of Pennsylvania alleging fraudulent inducement and promissory fraud due to misrepresentations by us of our financial condition prior to our
acquisition of iPlace, securities fraud pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b−5 thereunder and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, common
law fraud, negligent misrepresentation, breach of contract, and unjust enrichment in connection with our acquisition of iPlace in August 2001. On March 19,
2003, the court granted our motion to transfer this case to the United States District Court, Central District of California. We believe this case is without merit
and intend to defend this claim vigorously.
In November 2002, plaintiff Gregory C. Pyfrom filed a complaint in Superior Court for the State of California, Ventura County against us and certain of our
former officers and directors, alleging violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b−5 thereunder, as well as intentional fraud, negligent
misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, violations of California Corporation Code §§ 25400(d) and
25500, violation of Business and Professions Code § 17200, and negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress. As the case is in a very early stage, we
are unable to express an opinion at this time as to its merits.
In December 2002, Jeff Paradise and certain other former shareholders of iPlace filed a complaint in the United Sates District Court, Central District of
California against us, alleging violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b−5 thereunder, as well as common law fraud and negligent
misrepresentation in connection with our acquisition of iPlace in August 2001. As the case is in a very early stage, we are unable to express an opinion at this
time as to its merits.
SEC Investigation
In January 2002, we were notified that the SEC had issued a formal order of private investigation in connection with matters relating to the restatement of
our financial results that occurred in March 2002. The SEC has requested that we provide them with certain documents concerning the restatement of our
financial results. The SEC has also requested access to certain of our current and former employees for interviews. We have cooperated and continue to
cooperate fully with the SEC’s investigation.
In September 2002 and March 2003, certain of our former employees entered into plea agreements with the United States Attorney’s Office and the SEC in
connection with the investigation. Also in September
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2002, the SEC and the Department of Justice informed us that they would not bring any enforcement action against us because of the actions taken by our Board
of Directors and our Audit Committee and our cooperation in the SEC’s investigation. Because the investigation is on−going and we are committed to
cooperating with the SEC, we will likely continue to incur additional costs related to the investigation, and management time and attention may be diverted until
the investigation concludes.
Derivative Litigation
In January 2002, Robert Sparaco filed a complaint in California Superior Court, Los Angeles County, derivatively on our behalf as nominal defendant,
against certain of our current and former officers and directors. Two additional shareholder derivative actions were filed against substantially the same
defendants on our behalf as nominal defendants. The three derivative actions allege breaches of fiduciary duty, negligence, abuse of control, misconduct, waste
of corporate assets and other violations of state law. In March 2002, the court entered an order consolidating the three actions. In November 2002, the plaintiffs
filed a first−amended consolidated shareholder derivative complaint. The parties have lodged with the court a stipulation agreeing to defer all proceedings and
continue all responsive dates until further action by the parties. As the case is in a very early stage, we are unable to express an opinion at this time as to its
merits.
In January 2002, Jeff Joerg filed a complaint in Delaware Chancery Court, derivatively on behalf of us as nominal defendant, against certain of our current
and former officers and directors. The complaint alleges that defendants breached their fiduciary duties by failing to maintain adequate accounting controls and
by employing improper accounting practices and procedures. As the case is in a very early stage, we are unable to express an opinion at this time as to its merits.
Insurance Coverage Litigation
Between September 2002 and November 2002, Genesis Insurance Company, Federal Insurance Company, Clarendon National Insurance Company, Royal
Indemnity Company and TIG Insurance Company of Michigan sent us notices of rescission of the officers and directors liability policies issued to us for the
period from August 2000 through August 2001. The same carriers filed complaints to judicially confirm the rescissions or for declaratory relief in the United
States District Court, Central District of California against us and certain current and former officers, directors and employees. The complaints allege
misrepresentations contained in the original applications for insurance, the renewal applications and warranty letters. We requested that the court stay the Federal
Insurance Company and Genesis Insurance Company actions but those requests were denied in March 2003. We are in the process of responding to the
complaints. Federal Insurance Company’s motion for summary judgment is scheduled to be heard in May 2003.
In February 2003, TIG Insurance Company dismissed its federal court rescission action and filed a new rescission action against us and certain of our current
and former officers and directors in California State Superior Court. Responses are due in April 2003.
In October 2002, Lumbermen’s Mutual Casualty Company rescinded and filed a similar complaint against us and certain of our current and former officers,
directors and employees to confirm the rescission in the Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles. We have filed an answer and discovery is
beginning. Trial has been set for January 2004.
We intend to defend these actions vigorously; however, we are unable to form a judgment as to the ultimate outcomes.
AOL Settlement
In April 2000, we entered into a distribution agreement with AOL. In October 2001, we filed a demand for arbitration with AOL alleging breaches of certain
contractual obligations. An arbitration hearing was held in July 2002, and we and AOL submitted proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law to the tribunal
in September 2002. In January 2003, we and AOL entered into a new marketing agreement that settled the arbitration.
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As part of the new marketing agreement, which continues through June 2004, we have the exclusive right to provide AOL with its real estate listings, and
AOL members retain access to a wide array of our real estate content. AOL will offer increased promotion and more prominent integration of our content in a
redesigned real estate area on the AOL service. The parties will continue to share advertising revenue in certain home−related categories. Over the term of the
agreement, we will make quarterly cash payments of $3.75 million, totaling $22.5 million.
We and AOL have agreed to terminate our previous marketing agreement, which would have ended in July 2003. We will pay AOL $7.5 million in cash to
terminate the previous agreement and also will allow AOL to fully draw down on an existing $90.0 million letter of credit secured by restricted cash on our
balance sheet. Termination of the previous agreement also eliminates our responsibility to provide AOL with an additional “make−whole” payment in July 2003
which would have been approximately $57.0 million, payable in cash or stock. Transfer restrictions relating to the approximately 3.9 million shares of our
common stock issued to AOL under the previous agreement also have been removed.
Other Litigation
In connection with our acquisition of Move.com, Inc. and Welcome Wagon International, Inc., collectively referred to as the Move.com Group, Cendant has
alleged that we may have breached certain representations and warranties made in the acquisition agreement as a result of the restatement of our 2000 financial
statements. In connection with the acquisition, we entered into a series of related agreements with Cendant that provided us with certain promotion and exclusive
data rights and placed certain restrictions on Cendant’s ability to dispose of our shares. Cendant has proposed amendments to certain of the related agreements in
consideration of settling any potential claims related to our acquisition of the Move.com Group. We have been engaged with Cendant in discussions relating to
Cendant’s allegations, and we and Cendant have considered certain amendments to the agreements that would materially alter our rights and Cendant’s
restrictions and obligations in order to settle these potential claims. We cannot assure you that these discussions will yield a satisfactory resolution.
In June 2000, Anil K. Agarwal filed a petition for declaratory judgment against us in the District Court of Douglas County, Nebraska. The lawsuit arises
from a transaction between Dr. Agarwal and Michael K. Luther, in relation to which Mr. Luther directed InfoTouch Corporation (“InfoTouch”), our predecessor,
to transfer certain shares of InfoTouch Series B Preferred Stock to Dr. Agarwal. Dr. Agarwal seeks a declaratory judgment that he should have been issued shares
of Series B Preferred stock of InfoTouch sufficient to entitle him to receive 76,949 shares of common stock (on a pre−split basis), and that there is a shortfall of
46,950 shares, pre−split (or 104,375 shares of common stock, post−split) due and owing to him. As the case is in the early stages of discovery, we are unable to
express an opinion at this time as to its merits.
In November 2000, Amica Mutual Insurance Co. filed a demand for arbitration against GETKO Group, Inc., or GETKO, one of our subsidiaries, alleging
breach of a Marketing Services Agreement effective January 2000. Amica is seeking compensatory and consequential damages and lost profits due to GETKO’s
alleged failure to comply with that agreement. Arbitration of this matter began in February 2003 and should be completed in April 2003. Although we intend to
defend the claims vigorously and believe that the allegations are without merit, we are unable to express an opinion as to the probable outcome of the arbitration.
In December 2001, Pentawave Inc. filed a suit for fraud, breach of contract and defamation in Ventura County Superior Court seeking $5.0 million in
compensatory and punitive damages. Although we believe that this case is without merit and intend to defend this claim vigorously, we are unable to express an
opinion as to the probable outcome of the litigation. No trial date is currently scheduled, however we believe it will be set for late spring 2003.
In June 2002, Tren Technologies served a complaint on us, the NAR and the NAHB in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Pennsylvania.
The complaint alleges a claim for patent infringement based on activities related to the websites REALTOR.com® and Homebuilder.com. Specifically, Tren
alleges that it owns a patent on an application, method and system for tracking demographic customer
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information, including tracking information related to real estate and real estate demographics information, and that we have developed an infringing technology
for the NAR’s REALTOR.com® and the NAHB’s Homebuilder.com websites. The complaint seeks unspecified damages and a permanent injunction against
using the technology. In January 2003, counsel for Tren withdrew their representation. On February 3, 2003, the court ordered that the case would be dismissed
twenty days later unless prior to that date an attorney entered an appearance on behalf of Tren along with a sworn statement that it was counsel’s intention to
prosecute the action through trial. No qualifying appearance was entered on or before February 23, 2003, and the case was dismissed without prejudice.
However, we cannot assure you that Tren will not assert the claim again in the future.

Item 4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

We did not submit any matters to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2002.

PART II

Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Market Information
Our common stock has been traded on The NASDAQ SmallCap Market under the symbol “HOMS” since November 18, 2002 and, prior to that time, on The
NASDAQ National Market. The following table shows the high and low sale prices of the common stock as reported by The NASDAQ SmallCap Market or The
NASDAQ National Market, as applicable, for the periods indicated.

2001
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
2002
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
2003
First Quarter (through February 28, 2003)

$ 37.25
37.16
36.99
8.58

$ 16.38
21.31
6.52
2.10

3.02
2.70
1.48
1.70

0.53
1.19
0.14
0.25

1.51

0.69

As of February 28, 2003, there were approximately 1,100 record holders of our common stock.
Dividends
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future, except for
an annual dividend of $0.08 to be paid on the one share of our Series A preferred stock held by NAR.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
There were no sales of unregistered shares during 2002.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2002 regarding compensation plans (including individual compensation arrangements) under
which our equity securities are authorized for issuance.
Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan Category

Number of
Securities to be
Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options, Warrants
and Rights

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
of Outstanding
Options,
Warrants and
Rights

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available for
Future Issuance
(excluding
securities reflected
in column (a))

(a)

(b)

(c)

(In thousands)

(In thousands)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders

9,877

$ 2.67

6,557

14,438

$ 3.84

8,176

Total

24,315

$ 3.32

14,733

Each of the above plans provides that the number of shares with respect to which options may be granted, and the number of shares of common stock subject
to an outstanding option, shall be proportionately adjusted in the event of a subdivision or consolidation of shares or the payment of a stock dividend on common
stock, and the purchase price per share of outstanding options shall be proportionately revised.
Non−Shareholder Approved Plans
Options are granted from the Homestore, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, a new plan established in January 2002 to attract and retain qualified personnel. No
more then 40% of the available securities granted under this plan may be awarded to our directors or executive officers. Option grants under this plan are
non−qualified stock options and generally have a 4−year vesting schedule and a 10−year life.
Other non−shareholder approved plans include the following acquired plans: the 1997−1998 Stock Incentive Plan of Cendant Corporation, the Cendant
Corporation Move.com Group 1999 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated effective as of March 21, 2000, the Move.com, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan,
the HomeWrite Incorporated 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, the ConsumerInfo.com, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan, the iPlace 2000 Stock Option Plan, the
eNeighborhoods, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan, the Qspace, Inc. 1999 Stock Option Plan, the iPlace, Inc. 2001 Equity Incentive Plan and The Hessel Group, Inc.
2000 Stock Option Plan. We did not grant options under any of these plans in 2002, and we do not plan to do so in the future.
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

You should read the following selected consolidated financial data together with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in
“Part II — Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” and “Part II — Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.”
The consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included in “Part II — Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.” The consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 and the consolidated balance sheet data as
of December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Form 10−K.
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Year Ended December 31,
2002

2001

2000

1999

1998

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statement of Operations
Data:
Revenue(2)
Related party revenue

$ 233,455
31,158

$

265,436
38,346

$ 181,322
—

$ 62,580
—

$

—
—

Total revenue
Cost of revenue(2)

264,613
78,304

303,782
113,490

181,322
61,222

62,580
21,965

—
—

Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing(2)
Product and website development(2)
General and administrative(2)
Amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets(1)
In−process research and development
Acquisition and restructuring charges
Impairment of long−lived assets
Litigation settlement

186,309

190,292

120,100

40,615

—

164,629
30,279
84,813

242,174
35,722
174,363

160,122
15,554
59,610

85,110
5,380
26,892

—
—
3

37,165
—
12,087
7,335
23,000

199,291
—
50,260
925,094
—

42,868
4,048
—
—
—

10,192
—
—
—
8,406

—
—
—
—
—

359,308

1,626,904

282,202

135,980

3

Loss from operations
Interest income, net
Other expense, net

(172,999)
2,620
(5,682)

(1,436,612)
10,490
(44,281)

(162,102)
23,031
(6,982)

(95,365)
2,386
(28)

(3)
—
—

Loss from continuing operations
Gain on disposition of discontinued
operations
Income from discontinued operations
Accretion of redemption value and
dividends on convertible preferred stock

(176,061)

(1,470,403)

(146,053)

(93,007)

(3)

Total operating expenses

11,790
846

—
4,814

—
—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

(2,299)

—

Net loss

$ (163,425)

$ (1,465,589)

$ (146,053)

$ (95,306)

$

(3)

Basic and diluted income (loss) per share:
Continuing operations

$

(1.49)

$

(13.69)

$

$

$

—

Discontinued operations

$

0.11

$

0.04

$

$

—

Net loss

$

(1.39)

$

(13.64)

$

$

—

Shares used to calculate basic and diluted
per share amounts

117,900

107,433

(1.83)
—
(1.83)

79,758

$
$

(2.32)
—
(2.32)

41,142

(1)

We adopted SFAS No. 142 in 2002 and ceased amortizing goodwill as required by that standard.

(2)

The following chart summarizes the stock−based charges that have been included in the following captions for the periods presented:
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Year Ended December 31,
2002

2001

2000

1999

1998

(In thousands)

Stock−based Charges:
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
Product development
General and administrative

$ 1,501
134
63,848
127
1,297

$ 2,456
383
71,188
361
6,237

$ 6,233
607
45,148
572
3,095

$

—
943
14,726
447
5,111

$ —
—
—
—
—

$ 66,907

$ 80,625

$ 55,655

$ 21,227

$ —

1999

1998

$ 90,382
40,822
276,563
633
195,473

$ 71
1
71
—
(95)

December 31,
2002

2001

2000
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital (deficiency)
Total assets
Notes payable, long term
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)

Item 7.

$ 80,463
(80,763)
379,208
—
38,730

$ 38,272
(31,888)
615,037
—
183,256

$ 167,576
253,638
893,350
—
603,479

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000 and related notes included in “Part II — Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
Overview
We have created an online service that is the leading consumer destination on the Internet for home and real estate−related information, products and media
services, based on the number of visitors, time spent on the websites and number of property listings. We provide a wide variety of information and tools for
consumers and are a leading supplier of online media and technology solutions for real estate industry professionals, advertisers and providers of home and real
estate−related products and services.
To provide consumers with timely and comprehensive real estate listings, access to real estate professionals and other home and real estate−related
information and resources, we have established relationships with key industry participants. These participants include real estate market leaders such as NAR,
NAHB, hundreds of MLSs, the MHI, and leading real estate franchisors, including the six largest franchises, brokers, builders and apartment owners. Under our
agreement with NAR, we operate NAR’s official website, REALTOR.com®. Under our agreement with NAHB, we operate its new home listing website,
HomeBuilder.com. Under our agreements with NAR, NAHB, and MHI we receive preferential promotion in their marketing activities.
Basis of Presentation
Initial Business and Reorganization of Holding Structure. We were incorporated in 1993 under the name of InfoTouch Corporation with the objective of
establishing an interactive network of real estate “kiosks” for consumers to search for homes. In 1996, we began to develop the technology to build and operate
real estate related Internet sites. Effective November 26, 1996, we entered into a series of agreements with NAR and several investors and transferred technology
and assets to a newly−formed company, NetSelect, LLC., or LLC, in exchange for a 46% ownership interest in LLC. The investors contributed capital to a
newly−formed company, NetSelect, Inc., or NSI, which owned 54% of LLC. LLC in turn contributed the
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assets and technology contributed by InfoTouch as well as the NSI capital to a newly formed entity, RealSelect, Inc., or RealSelect, in exchange for common
stock representing an 85% ownership interest in RealSelect. Also effective November 26, 1996, RealSelect entered into a number of formation agreements with
and issued cash and common stock representing a 15% ownership interest in RealSelect to NAR in exchange for the rights to operate the REALTOR.com® web
site and pursue commercial opportunities relating to the listing of real estate on the Internet. Our initial operating activities primarily consisted of recruiting
personnel, developing our website content and raising our initial capital. We developed our first website, REALTOR.com®, in cooperation with NAR and
actively began marketing our advertising products and services to real estate professionals in January 1997. On February 4, 1999, NSI stockholders entered into a
non−substantive share exchange with and were merged into InfoTouch. In addition, LLC was merged into InfoTouch. InfoTouch changed the corporate name to
Homestore.com, Inc. in August 1999. We changed our name to Homestore, Inc. in May 2002.
Our historical consolidated financial statements reflect the results of operations of Homestore, Inc., formerly InfoTouch. For the year ended December 31,
1998, and through the reorganization on February 4, 1999, Homestore was a holding company whose sole business was managing its investment in RealSelect
through LLC. Prior to February 4, 1999, the results of operations of RealSelect were consolidated by NSI. Thus, all revenues through February 4, 1999, were
recorded by NSI. A comparison of our historical results of operations has not been presented because the financial position, results of operations and cash flows
were insignificant for all periods presented prior to the Reorganization.
Acquisitions. In March 2000, we acquired WyldFyre Technologies, Inc., or WyldFyre, a leading developer of technology solutions for real estate
professionals to access MLS information via the Internet, for $34.0 million in stock. In May 2000, we acquired Top Producer, a provider of leads management
and marketing software for real estate professionals, for $24.2 million in cash and stock. Contingent purchase price payments of approximately $7.9 million may
also be paid in cash or stock, if certain defined targets are met during the years ended December 31, 2002 through December 31, 2004. The selling stockholders
have earned approximately $5.0 million in contingent consideration for performance targets related to the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001. In
September 2000, we acquired The Hessel Group, a leading provider of technology−driven solutions and services to the relocation industry, for $15.0 million in
cash and assumption of The Hessel Group’s options with an estimated fair value of $4.5 million. In January 2001, we acquired certain assets and licenses and
assumed certain liabilities from Internet Pictures Corporation, or iPIX, for $7.1 million in cash and a note in the amount of $2.3 million. In January 2001, we
acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities from Computers for Tracts, Inc., or CFT, for approximately $4.5 million in cash and 162,850 shares of our
common stock valued at approximately $5.0 million.
In February 2001, we acquired all the outstanding shares of HomeWrite, Inc., or HomeWrite, in exchange for 196,549 shares of our common stock valued at
$5.6 million and assumed the HomeWrite stock option plan consisting of 196,200 outstanding stock options with an estimated fair value of $4.5 million. In
February 2001, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities from Homebid.com, Inc. for approximately $3.5 million in cash. In February 2001, we
acquired all of the outstanding shares of the Move.com Group, from Cendant Corporation, or Cendant, valued at approximately $745.7 million. In connection
with the acquisition, we issued an aggregate of 21.4 million shares of our common stock in exchange for all the outstanding shares of capital stock of the
Move.com Group, and assumed approximately 3.2 million outstanding stock options. Cendant is restricted in its ability to sell the Homestore shares it received in
the acquisition and has agreed to vote such shares on all corporate matters in proportion to the voting decisions of all other stockholders. In addition, Cendant has
agreed to a ten−year standstill agreement that, under most conditions, prohibits Cendant from acquiring additional shares of our common stock. In connection
with our acquisition of Move.com, Inc. and Welcome Wagon International, Inc., collectively referred to as the Move.com Group, Cendant has alleged that we
may have breached certain representations and warranties made in the acquisition agreement as a result of the restatement of our 2000 financial statements. See
“Item 3. Legal Proceedings — Other Litigation” for additional information.
In May 2001, we acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities from Homestyles Publishing and Marketing, Inc. for $14.5 million in cash.
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In August 2001, we acquired all the outstanding shares of iPlace, Inc., or iPlace, for approximately $73.0 million in cash and 3.5 million shares of our
common stock valued at $80.3 million. In connection with the transaction, we assumed the iPlace stock option plan consisting of approximately 1.1 million
outstanding stock options with an estimated fair value of $16.3 million. The acquisitions described above have been accounted for under the purchase method in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The primary subsidiary of iPlace was sold in 2002. See Dispositions section below.
Transaction with Cendant and Real Estate Technology Trust. In connection with and contingent upon the closing of the acquisition of the Move.com Group,
we entered into a series of commercial agreements for the sale of various technology and subscription−based products to Real Estate Technology Trust
(“RETT”), an independent trust established in 1996 to provide technology services and products to Cendant’s real estate franchisees that is considered a related
party by us. Under the commercial agreements, RETT committed to purchase $75.0 million in products and services to be delivered to agents, brokers and other
Cendant real estate franchisees over the next three years. Subsequent to the closing of the acquisition of the Move.com Group, we entered into additional
commercial agreements with Cendant and RETT. The total contractual value of all commercial agreements entered into during 2001 is approximately
$95.5 million, resulting in $82.5 million in future revenue. Revenue of $31.2 million and $38.3 million related to these transactions was recognized in 2002 and
2001, respectively. This revenue was reported separately as revenue from related parties in these financial statements. There were no revenues from Cendant or
RETT in 2000. It is not practical to separately determine the costs of such revenues. During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, we had received
approximately $12.0 million and $83.3 million of cash, respectively, and had recorded at December 31, 2002 and 2001 deferred revenue of approximately
$13.5 million and $37.0 million, respectively, related to these agreements. This deferred revenue will be recognized over the next two years.
The business purpose of these commercial agreements was to extend our product and service offerings to a significant concentration of real estate
professionals and to establish access to an effective and efficient distribution channel for current and future product and service offerings. The pricing under these
commercial arrangements was negotiated at arm’s length and on a discrete basis for each of the various products and services. Products and services to be
provided under these arrangements include personalized multi−page websites for real estate agents, subscription−based products and services targeted at
individual real estate brokerage offices, virtual tour technology software, customized real estate professional productivity software, as well as other products and
services such as marketing and training. Sales of the subscription−based products are for specified periods of time ranging between one and two years. At the end
of the contractual term for each of the subscription−based products, we may have to negotiate renewal terms with the individual real estate professionals.
Dispositions
On March 19, 2002, we entered into an agreement to sell our ConsumerInfo division, a former subsidiary of iPlace, to Experian Holdings, Inc., or Experian,
for $130.0 million in cash. The transaction closed on April 2, 2002. The sale generated net proceeds of approximately $117.1 million after transaction fees and
monies placed in escrow. On March 26, 2002, MemberWorks Incorporated, or MemberWorks, one of the former owners of iPlace, obtained a court order
requiring us to set aside $58.0 million of the proceeds against a potential claim MemberWorks had against us.
On August 9, 2002, we reached a settlement in the MemberWorks litigation, in which MemberWorks and certain other former iPlace shareholders received
$23.0 million, with the remaining $35.0 million plus accrued interest being transferred to us resulting in net proceeds to us of $94.1 million. In addition, the
litigation was dismissed and MemberWorks released all claims against us relating to the sale of iPlace. We have included the cost of the settlement in our results
of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002.
Pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long−Lived Assets,” our
consolidated financial statements reflect the disposition of our ConsumerInfo division, as discontinued operations. Accordingly, the revenue, costs and expenses,
and cash flows of the ConsumerInfo division through December 31, 2002, have been excluded from the respective
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captions in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and have been reported as “Income (loss) from discontinued
operations,” and as “Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations.” The $11.8 million gain associated with the disposition of the ConsumerInfo
division is recorded as “Gain on disposition of discontinued operations,” in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. As part of the sale, $10.0 million of the
purchase price was put in escrow to secure our indemnification obligations. As of December 31, 2002, cash in escrow was $9.3 million. To the extent the escrow
is released to us, we will recognize additional gain on disposition of discontinued operations. The escrow is scheduled to terminate in the third quarter of 2003. A
portion of the escrow can be released prior to the scheduled termination date if both parties to the agreement agree to a release of funds. Total revenue and
income from discontinued operations was $19.5 million and $846,000, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2002. Total revenue and loss from
discontinued operations was $21.3 million and $4.8 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2001.
The calculation of the gain on the sale of the ConsumerInfo division is as follows (in thousands):

Gross proceeds from sale
Less:
Cash subject to escrow
Net assets of the ConsumerInfo division
Transaction costs
Cash and Homestore stock received from purchase of iPlace
Gain recognized on the sale

$ 130,000
10,000
106,321
2,918
(1,029)
$ 11,790

The cash and stock received from the purchase of iPlace relates to the settlement of the original escrow related to our purchase of iPlace.
Critical Accounting Policies
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
On an on−going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, uncollectible receivables, investment values, intangible and
other long−lived assets and contingencies. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements: revenue recognition; valuation allowances, specifically the allowance for doubtful accounts; accounting for investments; valuation of
goodwill, identified intangibles and other long−lived assets; accounting for business combinations; and legal contingencies.
Revenue Recognition
We derive our revenue primarily from three sources: (i) subscription revenue, which includes monthly and annual fees from licensed real estate professionals
to promote their product offerings on our websites or to utilize our proprietary software; (ii) software revenue, which includes software licenses, software
development, hardware services and support revenue which includes software maintenance, training, consulting and website hosting revenue and; (iii) advertising
revenue for running on−line advertising and sponsorships on our websites or offline advertising placed in our publications. As described below, significant
management judgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with the revenue recognized in any accounting period.
We generate recurring revenue from several sources, including the sale of subscriptions to be included on our websites, from maintenance and support on
our software products and from our hosted solutions.
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Recurring revenue is typically based on one−year renewable contracts and is recognized ratably over the contract period. Cash received in advance is recorded as
deferred revenue. Recurring revenue from hosted solutions is billed monthly over a contract term of typically one year.
We generally license our software products in three ways: (i) on a one−year term basis; (ii) on a perpetual basis; and (iii) on a monthly subscription. Our
hosting arrangements require customers to pay a fixed fee and receive service over a period of time, generally one year. We recognize revenue from the sale of
software licenses when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the product has been delivered, the fee is fixed or determinable and collection of the
resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Delivery generally occurs when product is delivered to a common carrier.
We apply the provisions of Statement of Position, or SOP, 97−2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by Statement of Position 98−9,
“Modification of SOP 97−2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions” to all transactions involving the sale of software. Software
license revenue is recognized upon all of the following criteria being satisfied: (i) the execution of a license agreement; (ii) product delivery; (iii) fees are fixed or
determinable; (iv) collectibility is reasonably assured; and (v) all other significant obligations have been fulfilled. For software license agreements in which
customer acceptance is a condition of earning the license fees, revenue is not recognized until acceptance occurs. For arrangements containing multiple elements,
such as software license fees, consulting services and maintenance, and where vendor−specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of fair value exists for all
undelivered elements, we account for the delivered elements in accordance with the “residual method” prescribed by SOP 98−9. For arrangements in which
VSOE does not exist for each element, including specified upgrades, revenue is deferred and not recognized until delivery of the element without VSOE has
occurred. We also generate non−recurring revenue from consulting fees for implementation, installation, data conversion, and training related to the use of our
proprietary and third−party licensed products. We recognize revenue for these services as they are performed, as they are principally contracted for on a time and
material basis. Our arrangements do not generally include acceptance clauses. However, if an arrangement includes an acceptance provision, acceptance occurs
upon the earlier of receipt of a written customer acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period. Certain software products are sold in annual subscriptions, and
accordingly, revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the contract.
We recognize revenue for maintenance services ratably over the contract term. Our training and consulting services are billed based on hourly rates and we
generally recognize revenue as these services are performed. Payments for support and services are generally made in advance and are non−refundable.
However, at the time of entering into a transaction, we assess whether or not any services included within the arrangement will require us to perform significant
work either to alter the underlying software or to build additional complex interfaces so that the software performs as the customer requests. If these services are
included as part of an arrangement, and management is able to accurately estimate the progression to completion, we recognize the entire fee using the
percentage of completion method. We estimate the percentage of completion based on the total costs incurred to date as a percentage of estimated total costs to
complete and we monitor our progress against plan to insure our estimates are materially accurate. We recognize estimated losses in the periods in which such
losses are reasonably expected. For projects in which we are unable to estimate our progression to completion, such revenue is recognized in the period in which
the project is completed.
We also sell online and offline advertising. Online advertising revenue includes three revenue streams: (i) impression based, (ii) fixed fee subscriptions and
(iii) affiliate revenue share agreements. The impressions based agreements range from spot purchases to 12 month contracts. The impression based revenue is
recognized based upon actual impressions delivered and viewed by a user in a period. The fixed fee subscription revenue is recognized ratably over the period in
which the services are provided. The affiliate revenue is recognized in the period in which the affiliate partner provides the services. We measure performance
related to advertising obligations on a monthly basis prior to the recording of revenue. Offline advertising revenue is recognized when the publications in which
the advertising is displayed are shipped.
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We record and measure the fair value of equity received in exchange for advertising services in accordance with the provisions of EITF 00−8, “Accounting
by a Grantee for an Equity Instrument to be Received in Conjunction with Providing Goods or Services.” We recognize revenue from advertising barter
transactions in accordance with EITF 99−17, “Accounting for Advertising Barter Transactions.” Revenue, from these transactions, is recognized during the
period in which the impressions are delivered. The services provided are valued based on similar cash transactions, which have occurred within six months prior
to the date of the barter transactions. We did not enter into any advertising barter transactions during 2002. There was no revenue from these types of transactions
during the year ended December 31, 2002. During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, revenue from equity−for−services and advertising barter
transactions was less than 5% of revenue.
We assess collection based on a number of factors, including past transaction history with the customer and the creditworthiness of the customer. We do not
request collateral from our customers. If we determine that collection of a fee is not reasonably assured, we defer the fee and recognize revenue at the time
collection becomes reasonably assured, which is generally upon receipt of cash.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Our estimate for the allowance for doubtful accounts related to trade receivables is based on two methods. The amounts calculated from each of these
methods are combined to determine the total amount to be reserved. First, we evaluate specific accounts where we have information that the customer may have
an inability to meet its financial obligations. In these cases, we use our judgment, based on the best available facts and circumstances, and record a specific
reserve for that customer against amounts due to reduce the receivable to the amount that is expected to be collected. These specific reserves are reevaluated and
adjusted as additional information is received that impacts the amount reserved. Second, a general reserve is established for all customers based on a range of
percentages applied to aging categories. These percentages are based on historical collection and write−off experience. If circumstances change (i.e. higher than
expected defaults or an unexpected material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its financial obligation to us), our estimates of the
recoverability of amounts due to us could be reduced by a material amount.
Accounting for Investments
In the past, we have invested in equity instruments of privately−held companies for business and strategic purposes. These investments were included in
other long−term assets and were accounted for under the cost method when ownership is less than 20% and we do not have the ability to exercise significant
influence over operations and the equity method when ownership is greater than 20% or we have the ability to exercise significant influence.
We periodically reviewed our investments for instances where fair value is less than cost and the decline in value is determined to be other than temporary.
Such evaluation is dependent on the specific facts and circumstances. Factors that we consider in determining whether an other−than−temporary decline in value
has occurred include: the market value of the security in relation to its cost basis; the financial condition of the investee; and the intent and ability to retain the
investment for a sufficient period of time to allow for recovery in the market value of the investment.
If the decline in value was judged to be other than temporary, the basis of the security is written down to fair value and the resulting loss was charged to
operations. In evaluating the fair value of our equity investments our policy includes, but is not limited to, reviewing each of the entities cash positions, recent
financing valuations, operational performance, revenue and earnings forecasts, liquidity forecasts and financing needs and general economic factors, as well as
management and ownership trends. Our evaluation of the fair value of our investment in these entities is inherently subjective and may contribute to significant
volatility in our reported results of operations based upon the timing and nature of write−downs recorded. In 2001, we wrote down all of our remaining cost and
equity investments. We have no intention of making similar investments of a material amount in the future.
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Valuation of Goodwill, Identified Intangibles and Other Long−lived Assets
We test goodwill and intangible assets for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and test property, plant
and equipment for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long−Lived Assets.” We assess the
impairment of goodwill, identifiable intangible assets and other long−lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:
• a significant decline in actual and projected advertising and software license revenue;
• a significant decline in the market value of our common stock;
• a significant decline in performance of certain acquired companies relative to their original projection;
• a significant difference between our net book value and our market value;
• a significant decline in our operating results relative to our operating forecasts;
• a loss of key customer relationships coupled with the renegotiation of existing arrangements;
• a significant change in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business;
• a significant decrease in the market value of an asset;
• a shift in technology demands and development; and
• a significant turnover in key management or other personnel.
When we determine that the carrying value of goodwill, other intangible assets and other long lived assets may not be recoverable based upon the existence
of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, we measure any impairment based on a projected discounted cash flow method using a discount rate
determined by our management to be commensurate with the risk inherent in our current business model. In the fourth quarter of 2001 and 2002, we recognized
an impairment of our long−lived assets.
We adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, on January 2002. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized, but is tested for
impairment at a reporting unit level on an annual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value amount. Events or circumstances which could trigger an impairment review include a significant
adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, unanticipated competition, a loss of key personnel,
significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business, significant negative industry or economic trends,
significant declines in our stock price for a sustained period or significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results.
In testing for a potential impairment of goodwill, we first compare the estimated fair value of the Company with book value, including goodwill. If the
estimated fair value exceeds book value, goodwill is considered not to be impaired and no additional steps are necessary. If, however, the fair value of the
Company is less than book value, then we are required to compare the carrying amount of the goodwill with its implied fair value. The estimate of implied fair
value of goodwill may require independent valuations of certain internally generated and unrecognized intangible assets such as our subscriber base, software
and technology and patents and trademarks. If the carrying amount of our goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss would be
recognized in an amount equal to the excess.
Accounting for Business Combinations
We have acquired a number of companies over the past four years and all have been accounted for as purchase transactions. Under the purchase method of
accounting, the cost, including transaction costs, are
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allocated to the underlying net assets, based on their respective estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
The judgments made in determining the estimated fair value and expected useful lives assigned to each class of assets and liabilities acquired can
significantly impact net income. For example, different classes of assets will have useful lives that differ (i.e., the useful life of acquired technologies may not be
the same as the useful life of acquired content or customer lists). Consequently, to the extent a longer−lived asset is ascribed greater value under the purchase
method than a shorter−lived asset, there may be less amortization recorded in a given period.
Determining the fair value of certain assets and liabilities acquired is judgmental in nature and often involves the use of significant estimates and
assumptions. As provided by the accounting rules, we have used the one−year period following the consummation of acquisitions to finalize estimates of the fair
value of assets and liabilities acquired. One of the areas that requires more judgment in determining fair values and useful lives is intangible assets. To assist in
this process, we have obtained appraisals from independent valuation firms for certain intangible assets. While there were a number of different methods used in
estimating the value of the intangibles acquired, there were two approaches primarily used: discounted cash flow and market multiple approaches. Some of the
more significant estimates and assumptions inherent in the two approaches include: projected future cash flows (including timing); discount rate reflecting the
risk inherent in the future cash flows; perpetual growth rate; determination of appropriate market comparables; and the determination of whether a premium or a
discount should be applied to comparables. Most of the above assumptions were made based on available historical information.
The value of our intangible and other long−lived assets, including goodwill, is exposed to future adverse changes if we experience declines in operating
results or experience significant negative industry or economic trends or if future performance is below historical trends. We periodically review intangible assets
and goodwill for impairment using the guidance of applicable accounting literature. We continually review the events and circumstances related to our financial
performance and economic environment for factors that would provide evidence of the impairment of goodwill.
Legal Contingencies
We are currently involved in certain legal proceedings, as discussed in “Part I — Item 3 Legal Proceedings.” Because of the uncertainties related to both the
amount and range of loss on the remaining pending litigation, we are unable to make a reasonable estimate of the liability that could result from an unfavorable
outcome. As additional information becomes available, we will assess the potential liability related to our pending litigation and revise our estimates. Such
revisions in our estimates of the potential liability could materially impact our results of operations and financial position.
Results of Operations
We have only a limited operating history and our business model has been modified over the past two years. Our prospects should be considered in light of
the risks, uncertainties, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in their early stages of development, particularly companies in new and
rapidly evolving markets such as the Internet. To address these risks, we must, among other things, be able to continue to respond to highly competitive
developments, attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel, implement and successfully execute our marketing plans, continue to upgrade our technologies,
develop new distribution channels, and improve our operational and financial systems. Although our revenue grew significantly in recent periods, we have been
unable to sustain this growth and have had to reduce our expense structure. Therefore, you should not consider our historical growth indicative of future revenue
levels or operating results. We may never achieve net income, and, if we do, we may not be able to sustain it. A more complete description of other risks relating
to our business is set forth in “Part I — Item 1. Business — Risk Factors.”
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Year Ended December 31,
2002

2001

2000

(In thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue(2)
Related party revenue

$ 233,455
31,158

$

265,436
38,346

$ 181,322
—

Total revenue
Cost of revenue(2)

264,613
78,304

303,782
113,490

181,322
61,222

Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing(2)
Product and website development(2)
General and administrative(2)
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets(1)
In−process research and development
Acquisition and restructuring charges
Impairment of long−lived assets
Litigation settlement

186,309

190,292

120,100

164,629
30,279
84,813
37,165
—
12,087
7,335
23,000

242,174
35,722
174,363
199,291
—
50,260
925,094
—

160,122
15,554
59,610
42,868
4,048
—
—
—

359,308

1,626,904

282,202

Loss from operations
Interest income, net
Other expense, net

(172,999)
2,620
(5,682)

(1,436,612)
10,490
(44,281)

(162,102)
23,031
(6,982)

Loss from continuing operations
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations
Income from discontinued operations

(176,061)
11,790
846

(1,470,403)
—
4,814

(146,053)
—
—

$ (163,425)

$ (1,465,589)

$ (146,053)

Total operating expenses

Net loss

(1)

We adopted SFAS No. 142 in 2002 and ceased amortizing goodwill as required by that standard.

(2)

The following chart summarizes the stock−based charges that have been included in the following captions for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2002

2001

2000

(In thousands)

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
Product and website development
General and administrative
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$ 1,501
134
63,848
127
1,297

$ 2,456
383
71,188
361
6,237

$ 6,233
607
45,148
572
3,095

$ 66,907

$ 80,625

$ 55,655
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2002

As a Percentage of Revenue:
Revenue
Related party revenue

88%
12

Total revenue
Cost of revenue

2001

87%
13

2000

100%
—

100
30

100
37

100
34

70

63

66

62
11
32
14
—
5
3
9

80
12
57
66
—
17
305
—

88
9
33
24
2
—
—
—

136

537

156

Loss from operations
Interest income, net
Other expense, net

(66)
1
(2)

(474)
3
(15)

(90)
13
(4)

Loss from continuing operations
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations
Income from discontinued operations

(67)
4
—

(486)
—
2

(81)
—
—

Net Loss

(63)%

(484)%

(81)%

Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Product and website development
General and administrative
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets
In−process research and development
Acquisition and restructuring charges
Impairment of long−lived assets
Litigation settlement
Total operating expenses

For the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001

Revenue and Related Party Revenue
Revenue, including non−cash stock−based charges, decreased approximately $39.2 million, or 13%, to $264.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002
from revenue of $303.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The primary reasons for the decline in revenue were a decrease in Online Advertising of
$22.2 million, a reduction in subscription renewals of $10.4 million in the Media Services segment, a decrease in revenue in the Software and Services segment
of $5.8 million, and a reduction in Offline Advertising of $800,000. Of these amounts, related party revenues decreased $7.2 million to $31.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002, $3.4 million in the Media Services segment and $3.8 million in the Software and Services segment.

Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue, including non−cash stock−based charges, decreased approximately $35.2 million, or 31%, to $78.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002 from $113.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease was primarily due to decreases in personnel related costs of
$20.1 million, production and fulfillment costs of $1.6 million, hosting and imaging costs of $8.4 million, and other direct costs of $6.4 million. Personnel and
other direct costs decreased as we expected primarily due to the implementation of our restructuring plans in the fourth quarter of 2001 and the first quarter of
2002. Hosting and imaging costs decreased due to a change in the method of selling and supporting virtual tours. The decrease was partially
43

Table of Contents
offset by an increase in royalties and fees of $1.3 million primarily due to a change in methodology in the calculation of certain royalties from a percentage of
revenue to a fixed fee arrangement.
Gross margin percentage for the year ended December 31, 2002 was 70%, 7% higher than the gross margin percentage of 63% for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The increase in gross margin percentage was primarily due to the implementation of our restructuring plans.

Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses, including non−cash stock−based charges, decreased approximately $77.6 million, or 32%, to
$164.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $242.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Of these amounts, stock−based charges
decreased by $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 due to the expiration of previous stock−based transactions during the first part of 2002. The
remaining decrease was primarily due to decreases in personnel related costs of $21.9 million, marketing costs of $38.5 million and other overhead costs of
$9.9 million. Personnel and other overhead costs decreased as we expected primarily due to restructuring plans implemented in the fourth quarter of 2001 and the
first quarter of 2002. Marketing costs decreased due to the elimination of all marketing expenses related to the promotion of the Homestore brand and a general
reduction in marketing expenses in 2002 related to all other brands.
Product and Website Development. Product and website development expenses, including non−cash stock−based charges, decreased approximately
$5.4 million, or 15%, to $30.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $35.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease was
primarily due to decreases in personnel related costs of $6.8 million and other overhead costs of $1.4 million offset by the termination of the marketing of a
software product and the write−off of the related capitalized costs of $2.8 million. These decreases were as we expected and primarily due to restructuring plans
implemented in the fourth quarter of 2001 and the first quarter of 2002 partially offset by increases in costs relating to inclusion of a full year of activity for the
acquisitions of the Move.com Group, assets from iPIX and Homestore Plans and Publications businesses.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses, including non−cash stock−based charges, decreased approximately $89.6 million, or
51%, to $84.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $174.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Stock−based charges decreased by
$4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The remaining decrease was primarily due to decreases in personnel related costs of $13.4 million, rent
expense of $4.4 million, bad debt expense of $30.3 million, and other overhead costs of $36.6 million. The decreases in personnel related costs and other
overhead were as we expected and due to the implementation of restructuring plans in the fourth quarter of 2001 and the first quarter of 2002. Rent expense
decreased as a direct result of the closing of certain offices in conjunction with these restructuring plans. The decrease in bad debt expense related to a closer
alignment between our sales force compensation and tighter credit and collection policies in 2002. These overall decreases in costs were partially offset by
increases in costs relating to inclusion for the full year of activity of the acquisitions of the Move.com Group, assets from iPIX and the Homestore Plans and
Publications business in the first and second quarters of 2001.
Amortization of Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets was $37.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002
compared to $199.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in amortization was due to the adoption of SFAS No. 142 in the first quarter of
2002, which requires that we no longer amortize goodwill as well as a reduction in intangible assets from our impairment charge under SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for the Impairment of Long−lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” in the quarter ended December 31, 2001.
Litigation Settlement. On August 9, 2002, we reached a settlement in the MemberWorks litigation, in which MemberWorks and certain other former iPlace
shareholders received $23.0 million. We have included the cost of the settlement in our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002.
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Impairment of Long−lived Assets. In the fourth quarter of 2001, we identified a number of events and circumstances that indicated a potential impairment of
our long−lived assets, consisting primarily of goodwill and identified intangible assets totaling approximately $1.1 billion and $139.5 million, respectively. The
culmination of these events and changes in circumstances in the fourth quarter resulted in significant operational and financial restructuring efforts which began
in 2001 and continued into 2002. Accordingly, we performed an assessment of the goodwill, identified intangible assets and other long−lived assets pursuant to
the provisions of SFAS, No. 121, and Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 17, “Intangible Assets.” This assessment indicated that the carrying
value of our long−lived assets may not be recoverable, therefore asset impairment tests were performed at the lowest level for which separately identifiable cash
flows existed. The impairment analysis resulted in a charge of $925.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2001, comprised of impairments of $659.1 million to
goodwill, $94.6 million to identified intangible assets, $36.4 million to property and equipment and $135.0 million primarily related to prepaid distribution
expenses.
In January 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142 and as a result, have ceased to amortize goodwill. In lieu of amortization, we are required to perform an
additional impairment review of our goodwill in 2002 and an annual impairment review thereafter. We evaluated the impact of our adoption of SFAS No. 142 in
the first quarter of 2002 and determined that no impairment charge was required upon the adoption of the standard. During the fourth quarter of 2002, we
performed an update of our evaluation due to specific events and changes in the operations of our business including the sustained decline in the value of our
stock, revision of our annual operating plan and a decision to sell our Hessel businesses prompted by a loss of a significant customer. Our impairment test
compared the fair value of the reporting units with the carrying value of their assets. Fair value was determined in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 142 using present value techniques similar to those we use internally for evaluating acquisitions and comparisons to market values. These valuation
techniques, performed in consultation with third party valuation professionals, involved projections of cash flows which were discounted based on our weighted
average cost of capital. In testing for a potential impairment of goodwill, we first compare the estimated fair value of the Company with book value, including
goodwill. If the estimated fair value exceeds book value, goodwill is considered not to be impaired and no additional steps are necessary. If, however, the fair
value of the Company is less than book value, then we are required to compare the carrying amount of the goodwill with its implied fair value. The estimate of
implied fair value of goodwill may require independent valuations of certain internally generated and unrecognized intangible assets such as our subscriber base,
software and technology and patents and trademarks. If the carrying amount of our goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an impairment loss
would be recognized in an amount equal to the excess. The impairment analysis resulted in a charge of $7.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2002, comprised of
impairments of $3.8 million to identified intangible assets relating to our acquisition of WyldFyre, $1.9 million to property and equipment relating to the shut
down of the Hessel businesses and $1.6 million to other assets.
Acquisition and Restructuring Charges. Acquisition and restructuring charges were $12.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, related to
restructuring plans approved in the first and third quarters of 2002. In the first quarter of 2002, our Board of Directors approved a restructuring plan and we took
a charge of $2.3 million relating to this plan. In the third quarter of 2002, our Board of Directors approved an additional restructuring and integration plan and we
took a charge of $3.6 million relating to this plan. We also revised the estimates on the first quarter 2002 and the fourth quarter 2001 restructuring plans and took
an additional charge of $6.2 million to properly reflect our current expectations. The primary factor in this change in estimate was the decline in demand for
office space in San Francisco where we have a large facility available for sublease.
Acquisition and restructuring charges were $50.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 including $6.5 million related to the acquisition of the
Move.com Group, $8.2 million related to the dissolution of one of our subsidiaries and $35.8 million relating to our fourth quarter 2001 restructuring plan.
Included in these charges were severance, facilities shut−down costs and other dissolution costs.
In the third quarter of 2002, our Board of Directors approved a further restructuring and integration plan, with the objective of eliminating duplicate
resources and redundancies.
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In connection with the third quarter 2002 restructuring and integration plan, we recorded a charge of $3.6 million in the third quarter of 2002, which was
included in acquisition and restructuring charges in the consolidated statement of operations. This charge consists of employee termination benefits of
$1.6 million and facility closure charges of approximately $2.0 million.
As part of this restructuring and integration plan, we undertook a review of our existing locations and elected to close an office and identified and notified
approximately 190 employees whose positions with us were eliminated. The work force reductions affected approximately 30 in research and development, 10 in
production, 140 in sales and marketing and 10 in administrative functions. As of December 31, 2002, all of the planned 190 employees have been terminated and
a total of 31 have not yet been paid severance.
A summary of activity related to the third quarter 2002 restructuring charge is as follows (in thousands):

Employee
Termination
Benefits

Lease
Obligations
and
Related
Charges

Total

Initial restructuring charge
Cash paid

$ 1,590
(1,190)

$ 2,033
(253)

$ 3,623
(1,443)

Restructuring accrual at December 31, 2002

$

$ 1,780

$ 2,180

400

In connection with the first quarter 2002 restructuring and integration plan, we recorded a charge of $2.3 million in the first quarter of 2002, which is
included in acquisition and restructuring charges in the consolidated statement of operations. This charge consists of employee termination benefits of
$1.7 million and facility closure charges of approximately $600,000. During the third quarter of 2002, we evaluated our original estimates and concluded we
must increase our reserve for lease obligations by $1.6 million and reduce our estimates for employee termination pay by $242,000.
As part of this restructuring and integration plan, we undertook a review of our existing locations and elected to close offices and identified and notified
approximately 270 employees whose positions with us were eliminated. The work force reductions affected approximately 30 members of management, 40 in
research and development, 140 in sales and marketing and 60 in administrative functions. As of December 31, 2002, eight of the planned 270 employees have not
yet been paid severance.
A summary of activity related to the first quarter 2002 restructuring charge is as follows (in thousands):

Employee
Termination
Benefits

Lease
Obligations
and
Related
Charges

Asset
Write−offs

Total

Initial restructuring charge
Non−cash charges
Cash paid
Change in estimates

$ 1,720
—
(1,452)
(242)

$ 309
—
(187)
1,585

$ 260
(260)
—
—

$ 2,289
(260)
(1,639)
1,343

Restructuring accrual at December 31, 2002

$

$ 1,707

$ —

$ 1,733

26

In connection with our fourth quarter 2001 restructuring and integration plan, we recorded a charge of $35.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2001, which was
included in acquisition and restructuring charges in the consolidated statement of operations. This charge consists of the following: (i) employee termination
benefits of $6.4 million; (ii) facility closure charges of $20.8 million, comprised of $12.8 million in future lease obligations, exit costs and cancellation penalties,
net of estimated sublease income of $11.9 million, and $8.0 million of non−cash fixed asset disposals related to vacating duplicate facilities and decreased
equipment requirements due to lower headcount; (iii) non−cash write−offs of $2.9 million in other assets related to exited activities; and (iv) accrued future
payments of $5.7 million for existing contractual obligations with no future benefits to us. Our estimate with respect to sublease income relates primarily to a
lease commitment for office
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space in San Francisco that expires in November 2006. We originally estimated that we could sublease the facility by the second quarter of 2003 at a rate of
approximately two−thirds of the existing commitment. However, recent declines in the demand for office space in the San Francisco market have led us to
conclude these estimates must be revised. Because we believe it will take at least one year longer than originally estimated to sublease the property and the
market rates are projected to be as low as 33% of our current rent, we took an additional $6.5 million charge during 2002 and reduced estimates for employee
termination pay by $396,000 and our contractual obligations by $798,000. As of December 31, 2002, four of the planned 700 employees have not yet been paid
severance.
A summary of activity related to the fourth quarter 2001 restructuring charge is as follows (in thousands):

Initial restructuring charge
Cash paid
Non−cash charges

Employee
Termination
Benefits

Lease
Obligations
and
Related
Charges

Asset
Write−offs

Contractual
Obligations

Total

$ 6,364
(3,511)
—

$ 12,782
(137)
—

$ 10,917
—
(10,917)

$ 5,733
(141)
—

$ 35,796
(3,789)
(10,917)

2,853
(2,274)
(396)
—
(156)

12,645
(5,480)
6,027
488
—

5,592
(3,631)
(798)
—
—

21,090
(11,385)
4,833
488
(156)

Restructuring accrual at December 31, 2001
Cash paid
Change in estimates
Non−cash charges
Sale of a subsidiary
Restructuring accrual at December 31, 2002

$
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$ 13,680

—
—
—
—
—
$

—

$ 1,163

$ 14,870

With the exception of payments associated with office lease commitments, substantially all of the remaining restructuring liabilities at December 31, 2002
will be paid during 2003. Any further changes to the accruals based upon current estimates will be reflected through the acquisition and restructuring charges line
in the consolidated statement of operations.
During the second quarter of 2001, we incurred a charge of $8.2 million related to the dissolution of one of our subsidiaries and included these costs in the
acquisition and restructuring charges line item in the Statement of Operations. Included in these charges were severance and other payroll−related expenses of
$1.1 million associated with the reduction in workforce of approximately 70 employees, facilities shutdown costs of $1.2 million and other dissolution costs of
approximately $485,000. In addition, we entered into a release agreement and made a one−time settlement payment of $5.4 million to minority shareholders. At
December 31, 2001, all costs had been paid with no liabilities remaining.
In connection with our acquisition of the Move.com Group, we reviewed our operations and implemented a plan to restructure various components of its
operations. As part of the restructuring, we accrued an acquisition liability of approximately $13.4 million, related to estimated costs to exit and consolidate
certain operating activities of the Move.com Group, as well as costs to terminate and relocate employees. These amounts were recognized as liabilities assumed
in a purchase business combination and thus accounted for as additional purchase price. At December 31, 2001, the purchase price allocation related to the
Move.com Group was finalized.
The acquisition liability was comprised of $9.8 million in exit costs related to contractual obligations with no future benefits to the combined operations as
the services were redundant, $2.7 million in termination benefits related to a work force reduction of approximately 170 employees and approximately $900,000
in costs incurred in connection with the shut−down of various facilities. At December 31, 2001, all restructuring costs have been paid with no related liabilities
remaining.
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Also related to the acquisition of the Move.com Group, we incurred acquisition and reorganization charges of $6.5 million that did not meet the criteria for
capitalization as a component of purchase price. These charges were expensed as incurred and were included in acquisition and restructuring charges on the
statement of operations and were comprised primarily of stay bonuses and severance payments of $3.6 million, and facilities shutdown costs of $1.9 million.
Stock−based Charges. The following chart summarizes the stock−based charges that have been included in the following captions for each of the periods
presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
Product and website development
General and administrative

2002

2001

$ 1,501
134
63,848
127
1,297

$ 2,456
383
71,188
361
6,237

$ 66,907

$ 80,625

Stock−based charges decreased by $13.7 million to $66.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $80.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2001. The decrease was primarily due to the expiration of previous stock−based deals and the accelerated vesting of stock options for a terminated employee in
the period ended December 31, 2001. Stock−based charges for the years ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001 consist of $37.2 million and $37.2
million, respectively, of amortization related to AOL, and $17.9 million and $27.4 million, respectively, related to vendor agreements with the remainder related
to employee−based stock option charges.
Interest Income, Net
Interest income, net decreased $7.9 million to $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $10.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001
as a result of reduced cash balances and a general decline in market interest rates.
Other Expense, Net
Other expense, net of $5.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 consists primarily of the accretion of the AOL distribution obligation of $14.8
million and other miscellaneous expense of $1.6 million, partially offset by $10.8 million of income from an amendment of an existing agreement in the quarter
ended March 31, 2002. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we recorded a write−down of investments of $30.7 million. Also included in other expense
for the year ended December 31, 2001 is the accretion of the AOL distribution obligation of $14.8 million.
Income from Discontinued Operations and Gain on Disposition of Discontinued Operations
On April 2, 2002, we sold our ConsumerInfo division for $130.0 million in cash to Experian Holdings, Inc. and recognized a gain of $11.8 million during the
years ended December 31, 2002. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, our consolidated financial statements reflect this as discontinued operations. The results of
operations of the ConsumerInfo division included operating income of $846,000 and $4.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Income Taxes
As a result of operating losses and our inability to recognize a benefit from our deferred tax assets, we have not recorded a provision for income taxes for the
years ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001. As of December 31, 2002, we had $569.4 million of net operating loss carryforwards for federal
income
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tax purposes, which expire beginning in 2007. We have provided a full valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets, consisting primarily of net operating loss
carryforwards, due to the likelihood that we may not generate sufficient taxable income during the carry−forward period to utilize the net operating loss
carryforwards.
Segment Information
Segment information is presented in accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.” This standard
is based on a management approach, which requires segmentation based upon our internal organization and disclosure of revenue and operating expenses based
upon internal accounting methods. As of the beginning of fiscal year 2002, we hired a new management team and changed the way that we manage and evaluate
our businesses. As a result of this change, management now evaluates performance and allocates resources based on four segments, consisting of Media Services,
Software and Services, Online Advertising and Offline Advertising and excludes discontinued operations. Due to this change, we have reclassified previously
reported segment data to conform to the current period presentation. This is consistent with the data that is made available to our management to assess
performance and make decisions. Summarized information by segment as excerpted from internal management reports is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2002

Revenue:
Media Services
Software and Services
Online Advertising
Offline Advertising

$ 141,485
46,804
19,021
57,303

2001

$

151,920
52,560
41,234
58,068

Total revenue

264,613

303,782

Cost of revenue and operating expenses:
Media Services
Software and Services
Online Advertising
Offline Advertising
Unallocated

117,086
53,506
20,556
57,110
189,354

206,737
54,667
55,766
50,887
1,372,337

Total cost of revenue and operating expenses

437,612

1,740,394

Loss from operations

$ (172,999)

$ (1,436,612)

Media Services
Our Media Services segment is comprised of our REALTOR.com®, Homebuilder.com, Homestore Apartments & Rentals, and other real estate related
products and services.
Media Services revenue decreased approximately $10.4 million, or 7%, to $141.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, compared to
$151.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease was primarily due to the expiration of bulk subscription purchases made in 2001 by a related
party and a major franchise, the reduction in services purchased by a strategic partner and discontinuing the publication of unprofitable regional magazines. The
loss of the bulk subscription purchases were partially offset by direct sales to the real estate professionals. These decreases were also partially offset by higher
subscription revenues and increases in revenue from our Featured Home and Virtual Tour products. Media Services revenue represented approximately 53% of
total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to 50% of the total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Media Services expenses decreased $89.7 million, or 43%, to $117.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $206.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The decrease was primarily due to decreases in personnel related costs of $52.3 million, hosting, imaging and fulfillment costs of
$10.0 million, marketing costs of $11.3 million and other overhead costs of $20.8 million. Personnel related costs decreased as expected primarily due to the
implementation of our restructuring plans in the fourth
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quarter of 2001 and the first quarter of 2002. The decrease in hosting, imaging and fulfillment costs were due to a change in the method of selling and supporting
virtual tours in our REALTOR.com® channel in 2002, higher costs on products sold in 2001 to a strategic partner, and a settlement made with a related party in
December of 2001. The decrease in marketing costs was due to a general reduction of all marketing related activities across all channels, the shut−down of our
iMove business, the shutdown of certain of our international operations and the shift in our virtual tour strategy. These decreases were offset by an increase in
royalties and fees of $2.9 million primarily due to a change in methodology in the calculation of certain royalties from a percentage of revenue to a fixed fee
basis.
Media Services operating income increased primarily as a result of our restructuring efforts. Our cost reduction efforts took this segment from an operating
loss of $54.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 to operating income of $24.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.
As a part of our evaluation of the business, we plan to change the Media Services product offering. Historically, the product offerings have been provided for
a fixed subscription fee and required the purchase of a templated website. In the future, we plan to offer these services under a traditional media model where
pricing is dependent upon geographic market, placement, content and length or quantity of the media run. The success of our new pricing strategy will depend
upon acceptance by our customers. This change is contemplated to compete more effectively with traditional offline media products and implementation of these
changes, which will no longer require the purchase of a templated website, will occur in the first half of 2003. It is expected that as the changes are implemented,
and as more of our online advertising is purchased by real estate professionals, the Online Advertising segment will combine with Media Services as one segment
in the first quarter of 2003.
We are also continuing our organizational changes and these efforts may require additional investment, and may have a short−term negative impact on
operating results.
Software and Services
Our Software and Services segment is comprised of our Top Producer, WyldFyre, Computers For Tracts, and The Hessel Group businesses.
Software and Services revenue decreased $5.8 million, or 11%, to $46.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, compared to $52.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease was primarily due to a one−time bulk sale to a related party in fiscal 2001 that was not repeated in fiscal 2002.
WyldFyre’s revenues were stronger in fiscal 2002 due to increased software license revenue, however this was offset by a decrease in The Hessel Group business
driven by a slow down in corporate relocation services. Software and Services revenue represented approximately 18% of total revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2002 compared to 17% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Software and Services expenses decreased $1.2 million, or 2%, to $53.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $54.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 primarily due to the termination of the marketing and development of a new software product that had begun in fiscal 2000 and reductions in
costs at The Hessel Group as the operations were reduced in line with the declining revenue. The decreases were partially offset by $2.8 million in capitalized
software costs written off due to an abandoned product, $1.0 million in increased maintenance and support costs associated with a new product that was launched
in the latter part of fiscal 2001, and a $1.2 million accrual for lease termination, severance, and other charges associated with the decision to shutdown The
Hessel Group operations.
Software and Services generated an operating loss of $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to an operating loss of $2.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2001 primarily due to the decline in revenue outlined above. We introduced a new on−line version of Top Producer’s leading
product in the second half of 2002. As sales shift from the desktop product with a one−time license fee to an online product with a monthly subscription fee, we
may experience a temporary decline in revenue until the number of online subscriptions increases to offset the reduction in desktop software sales. We will also
experience a decline in 2003 as we have substantially completed a custom development project at Top Producer in 2002.
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Online Advertising
Our Online Advertising segment is comprised of online advertisements on various content areas of our websites. Our advertising offerings include online
ads, text−based links and rich media.
Online Advertising revenue decreased approximately $22.2 million, or 54%, to $19.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, compared to $41.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease was due to a decision to restructure this segment in early 2002 coupled with a reduction in revenue
share from AOL of $6.8 million and the expiration of large sponsorship contracts that did not renew totaling $19.0 million. This decrease was partially offset by
an increase in the sale of new online advertising contracts totaling $4.5 million. Online Advertising revenue represented approximately 7% of total revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to 14% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Online Advertising expenses decreased approximately $35.2 million, or 63%, to $20.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, compared to $55.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in marketing costs of $19.3 million, bad debt expense of $11.5
million and personnel related costs and other overhead of $4.5 million. The decrease in marketing costs was the result of the elimination of all marketing
expenses related to the promotion of the Homestore brand and a general reduction in marketing programs in 2002. The decrease in bad debt expense related to a
closer alignment between our sales force compensation and tighter credit and collection policies. The decrease in personnel related costs and other overhead was
as expected and resulted from our restructuring plans in the fourth quarter of 2001 and the first quarter of 2002.
Online Advertising operating loss decreased approximately 89% as a result of the changes discussed above. These factors reduced the operating loss of
$14.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 to an operating loss of $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. We have reduced the cost
structure and are continuing our efforts to seek new revenue opportunities. As discussed in the Media Services segment, it is expected that the Online Advertising
segment will combine with Media Services as one segment in the first quarter of 2003 as more real estate professionals purchase our available online advertising.
Offline Advertising
Our Offline Advertising segment is comprised of our Welcome Wagon and Homestore Plans and Publications businesses.
Offline Advertising revenue decreased $765,000, or 1%, to $57.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, compared to $58.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001. The decrease was primarily due to the fact that spending by both customer channels of this segment, local merchants and consumers,
was negatively affected by the general downturn in economic conditions. This decrease was partially offset by a full twelve months of operations for Welcome
Wagon, which was acquired in February 2001 as part of the Move.com Group, and for Homestore Plans and Publications, which was acquired in May 2001.
Offline Advertising revenue represented approximately 22% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to 19% of total revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2001.
Offline Advertising expenses increased $6.2 million, or 12%, to $57.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to expenses of $50.9 million
for the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase was primarily due to the full year impact of the Welcome Wagon and Homestore Plans and Publications
businesses.
Offline Advertising operating income decreased to $193,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002 from operating income of $7.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2001 as a direct result of the decline in profitability in the first half of 2002 at Welcome Wagon. Welcome Wagon implemented significant
changes to its cost structure during the latter part of the year by reducing headcount and production costs; however, the impact was not enough to offset the
revenue decline experienced during the first half of fiscal 2002.
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Unallocated
Unallocated expenses decreased to $189.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from $1.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2001. The
decrease was primarily due to decreases in amortization of goodwill and intangibles of $162.1 million, acquisitions and restructuring charges of $38.2 million,
reduction of technology costs of $22.0 million, stock−based charges of $13.7 million and charges of $925.1 million relating to the impairment of long−lived
assets in 2001 compared to $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. These decreases were offset by the $23.0 million litigation settlement with
MemberWorks. In addition, personnel related and other overhead costs decreased during the year ended December 31, 2002 due to the implementation of our
restructuring plans in the fourth quarter of 2001 and the first quarter of 2002. The decrease in amortization of goodwill and intangibles was due to the adoption of
SFAS No. 142, which requires that we no longer amortize goodwill, as well as a reduction in intangible assets from our impairment charge under SFAS No. 121
that was recorded in 2001. We are continuing our efforts to reduce corporate overhead expenses but cannot provide assurances that they will be successful.
For the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000
Revenue and Related Party Revenue
Revenue, including non−cash stock−based charges, but excluding related party revenue, increased approximately $84.1 million, or 46%, to $265.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2001 from revenue of $181.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The increase was primarily due to increased
revenue from professional subscriptions and various acquisitions, partially offset by a decline in advertising revenue. Related party revenue of $38.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2001 is the result of sales to RETT and Cendant related to a series of commercial arrangements entered into in the first quarter of
2001 for the sale of various professional subscription products. There were no related party revenue transactions for the year ended December 31, 2000.
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue, including non−cash stock−based charges, increased approximately $52.3 million, or 85%, to $113.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 from cost of revenue of $61.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The increase was primarily due to our overall increased sales
volume as well as increases in personnel related costs of $26.9 million, production and fulfillment costs of $1.5 million, hosting and imaging costs of
$8.1 million, and other direct costs of $20.0 million offset by a decrease in royalty expense of $4.2 million. Also contributing to the increase in cost of revenue
were our acquisitions of the Move.com Group, iPIX and The Hessel Group which had little or no impact on expense in 2000 as they were acquired in late 2000
or early 2001.
Gross margin percentage for the year ended December 31, 2001 was 63%, slightly below the gross margin of 66% for the year ended December 31, 2000.
The decrease in gross margin percentage was primarily due to a decrease in advertising revenue which historically have higher gross margins.
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses, including non−cash stock−based charges, increased approximately $82.1 million, or 51%, to $242.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $160.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The increase was primarily due to an increase in
stock−based charges, personnel related costs of $38.5 million, marketing costs of $7.7 million, and other overhead costs of $9.8 million. Stock−based charges,
included in sales and marketing, increased by $26.0 million to $71.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $45.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 primarily due to amortization of stock−based charges relating to our distribution agreement with AOL. In April 2000, in connection with that
distribution agreement, we recorded prepaid distribution in the amount of $185.9 million, which represented the fair market value of the approximately
3.9 million shares issued to AOL and the fair market value of the guaranteed stock price, which was determined using the Black−Scholes option pricing model.
The $185.9 million stock−based charge was being
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expensed ratably to sales and marketing over the five−year term of the agreement, resulting in an expense of approximately $37.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. Also contributing to the increase in sales and marketing expenses were our acquisitions, primarily the acquisitions of the Move.com Group
and iPIX.
Product and Website Development. Product and website development expenses, including non−cash stock−based charges, increased approximately $20.2
million, or 130%, to $35.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $15.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The increase was primarily
due to increased costs associated with the expansion of our websites, as well as our development of professional productivity tools. Also contributing to the
increase in product and website development expenses were our acquisitions of Top Producer, WyldFyre and CFT which all had a full year of operations in 2001
contributing to an increase in personnel related costs of $18.0 million and other overhead costs of $2.2 million.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses, including non−cash stock−based charges, increased approximately $114.8 million, or
193%, to $174.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $59.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Stock−based charges increased by
$3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The remaining increase was primarily due to an increase in personnel related costs of $25.4 million, rent
expense of $6.3 million, bad debt expense of $31.8 million, and other overhead of $48.1 million much of which was impacted by our internal investigation
launched in the fourth quarter of 2001, including the restatement of previously reported results and the costs of that investigation. Facility costs increased
primarily due to our new corporate and central service offices. Also contributing to the increase in general and administrative expenses were the impact of our
acquisitions many of which had a full year of operations in 2001, or no corresponding costs in 2000.
Amortization of Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets was $199.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001
compared to amortization of $42.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. The increase in amortization was primarily due to our acquisitions of the
Move.com Group, iPIX, Top Producer, HomeWrite and Hessel.
In−process Research and Development. During 2000, our acquisitions of WyldFyre and Top Producer resulted in write−offs of in−process research and
development, or IPR&D, of $4.0 million. The fair value of the IPR&D for each of the acquisitions was determined using the income approach. There were no
IPR&D charges in 2002.
Impairment of Long−lived Assets. In the fourth quarter of 2001, we identified a number of events and circumstances that indicated a potential impairment of
our long−lived assets, consisting primarily of goodwill and identified intangible assets totaling approximately $1.1 billion and $139.5 million, respectively.
Accordingly, we performed an assessment of the goodwill, identified intangible assets and other long−lived assets pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 121,
and APB 17, “Intangible Assets.” This assessment indicated that the carrying value of our long−lived assets may not be recoverable, therefore asset impairment
tests were performed at the lowest level for which separately identifiable cash flows exist. The impairment analysis resulted in a charge of $925.1 million in the
fourth quarter of 2001, comprised of impairments of $659.1 million to goodwill, $94.6 million to identified intangible assets, $36.4 million to property and
equipment and $135.0 million primarily related to prepaid distribution expenses. There were no impairment charges in 2000.
Acquisition and Restructuring Charges. Acquisition and restructuring charges increased by $50.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to
no charges in 2000. This was primarily due to our restructuring efforts starting in the fourth quarter of 2001 as described above.
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Stock−based Charges. The following chart summarizes the stock−based charges that have been included in the following captions for each of the periods
presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
Product and website development
General and administrative

2001

2000

$ 2,456
383
71,188
361
6,237

$ 6,233
607
45,148
572
3,095

$ 80,625

$ 55,655

Stock−based charges increased by $25.0 million or 45%, to $80.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $55.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. This increase was primarily due to a full year of amortization relating to our AOL distribution agreement. Stock−based charges for the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 consist of $37.2 million and $9.8 million, respectively, of amortization related to AOL, and $27.4 million and $36.8 million,
respectively, related to vendor agreements with the remainder related to employee−based stock option charges.
Interest Income, Net
Interest income, net decreased to $10.5 million in 2001 from interest income, net of $23.0 million in 2000. The decrease was primarily due to interest income
earned on lower average cash balances as a result of cash used in acquisitions and operations in 2001 and lower market interest rates on deposits and investments.
Other Expense, Net
Other expense, net increased to $44.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from other expense, net of $7.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2000. The increase primarily related to a $30.7 million impairment of our portfolio of cost and equity investments to reflect their net realizable values based
on our review of the companies’ financial conditions, cash flow projections and operating performance. Also contributing to the increase was accretion relating
to our AOL distribution agreement. In connection with the AOL distribution agreement, we recorded a non−current distribution obligation in the amount of
$185.9 million, which represented the fair market value of the approximately 3.9 million shares issued to AOL and the fair market value of the guaranteed stock
price, which was determined using the Black−Scholes option pricing model. The difference between the fair market value of the guaranteed stock price and the
distribution obligation recorded in April 2000 is being expensed ratably to other expense over the five−year term of the agreement, resulting in an expense of
approximately $14.8 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Income from Discontinued Operations and Gain on Disposition of Discontinued Operations
On April 2, 2002, we sold our ConsumerInfo division for $130.0 million in cash to Experian Holdings, Inc. and recognized a gain of $11.8 million in 2002.
In accordance with SFAS No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long−Lived Assets,” our consolidated financial statements reflect this as
discontinued operations. The results of operations of the ConsumerInfo division included operating income of $4.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2001. The ConsumerInfo division was acquired during the third quarter of 2001.
Income Taxes
As a result of operating losses and our inability to recognize a benefit from our deferred tax assets, we have not recorded a provision for income taxes for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000.
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Segment Information
Summarized information by segment as excerpted from internal management reports is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2001

Revenue:
Media Services
Software and Services
Online Advertising
Offline Advertising

$

2000

151,920
52,560
41,234
58,068

$ 88,219
24,105
68,998
—

303,782

181,322

Cost of revenue and operating expenses:
Media Services
Software and Services
Online Advertising
Offline Advertising
Unallocated

206,737
54,667
55,766
50,887
1,372,337

124,446
21,638
22,346
—
174,994

Total cost of revenue and operating expenses

1,740,394

343,424

Total revenue

Loss from operations

$ (1,436,612)

$ (162,102)

Media Services
Our Media Services segment is comprised of our REALTOR.com®, Homebuilder.com, Homestore Apartments & Rentals, and other real estate related
products and services.
Media Services revenue increased $63.7 million, or 72%, to $151.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, compared to $88.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000. The increase in Media Services revenue was primarily due to the acquisition of our virtual tours business in January of 2001, bulk
subscription purchases by a related party in February 2001 for $27.2 million, the launch of our Featured Home 2.0 product in mid−year 2001 and the acquisition
of RentNet in 2001 as part of the Move.com Group. Media Services revenue represented approximately 50% of total revenue for the year ended December 31,
2001 compared to 49% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2000.
Media Services expenses increased $82.3 million, or 66%, to $206.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $124.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. The increase was primarily due to increases in personnel costs of $43.5 million, hosting, imaging, and fulfillment costs of $7.5 million,
marketing costs of $7.9 million, and other overhead costs of $32.3 million. These increases were offset by a decrease in royalties and fees of $8.8 million. The
increase in personnel related costs is directly related to the acquisition of our virtual tours and RentNet businesses and an overall increase in headcount. The
increase in hosting, imaging, and fulfillment costs was primarily due to the acquisition of our virtual tours business in January 2001 and an increase in costs
associated with the expansion of our international operations. The increase in marketing costs was primarily due to increased marketing activities including
conventions and trade shows, the launch of our iMove business in 2001, the purchase of the virtual tours business and an increase in international activities. The
decrease in royalties was primarily due to a change in methodology in the calculation of certain royalties from a percentage of revenue to a fixed fee basis. The
increase in other overhead costs was primarily due to the purchase of our virtual tours business, the acquisition of RentNet, an increase in our international
activities and an overall increase in headcount as our operations were expanded.
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Media Services generated an operating loss of $54.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to an operating loss of $36.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2000 as a result of the factors outlined above.
Software and Services
Our Software and Services segment is comprised of our Top Producer, WyldFyre, Computers For Tracts, and The Hessel Group businesses.
Software and Services revenue increased $28.5 million, or 118%, to $52.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, compared to $24.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2000 as a direct result of a full twelve months of operations for Top Producer, which was acquired in May 2000; WyldFyre, which was
acquired in March 2000; Computers for Tracts, which was acquired in January 2001; and Hessel, which was acquired in September 2000. Top Producer had
increased revenue in fiscal 2001 from a related party for a custom development project and a one−time bulk sale of Top Presenter software to the same related
party. Software and Services revenue represented approximately 17% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to 13% of total revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2000.
Software and Services expenses increased to $54.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $21.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.
The increase was primarily due to the full year impact of the acquisitions discussed above as well as increased personnel related costs due to anticipated growth
in the business.
Software and Services operating income decreased primarily as a result of the increase in expenses outlined above, which took this segment from operating
income of $2.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 to an operating loss of $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.
Online Advertising
Our Online Advertising segment is comprised of online advertisements on various content areas of our websites. Our advertising offerings include online
ads, text−based links and rich media.
Online Advertising revenue decreased $27.8 million, or 40%, to $41.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, compared to $69.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2000. The decrease was primarily due to contracts that did not renew in 2001 totaling $41.5 million. This decrease was partially offset by an
increase in revenue share from AOL of $6.3 million, an increase in the sale of impression based advertising units and new contracts totaling $7.3 million. Online
advertising revenue represented approximately 14% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to 38% of total revenue for the year ended
December 31, 2000.
Online Advertising expenses increased $33.4 million, or 150%, to $55.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $22.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000. The increase was primarily due to an increase in marketing costs of $15.2 million and an increase in overhead of $18.0 million. The increase
in marketing costs was due to an increase in spending on online marketing contracts for the purchase of content, our distribution agreement with AOL that began
in the third quarter of 2000 and new distribution contracts starting in 2001. These increases in marketing costs were offset by a decrease of $2.4 million due to
commissions paid in 2000 under a re−sellers agreement that was not renewed in 2001. The increase in overhead was primarily the result of an increase in bad
debt expense of $12.9 million, an increase in depreciation of $2.1 million, and an increase in personnel related costs.
Online Advertising operating income decreased as a result of the decline in revenue and the increased operating expenses taking this segment from operating
income of $46.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 down to an operating loss of $14.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001.
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Offline Advertising
Our Offline Advertising segment is comprised of our Welcome Wagon and Homestore Plans and Publications businesses. These businesses were acquired
during 2001 and generated operating income of $7.2 million. Our revenues in this segment were $58.1 million in 2001, representing 19% of total revenue for the
year.
Unallocated
Unallocated expenses increased $1.2 billion to $1.372 billion for the year ended December 31, 2001 from $175.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2000. The increase was primarily due to the $925.1 million impairment of long−lived assets charge in 2001, an increase in amortization of goodwill and
intangibles of $156.4 million, acquisitions and restructuring charges of $50.3 million, and an increase in stock−based charges of $25.0 million. These increases
were offset by a decrease in costs of $4.0 million relating to the write−off of in−process research and development in connection with companies acquired in
2000. The remaining increase was due to our overall growth and expansion and the associated infrastructure expenses.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Net cash used in continuing operating activities of $97.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 was attributable to the net loss from continuing
operations of $176.1 million, offset by non−cash expenses including depreciation, amortization of intangible assets, accretion of the AOL distribution obligation,
impairment of long−lived assets, provision for doubtful accounts, and stock−based charges, aggregating to $153.7 million. Net cash used in continuing operating
activities was further increased by variances in operating assets and liabilities of approximately $74.6 million, principally relating to payments of accounts
payable and accrued expense balances and by recognition of deferred revenue. The use of cash to reduce accounts payable and accrued expenses in the year
ended December 31, 2002 was due, in part, to payments of accrued restructuring expenses in the amount of $14.5 million as well as payment of other one−time
accrued charges from year end of $11.0 million for investigation costs. The allowance for doubtful accounts (included in accounts receivable, net) as a
percentage of gross accounts receivable was 29% and 43% at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. This improvement in the allowance is a result of a
closer alignment between our sales force compensation and our credit and collections policies in our Welcome Wagon and our Homestore Apartments & Rentals
businesses. Net cash used in operating activities of $57.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 was attributable to the net loss of $1.5 billion, offset by
non−cash expenses including depreciation, amortization of goodwill and intangible assets, impairment of long−lived assets, accretion of the AOL distribution
obligation, provision for doubtful accounts, stock−based charges, acquisition and restructuring charges and non−cash items related to the write−down of a
portion of our portfolio of cost investments, aggregating to $1.3 billion. The impact of net cash used in operating activities was reduced by favorable variances in
operating assets and liabilities of approximately $93.0 million, principally relating to increases in accounts payable balances and deferred revenue. Net cash used
in operating activities was $51.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Net cash used in operating activities was the result of the net operating loss
totaling $146.1 million, offset by non−cash expenses including depreciation, amortization of goodwill and intangible assets and stock−based charges, aggregating
to $115.5 million. Adding to the cash used in operations were the changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions, of $20.8 million.
Net cash provided by investing activities of $13.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 was primarily attributable to maturities of short−term
investments of $14.4 million and proceeds from the sale of marketable equity securities of $2.3 million offset by capital expenditures of $3.3 million. Net cash
used in investing activities of $57.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 was attributable to purchases of short−term investments of $86.2 million
offset by maturities of short−term investments of $147.3 million, capital expenditures of $61.5 million and cash paid for acquisitions of $57.1 million including
acquisition−related costs. Net cash used in investing activities of $189.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 was attributable to the purchase of cost
and equity investments of $32.5 million, purchases of short−term investments of $219.9 million offset by maturities of short−term investments of $146.3 million,
capital
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expenditures of $41.1 million and cash paid for acquisitions of $42.0 million including acquisition−related costs.
Net cash provided by financing activities of $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 was primarily attributable to the proceeds from the
repayment of stockholders’ notes of $3.5 million, from the exercise of stock options, warrants and share issuances under the employee stock purchase plan of
$800,000, and a decrease in our restricted cash balance of $243,000. The cash provided was offset by $521,000 relating to a payment of cash in lieu of stock
related to the acquisition of Top Producer. Net cash provided by financing activities of $59.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 was primarily
attributable to the proceeds from the exercise of stock options, warrants and share issuances under our employee stock purchase plan of $56.5 million, proceeds
from the payment of stockholders’ notes of $2.9 million, deposits of $4.9 million allocated as restricted cash balances offset by the issuance of notes receivable
of $4.8 million. Net cash provided by financing activities of $317.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 was attributable to our follow−on public
offering of common stock of $428.9 million, proceeds from exercise of stock options, warrants and share issuances under our employee stock purchase plan of
$23.4 million, subsidiary equity transactions of $10.9 million, offset by the repayment of notes payable of $38.6 million, the transfer of $103.4 million to
restricted cash, and issuance of notes receivable of $6.0 million. In January 2000, we completed our follow−on public offering in which we sold 4,073,139 shares
of our common stock at a price of $110 per share, raising approximately $428.9 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and offering
expenses.
On April 2, 2002, we closed the sale of the ConsumerInfo division to Experian for $130.0 million in cash. This sale provided net proceeds of approximately
$117.1 million after transaction fees and monies placed in escrow. However, on March 26, 2002, MemberWorks obtained a court order requiring us to set aside
$58.0 million of the purchase price against a potential claim MemberWorks had against us. On August 9, 2002, we reached a settlement in the MemberWorks
litigation, in which MemberWorks and certain other former iPlace shareholders received $23.0 million from the constructive trust, and the remaining
$35.0 million plus accrued interest was transferred to us, resulting in net proceeds to us of $94.1 million.
Since inception, we have incurred losses from operations and have reported negative operating cash flows. As of December 31, 2002, we had an
accumulated deficit of $1.9 billion and cash and cash equivalents of $80.5 million. During 2002, we purchased software and entered into consulting agreements
with service providers in connection with the first phase of implementation of our new enterprise reporting system. Total commitments as of December 31, 2002
associated with the project were $4.5 million. We have no material financial commitments other than those under operating lease agreements and distribution and
marketing agreements discussed further herein. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, and any cash generated from operations, coupled with the
effect of our previously announced cost reduction efforts, will be sufficient to fund our working capital requirements, capital expenditures and other obligations
through at least the next 12 months.
We may face significant risks associated with the successful execution of our business strategy and may need to raise additional capital in order to fund more
rapid expansion, to expand our marketing activities, to develop new, or enhance existing, services or products and to respond to competitive pressures or to
acquire complementary services, businesses or technologies. If we are not successful in generating sufficient cash flow from operations, we may need to raise
additional capital through public or private financing, strategic relationships or other arrangements. This additional capital, if needed, might not be available on
terms acceptable to us, or at all. On November 4, 2002, we filed an application with NASDAQ to transfer our common stock to The NASDAQ SmallCap Market
because our common stock failed to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share as required by the applicable NASDAQ Marketplace Rule. We began
trading on The NASDAQ SmallCap Market on November 18, 2002 under the current symbol “HOMS.” The NASDAQ SmallCap Market is viewed by some
investors as a less desirable and less liquid marketplace than The NASDAQ National Market. We must satisfy the NASDAQ SmallCap Market’s minimum
listing maintenance requirements to maintain our listing on The NASDAQ SmallCap Market. The listing maintenance requirements set forth in NASDAQ’s
Marketplace Rules include a series of financial tests relating to stockholders’ equity, market capitalization, net income, public float, market value of public float,
number of market makers and stockholders, and maintaining a minimum closing bid price of $1.00 per share
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for shares of our common stock. On March 11, 2003, NASDAQ notified us of our non−compliance with such minimum closing bid price requirements. We now
have to demonstrate in the succeeding 180 days a closing bid price of at least $1.00 per share for a period of ten consecutive business days to regain compliance.
If we are unable to achieve a $1.00 per share bid price prior to the expiration of this period, we may be eligible for an additional 180−day extension of the bid
price exception, provided that we demonstrate stockholders’ equity of at least $5.0 million, a market capitalization of at least $50.0 million or net income of at
least $750,000 from continuing operations for the year ended 2003. We must also demonstrate compliance with all requirements for continued listing on The
NASDAQ SmallCap Market. If adequate funds are not available or not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to develop or enhance our products and
services, take advantage of future opportunities, or respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirements which may have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition or operating results. If additional capital were raised through the issuance of equity securities, the percentage of our stock owned
by our then−current stockholders would be reduced. Furthermore, these equity securities might have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of our
common and convertible preferred stock. In addition, our liquidity could be adversely impacted by the litigation referred to in “Part I — Item 3. Legal
Proceedings.”
We lease our facilities and certain equipment under operating lease agreements that expire at various dates through 2008. The following presents our future
lease payments under these agreements, net of actual sublease arrangements and exclusive of estimated sublease income utilized in the 2001 and 2002
restructuring provisions (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007 and thereafter

Operating
Leases

$ 12,788
10,447
10,144
9,887
5,921

Total

$ 49,187

Of the amounts above, $17.2 million has already been accrued in restructuring accruals and is reflected in accrued expenses and other non−current liabilities
at December 31, 2002.
Additionally, under our operating agreement with NAR, we have an exclusive arrangement to operate REALTOR.com® as well as a license to use the
REALTOR.com® domain name and trademark and the REALTORS® trademark in exchange for minimum annual royalty payments. We also have an operating
agreement with the International Consortium of Real Estate Associations under which we agreed to operate the consortium’s web site and have been endorsed as
the exclusive provider of certain products and services to real estate agents in the countries in which members of the consortium have operations. The following
presents our future minimum commitments under those agreements (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007

Operating
Agreement

$ 2,000
2,200
2,400
1,500
1,500

Total

$ 9,600

We were operating under a previous agreement with AOL that was terminated in January 2003. In conjunction with the termination, a new agreement was
entered into. The old agreement called for the payment of $90.0 million that was included in restricted cash at December 31, 2002 as well as a termination
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fee of $7.5 million. The new agreement requires certain quarterly payments. The payments to be made over the next two years including the restricted cash,
termination and quarterly fees is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ending December 31,

2003
2004

Operating
Agreement

$ 112,500
7,500

Total

$ 120,000

Commitments for the years ending 2006 and beyond will be calculated based on amounts paid in the prior year adjusted for the Annual Consumer Price
Index for the period ending in the prior calendar year.
In March 2000, we issued 1,085,271 shares of our common stock with an estimated fair value of approximately $70.0 million to Budget Group, Inc., or
Budget, in connection with entering into a ten−year strategic alliance agreement that allows us to participate in online and offline Budget marketing activities. In
this agreement, we provided a guarantee that the price of the shares issued to Budget would be $64.50 per share during a certain future period. This agreement
was amended in October 2001. Under the amendment, we issued approximately 4.8 million additional shares of common stock in exchange for the cancellation
and full settlement of the $64.50 stock price guarantee. In addition, the amendment extended the term of the agreement by one year. Sales and marketing expense
was being amortized over the additional year of the agreement and certain amounts capitalized in connection with this agreement were impaired in the fourth
quarter of 2001. We terminated this agreement with Budget in the fourth quarter of 2002.
In April 2000, we entered into a five−year distribution agreement with AOL. In exchange for entering into this agreement, we paid AOL $20.0 million in
cash and issued to AOL approximately 3.9 million shares of our common stock. In the agreement, we guaranteed that the 30−day average closing price, related to
approximately 64%, 18% and 18% of the shares we issued, would be $65.64 per share on July 31, 2003 and $68.50 per share on July 31, 2004 and July 31, 2005,
respectively. This guarantee only applied to shares that continued to be held by AOL at the end of each respective guarantee period. At December 31, 2002, we
had recorded a total of $219.5 million of distribution obligation. The distribution obligation represented the fair market value of approximately 3.9 million shares
of our common stock issued upon entering the agreement and the guarantee of the stock. The difference between the total guaranteed amount and the liability
recorded was being recorded as other expense over the term of the agreement. In connection with the guarantee, we established a $90.0 million letter of credit
and were required to pledge an amount equal to the outstanding portion of the letter of credit. As of December 31, 2002, the cash pledged was classified as
restricted cash on the balance sheet. This letter of credit could have been drawn against by AOL in the event that our 30−day average closing price is less than
$65.64 on July 31, 2003. The aggregate amount of cash payments we would have been required to make in performing under this agreement was limited to
$90.0 million. Any additional obligation to AOL could have been paid in cash or our common stock at our discretion. If the amount we were required to pay
AOL at July 31, 2003 exceeded $90.0 million, the distribution agreement with AOL would expire.
In October 2001, we filed a demand for arbitration with AOL relating to the distribution agreement. Our complaint claimed that AOL has breached the
distribution agreement by failing to meet its contractual obligations to build 18 specific promotions for us and to deliver guaranteed Homestore impressions to
AOL users. We also claimed that AOL breached the duty of good faith and fair dealing in the contract by disregarding its contractual commitments. We also
claimed that AOL’s conduct violated the contractual guarantees of exclusivity, premier partnership and prominent partnership for us. In the arbitration, we sought
a declaration that AOL breached the distribution agreement; that we may terminate or rescind the contract and receive damages and other appropriate relief; that
we may terminate the contract without AOL having any right to the $90.0 million letter of credit issued in favor of AOL in connection with the distribution
agreement; and that we would have no further obligations under the distribution agreement. An arbitration hearing was held in mid−July 2002 and we submitted
our proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law to the arbitration panel in September 2002.
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On January 9, 2003, we entered into a new marketing agreement with AOL that terminated our obligation under the old agreement and settled the arbitration.
As part of the new marketing agreement, which continues through June 2004, we have the exclusive right to provide AOL with real estate listings, and AOL
members also will retain access to a wide array of our professional content. AOL will offer increased promotion and more prominent integration of our content in
a redesigned real estate area on the AOL service. The parties will continue to share advertising revenue in certain home−related categories. We will pay AOL
$7.5 million in cash to terminate the previous agreement and also will allow AOL to fully draw down on an existing $90.0 million letter of credit secured by
restricted cash on our balance sheet. Termination of the previous agreement also eliminates our responsibility to provide AOL with an additional “make−whole”
payment in July 2003 which would have been approximately $57.0 million, payable in cash or stock. Transfer restrictions relating to the approximately
3.9 million shares of our common stock issued to AOL under the previous agreement also have been removed. Over the term of the new agreement, we will
make quarterly cash payments of $3.75 million, in six equal installments beginning January, 2003 and ending April, 2004.
Recent Accounting Developments
In June 2001 the FASB, issued SFAS Nos. 141 and 142, “Business Combinations” and “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” respectively. SFAS No. 141
replaces APB Opinion No. 16, “Business Combinations.” It also provides guidance on purchase accounting related to the recognition of intangible assets and
accounting for negative goodwill. SFAS No. 142 changes the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives from an
amortization method to an impairment−only approach. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill will be tested upon implementation of the standard, annually and
whenever events or circumstances occur indicating that goodwill might be impaired. SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142 are effective for all business
combinations completed after June 30, 2001.
We adopted SFAS No. 142 in January 2002, accordingly amortization of goodwill recorded for business combinations consummated prior to July 1, 2001
has ceased, and intangible assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001 that do not meet the criteria for recognition under SFAS No. 141 have been reclassified to
goodwill. In connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, we performed a transitional goodwill impairment assessment in the first quarter of 2002 and
determined that there is no impairment as a result of the adoption of this standard.
In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” which requires entities to record the fair value of a
liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which the obligation is incurred. When the liability is initially recorded, the entity capitalizes the cost
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long−lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value each period, and the capitalized cost is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. SFAS No. 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. We have no asset retirement
obligations and therefore believe there will be no impact upon adoption of SFAS No. 143.
In January 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long−Lived Assets,” which was issued in October 2001. The
FASB’s new rules on asset impairment supersede SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long−Lived Assets and for Long−Lived Assets to Be
Disposed Of,” and portions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations.” SFAS No. 144 provides a single accounting model for long−lived
assets to be disposed of and significantly changes the criteria that would have to be met to classify an asset as held−for−sale. Classification as held−for−sale is an
important distinction since such assets are not depreciated and are stated at the lower of fair value and carrying amount. SFAS No. 144 also requires expected
future operating losses from discontinued operations to be displayed in the period(s) in which the losses are incurred, rather than as of the measurement date as
presently required. Additionally, SFAS No. 144 expands the scope of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations that (1) can
be distinguished from the rest of the entity, and (2) will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity in a disposal transaction. The adoption of SFAS
No. 144 in the first quarter of 2002 did not have an impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows, except for the classification of the
disposition of the ConsumerInfo division as a discontinued operation included elsewhere in this Form 10−K.
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In February 2002, the EITF issued EITF 01−9, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s
Products).” This consensus requires companies to report certain consideration given by a vendor to a customer as a reduction in revenue. Upon adoption,
companies are required to retroactively reclassify such amounts in previously issued financial statements to comply with the income statement display
requirements of the consensus. We adopted this consensus early and the effect on the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 was to reduce previously
reported revenue and expense by $4.7 million and $7.2 million, respectively, with no effect on net loss or net loss per share.
In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” which requires the liability for a disposal
obligation to be recognized and measured at its fair value when the entity ceases using the leased property in operations. The FASB decided the same approach
should apply for similar disposal obligations associated with other preexisting firmly committed contracts. Additionally, SFAS No. 146 would require severance
pay in many cases to be recognized over time rather than up front. If the benefit arrangement requires employees to render future service beyond a defined
minimum retention period, a liability should be recognized as employees render service over the future service period. If the benefit arrangement does not require
employees to render future service beyond the minimum retention period, a liability should be recognized at the date the termination is communicated to
employees. SFAS No. 146 is effective for disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The FASB’s new rules on liabilities for disposal obligations
reconsiders the guidance in EITF Issue No. 94−3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)” and addresses the issue separately from the scope of SFAS No. 144. This statement is not expected to have
a material impact on us.
On December 31, 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock−Based Compensation−Transition and Disclosure,” which amends
SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock−Based Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of transition to the fair value method of accounting for stock−based
employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure provisions of and requires prominent disclosure about the effects on reported net income of a company’s
accounting policy decisions with respect to stock−based employee compensation. In addition, this statement amends APB Opinion No. 28, “Interim Financial
Reporting,” to require disclosure about those effects in interim financial information. SFAS No. 148 is effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending
after December 15, 2002. The disclosure requirements for interim financial statements containing condensed consolidated financial statements are effective for
interim periods beginning after December 15, 2002. We do not intend on adopting the fair value method of accounting for stock−based compensation of
SFAS 123 and accordingly SFAS 148 is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In December 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (FIN 45). FIN 45 requires that at the time a company issues a guarantee, the company must recognize an initial liability
for the fair value, or market value, of the obligations it assumes under that guarantee. This interpretation is applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued
or modified after December 31, 2002. Management is currently evaluating the impact of recognizing such liabilities on the Company’s consolidated financial
position and results of operations. FIN 45 also contains disclosure provisions surrounding existing guarantees, which are effective for financial statements of
interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002.
In January 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued Issue No. 00−21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (EITF
No. 00−21). This consensus addresses certain aspects of accounting by a vendor of arrangements under which it will perform multiple revenue−generating
activities, specifically, how to determine whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting. EITF No. 00−21 is
effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003 or entities may elect to report the change in accounting as a
cumulative−effect adjustment in accordance with Opinion 20 and Statement 3, with early application of this consensus permitted. We are currently evaluating the
impact this consensus will have on its financial statements.
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Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk. Our exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio. We have not used derivative
financial instruments in our investment portfolio. We invest our excess cash in money−market funds, debt instruments of high quality corporate issuers and debt
instruments the U.S. Government and its agencies, and, by policy, this limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer.
Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate interest earning instruments carries a degree of interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may have their fair
market value adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income than expected if interest rates fall.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Homestore, Inc.:
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of stockholders’ equity and of cash
flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Homestore, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) at December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
Century City, California
March 25, 2003
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HOMESTORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2002

2001
(In thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Short−term investments
Marketable equity securities
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
of $10,698 and $24,225 at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively
Current portion of prepaid distribution expense
Other current assets

$

Total current assets
Prepaid distribution expense, net of current portion
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill, net
Intangible assets, net
Restricted cash
Other assets
Total assets

$

80,463
90,000
—
—

38,272
—
14,190
2,432

25,945
21,863
12,739

31,906
48,793
43,743

231,010
13,150
25,933
23,258
72,771
—
13,086

179,336
35,007
44,759
107,769
143,002
98,519
6,645

379,208

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
$
3,419
Accrued expenses
59,732
Accrued distribution obligation
211,973
Deferred revenue
29,625
Deferred revenue from related parties
7,024
Total current liabilities
Distribution obligation, net of current portion
Deferred revenue from related parties
Other non−current liabilities

$

$

615,037

$

14,667
102,371
—
62,988
31,198

311,773
7,500
6,510
14,695

211,224
204,660
5,772
10,125

340,478

431,781

—

—

118
1,990,755

117
1,987,405

(18,567)
(106)
(2,246)
(424)
(1,930,800)

(18,062)
(3,569)
(11,692)
(3,568)
(1,767,375)

Commitments and contingencies (Note 21)
Convertible preferred stock
Common stock, $.001 par value; 500,000 shares authorized,
124,319 and 123,416 shares issued at December 31, 2002
and December 31, 2001, respectively, and 117,839 and
117,509 shares outstanding at December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2001, respectively
Additional paid−in capital
Treasury stock, at cost; 6,480 and 5,907 shares at
December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively
Notes receivable from stockholders
Deferred stock−based charges
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

38,730

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

379,208

183,256
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HOMESTORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,
2002

2001

2000

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue (including non−cash equity charges, see note 2)
Related party revenue

$ 233,455
31,158

$

265,436
38,346

$ 181,322
—

Total revenue
Cost of revenue (including non−cash equity charges, see note 2)

264,613
78,304

303,782
113,490

181,322
61,222

Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (including non−cash equity charges,
see note 2)
Product and website development (including non−cash equity
charges, see note 2)
General and administrative (including non−cash equity charges,
see note 2)
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets
In−process research and development
Acquisition and restructuring charges
Impairment of long−lived assets
Litigation settlement

186,309

190,292

120,100

164,629

242,174

160,122

30,279

35,722

15,554

84,813
37,165
—
12,087
7,335
23,000

174,363
199,291
—
50,260
925,094
—

59,610
42,868
4,048
—
—
—

359,308

1,626,904

282,202

Loss from operations
Interest income, net
Other expense, net

(172,999)
2,620
(5,682)

(1,436,612)
10,490
(44,281)

(162,102)
23,031
(6,982)

Loss from continuing operations
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations
Income from discontinued operations

(176,061)
11,790
846

(1,470,403)
—
4,814

(146,053)
—
—

Net loss

$ (163,425)

$ (1,465,589)

$ (146,053)

Basic and diluted net loss per share applicable to common
stockholders Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

$
$

(1.49)
.11

$
$

(13.69)
.04

$
$

(1.83)
—

Net loss

$

(1.39)

$

(13.64)

$

(1.83)

Total operating expenses

Shares used to calculate basic and diluted net loss per share applicable
to common stockholders

117,900

107,433

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HOMESTORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Convertible
Preferred Stock
Shares

Amount

Common Stock
Shares

Amount

Additional
Paid−In
Capital

Treasury
Stock

$ (13,676)

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31,
1999
Comprehensive income
(loss):
Net loss
Unrealized loss on
marketable security
Foreign currency
translation
Comprehensive loss

—

—

70,189

$ 70

$ 413,244

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,942

2

11,512

—

—

—

613

1

51,275

—

—

—

4,992

5

70,837

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(471)

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

31,520
—

—
—

Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan and exercise
of stock options
Issuance of common stock
for acquisitions
Other issuances of common
stock
Repayment from
stockholders
Repurchase of common
stock
Deferred stock− based
charges
Stock−based charges
Issuance of common stock in
public offering
Effect of subsidiary equity
transactions
Exercise of warrants

—

—

4,073

4

428,899

—

—
—

—
—

—
1,423

—
1

8,337
11,799

—
—

Balance at December 31,
2000

—

—

82,761

83

1,027,423

(2,880)

(16,556)

Comprehensive loss:
Net loss
Unrealized loss on
marketable securities
Foreign currency translation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

Comprehensive loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

4,427

4

56,250

—

—

—

25,200

25

887,484

—

—

—

4,805

5

—

—

600

—

7,434

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(374)

—

—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
90

—
—
—

2,954
5,600
248

—
—
—

—

—

—

—

17

—

Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan and exercise
of stock options
Issuance of common stock
for acquisitions
Issuance of common stock in
settlement of stock price
guarantee
Issuance of common stock in
connection with a marketing
agreement
Repayment from
stockholders
Repurchase of common
stock
Deferred stock− based
charges
Stock−based charges
Exercise of warrants
Reclassification to prepaid
distribution expense and
other assets (see note 2)

(5)

—

(1,506)

Balance at December 31,
2001

—

—

117,509

$ 117

$ 1,987,405

$ (18,062)

[Additional columns below]
[Continued from above table, first column(s) repeated]
Notes
Receivable
From
Stockholders

Deferred
Stock−Based
Charges

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31,
1999
Comprehensive income
(loss):
Net loss
Unrealized loss on
marketable security
Foreign currency
translation
Comprehensive loss
Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan and exercise
of stock options
Issuance of common stock
for acquisitions
Other issuances of common
stock
Repayment from
stockholders
Repurchase of common
stock
Deferred stock− based
charges
Stock−based charges
Issuance of common stock
in public offering
Effect of subsidiary equity
transactions
Exercise of warrants
Balance at December 31,
2000

$ (13,350)

$ (38,947)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(70,798)

$ 3,865

$ (155,733)

—

(146,053)

(4,022)
134
(3,888)

—
—

$

195,473
(146,053)
(4,022)
134

—

(149,941)

—

—

11,514

—

—

51,276

—

—

44

2,532

—

—

—

2,532

2,880

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
43,541

—
—

(31,520)
43,541

—

—

—

—

428,903

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

8,337
11,800

(7,938)

(97,724)

(23)

(301,786)

603,479

Comprehensive loss:
Net loss
Unrealized loss on
marketable securities
Foreign currency translation

—

—

—
—

—
—

(3,118)
(427)

—
—

(3,118)
(427)

Comprehensive loss

—

—

(3,545)

—

(1,469,134)

—

—

Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan and exercise
of stock options
Issuance of common stock
for acquisitions
Issuance of common stock
in settlement of stock price
guarantee
Issuance of common stock
in connection with a
marketing agreement
Repayment from
stockholders
Repurchase of common
stock
Deferred stock− based
charges
Stock−based charges

—
—
—

(18,454)
—
(7,434)

—

(1,465,589)

(1,465,589)

—

—

56,254

—

—

869,055

—

—

—

—

—

—

2,863

—

—

—

2,863

1,506

—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—
44,816

—
—

(2,954)
39,216

Exercise of warrants
Reclassification to prepaid
distribution expense and
other assets (see note 2)
Balance at December 31,
2001

—

—

—

—

248

—

75,658

—

—

75,675

$ (3,569)

$ (11,692)

$ (3,568)

67

$ (1,767,375)

$

183,256
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Convertible
Preferred Stock
Shares

Amount

Common Stock
Shares

Amount

Additional
Paid−In
Capital

Treasury
Stock

$ (18,062)

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31,
2001
Comprehensive income
(loss):
Net loss
Realized loss on
marketable securities
Foreign currency
translation
Comprehensive loss
Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan and exercise
of stock options
Settlement of stock issuance
obligation
Issuance of common stock
Repayment from
stockholders
Repurchase of common
stock
Reversal of stock− based
charges related to
dispositions
Stock−based charges
Shares returned from escrow
relating to discontinued
operations
Balance at December 31,
2002.

—

$ —

117,509

$ 117

$ 1,987,405

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

707

1

895

—

—
—

—
—

—
117

—
—

(521)
141

—
(57)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(127)

—

—

(169)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

—

(367)

—

—

(279)

—

$ —

$ 118

$ 1,990,755

$ (18,567)

117,839

(2,124)
4,959

—
—

[Additional columns below]
[Continued from above table, first column(s) repeated]
Notes
Receivable
From
Stockholders

Deferred
Stock−Based
Charges

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

$ (1,767,375)

$ 183,256

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31,
2001
Comprehensive income
(loss):
Net loss
Realized loss on
marketable securities
Foreign currency
translation
Comprehensive loss
Issuance of common stock
under employee stock
purchase plan and exercise
of stock options
Settlement of stock issuance
obligation
Issuance of common stock

$ (3,569)

$ (11,692)

$ (3,568)

—

—

—

—

—

3,292

—

—

—

—

—
—
—
3,463

(148)

(163,425)
—

(163,425)
3,292

—

(148)

3,144

—

(160,281)

(90)

—

—

806

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

(521)
84
3,463

Repayment from
stockholders
Repurchase of common
stock
Reversal of stock− based
charges related to
dispositions
Stock−based charges
Shares returned from escrow
relating to discontinued
operations
Balance at December 31,
2002.

—

—

—

—

(169)

—
—

1,502
8,034

—
—

—
—

(622)
12,993

—

—

—

—

(279)

$ (106)

$ (2,246)

$ (424)

$ (1,930,800)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2002

2001

2000

(In thousands)

Cash flows from continuing operating activities:
Loss from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in continuing
operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets
Accretion of distribution obligation
Impairment of long−lived assets
Provision for doubtful accounts
Stock−based charges
In−process research and development
Write−down of investments
Acquisition and restructuring charges
Realized loss on sale of marketable securities
Write−off of capitalized software
Other non−cash items
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions and
discontinued operations:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid distribution expense
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue from related parties

$ (176,061)

Net cash used in continuing operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of cost and equity investments
Purchases of short−term investments
Maturities of short−term investments
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Other assets
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from payment of stockholders’ notes
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, warrants and share issuances
under employee stock purchase plan
Net proceeds from issuance of common and preferred stock
Repurchases of common stock
Transfer from (to) restricted cash
Repayment of notes payable
Issuance of notes receivable
Settlement of stock issuance obligation
Subsidiary equity transactions

$ (1,470,403)

14,397
37,165
14,812
7,335
5,115
66,907
—
—
—
3,168
2,849
1,938

24,900
199,291
14,812
925,094
29,990
80,625
—
30,744
12,553
—
—
1,751

5,754
42,868
3,909
—
3,468
55,655
4,048
3,400
—
—
—
(3,565)

(1,240)
10,869
4,782
(54,938)
(10,679)
(23,436)

(11,502)
(445)
12,498
66,567
(8,418)
34,331

(19,065)
(18,204)
(14,308)
18,889
11,918
—

(97,017)

(57,612)

(51,286)

(3,289)
—
—
14,394
2,250
—
—

(61,502)
—
(86,176)
147,284
—
(57,100)
(326)

(41,132)
(32,527)
(219,862)
146,320
—
(42,037)
—

13,355

(57,820)

(189,238)

3,463

2,862

800
—
(169)
243
—
—
(521)
—

Net cash provided by financing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

23,358
428,903
—
(103,409)
(38,575)
(6,034)
—
10,943

58,994

317,718

(79,846)
122,037

(56,438)
(72,866)

77,194
—

42,191
38,272

(129,304)
167,576

77,194
90,382

$ 80,463

$

38,272

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2,532

56,501
—
—
4,890
(482)
(4,777)
—
—

3,816

Net cash provided by (used in) continuing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations

$ (146,053)

$ 167,576
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Business
Homestore, Inc., (“Homestore” or the “Company”) has created an online service that is the leading consumer destination on the Internet for home and real
estate−related information, products and media services, based on the number of visitors, time spent on the websites and number of property listings. The
Company provides a wide variety of information and tools for consumers, and is a leading supplier of online media and technology solutions for real estate
industry professionals, advertisers and providers of home and real estate−related products and services. The Company derives substantially all of its revenue
from its North American operations.
To provide consumers with real estate listings, access to real estate professionals and other home and real estate−related information and resources, the
Company has established relationships with key industry participants. These participants include real estate market leaders such as the National Association of
REALTORS® (“NAR”), the National Association of Home Builders (“NAHB”), hundreds of Multiple Listing Services (“MLSs”), the Manufactured Housing
Institute (“MHI”), and leading real estate franchisors, including the six largest franchises, brokers, builders, and apartment owners. Under an agreement with
NAR, the Company operates NAR’s official website, REALTOR.com®. Under an agreement with NAHB, the Company operates its new home listing website,
HomeBuilder.com. Under agreements with NAR, NAHB, and MHI, the Company receives preferential promotion in their marketing activities.
Since inception, the Company has incurred losses from operations and has reported negative operating cash flows. As of December 31, 2002, the Company
had an accumulated deficit of $1.9 billion and cash and cash equivalents of $80.5 million. The Company has no material financial commitments other than those
under operating lease agreements and distribution and marketing agreements discussed further herein. The Company believes that its existing cash and cash
equivalents, and any cash generated from operations will be sufficient to fund its working capital requirements, capital expenditures and other obligations
through the next 12 months. Long term, the Company may face significant risks associated with the successful execution of its business strategy and may need to
raise additional capital in order to fund more rapid expansion, to expand its marketing activities, to develop new or enhance existing services or products and to
respond to competitive pressures or to acquire complementary services, businesses or technologies. If the Company is not successful in generating sufficient cash
flow from operations, it may need to raise additional capital through public or private financing, strategic relationships or other arrangements. This additional
capital, if needed, might not be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all. If additional capital were raised through the issuance of equity securities,
the percentage of the Company’s stock owned by its then−current stockholders would be reduced. Furthermore, these equity securities might have rights,
preferences or privileges senior to those of the Company’s common and preferred stock. In addition, the Company’s liquidity could be adversely impacted by the
litigation. (See Note 21).
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the parent company and all of its
majority owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
In connection with the sale of stock by one of the Company’s subsidiaries in 2000, the Company recorded the change in its proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s equity as an equity transaction in consolidation, resulting in an increase of $8.3 million to additional paid−in capital.
Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents, Short and Long−Term Investments — All highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of three months or less are
considered cash and cash equivalents, those with original maturities greater than three months and current maturities less than twelve months from the balance
sheet date are considered short−term investments, and those with maturities greater than twelve months from the balance sheet date are considered long−term
investments. The Company invests its excess cash in money−market funds, debt instruments of high quality corporate issuers and debt instruments of the U.S.
Government and its agencies, and, by policy, this limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer.
The Company’s marketable securities and short−term investments are classified as available−for−sale and are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains
and losses, net of tax, recorded in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains or losses and declines in value that are other than temporary, if any, on available−for−sale
securities are calculated using the specific identification method and are reported in other income or expense as incurred. For the year ended December 31, 2002,
a realized loss of $3.2 million was recognized on the sale of marketable equity securities. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, realized gains and
losses were insignificant.
Restricted Cash — Restricted cash consists of cash equivalents pledged as collateral for outstanding letters of credit (see Note 22).
Concentration of Credit Risk — Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of cash and cash
equivalents, short and long term investments, marketable equity securities and accounts and notes receivable. The Company’s accounts receivable are derived
primarily from revenue earned from customers located in the United States. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the expected
collectibility of accounts and notes receivable.
During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, revenue from related party arrangements with Cendant Corporation and Real Estate Technology Trust
(“RETT”) accounted for approximately 12% and 13%, respectively, of the Company’s revenue (see Note 12). During the year ended December 31, 2000, the
Company did not receive revenue from related party arrangements and no customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenue. At December 31,
2002 and 2001, a major customer accounted for 24% and 14% of net accounts receivable, respectively.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable, accounts
payable, and notes payable are carried at cost, which approximates their fair value due to the short−term maturity of these instruments and the relatively stable
interest rate environment.
Prepaid Distribution — The Company has entered into various web portal distribution and preferred alliance agreements, which have been amortized ratably
over the term of the agreements, generally two to five years. As of December 31, 2002, total prepaid distribution primarily consists of prepaid distribution costs
related to AOL of $30.5 million. These costs will be amortized over the next 18 months, the term of the new agreement (see Note 22).
Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the
straight−line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which is generally three years for computer software and equipment and three to five years for
furniture, fixtures and office equipment. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives. Upon the sale or
retirement of property or equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the Company’s financial statements with
the resulting gain or loss reflected in the Company’s results of operations.
Product and Website Development Costs — Costs incurred by the Company to develop, enhance, manage, monitor and operate the Company’s websites are
generally expensed as incurred, except for certain
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costs relating to the acquisition and development of internal−use software that are capitalized and depreciated over estimated economic lives, generally three
years or less in accordance with SOP 98−1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.” The Company had
$2.9 million and $6.1 million of capitalized software costs and $940,000 and zero of accumulated amortization included in computer software and equipment at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. During 2002, the Company wrote off capitalized software of approximately $2.8 million.
Identified Intangibles and Goodwill — Identifiable intangible assets are amortized on a straight−line basis over their estimated useful lives, ranging from
three to fifteen years. The Company assesses the impairment of long−lived assets, which include property and equipment and identifiable intangible assets,
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that such assets might be impaired and the carrying value may not be recoverable. Events and
circumstances that may indicate that an asset is impaired may include significant decreases in the market value of an asset or common stock, a significant decline
in actual and projected advertising and software license revenue, loss of key customer relationships coupled with renegotiation of existing arrangements, a
change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, shifts in technology, loss of key management or personnel, changes in the Company’s operating model
or strategy and competitive forces as well as other factors.
If events and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and the expected undiscounted future cash flows
attributable to the asset are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is
recorded. Fair value is determined based on the present value of estimated expected future cash flows using a discount rate commensurate with the risk involved,
quoted market prices or appraised values, depending on the nature of the assets. Goodwill has been recorded in connection with the Company’s various
acquisitions. The Company accounts for its acquired goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142”).
Upon adoption, this statement eliminates systematic annual amortization of goodwill and requires the Company to evaluate the carrying value goodwill on an
annual basis and whenever events and changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Prior to January 1, 2002, the date when
the Company adopted this statement, the Company was amortizing acquired goodwill on a straight−line basis over the estimated period of benefit ranging from
four to five years, except for goodwill recognized in connection with business combinations completed after June 30, 2001, which was never amortized
(see Note 6).
In testing for a potential impairment of goodwill, the Company will first compare the estimated fair value of the total company with book value, including
goodwill. If the estimated fair value exceeds book value, goodwill is considered not to be impaired and no additional steps are necessary. If, however, the fair
value of the Company is less than book value, then the Company is required to compare the carrying amount of the goodwill with its implied fair value. The
estimate of implied fair value of goodwill may require independent valuations of certain internally generated and unrecognized intangible assets such as its
subscriber base, software and technology and patents and trademarks. If the carrying amount of the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill, an
impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal to the excess.
During the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $7.3 million and $925.1 million, respectively (see
Note 5). No impairment charges were recorded for the year ended December 31, 2000.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s useful lives for significant intangible and long−lived assets:

Range of
Lives

Type

Customer, merchant lists and relationships
Exclusive electronic listing and rights agreement
NAR operating agreement
Online traffic
Porting relationships
Purchased content
Purchased technology
Tradename, trademarks, brand name
Other

2−5
9
15
3
5
5
3−5
5−15
2−15

Other Investments — The Company has invested in equity instruments of privately−held companies for business and strategic purposes. These investments
were included in other long−term assets and were accounted for under the cost method when ownership is less than 20% and the Company does not have the
ability to exercise significant influence over operations and the equity method when ownership is greater than 20% or the Company has the ability to exercise
significant influence over operations. For these investments in privately−held companies, the Company’s policy was to regularly review and monitor the
companies’ operating performance, cash flow forecasts and other available information in determining whether an other−than−temporary decline in value exists.
Indications of an other−than−temporary decline would include the failure to meet operating budgets and cash flow forecasts, inability to raise additional rounds
of financing at or above the carrying value of the investment and changes in strategic direction or the underlying business model. If the decline in value was
judged to be other−than−temporary, the basis of the security was written down to fair value and the resulting loss was charged to operations in the period in
which the decline was identified and determined to be other−than−temporary. In evaluating the fair value of investments, the Company’s policy included, but
was not limited to, reviewing each of the entities’ cash positions, recent financing valuations, operational performance, revenue and earnings forecasts, liquidity
forecasts and financing needs and general economic factors, as well as management and ownership trends.
During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company recorded charges of $30.7 million and $3.4 million, respectively, related to declines in
the value of its portfolio of investments determined to be other−than−temporary which reduced its carrying cost of all investments to zero at December 31, 2001.
These charges are included in other expense, net in the consolidated statement of operations.
Revenue Recognition — The Company derives its revenue primarily from three sources (i) subscription revenue, which includes monthly and annual fees
from licensed real estate professionals to promote their product offerings on the Company’s websites or to utilize its proprietary software, (ii) software revenue,
which includes software licenses, software development, hardware services and support revenue which includes software maintenance, training, consulting and
website hosting revenue, and (iii) advertising revenue for running online advertising and sponsorships on the Company’s websites or offline advertising placed in
its publications. As described below, significant management judgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with the revenue recognized in any
accounting period.
The Company generates recurring revenue from several sources, including the sale of subscriptions to be included on its websites, from maintenance and
support on its software products and from its hosted solutions. Recurring revenue is typically based on one−year renewable contracts and is recognized ratably
over the contract period. Cash received in advance is recorded as deferred revenue. Recurring revenue from hosted solutions is billed monthly over a contract
term of typically one year.
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Software revenue — The Company generally licenses its software products in three ways: (i) on a one−year term basis; (ii) on a perpetual basis; and (iii) on
a monthly subscription. The Company’s hosting arrangements require customers to pay a fixed fee and receive service over a period of time, generally one year.
In general, the Company recognizes revenue related to its various services and products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the product has been
delivered, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured. Delivery generally occurs when product is delivered to
a common carrier.
The Company applies the provisions of Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97−2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended by SOP 98−9 “Modification of
SOP 97−2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions,” to all transactions involving the sale of software. The Company recognizes
license revenue upon all of the following criteria being satisfied: (i) the execution of a license agreement; (ii) product delivery; (iii) fees are fixed or
determinable; (iv) collectibility is reasonably assured; and (v) all other significant obligations have been fulfilled. For software license agreements in which
customer acceptance is a condition of earning the license fees, revenue is not recognized until acceptance occurs. For arrangements containing multiple elements,
such as software license fees, consulting services and maintenance, and where vendor−specific objective evidence (“VSOE”), of fair value exists for all
undelivered elements, the Company accounts for the delivered elements in accordance with the “residual method” prescribed by SOP 98−9. For arrangements in
which VSOE does not exist for the undelivered element, including specified upgrades, revenue is deferred and not recognized until either VSOE is established or
delivery of the element without VSOE has occurred. The Company also generates non−recurring revenue from consulting fees for implementation, installation,
data conversion and training related to the use of the Company’s proprietary and third−party licensed products. The Company recognizes revenue for these
services as they are performed, as they are principally contracted for on a time and material basis. The Company’s arrangements generally do not include
acceptance clauses. However, if an arrangement includes an acceptance clause, acceptance occurs upon the earlier of receipt of a written customer acceptance or
expiration of the acceptance period. Certain software products are sold in annual subscriptions, and accordingly, revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over
the term of the contract.
Maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the contract term. The Company’s training and consulting services are billed based on hourly rates and it
generally recognizes revenue as these services are performed. Payments for maintenance services are generally made in advance and are non−refundable.
However, at the time of entering into a transaction, the Company assesses whether any services included within the arrangement will require the Company to
perform significant work either to alter the underlying software or to build additional complex interfaces so that the software performs as the customer requests.
If these services are included as part of the arrangement and management is able to accurately estimate the progression to completion, the Company recognizes
the entire fee using the percentage of completion method. The Company estimates the percentage of completion based on an estimate of total costs incurred to
date as a percentage of total costs to complete the project, and the Company monitors its progress against plan to insure the Company’s estimates are materially
accurate. The Company recognizes losses on projects with estimated aggregate losses in the periods in which such losses are reasonably expected. For projects in
which the Company is unable to estimate its progression to completion, such revenue is recognized in the period in which the project is completed.
Advertising Revenue — The Company sells online and offline advertising. Online advertising revenue includes three revenue streams: (i) impression based,
(ii) fixed fee subscriptions and (iii) affiliate revenue share agreements. The impressions based agreements range from spot purchases to 12 month contracts. The
impression based revenue is recognized based upon actual impressions delivered and viewed by a user in a period. The fixed fee subscription revenue is
recognized ratably over the period in which the services are provided. The affiliate revenue is recognized in the period in which the affiliate partner provides the
services. The Company measures performance related to advertising obligations on a monthly basis prior to the
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recording of revenue. Offline advertising revenue is recognized when the publications in which the advertising is displayed are shipped.
The Company records and measures the fair value of equity received in exchange for advertising services in accordance with the provisions of EITF 00−8,
“Accounting by a Grantee for an Equity Instrument to be Received in Conjunction with Providing Goods or Services.” The Company recognizes revenue from
advertising barter transactions in accordance with EITF 99−17, “Accounting for Advertising Barter Transactions.” Revenue from these transactions is recognized
during the period in which the impressions are delivered. The services provided are valued based on similar cash transactions, which have occurred within six
months prior to the date of the barter transactions. The Company did not enter into any advertising barter transactions during 2002. There was no revenue from
these types of transactions during the year ended December 31, 2002. During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, revenue from equity−for−services
and advertising barter transactions was less than 5% of revenue.
The Company assesses collectibility based on a number of factors, including past transaction history with the customer and the credit worthiness of the
customer. The Company does not request collateral from its customers. If the Company determines that collection of a fee is not reasonably assured, the
Company defers the fee and recognizes revenue at the time collection becomes reasonably assured, which is generally upon receipt of cash.
Advertising Expense — Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and totaled $4.8 million, $31.4 million and $18.1 million during the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Stock−Based Charges — The Company accounts for stock−based employee compensation arrangements in accordance with the provisions of Accounting
Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and complies with the disclosure provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock−Based Compensation.” Under APB No. 25, compensation expense is recognized over the
vesting period based on the difference, if any, on the date of grant between the deemed fair value for accounting purposes of the Company’s stock and the
exercise price on the date of grant.
The Company follows the intrinsic value method in accounting for its stock options. Had compensation cost been recognized based on the fair value at the
date of grant for options granted in 2002, 2001 and 2000, the pro forma amounts of the Company’s net loss and net loss per share for the years ended December
31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 would have been as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Net loss applicable to common stockholders:
As reported
Stock−based compensation
Pro forma
Net loss per share−basic and diluted:
As reported
Pro forma
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2002

2001

2000

$ (163,425)
(29,798)

$ (1,465,589)
(92,965)

$ (146,053)
(42,471)

$ (193,223)

$ (1,558,554)

$ (188,524)

$
$

$
$

$
$

(1.39)
(1.64)

(13.64)
(14.51)

(1.83)
(2.36)
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The fair value for each option granted was estimated at the date of grant using a Black−Scholes option pricing model, assuming no expected dividends and
the following weighted−average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31

Risk−free interest rates
Expected lives (in years)
Dividend yield
Expected volatility

2002

2001

2000

4%
4
0%
147%

5%
4
0%
115%

6%
4
0%
100%

The Company accounts for stock issued to non−employees in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123 and EITF 96−18, “Accounting for Equity
Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods and Services.” In November 2001, the EITF reached
a consensus in EITF 00−18, “Accounting Recognition for Certain Transactions Involving Equity Instruments Granted to Other Than Employees,” that an asset
acquired in exchange for the issuance of fully vested, nonforfeitable equity instruments should not be displayed as contra−equity by the grantor of the equity
instruments. In adopting this consensus in the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company reclassified $75.7 million in previously classified contra−equity to prepaid
distribution expense and other assets on the accompanying balance sheet, with no effect on net loss or net loss per share. This reclassification related to various
marketing and content that were acquired by the Company through the issuance of fully vested, nonforfeitable equity instruments (see Notes 15 and 16). At
December 31, 2001, a portion of these amounts was subject to impairment (see Note 5).
The following chart summarizes the stock−based charges that have been included in the following captions for each of the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
Product and website development
General and administrative

2002

2001

2000

$ 1,501
134
63,848
127
1,297

$ 2,456
383
71,188
361
6,237

$ 6,233
607
45,148
572
3,095

$ 66,907

$ 80,625

$ 55,655

Stock−based charges for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 consists of $37.2 million, $37.2 million, and $9.8 million, respectively, of
amortization related to the AOL distribution agreement, and $17.9 million, $27.4 million and $36.8 million, respectively, related to vendor agreements with the
remainder related to employee−based stock option charges.
Income Taxes — Income taxes are accounted for under SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Under SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and are measured using the enacted tax rates
and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred taxes to the
amount expected to be realized.
Net Loss Per Share — Net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss applicable to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding. Shares associated with stock options, warrants and convertible preferred stock are not included to the extent they are
anti−dilutive.
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Foreign Currency Translation — The financial statements of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are measured using the local currency as the functional
currency. Assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at
average monthly rates of exchange prevailing during the year. The resulting translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive income as
a separate component of stockholders’ equity.
Comprehensive Income — Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other
events and circumstances from nonowner sources. For the Company, comprehensive income consists of its reported net income or loss, the change in the foreign
currency translation adjustments during a period and the net unrealized gains or losses on short−term investments and marketable equity securities.
Segments — The Company reports segment information in accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information.” The Company’s operating segments are presented consistently with the way that the Company’s management organizes and evaluates financial
information for making internal operating decisions and assessing performance. Certain prior year segment information has been reclassified to conform to the
current year presentation (see Note 13).
Recent Accounting Developments — In June 2001, the “FASB” issued SFAS Nos. 141 and 142, “Business Combinations” and “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” respectively. SFAS No. 141 replaces APB Opinion No. 16, “Business Combinations.” It also provides guidance on purchase accounting
related to the recognition of intangible assets and accounting for negative goodwill. SFAS No. 142 changes the accounting for goodwill and other intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives from an amortization method to an impairment−only approach. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill was tested upon
implementation of the standard, and will continue to be tested annually and whenever events or circumstances occur indicating that goodwill might be impaired.
SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142 are effective for all business combinations completed after June 30, 2001.
The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 in January 2002, accordingly amortization of goodwill recorded for business combinations consummated prior to
July 1, 2001 has ceased, and intangible assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001 that do not meet the criteria for recognition under SFAS No. 141 have been
reclassified to goodwill. In connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company performed a transitional goodwill impairment assessment in the first
quarter of 2002 and determined that there was no impairment as a result of the adoption of this standard.
In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” which requires entities to record the fair value of a
liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which the obligation is incurred. When the liability is initially recorded, the entity capitalizes the cost
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long−lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value each period, and the capitalized cost is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. SFAS No. 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company does not have asset
retirement obligations and therefore believes there will be no impact upon adoption of SFAS No. 143.
In January 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long−Lived Assets,” which was issued in October
2001. The FASB’s new rules on asset impairment supersede SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long−Lived Assets and for Long−Lived Assets
to Be Disposed Of,” and portions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations.” SFAS No. 144 provides a single accounting model for
long−lived assets to be disposed of and significantly changes the criteria that would have to be met to classify an asset as held−for−sale. Classification as
held−for−sale is an important distinction since such assets are not depreciated and are stated at the lower of fair value and carrying amount. SFAS No. 144 also
requires expected future operating losses from discontinued operations to be displayed in the period(s) in which the losses are incurred, rather than as of the
measurement date as previously required.
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Additionally, SFAS No. 144 expands the scope of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations that (1) can be distinguished
from the rest of the entity, and (2) will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity in a disposal transaction. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 in the
first quarter of 2002 did not have an impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows, except for the classification of the
disposition of the ConsumerInfo division as a discontinued operation (see Note 3).
In 2001, the Company early adopted EITF 01−09, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s
Products),” which was issued in February 2002. This consensus requires companies to report certain consideration given by a vendor to a customer as a reduction
in revenue. Upon adoption, companies are required to retroactively reclassify such amounts in previously issued financial statements to comply with the income
statement display requirements of the consensus. The Company adopted this consensus and the effect on the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 was to
reduce revenue and expense by $4.7 million and $7.2 million, respectively, with no effect on net loss or net loss per share.
In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” which requires the liability for a disposal
obligation to be recognized and measured at its fair value when the entity ceases using the leased property in operations. The FASB decided the same approach
should apply for similar disposal obligations associated with other preexisting firmly committed contracts. Additionally, SFAS No. 146 would require severance
pay in many cases to be recognized over time rather than up front. If the benefit arrangement requires employees to render future service beyond a defined
minimum retention period, a liability should be recognized as employees render service over the future service period. If the benefit arrangement does not require
employees to render future service beyond the minimum retention period, a liability should be recognized at the date the termination is communicated to
employees. SFAS No. 146 is effective for disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The FASB’s new rules on liabilities for disposal obligations
reconsiders the guidance in EITF Issue No. 94−3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)” and addresses the issue separately from the scope of SFAS No. 144. This statement is not expected to have
a material impact on the Company.
On December 31, 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock−Based Compensation−Transition and Disclosure,” which amends SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock−Based Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of transition to the fair value method of accounting for stock−based
employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure provisions of and requires prominent disclosure about the effects on reported net income of a company’s
accounting policy decisions with respect to stock−based employee compensation. In addition, this statement amends APB No. 28, “Interim Financial Reporting,”
to require disclosure about those effects in interim financial information. SFAS No. 148 is effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2002. The disclosure requirements for interim financial statements containing condensed consolidated financial statements are effective for interim
periods beginning after December 15, 2002. The Company does not intend to adopt the fair value method of accounting for stock−based compensation of SFAS
No. 123 and accordingly SFAS No. 148 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In December 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (FIN 45). FIN 45 requires that at the time a company issues a guarantee, the company must recognize an initial liability
for the fair value, or market value, of the obligations it assumes under that guarantee. This interpretation is applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued
or modified after December 31, 2002. Management is currently evaluating the impact of recognizing such liabilities on the Company’s consolidated financial
position and
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results of operations. FIN 45 also contains disclosure provisions surrounding existing guarantees, which are effective for financial statements of interim or annual
periods ending after December 15, 2002 (see Note 21).
In January 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued Issue No. 00−21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (EITF No.
00−21). This consensus addresses certain aspects of accounting by a vendor of arrangements under which it will perform multiple revenue−generating activities,
specifically, how to determine whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting. EITF No. 00−21 is effective
for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003 or entities may elect to report the change in accounting as a
cumulative−effect adjustment in accordance with Opinion 20 and Statement 3, with early application of this consensus permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact this consensus will have on its financial statements.
Reclassifications — Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years’ financial statements in order to conform to the 2002 presentation.
3. Discontinued Operations
On March 19, 2002, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its ConsumerInfo division for $130.0 million in cash to Experian Holdings, Inc. The
transaction closed on April 2, 2002. The sale generated net proceeds of approximately $117.1 million after transaction fees and monies placed in escrow. On
March 26, 2002, MemberWorks Incorporated (“MemberWorks”), one of the former owners of iPlace, Inc. (“iPlace”), the parent company of the ConsumerInfo
division, obtained a court order requiring the Company to set aside $58.0 million of the proceeds against a potential claim MemberWorks had against the
Company.
On August 9, 2002, the Company reached a settlement in the MemberWorks litigation, in which MemberWorks and certain other former iPlace shareholders
received $23.0 million, with the remaining $35.0 million plus accrued interest transferred to the Company resulting in net proceeds to the Company of $94.1
million. In addition, the litigation was dismissed and MemberWorks released all claims against the Company relating to the sale of iPlace. The Company has
included the cost of the settlement in its results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002.
Pursuant to SFAS No. 144, the consolidated financial statements of the Company reflect the disposition of its ConsumerInfo division as discontinued
operations. Accordingly, the revenue, costs and expenses, and cash flows of the ConsumerInfo division through December 31, 2002, have been excluded from
the respective captions in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and have been reported as “Income from
discontinued operations,” net of applicable income taxes of zero; and as “Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations.” The $11.8 million gain
associated with the disposition of the ConsumerInfo division has been recorded as “Gain on disposition of discontinued operations,” in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations. As part of the sale, $10.0 million of the purchase price was put in escrow to secure the Company’s indemnification obligations. As of
December 31, 2002, cash subject to the escrow was $9.3 million. To the extent the escrow is released to the Company, the Company will recognize additional
gain on disposition of discontinued operations. The escrow is scheduled to terminate in the third quarter of 2003. A portion of the escrow can be released prior to
the scheduled termination date if both the Company and the buyer agree to a release of funds. Total revenue and income from discontinued operations was
$19.5 million and $846,000, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2002. Total revenue and loss from discontinued operations was $21.3 million and
$4.8 million, respectively, for year ended December 31, 2001. The Company purchased ConsumerInfo in August 2001 as part of the acquisition of iPlace.
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The calculation of the gain on the sale of the ConsumerInfo division is as follows (in thousands):

Gross proceeds from sale
Less:
Cash subject to escrow
Net assets of the ConsumerInfo division
Transaction costs
Cash and Homestore stock received from purchase of iPlace
Gain recognized on the sale

$ 130,000
10,000
106,321
2,918
(1,029)
$ 11,790

The cash and stock received from the purchase of iPlace relates to the settlement of the original escrow related to the Company’s purchase of iPlace.
4. Acquisition Costs and Restructuring Charges
Acquisition Costs
In connection with the acquisition of Move.com Inc. and Welcome Wagon International, Inc. (collectively referred to as the “Move.com Group”) (see Note
6), the Company reviewed its operations and implemented a plan to restructure various components of the acquired operations. As part of the restructuring, the
Company accrued an acquisition liability of approximately $13.4 million, related to estimated costs to exit and consolidate certain operating activities of the
Move.com Group, as well as costs to terminate and relocate employees. These amounts were recognized as liabilities assumed in a purchase business
combination and thus accounted for as additional purchase price. At December 31, 2001, the purchase price allocation related to the Move.com Group was
finalized.
The acquisition liability was comprised of $9.8 million in exit costs related to contractual obligations with no future benefits to the combined operations as
the services were redundant, $2.7 million in termination benefits related to a work force reduction of approximately 170 employees and approximately $900,000
in costs incurred in connection with the shut−down of various facilities. At December 31, 2001, all restructuring costs have been paid with no related liabilities
remaining.
Also related to the acquisition of the Move.com Group, the Company incurred acquisition and reorganization charges of $6.5 million that did not meet the
criteria for capitalization as a component of purchase price. These charges were expensed as incurred, were included in acquisition and restructuring charges in
2001 in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and were comprised primarily of stay bonuses and severance payments of $3.6 million, and facilities shutdown
costs of $1.9 million.
Restructuring Charges
During the second quarter of 2001, the Company incurred a charge of $8.2 million related to the dissolution of one of the Company’s subsidiaries which is
included in the acquisition and restructuring charges line in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Included in these charges were severance and other
payroll−related expenses of $1.1 million associated with the reduction in workforce of approximately 70 employees, facilities shutdown costs of $1.2 million and
other dissolution costs of approximately $485,000. In addition, the Company entered into a release agreement and made a one−time settlement payment of
$5.4 million to minority shareholders. At December 31, 2001, all costs have been paid with no liabilities remaining.
In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a restructuring and integration plan, with the objective of eliminating duplicate
resources and redundancies and implementing a new management structure to more efficiently serve the Company’s customers. The plan included the unwinding
of the Company’s newly formed or recently acquired international operations and a broad restructuring of the Company’s core operations.
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As part of this restructuring and integration plan, the Company undertook a review of its existing locations and elected to close a number of satellite offices
and identified and notified approximately 700 employees whose positions with the Company were eliminated. The work force reductions affected approximately
150 members of management, 100 in research and development, 200 in sales and marketing and 250 in administrative functions.
In connection with this restructuring and integration plan, the Company recorded a charge of $35.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2001, which was included
in acquisition and restructuring charges on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. This charge consists of the following: (i) employee termination benefits of
$6.4 million; (ii) facility closure charges of $20.8 million, comprised of $12.8 million in future lease obligations, exit costs and cancellation penalties, net of
estimated sublease income of $11.9 million, and $8.0 million of non−cash fixed asset disposals related to vacating duplicate facilities and decreased equipment
requirements due to lower headcount; (iii) non−cash write−offs of $2.9 million in other assets related to exited activities; and (iv) accrued future payments of
$5.7 million for existing contractual obligations with no future benefits to the Company. The Company’s original estimate with respect to sublease income
related primarily to a lease commitment for office space in San Francisco that expires in November 2006. The Company originally estimated that it would
sublease the facility by the second quarter of 2003 at a rate of approximately two−thirds of the existing commitment. However, recent declines in the demand for
office space in the San Francisco market have led the Company to conclude these estimates must be revised. Because the Company believes it will take at least
one year longer than it originally estimated to sublease the property and the market rates are projected to be as low as 33% of the Company’s current rent, the
Company took an additional $6.5 million charge during 2002. The Company also reduced its estimates for employee termination pay by $396,000 and its
contractual obligations by $798,000 in 2002. As of December 31, 2002, four of the planned 700 employees have not yet been paid severance.
A summary of activity related to the fourth quarter 2001 restructuring charge is as follows (in thousands):

Initial restructuring charge
Cash paid
Non−cash charges

Employee
Termination
Benefits

Lease
Obligations
and
Related
Charges

Asset
Write−offs

Contractual
Obligations

Total

$ 6,364
(3,511)
—

$ 12,782
(137)
—

$ 10,917
—
(10,917)

$ 5,733
(141)
—

$ 35,796
(3,789)
(10,917)

2,853
(2,274)
(396)
—
(156)

12,645
(5,480)
6,027
488
—

5,592
(3,631)
(798)
—
—

21,090
(11,385)
4,833
488
(156)

Restructuring accrual at December 31, 2001
Cash paid
Change in estimates
Non−cash charges
Sale of a subsidiary
Restructuring accrual at December 31, 2002

$

27

$ 13,680

—
—
—
—
—
$

—

$ 1,163

$ 14,870

With the exception of payments associated with the San Francisco and other office lease commitments, substantially all of the remaining restructuring
liabilities at December 31, 2002 will be paid during 2003. Any further changes to the accruals based upon current estimates will be reflected through the
acquisition and restructuring charges line in the consolidated statement of operations.
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In the first quarter of 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an additional restructuring and integration plan, with the objective of eliminating
duplicate resources and redundancies.
As part of this restructuring and integration plan, the Company undertook a review of its existing locations and elected to close offices and identified and
notified approximately 270 employees whose positions with the Company were eliminated. The work force reductions affected approximately 30 members of
management, 40 in research and development, 140 in sales and marketing and 60 in administrative functions. As of December 31, 2002, eight of the planned
270 employees have not yet been paid severance.
In connection with this restructuring and integration plan, the Company recorded a charge of $2.3 million in the first quarter of 2002, which was included in
the acquisition and restructuring charges line in the consolidated statement of operations. This charge consists of the employee termination benefits of
$1.7 million and facility closure charges of approximately $600,000. In the third quarter of 2002, the Company evaluated its original estimates and concluded it
must increase its charge for lease obligations by $1.6 million because of a decline in market rates and reduce its estimate for employee termination pay by
$242,000.
A summary of activity related to the first quarter 2002 restructuring charge is as follows (in thousands):

Employee
Termination
Benefits

Lease
Obligations
and
Related
Charges

Asset
Write−offs

Total

Initial restructuring charge
Non−cash charges
Cash paid
Change in estimates

$ 1,720
—
(1,452)
(242)

$ 309
—
(187)
1,584

$ 260
(260)
—
—

$ 2,289
(260)
(1,639)
1,342

Restructuring accrual at December 31, 2002

$

$ 1,706

$ —

$ 1,732

26

Substantially all of the remaining restructuring liabilities at December 31, 2002, with the exception of those related to lease obligations, will be paid in 2003.
Any further changes to the accruals based upon current estimates will be reflected through the acquisition and restructuring charges line in the consolidated
statement of operations.
In the third quarter of 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a further restructuring and integration plan, with the objective of eliminating
duplicate resources and redundancies.
As part of this restructuring and integration plan, the Company undertook a review of its existing locations and elected to close an office and identified and
notified approximately 190 employees whose positions with the Company were eliminated. The work force reductions affected approximately 30 in research and
development, 10 in production, 140 in sales and marketing and 10 in administrative functions. As of December 31, 2002, all of the planned 190 employees have
been terminated and a total of 31 have not yet been paid severance.
In connection with this restructuring and integration plan, the Company recorded a charge of $3.6 million in the third quarter of 2002, which was included in
the acquisition and restructuring charges line in the consolidated statement of operations. This charge consists of employee termination benefits of $1.6 million
and facility closure charges of approximately $2.0 million.
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A summary of activity related to the third quarter 2002 restructuring charge is as follows (in thousands):

Employee
Termination
Benefits

Lease
Obligations
and
Related
Charges

Total

Initial restructuring charge
Cash paid

$ 1,590
(1,190)

$ 2,033
(253)

$ 3,623
(1,443)

Restructuring accrual at December 31, 2002

$

$ 1,780

$ 2,180

400

Substantially all of the remaining restructuring liabilities at December 31, 2002 will be paid in 2003.
5. Impairment of Long−lived Assets
In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company identified a number of factors indicating a potential impairment of its long−lived assets, primarily related to
goodwill and identifiable intangible assets associated with various business combinations completed over the past three years (see Note 6). Specific events and
changes in circumstances indicating a potential impairment include the following: a significant decline in the fair market value of the Company’s common stock
in the fourth quarter of 2001; the Company’s net book value was significantly different from the Company’s market value; the underperformance of certain
acquisitions following their integration relative to original projections; lower projected operating results for fiscal 2002 and beyond compared to earlier forecasts
based on a realignment of the Company’s business in the fourth quarter of 2001; significant turnover in key management positions in the fourth quarter of 2001;
the loss of certain key customer relationships coupled with the renegotiation of certain existing arrangements; significant declines in actual and projected
advertising and software license revenue; and a sustained decline in valuations for the Internet sector.
The evaluation of these events and changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying value of the Company’s long−lived assets might not be recoverable.
Accordingly, asset impairment tests were performed at the lowest level for which separately identifiable cash flows exist. The impairment tests were performed
by comparing the expected undiscounted cash flows over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, plus a terminal value for future cash flows, to the
carrying amount of goodwill, identifiable intangible assets and other long−lived assets initially recorded in connection with various business combinations. As a
result of these comparisons, long−lived assets relating primarily to the Company’s acquisitions of the Move.com Group, , Homefair, SpringStreet, HomeWrite,
Inc. (“HomeWrite”), WyldFyre Technologies, Inc. (“WyldFyre”), The Hessel Group (“Hessel”) and the purchase of assets and assumption of liabilities of
Internet Pictures Corporation (“iPix”), and Homestyles Publishing and Marketing, Inc. (“Homestyles”) were determined to be impaired in 2001.
The amount of impairment loss recognized was measured based on the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeded the fair value of the
asset. With the assistance of outside valuation specialists, fair value was determined based on the present value of estimated expected future cash flows using
discount rates ranging from 12.5% to 25%. The discount rate utilized was based upon the Company’s weighted average cost of capital adjusted for the risks
associated with its operations. Cash flows were prepared primarily by business unit, which represented the lowest level of separately identifiable cash flows.
Assumptions used in measuring impairment reflect management’s best estimates of future operating results and related cash flows, the most significant of which
are summarized as follows: revenue assumptions were based primarily on factors including customer churn and growth rates, number of customers/subscribers,
price increases, number of apartment listings, and number of impressions; operating expense assumptions were based primarily on a combination of expected
percentage of revenue and estimated year over year growth; working capital
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adjustments were based on estimated working capital needs to support growth in the business; and estimates of capital expenditures were based on management’s
best estimates.
The Company’s impairment analysis resulted in a charge of $925.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2001, comprised of impairments of $659.1 million to
goodwill, $94.6 million to identified intangible assets, $36.4 million to property and equipment and $135.0 million primarily related to non−current prepaid
distribution expense.
During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company decided to shut down Hessel and sell the remaining assets. Operating expenses for the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2002 include $1.2 million in accrued expenses associated with the shutdown of these operations including lease termination fees, severance, and other
related costs. During the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company entered into four separate agreements to sell substantially all of the assets of Hessel for a total
of approximately $1.5 million in cash. The operations of Hessel were not material and thus have not been reclassified as discontinued operations.
In the fourth quarter of 2002, specific events and changes in operations of the business indicated a potential impairment of its long−lived assets. The specific
events and changes in circumstances indicating a potential impairment including the Company revising the annual operating plan, the sustained decline of the
value of the Company’s stock, and the Company making the decision to shutdown Hessel. Pursuant to SFAS No. 144, the Company performed an impairment
analysis. With the assistance of outside valuation specialists, fair value was determined based on the present value of estimated expected future cash flows using
discount rates ranging from 11% to 20%. The Company’s impairment analysis resulted in a charge of $7.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2002 comprised of
impairments of $3.8 million of identified intangible assets relating to the Company’s acquisition of WyldFyre, $1.9 million of property and equipment relating to
the pending sale and shut down of the Hessel businesses and $1.6 million of other assets.
6. Acquisitions
For all acquisitions except iPlace, goodwill, to the extent it has not been fully impaired, was amortized from the date of acquisition on a straight−line basis
over the useful lives described below until December 31, 2001. On January 1, 2002 the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, which requires companies to cease
goodwill amortization as of that date. Intangible assets continue to be amortized over their useful lives.
WyldFyre
In March 2000, the Company acquired WyldFyre, a leading developer of technology solutions for real estate professionals to access MLS information via
the Internet, for 589,426 shares of its common stock with an estimated fair value for accounting purposes of $34.0 million. The acquisition has been accounted
for as a purchase. The acquisition cost has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. The excess of
purchase consideration over net tangible assets acquired of $34.3 million has been allocated to goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets and is being
amortized on a straight−line basis over estimated lives ranging from three to five years. During the year ended December 31, 2000, a portion of the purchase
price was charged to acquired in−process research and development (“IPR&D”) upon completion of the purchase price valuation by a third party. At
December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had net goodwill of $975,000 and $850,000 and net intangible assets of zero and $5.8 million, respectively.
Top Producer
In May 2000, the Company acquired Top Producer Systems, Inc. (“Top Producer”), a leading provider of leads management and marketing software for real
estate professionals, for $12.1 million in cash and 473,538 shares exchangeable into to the Company’s common stock with an estimated fair value of
$12.1 million. The shares vest over a three−year period and are contingent upon the Top Producer’s chief
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executive officer’s employment over a three−year period, and accordingly, the value of such shares was recorded in deferred stock−based charges. During the
year ended December 31, 2002, the Company elected to pay cash of $521,000 instead of issuing the Company’s common stock. This payment was charged
against additional paid−in capital. As part of the original purchase agreement, an additional amount of up to $14.8 million of contingent consideration
(“earn−out”) could be paid if certain defined performance targets were met during the years ended December 31, 2000 through December 31, 2004. During 2002,
the earn−out was re−negotiated with the former owners, several of whom are currently employed by the Company. The additional purchase price was fixed at
$10.2 million resulting in an increase in goodwill and accrued expenses. The installment payment feature of the original agreement was retained. Payments made
for the additional consideration may be made in either cash or stock at the option of the Company. The Company paid $3.1 million in cash in 2002 relating to this
earn−out. The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase. The acquisition cost has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on
their respective fair values. The excess of purchase consideration over net tangible assets acquired of $34.8 million has been allocated to goodwill, deferred
compensation and other identifiable intangible assets and is being amortized on a straight−line basis over estimated lives ranging from three to five years. During
the year ended December 31, 2000, a portion of the purchase price was charged to acquired IPR&D upon completion of the purchase price valuation by an
independent third party. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had net goodwill of $11.7 million and $1.9 million and net intangible assets of
$4.6 million and $7.0 million, respectively.
The Hessel Group
In September 2000, the Company acquired Hessel, a leading provider of technology−driven solutions and services to the relocation industry, for
$15.0 million in cash and assumption of Hessel’s option plan consisting of 135,421 options with an estimated fair value of $4.5 million. The acquisition has been
accounted for as a purchase. The acquisition cost has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on estimates of their respective fair
values. The excess of purchase consideration over net tangible assets acquired of $19.3 million has been allocated to goodwill and other identifiable intangible
assets and is being amortized on a straight−line basis over estimated lives of five years. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had net goodwill of
$1.5 million. During the first quarter of 2003, the Company sold the assets of Hessel (see Notes 5 and 22).
iPIX
In January 2001, the Company acquired certain assets and licenses and assumed certain liabilities from iPIX, a leading provider of dynamic imaging services
for the Internet, for $7.1 million in cash and a note in the amount of $2.3 million. The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase. The acquisition cost has
been allocated to the assets acquired based on their respective fair values. The excess of purchase consideration over net tangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed of approximately $13.7 million has been allocated to goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets and is being amortized on a straight−line basis
over the estimated useful lives of the assets over five years. There was no value for goodwill and intangible assets at December 31, 2002 and 2001.
Computers for Tracts
In January 2001, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities from Computers for Tracts, Inc. (“CFT”), a leading provider of sales
force automation and warranty request management solutions, for approximately $4.5 million in cash and 162,850 shares of the Company’s common stock
valued at $5.0 million. The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase. The acquisition cost has been allocated to the assets acquired based on their
respective fair values. The excess of purchase consideration over net tangible assets acquired of approximately $8.9 million has been allocated to goodwill and
other identifiable intangible assets and is being amortized on a straight−line basis over the estimated useful lives ranging from
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three to five years. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had net goodwill of $1.3 million and net intangible assets of $1.2 million and $347,000,
respectively.
HomeWrite
In February 2001, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of HomeWrite, an application service provider for cataloging home warranty
information, in exchange for 196,549 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at $5.6 million and assumed the HomeWrite stock option plan consisting of
196,200 outstanding stock options with an estimated fair value of $4.5 million. The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase. The acquisition cost has
been allocated to the assets acquired based on their respective fair values. The excess of purchase consideration over net tangible assets acquired of
approximately $11.8 million has been allocated to goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets and is being amortized on a straight−line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from three to five years. There was no value for goodwill and intangible assets at December 31, 2002 and 2001.
Homebid
In February 2001, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities from Homebid.com, Inc. (“Homebid”), an application service provider
that allows real estate professionals to manage, offer and negotiate home sales over the Internet, for approximately $3.5 million in cash. The acquisition has been
accounted for as a purchase. The acquisition cost has been allocated to the assets acquired based on their respective fair values. The excess of purchase
consideration over net tangible assets acquired amounting to approximately $2.5 million has been allocated to goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets
and is being amortized on a straight−line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from three to five years. There was no value for goodwill and
intangible assets at December 31, 2002 and 2001.
Move.com Group
In February 2001, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of the Move.com Group, from Cendant Corporation (“Cendant”), valued at
approximately $745.7 million. The Move.com Group offered online and offline marketing to consumers for the real estate industry. In connection with the
acquisition, the Company issued an aggregate of 21.4 million shares of its common stock in exchange for all the outstanding shares of capital stock of the
Move.com Group, and assumed approximately 3.2 million outstanding stock options of the Move.com Group. Cendant is restricted in its ability to sell the
Homestore shares it received in the acquisition and has agreed to vote such shares on all corporate matters in proportion to the voting decisions of all other
stockholders. In addition, Cendant has agreed to a ten−year standstill agreement that, under most conditions, prohibits Cendant from acquiring additional
Homestore shares (see Notes 12 and 21). At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had net goodwill of $4.4 million and $2.7 million, respectively, and net
intangible assets of $50.2 million and $76.3 million, respectively.
Homestyles
In May 2001, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities from Homestyles, a leading magazine publisher specializing in new home
designs and project plans, for approximately $14.5 million in cash. The acquisition has been accounted for as a purchase. The acquisition cost has been allocated
to the assets acquired based on their respective fair values. The excess of purchase consideration over net tangible assets acquired of approximately $15.2 million
has been allocated to goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets and is being amortized on a straight−line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets
ranging from three to five years. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had net goodwill of $2.6 million and intangible assets of $3.5 million and
$4.4 million, respectively.
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iPlace
In August 2001, the Company acquired all the outstanding shares of iPlace in exchange for approximately 3.5 million shares of the Company’s common
stock valued at $80.3 million, $73.0 million in cash and the assumption of 1.1 million outstanding stock options with an estimated incremental fair value of
$16.3 million.
iPlace is a leading provider of online credit and neighborhood information to real estate professionals and consumers. The primary reasons for the
acquisition was the expansion of the Company’s product offerings to the Company’s core real estate professionals and to market to consumers online credit
information. Goodwill was generated in this purchase as a result of a growing, profitable business model with multiple bidders.
The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method and the results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements
since the date of acquisition. In accordance with SFAS No. 141, the Company did not amortize goodwill recognized in connection with this acquisition. The
acquisition cost has been allocated to assets acquired based on their respective fair values and resulted in excess purchase consideration over the net tangible
assets acquired of approximately $191.7 million. With the assistance of outside valuation specialists, the Company has allocated the excess purchase price to
goodwill and other intangible assets, resulting in $153.8 million in goodwill and $37.9 million in intangible assets subject to amortization. Intangible assets are
being amortized on a straight−line basis over their estimated useful lives ranging from three to seven years, with a weighted−average amortization period of
5.6 years, and include an allocation of $19.0 million to distribution network, $6.0 million to subscriber list, $4.7 million to existing technology, $3.2 million to
customer contracts, $2.6 million to non−compete agreements and $2.4 million to trademark and trade names. At December 31, 2001, the Company had net
goodwill and intangible assets of $96.4 million and $27.9 million, respectively. There were no goodwill or intangible assets at December 31, 2002 as the
Company sold the ConsumerInfo division in the first quarter of 2002 (see Note 3).
The following condensed balance sheet data represents the fair value assigned to each major asset and liability category upon acquisition:
Estimated fair values (in thousands):

Current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Other assets

$

3,927
1,641
153,750
37,900
515

Total assets

$ 197,733

Current liabilities
Deferred revenue

$

Total liabilities

$ 28,179

8,395
19,784

The following summarized unaudited pro forma financial information includes the acquisition of the Move.com Group as if it had occurred at the beginning
of 2001. This pro forma financial information excludes the acquisitions of iPlace, because of its classification as a discontinued operation, and all other
companies
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acquired in 2001 and 2000 since the pro forma effects of those transactions are immaterial for all periods presented (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended
December 31,
2001

Year Ended
December 31,
2000
(Unaudited)

Revenue
Net loss
Net loss per share applicable to common stockholders:
Basic and diluted
Weighted average shares

$

338,052
(1,493,039)

$

(13.56)
110,125

$ 274,638
(407,189)
$

(4.03)
101,120

In−process Research and Development
During the year ended December 31, 2000, approximately $4.0 million of the purchase price from the acquisitions of WyldFyre and Top Producer was
charged to acquired IPR&D based upon the purchase price valuation performed by a third party.
The amounts allocated to the IPR&D represented the purchased IPR&D for seven projects that had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no
alternative future use. The value of these projects was determined by using the income approach. The income approach values an asset based on the earnings
capacity of the asset based on the future cash flows that could potentially be generated by the asset over its estimated remaining life. The future cash flows are
discounted to their present value utilizing a discount rate which would provide sufficient return to a potential investor to estimate the value of the subject asset.
The present value of the cash flows over the life of the asset are summed to equal the estimated value of the asset.
To determine the value of IPR&D, the expected future cash flows, including costs to achieve technological feasibility, were discounted at a rate of 28%,
taking into account risks associated with timely development and roll−out of the Company’s in−process products, as well as normal growth and profit margins.
At the acquisition date, it was estimated that the seven projects under development ranged from 5% to 81% complete. At the time of the valuation, these projects
were expected to be completed within twelve months.
7.

Short−term Investments and Marketable Equity Securities

The following table summarizes the Company’s investments in available−for−sale securities classified as short−term investments and marketable equity
securities at December 31, 2001 (in thousands):

Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
Losses

Estimated
Fair Value

Corporate notes
Debt securities

$ 9,100
5,271

$ —
23

$ 204
—

$ 8,896
5,294

Short−term investments

$ 14,371

$ 23

$ 204

$ 14,190

Marketable equity securities

$ 5,527

$ —

$ 3,095

$ 2,432

The contractual maturities of available−for−sale debt securities at December 31, 2001 were less than one year. Marketable equity securities consist of equity
instruments of publicly−held companies at December 31, 2001. The Company did not hold marketable equity securities or short−term investments as of
December 31, 2002.
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8.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

Computer software and equipment
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Land and building

2002

2001

$ 24,952
4,170
5,593
1,066
5,045

$ 28,670
6,213
5,931
1,766
5,086

40,826
(14,893)

Less: accumulated depreciation

$ 25,933

47,666
(2,907)
$ 44,759

Depreciation expense, excluding discontinued operations, for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $14.4 million, $24.9 million and
$5.8 million, respectively.
9.

Intangible Assets

As described in Note 2, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142 in January 2002. The following table reconciles the reported net loss for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, to its adjusted balance which excludes previously reported goodwill amortization expense, which is no longer
recorded under the provisions of SFAS No. 142 (amounts in thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,

Reported net loss
Add back: goodwill amortization (net of tax)

2002

2001

2000

$ (163,425)
—

$ (1,465,589)
136,048

$ (146,053)
19,074

(163,425)

(1,329,541)

(126,979)

Adjusted net loss
Basic and diluted loss per share:
As reported
Add back: goodwill amortization:
Adjusted net loss
Weighted average shares outstanding

$

(1.39)
—

$

(13.64)
1.26

$

(1.83)
0.24

$

(1.39)

$

(12.38)

$

(1.59)

117,900

107,433

79,758

The following changes in the net carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2002 have been made: reclassifications due to discontinued
operations of $96.4 million, additional contingent purchase price of Top Producer of $9.3 million and reclassification of certain intangible assets to goodwill
upon the
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adoption of SFAS No. 142 of $2.7 million. Goodwill by segment, excluding discontinued operations, as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 is as follows (in
thousands):

As of December 31,
2002

Media services
Software and services
Online advertising
Offline advertising
Discontinued operations
Total

2001

$ 1,307
15,437
—
6,514
—

$

649
5,636
—
5,096
96,388

$ 23,258

$ 107,769

Intangible assets consist of purchased content, porting relationships, purchased technology, and other miscellaneous agreements entered into in connection
with business combinations and are amortized over expected periods of benefits. There are no indefinite lived intangibles and no expected residual values related
to these intangible assets (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2002

Customer lists and relationships
Trade name, trademarks, websites and brand names
Online traffic
Purchased technology
Purchased content
Exclusive electronic listing and rights Agreement
Porting relationships
NAR® operating agreement
Other
Total

2001

Gross
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

$ 27,661
23,201
18,636
11,690
15,604
13,220
1,728
1,578
7,811

$ 19,231
3,525
8,601
6,139
5,900
1,442
610
150
2,760

$ 35,088
24,501
18,636
17,662
15,604
13,220
1,728
1,578
34,834

$ 8,782
1,363
—
5,853
—
—
—
—
3,851

$ 121,129

$ 48,358

$ 162,851

$ 19,849

At December 31, 2001, gross intangible assets and accumulated amortization of $29.4 million and $2.1 million, respectively, are reflected for the
ConsumerInfo division, which was sold in 2002.
Amortization expense, excluding discontinued operations, for intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $37.2 million,
$63.2 million and $23.8 million, respectively. Amortization expense for the next five years is estimated to be as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007

Amount

$ 26,609
15,448
7,909
3,849
2,984
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10.

Other Current Assets
Other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

Deferred selling and marketing expense
Other

2002

2001

196
12,543

$ 9,622
34,121

$ 12,739

$ 43,743

$

11. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses, current, consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

Accrued payroll and related benefits
Accrued royalties
Accrued restructuring charges
Accrued professional fees
Other

2002

2001

$ 14,723
2,472
8,455
7,023
27,059

$ 23,905
4,502
11,760
12,916
49,288

$ 59,732

$ 102,371

12. Related−party Transactions
In February 2001, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of the Move.com Group from Cendant valued at $745.7 million. In connection with
the acquisition, the Company issued an aggregate of 21.4 million shares of the Company’s common stock in exchange for all the outstanding shares of capital
stock of the Move.com Group and assumed approximately 3.2 million outstanding stock options of the Move.com Group. Cendant is restricted in its ability to
sell the Homestore shares it received in the acquisition and has agreed to vote such shares on all corporate matters in proportion to the voting decisions of all
other stockholders. In addition, Cendant has agreed to a ten−year standstill agreement that, under most conditions, prohibits Cendant from acquiring additional
Homestore shares. The acquisition of the Move.com Group has been accounted for as a purchase. The acquisition cost has been allocated to assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on estimates of their respective fair values. The excess of purchase consideration over net tangible assets acquired of $770.4 million has
been allocated to goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets and is being amortized on a straight−line basis over estimated lives of the assets ranging from
two to fifteen years. The Company’s impairment charge as described in Note 5 reduced the Company’s net goodwill and intangible assets to $2.7 million and
$76.3 million, respectively, at December 31, 2001. In connection with the Company’s acquisition of the Move.com Group, Cendant has alleged that the
Company may have breached certain representations and warranties made in the acquisition agreement as a result of the restatement of the Company’s 2000
financial statements (see Note 21).
In connection with and contingent upon the closing of the acquisition of the Move.com Group, the Company entered into a series of commercial agreements
for the sale of various technology and subscription−based products to Real Estate Technology Trust (“RETT”), an independent trust established in 1996 to
provide technology services and products to Cendant’s real estate franchisees that is considered a related party of the Company. Under the commercial
agreements, RETT committed to purchase $75.0 million in products and services to be delivered to agents, brokers and other Cendant real estate franchisees over
the next three
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years. Subsequent to the closing of the acquisition of the Move.com Group, the Company entered into additional commercial agreements with Cendant and
RETT. The total contractual value of all commercial agreements entered into during 2001 is approximately $95.5 million, resulting in $82.5 million in future
revenue. Revenue of $31.2 million and $38.3 million related to these transactions was recognized in 2002 and 2001, respectively. This revenue was reported
separately as revenue from related parties in these financial statements. There was no revenue from Cendant or RETT in 2000. It is not practical to separately
determine the costs of such revenues. During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had received approximately $12.0 million and
$83.3 million of cash, respectively, and had recorded at December 31, 2002 and 2001, deferred revenue of approximately $13.5 million and $37.0 million,
respectively, related to these agreements. This deferred revenue will be recognized over the next two years.
The business purpose of these commercial agreements was to extend the Company’s product and service offerings to a significant concentration of real
estate professionals and to establish access to an effective and efficient distribution channel for current and future product and service offerings. The pricing
under these commercial arrangements was negotiated at arm’s−length and on a discrete basis for each of the various products and services. Products and services
to be provided under these arrangements include personalized multi−page websites for real estate agents, subscription−based products and services targeted at
individual real estate brokerage offices, virtual tour technology software, customized realtor productivity software, as well as other products and services such as
marketing and training. Sales of the subscription−based products are for specified periods of time ranging between one and two years.
During 2002, the Company amended certain of these agreements and recorded other income of approximately $10.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2002. This other income resulted from amendments which relieved the Company of certain future delivery obligations under those agreements.
As part of an employment agreement, the Company purchased a house in the fourth quarter of 2002 from an executive officer for $1.95 million to facilitate
his move to the Company’s headquarters. The house is included in other assets at December 31, 2002, net of its expected selling costs, at $1.8 million. The
Company is currently marketing the house for sale.
During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company received promissory notes from employees of the Company totaling $13.0 million for the exercise
of stock options and related expenses. These notes were full recourse, collateralized by the common stock of the Company and bear a weighted average interest
rate of 5.13% per annum. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company received payments, including accrued interest, of approximately $3.5 million, $2.9 million
and $2.5 million, respectively, in connection with these notes. Additionally, the Company reacquired 373,959 and 471,007 shares, respectively, of unvested
common stock at their original issuance price during 2001 and 2000, in exchange for the cancellation of the related promissory notes in the amount of
approximately $1.5 million and $2.9 million, respectively. The outstanding balance of employee notes, including accrued interest, amounted to $106,000 at
December 31, 2002.
During 2002, the Company also re−negotiated the earn−out agreement with the former owners of Top Producer that was tied to the original purchase
agreement. Several of the former owners are also employed by the Company (see Note 6). This revised the contingent obligation of $14.8 million and fixed it at
$10.2 million. In connection with this renegotiation, the Company recorded additional goodwill of $9.3 million. The Company paid $3.1 million of this earn−out
during 2002 and $7.1 million is accrued as a liability in the December 31, 2002 balance sheet.
During 2002, the Company reached an agreement with the former owner and current employee of WyldFyre to repurchase 127,262 shares of the Company’s
common stock issued as part of the acquisition for approximately $3.9 million resulting in $169,000 in treasury stock and $3.7 million as a reduction to accrued
expenses. This agreement was entered into because the Company was unable to register the shares as required
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by the original purchase agreement. The $3.8 million was accrued during the year ended December 31, 2001 and is included in general and administrative
expenses.
As part of an employment agreement entered into in 2002, the Company reimburses its chief executive officer for the business use of an airplane which is
owned indirectly by him. Total expense incurred by the Company for reimbursement in 2002 was $1.3 million.
13. Segment Information
Segment information is presented in accordance with SFAS No. 131. This standard is based on a management approach, which requires segmentation based
upon the Company’s internal organization and disclosure of revenue and operating expenses based upon internal accounting methods. As of the beginning of
fiscal year 2002, the Company hired a new management team and changed the way that it manages and evaluates its businesses. As a result of this change,
management now evaluates performance and allocates resources based on four segments, consisting of Media Services, Software and Services, Online
Advertising and Offline Advertising, and excludes discontinued operations and has reclassified previously reported segment data to conform to the current period
presentation. This is consistent with the data that is made available to the Company’s management to assess performance and make decisions.
The expenses presented below for each of the business segments include an allocation of certain corporate expenses that are identifiable and benefit those
segments and are allocated for internal management reporting purposes. The unallocated expenses are those corporate overhead expenses that are not directly
attributable to a segment and include: corporate expenses, such as finance, legal, internal business systems, and human resources; amortization of intangible
assets; stock−based charges; and acquisition and restructuring charges. There is no inter−segment revenue. Assets and liabilities are not fully allocated to
segments for internal reporting purposes.
The current segments of Media Services and Software and Services are equivalent to the previously reported Subscription segment. The Online Advertising
segment is consistent with the previously reported Advertising segment. The Offline Advertising segment was included in the previously reported Other segment,
which included the ConsumerInfo division which. was acquired in August 2001 as part of the acquisition of iPlace, disposed of in April 2002 and has been
classified as a discontinued operation. Due to the sale of the ConsumerInfo division and its classification as a discontinued operation, the Company has excluded
the financial results of the ConsumerInfo division in the segment data presented for 2002 and 2001.
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Summarized information, by segment, as excerpted from the internal management reports is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2002

Revenue:
Media Services
Software and Services
Online Advertising
Offline Advertising

$ 141,485
46,804
19,021
57,303

2001

$

2000

151,920
52,560
41,234
58,068

$ 88,219
24,105
68,998
—

Total revenue

264,613

303,782

181,322

Cost of revenue and operating expenses:
Media Services
Software and Services
Online Advertising
Offline Advertising
Unallocated

117,086
53,506
20,556
57,110
189,354

206,737
54,667
55,766
50,887
1,372,337

124,446
21,638
22,346
—
174,994

Total cost of revenue and operating expenses

437,612

1,740,394

343,424

Loss from operations

$ (172,999)

$ (1,436,612)

$ (162,102)

Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 included $31.2 million and $38.3 million, respectively, of revenue from related parties. The
related party revenue for 2002 and 2001 consisted of $21.0 million and $24.3 million in Media Services and $10.2 million and $14.0 million in Software and
Services, respectively. There was no related party revenue during 2000.
The Company has one customer, a related party, within its Media Services and Software and Services segments representing approximately 15% and 22%,
respectively, of those segment’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002. The same customer accounted for 16% and 27%, respectively, of those
segments’ revenue for the year ended December 31, 2001. There were no customers representing more than 10% of revenue of any segment in 2000.
The Company has another customer within its Online Advertising segment for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 representing approximately
16% and 24%, respectively, of that segment’s revenue.
14. Stock Plans

Option Plans
In general, options granted by the Company are vested over a four year period and are granted at fair market value at the date of grant. The life of an option
grant cannot exceed ten years. In January 1999, the Board of Directors adopted, and in March 1999 the Company’s stockholders approved, the 1999 Equity
Incentive Plan (“1999 Plan”) to replace a pre−existing stock option plan (“1996 Plan”). The 1999 Plan provides for the issuance of both non−statutory and
incentive stock options to employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company. The initial number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance
under the 1999 Plan was 10,000,000. In April 1999 and June 1999, the Board of Directors authorized, and the stockholders approved, an increase in the number
of shares reserved for issuance under the 1999 Plan by an additional 3,000,000 shares and 625,000 shares, respectively.
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In June 1999, the Board of Directors adopted, and the stockholders approved, the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (“SIP”). The SIP reserves 4,900,000 shares of
common stock for future grants. The SIP contains a provision for an automatic increase in the number of shares available for grant starting January 1, 2000 and
each January thereafter by an amount equal to 4.5% of the outstanding shares as of the preceding December 31; provided, however, that it does not exceed
20.0 million shares. In accordance with the provisions of the SIP, the number of options available for grant was increased by 5,330,104 shares, 5,287,807 shares,
and 3,724,252 shares in January 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
In connection with the acquisitions of the Move.com Group, SpringStreet, HomeWrite, Hessel and iPlace, the Company assumed options of 3.2 million,
719,000, 196,000, 135,000, and 1.1 million, respectively.
On January 15, 2002, the Board of Directors adopted the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (“2002 SIP”). The 2002 SIP reserves 15,000,000 shares of common
stock for future grants of nonqualified stock options to employees, consultants, contractors and advisors as to be determined by the Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors.
The following table summarizes the activities under the option plans (including the Move.com Group, SpringStreet, HomeWrite and Hessel options) for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (shares in thousands):

Number
of Shares

Price Per Share

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding at December 31, 1999
Hessel options assumed
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled

10,269
135
7,483
(1,708)
(1,954)

$ 0.06 to $69.63
36.00 to 47.13
16.63 to 89.25
0.30 to 34.50
0.36 to 89.25

$ 12.60
39.77
34.98
4.44
25.16

Outstanding at December 31, 2000
Move.com Group options assumed
iPlace options assumed
HomeWrite options assumed
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled

14,225
3,212
1,124
196
7,011
(4,130)
(6,980)

0.06 to 89.25
12.72 to 25.23
0.02 to 14.16
29.88 to 29.88
16.57 to 34.96
0.02 to 34.50
0.30 to 89.25

23.79
20.85
10.86
29.88
25.18
12.39
28.11

Outstanding at December 31, 2001
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled

14,658
29,558
(406)
(19,495)

0.02 to 89.25
0.00 to 2.70
0.00 to 2.00
0.06 to 89.25

24.16
1.72
0.48
16.42

Outstanding at December 31, 2002

24,315

$ 0.03 to $89.25

$ 3.32

Options granted during the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1998 and options granted by the Company during the year ended December 31, 1999
resulted in total compensation of $1.0 million, $9.5 million and $13.4 million, respectively, and were recorded as deferred stock compensation in stockholders’
equity. This deferred compensation represented the difference between the deemed fair value of the Company’s common stock for accounting purposes and the
exercise price of these options at the date of grant. The deferred stock compensation is included in cost of revenue, sales and marketing, product development and
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations over the related vesting period
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of the options. Common stock available for future grants as of December 31, 2002 was 14.7 million shares (see Note 22).
Additional information with respect to the outstanding options at December 31, 2002 is as follows (shares in thousands):

Prices

Number
of Shares

Options
Outstanding
Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Average
Exercise Price

Options Exercisable
Number
of Shares

Average
Exercise Price

$0.30
0.36 to 0.39
0.58 to 1.44
1.48 to 1.76
2.00 to 2.25
2.54 to 3.57
8.00 to 29.88
31.00 to 47.13
48.00 to 68.38
69.63 to 89.25

1,099
2,406
1,467
13,127
3,857
436
1,562
265
22
74

9.75
9.76
9.02
8.98
8.91
7.29
7.18
6.05
7.57
3.27

$ 0.30
0.39
1.30
1.76
2.24
2.61
18.15
35.40
53.91
77.68

54
538
93
4,905
1,038
221
965
159
12
52

$ 0.30
0.39
1.26
1.76
2.24
2.62
17.04
34.80
53.94
77.70

$0.30 to $89.25

24,315

8.89

$ 3.32

8,037

$ 4.82

The weighted−average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $1.46, $18.87 and $25.47, respectively.
The total number of shares exercisable was 8.0 million, 5.8 million and 4.6 million at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The weighted average
exercise price at those dates was $4.82, $21.46 and $10.36, respectively.
During 2000, the Company accelerated the vesting for five employees and remeasured the value of these options under the intrinsic value model as required
by FASB Interpretation No. 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions involving Stock Compensation.” In connection with the separation from employment of
two employees in the third and fourth quarters of 2001, the Company recorded charges of approximately $1.4 million and $2.1 million, respectively, representing
the proportional value of the vested options that would not have vested under the original term of the award at the termination date. Additionally, in 2001, the
Company accelerated the vesting of 246,797 options related to various terminations of other employees. The difference in the exercise price of such options and
the fair market value of the underlying common stock at the date of modification resulted in non−cash charges amounting to approximately $2.1 million. During
2001, $2.1 million and $3.5 million have been included in sales and marketing expense and general and administrative expense, respectively, in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations related to these modifications. In 2002, as a result of previously established employment agreements, the Company accelerated the
vesting of 467,187 options and extended the exercise period related to the departure of former executive officers and recorded a non−cash charge amounting to
$4.9 million.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In July 1999, the Company adopted, and the stockholders approved, the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). Under the terms of the ESPP, the
initial aggregate number of shares of stock that may be issued is 750,000, cumulatively increased on January 1, 2000 and each January 1 thereafter until and
including January 1, 2009 by an amount equal to one−half of one percent (.5%) of the outstanding shares of stock as of the preceding December 31; provided,
however, that the aggregate shares reserved under the plan shall not
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exceed 5,000,000 shares. In January 2003, 2002 and 2001, the amount available under the plan was increased by 592,234, 587,534, and 413,806 shares,
respectively. Employees can choose to have up to 15% of their annual base earnings withheld, but not to exceed $15,000, to purchase the Company’s common
stock. The purchase price of the common stock is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value as of the beginning or ending of the offering period in February and
August, as defined in the plan. The first offering period started on August 1, 1999. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company issued 282,691, 296,173 and
230,590 shares, respectively, of common stock under the ESPP at a weighted issuance price of $0.77, $16.18 and $17.54 per share, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company issued 36,000 shares of restricted stock to certain members of the Company’s Board of Directors.
These shares vest over one year. The charge associated with the issuance of these shares was $90,000 and is being recognized over the one−year vesting period.
15.

Warrants

In connection with entering into a web portal distribution agreement in April 1998, the Company issued warrants to purchase 792,752 shares of the
Company’s common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $7.00 per share. The Company incurred a total charge of $12.6 million which was amortized
to sales and marketing expense over the term of the distribution agreement, approximately two years. In August 1999, warrants to purchase 107,527 shares of
common stock were exercised at an exercise price of $18.60 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2000, warrants to purchase 665,064 shares of the
Company’s common stock were exercised at a weighted average exercise price of $4.46 per share.
In February 1999, the Company closed a private equity offering to real estate brokers under the Company’s Broker Gold program. The Company also issued
warrants to purchase up to 364,110 shares of its common stock with an exercise price of $20.00 per share. All warrants issued are fully−vested, non−forfeitable
and are immediately exercisable. The Company incurred a non−cash charge of approximately $4.1 million which was recognized as expense over the term of the
initial two−year Broker Gold program agreements. Through the year ended December 31, 2001, warrants to purchase 197,149 shares of the Company’s common
stock were exercised.
In August 1999, in connection with a marketing agreement, the Company issued warrants to purchase 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an
exercise price of $20.00 per share. The Company incurred a non−cash charge of $3.5 million which was recognized over the two−year term of the marketing
agreement. All warrants issued were fully−vested, non−forfeitable and were immediately exercisable upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering.
These warrants were exercised in July 2000.
In October 1999, in connection with a marketing agreement, the Company issued warrants to purchase 119,048 shares of the Company’s common stock at an
exercise price of $42.00 per share. The Company incurred a non−cash charge of $1.1 million which was recognized over the two−year term of the marketing
agreement. All warrants issued were fully−vested, non−forfeitable and were immediately exercisable. These warrants expired in April 2000.
Throughout 1999, the Company issued warrants to purchase 910,844 shares of common stock at a weighted average price of $21.18 per share to MLSs that
agreed to provide their real estate listings to the Company for publication on its website. All warrants issued were fully−vested, non−forfeitable and were
immediately exercisable. The Company incurred a total non−cash charge of approximately $11.2 million which is being recognized as expense over the term of
the applicable MLS agreements, ranging from one to two years. Through the year ended December 31, 2002, warrants to purchase 368,859 shares of the
Company’s common stock were exercised at a weighted average exercise price of $20.00 per share.
In February 2000, the Company issued warrants to purchase 470,089 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $66.50 per share to the
Broker Gold program members who elected to renew their
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existing listing agreements with the Company for an additional two years at the end of their existing two−year term. All warrants issued were fully vested,
non−forfeitable and were immediately exercisable. The non−cash charge for the warrants totaled approximately $21.9 million which is being recognized as
expense over three years. During the year ended December 31, 2001, warrants to purchase 33,780 shares of common stock were exercised. None were exercised
in 2002.
In March 2000, in connection with a marketing agreement, the Company issued warrants to purchase 400,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an
exercise price of $35.63 per share. All warrants issued were fully vested, non−forfeitable and were immediately exercisable. The Company incurred a non−cash
charge of $5.0 million which was recognized over the one−year term of the marketing agreement. The warrants expired without being exercised during 2001.
Throughout 2000, the Company issued warrants to purchase 30,739 shares of the Company’s common stock at a weighted average price of $85.45 per share
to MLSs that agreed to provide their real estate listings to the Company for publication on its websites. All warrants issued were fully vested, non−forfeitable and
were immediately exercisable. The Company incurred a total non−cash charge of approximately $1.8 million which is being recognized as expense over the term
of the applicable MLS agreement, ranging from two to three years. In October 2001, the Company reduced the exercise price of the warrants to $27.95, and
recognized an additional $3.0 million charge which is being recognized over the remaining term of the agreements.
During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 240,000 shares at $2.07 as part of a consulting agreement. The
warrant was immediately vested and the charge associated with this warrant was not material to the Company’s operations.
The Company recognized $9.4 million, $18.9 million and $27.3 million in stock−based charges for the years ending December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, in connection with the issuance of all warrants. At December 31, 2002, warrants to purchase 741,522 shares of common stock were outstanding
with a weighted−average exercise price of $29.06.
16.

Capitalization

At December 31, 2002, the Company had authorized the issuance of one share of Series A preferred stock. At December 31, 2002, one share of Series A
preferred stock was issued and outstanding and held by NAR. The holder of Series A preferred stock has the following rights:
Voting — Except as provided in this paragraph, the Series A preferred stockholder is not entitled to notice of any stockholders’ meetings and shall not be
entitled to vote on any matters with respect to any question upon which holders of common stock or preferred stock have the right to vote, except as may be
required by law (and, in any such case, the Series A preferred shall have one vote per share and shall vote together with the common stock as a single class). The
holder of Series A preferred is entitled to elect one director of the Company. If there is any vacancy in the office of a director elected by the holder of the
Series A preferred, then a director to hold office for the unexpired term of such directorship may be elected by the vote or written consent of the holder of the
Series A preferred stock. The provisions dealing with preferred stockholders rights included in the Certificate of Incorporation may not be amended without the
approval of the holder of the Series A preferred stock.
Dividends — In each calendar year, the holder of the Series A preferred is entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board, non−cumulative
dividends in an amount equal to $0.08 per share (as appropriately adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations and the like), prior and in preference
to the payment of any dividend on the common stock in such calendar year. If, after dividends in the full preferential amounts specified in this section for the
Series A preferred have been paid or declared and set apart in any calendar year of the Company, the holder of Series A preferred shall have no further rights to
receive any further dividends that the Board may declare or pay in that calendar year.
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Liquidation — In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the Series A preferred is entitled
to receive, prior and in preference to any payment or distribution on any shares of common stock, an amount per share equal to $1.00 per share of Series A
preferred. After payment of such amount, any further amounts available for distribution shall be distributed among the holders of common stock and the holders
of preferred stock other than Series A preferred, if any, entitled to receive such distributions.
Redemption — Upon the earlier to occur of (i) termination of that certain operating agreement dated November 26, 1996, as the same may be amended from
time to time (the “operating agreement”), or (ii) NAR ceases to own at least 149,778 shares of common stock of the Company, or (iii) the existence and
continuance of a material breach by NAR of that certain Joint Ownership Agreement, dated as of November 26, 1996, between NAR, and subsidiaries of the
Company, or the Trademark License dated as of November 26, 1996, by and between NAR and the Company, at any time thereafter the Company may, at the
option of the Board, redeem the Series A preferred. The redemption price for each share of Series A preferred shall be $1.00 per share.
Conversion — Each share of Series A preferred stock shall automatically be converted into one share of common stock upon any sale, transfer, pledge, or
other disposition of the share of Series A preferred to any person or entity other than the initial holder of such share of Series A preferred, or any successor by
operation of law that functions as a non−profit trade association for REALTORS® under Section 501(c)(6) of Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, that
owns the REALTOR® trademark, or any wholly−owned affiliate of such holder as long as the holder continues to own such affiliate.
Repurchase of Common Stock
During 2001 and 2000, the Company repurchased 373,959 and 471,007 shares of common stock for approximately $1.5 million and $2.9 million,
respectively, in exchange for the cancellation of notes payable to the Company of equal value.
During 2002, the Company reached an agreement with the former owner and current employee of WyldFyre to repurchase 127,262 shares of the Company’s
common stock issued as part of the acquisition for approximately $3.9 million resulting in $169,000 in treasury stock and $3.7 million as a reduction to accrued
liabilities. This agreement was entered into because the Company was unable to register the shares as required by the original agreement. The $3.8 million was
accrued during the year ended December 31, 2001 and is included in general and administrative expenses.
Issuance of Common Stock
In March 2000 and May 2000, in connection with acquisitions of WyldFyre Technologies, Inc. and Top Producer, the Company issued 1,062,964 shares of
the Company’s common stock (see Note 6).
In March 2000, in connection with a ten−year marketing agreement, the Company issued 1,085,271 shares of the Company’s common stock with an
estimated fair value of $70.0 million to Budget Group, Inc. (“Budget”). In this agreement, the Company provided a guarantee that the price of the shares issued to
Budget would be $64.50 per share during a certain future period. This agreement was amended in October 2001 and the Company issued approximately 4.8
million additional shares of Company stock in exchange for the cancellation and full settlement of the $64.50 stock price guarantee. In addition, the amendment
extended the term by one year. Sales and marketing expense was being amortized over the additional year of the agreement and certain amounts capitalized in
connection with this agreement were impaired in the fourth quarter of 2001. The Company terminated this agreement in the fourth quarter of 2002.
In April 2000, in connection with a distribution agreement, the Company issued 3,894,343 shares of the Company’s common stock to AOL and entered into
a five−year distribution agreement. In exchange for
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entering into this agreement, the Company paid AOL $20.0 million in cash and issued to AOL approximately 3.9 million shares of its common stock. In the
agreement, the Company guaranteed that the 30−day average closing price, related to approximately 64%, 18% and 18% of the shares it issued, would be $65.64
per share on July 31, 2003 and $68.50 per share on July 31, 2004 and July 31, 2005, respectively. This guarantee only applied to shares that continue to be held
by AOL at the end of each respective guarantee period. At December 31, 2002, the Company had recorded a total of $219.5 million of distribution obligation.
This distribution obligation represented the guaranteed fair market value of the approximately 3.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock issued upon
entering the agreement. The difference between the total guaranteed amount and the liability recorded was being recorded as other expense over the term of the
agreement. In connection with the guarantee, the Company established a $90.0 million letter of credit and was required to pledge an amount equal to the
outstanding portion of the letter of credit. At December 31, 2002, the cash pledged was classified as restricted cash on the balance sheet. This letter of credit
could have been drawn against by AOL in the event the Company’s 30−day average closing price is less than $65.64 on July 31, 2003. The aggregate amount of
cash payments the Company would have been required to make in performing under this agreement was limited to $90.0 million. Any additional obligation to
AOL could have been paid in cash or Company common stock at the Company’s discretion. If the amount the Company was required to pay AOL at July 31,
2003 exceeded $90.0 million, the distribution agreement with AOL would expire.
In October 2001, the Company filed a demand for arbitration with AOL relating to the distribution agreement. The Company’s complaint claimed that AOL
has breached the distribution agreement by failing to meet its contractual obligations to build 18 specific promotions for the Company and to deliver guaranteed
Homestore impressions to AOL users. The Company also claimed that AOL breached the duty of good faith and fair dealing in the contract by disregarding its
contractual commitments. The Company also claimed that AOL’s conduct violated the contractual guarantees of exclusivity, premier partnership and prominent
partnership for Homestore. In the arbitration, the Company sought a declaration that AOL breached the distribution agreement; that it may terminate or rescind
the contract and receive damages and other appropriate relief; that it may terminate the contract without AOL having any right to the $90.0 million letter of credit
issued in favor of AOL in connection with the distribution agreement; and that the Company would have no further obligations under the distribution agreement.
An arbitration hearing was held in mid−July 2002 and the Company submitted its Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law to the Tribunal on
September 20, 2002.
In January 2003, the Company entered into a new marketing agreement with AOL that terminated its obligation under the old agreement and settled the
arbitration (see Note 22.)
In January 2001, the Company issued 600,000 shares of its common stock in connection with a five−year marketing and distribution agreement, the fair
value of which was $11.1 million on the date of issuance. Concurrently, the Company also entered into a marketing and web services agreement with this same
party for $15.0 million in cash which is payable to the Company over the five−year term of the agreement. The Company is recording these transactions over the
five−year term of the agreements on a net revenue basis. Accordingly, variable charges associated with the fair value of the common stock are recognized over
the term of the agreement and included as an offset to revenue recognized related to the cash payments. In October 2001, the Company made certain amendments
to the marketing and web services agreement, including the removal of performance requirements related to the vesting of the 600,000 shares of common stock.
As a result, the charges associated with the common stock became fixed in connection with the amendment. The net unamortized deferred balance for this equity
consideration of $6.0 million has been recorded in prepaid distribution expense at December 31, 2001 and will continue to be amortized as a reduction of revenue
over the remaining term of the agreement. Net revenue recognized in connection with these agreements was $(124,000) and $1.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company issued 117,262 shares of its common stock in connection with the purchase agreement for
Homestyles for certain performance objectives and recognized $141,000 in compensation expense during 2002.
The Company recognized $45.7 million, $48.5 million and $21.9 million in stock−based charges in connection with the issuance of common stock for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
17.

Net Loss per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share applicable to common stockholders for the periods indicated (in
thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,

Numerator:
Loss from continuing operations
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net loss

2002

2001

2000

$ (176,061)
11,790
846

$ (1,470,403)
—
4,814

$ (146,053)
—
—

$ (163,425)

$ (1,465,589)

$ (146,053)

Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding

117,900

107,433

79,758

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Loss from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations

$
$

(1.49)
.11

$
$

(13.69)
.04

$
$

(1.83)
—

Net loss

$

(1.39)

$

(13.64)

$

(1.83)

The per share computations exclude preferred stock, options and warrants which are anti−dilutive. The number of such shares excluded from the basic and
diluted net loss per share computation were 25,056,743, 15,908,308, and 16,107,866 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
18.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
During the year ended December 31, 2002:
• The Company paid $372,000 in interest.
• The Company also amended an agreement relating to earn−out payments of $14.8 million that were part of the original Top Producer purchase agreement.
The amendment revised the contingent obligation of $14.8 million and fixed it at $10.2 million. In connection with the amendment, the Company recorded
additional goodwill of $9.3 million.
• The Company was required to accelerate 467,187 options for terminated former executives and incurred a $4.9 million expense in 2002.
• The Company issued 36,000 shares of restricted stock to certain members of the Company’s Board of Directors. These shares vest over one year. The
charge associated with the issuance of these shares was $90,000 and is being recognized over the one−year vesting period.
• The Company issued a warrant to purchase 240,000 shares at $2.07 as part of a consulting agreement. The warrant was immediately vested and the charge
associated with this warrant was not material to the Company’s operations.
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During the year ended December 31, 2001:
• The Company paid $589,000 in interest.
• The Company acquired certain iPIX assets and licenses for $7.1 million in cash and a note in the amount of $2.3 million and assumed net liabilities of
$2.4 million in connection with this purchase.
• The Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities from CFT for $4.5 million in cash and 162,850 shares of stock valued at $5.0 million
in connection with this purchase.
• The Company issued 21.4 million shares of common stock valued at $745.7 million and assumed 3.2 million options as part of the Move.com Group
acquisition.
• The Company issued 3.5 million common shares valued at $80.3 million and assumed 1.1 million options with an estimated incremental fair value of
$16.3 million from the acquisition of iPlace.
• The Company issued 196,549 common shares valued at $5.6 million and assumed 196,200 options valued at $4.5 million from the acquisition of
HomeWrite.
• The Company issued 4,804,560 shares of common stock in connection with a marketing agreement.
• The Company issued 600,000 shares of common stock valued at $11.1 million in connection with a marketing and distribution agreement.
• The Company issued 470,089 warrants at $66.50 and incurred expense of $21.9 million over the two−year marketing agreement.
• The Company issued 400,000 warrants at $35.63 for a marketing agreement and incurred expense of $5.0 million over one year.
• The Company issued warrants to purchase 30,739 shares at $84.45 and incurred expense of $1.8 million over 3 years. The exercise price was later
modified and an additional $3.0 million in expense is being recognized over the remaining term.
• The Company repurchased 373,959 shares of common stock for approximately $1.5 million in exchange for the cancellation of promissory notes to the
company of equal value.
• The Company accelerated 387,785 options for terminated employees and incurred a $5.6 million expense in 2001.
During the year ended December 31, 2000:
• The Company paid $1.4 million in interest.
• The Company acquired Top Producer for $12.1 million in cash and 473,538 shares of common stock with an estimated fair value of $12.1 million and
assumed net liabilities of $522,000 in connection with this purchase.
• The Company issued 589,426 shares of common stock valued at $34.3 million as part of the WyldFyre acquisition.
• The Company paid cash of $15.0 million and assumed an option plan consisting of 135,421 options with an estimated fair value of $4.5 million and
assumed net assets of $747,220 as part of Hessel.
• The Company issued 1,085,271 shares of common stock in connection with a marketing agreement.
• The Company issued 3,894,343 shares of common stock in connection with a distribution agreement.
• The Company repurchased 471,007 shares of common stock for approximately $2.9 million in exchange for the cancellation of promissory notes to the
Company of equal value.
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• The Company received $10.4 million in equity securities from private companies in exchange for advertising services.
19.

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a savings plan (“Savings Plan”) that qualifies as a defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under the
Savings Plan, participating employees may defer a percentage (not to exceed 15%) of their eligible pretax earnings up to the Internal Revenue Service’s annual
contribution limit. All full−time employees on the payroll of the Company are eligible to participate in the Plan. The Company is not required to contribute to the
Savings Plan and has made no contributions since the inception of the Savings Plan.
20.

Income Taxes

As a result of net operating losses, the Company has not recorded a provision for income taxes. The components of the deferred tax assets and related
valuation allowance at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows (in thousands):

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards
Deferred expenses
Impairment charges
Other

December 31,
2002

December 31,
2001

$ 209,652
96,827
3,697
53,491

$ 173,142
111,703
41,384
18,388

363,667
(348,793)

344,617
(323,619)

14,874

20,998

Deferred tax liabilities:
Amortization of acquired intangible assets

(14,874)

(20,998)

Total gross deferred tax liabilities

(14,874)

(20,998)

Less: valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

Net deferred tax asset (liability)

$

—

$

—

Based on management’s assessment, the Company has placed a valuation allowance against its otherwise recognizable deferred tax assets due to the
likelihood that the Company may not generate sufficient taxable income during the carryforward period to utilize the net operating loss carryforwards. The
valuation allowance for net deferred taxes was increased by $25.2 million primarily as a result of a change in estimate of acquired tax attributes related to the
Move.com Group acquisition offset by a net change in temporary differences.
To the extent that the valuation allowance recorded in connection with the acquisition of tax carryforwards is subsequently released, it will be credited
directly to goodwill.
At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had net operating losses for federal income tax purposes of approximately $569.4 million and $438.2 million,
respectively, which begin to expire in 2007. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had net operating losses for state income tax purposes of
approximately $313.9 million and $223.8 million, respectively, which began to expire in 2002. Certain of the net operating loss carryforwards for both federal
and state tax purposes may be subject to an annual limitation under relevant tax laws. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the net operating loss carryforwards
includes approximately $69.7 million and $69.6 million, respectively, related to the exercise of employee stock options and warrants, respectively. Any benefit
resulting from the utilization of this portion of the net operating loss carryforwards will be credited directly to equity.
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21.

Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

The Company leases certain facilities and equipment under non−cancelable operating leases with various expiration dates through 2008. The leases generally
contain renewal options and payments that may be adjusted for increases in operating expenses and increases in the Consumer Price Index. Future minimum
lease payments under these operating leases as of December 31, 2002 are net of actual sublease arrangements and exclusive of estimated sublease income used in
the restructuring provision (Note 4) are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007 and thereafter

$ 12,788
10,447
10,144
9,887
5,921

Total

$ 49,187

Of the amounts above, $17.2 million has already been accrued in restructuring accruals and is reflected in accrued expenses and other non−current liabilities
at December 31, 2002. Rental expense for the Company for operating leases was $10.6 million, $18.9 million and $7.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Commitments for the years ending in 2007 and beyond will be calculated based on amounts paid in the prior year adjusted for the Annual Consumer Price
Index for the period ending in the prior calendar year.
The contractual provisions of one of the Company’s facility lease commitments required that the Company collateralize the obligation with an outstanding
letter of credit, resulting in $7.9 million classified as restricted cash at December 31, 2001. The Landlord called $7.5 million upon the Letter of Credit during
2002 and as of December 31, 2002 this amount is included as other long term assets on the balance sheet.
Other Commitments
Additionally, under the Company’s operating agreement with NAR, the Company has an exclusive arrangement to operate REALTOR.com® as well as a
license to use the REALTOR.com® domain name and trademark and the REALTORS® trademark in exchange for minimum annual royalty payments. The
Company also has an operating agreement with the International Consortium of Real Estate Associations under which the Company agreed to operate the
consortium’s web site and has been endorsed as the exclusive provider of certain products and services to real estate agents in the countries in which members of
the consortium have operations. The following presents the Company’s future minimum commitments under those agreements (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2003
2004
2005
2006
2007

$ 2,000
2,200
2,400
1,500
1,500

Total

$ 9,600
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During 2002, the Company purchased software and entered into consulting agreements with service providers in connection with the implementation of the
Company’s new enterprise reporting system. The initial commitment as of December 31, 2002 associated with the project was $4.5 million.
AOL
As part of the Company’s new AOL agreement the Company has the following financial commitments:

Year Ending December 31,

2002
2003

Operating
Agreement

$ 112,500
7,500

Total

$ 120,000

Legal proceedings
Shareholder Litigation
Beginning in December 2001, numerous separate complaints purporting to be class actions were filed in various jurisdictions alleging that the Company and
certain of its current and former officers and directors violated certain provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The complaints contain varying
allegations, including that the Company made materially false and misleading statements with respect to the Company’s 2000 and 2001 financial results included
in its filings with the SEC, analysts reports, press releases and media reports. The complaints seek an unspecified amount of damages. In March 2002, the
California State Teachers’ Retirement System was named lead plaintiff (the “Plaintiff”), and the complaints have been consolidated in the United States District
Court, Central District of California. In July 2002, the Plaintiff filed a consolidated amended class action complaint naming the Company, certain of the
Company’s former officers, directors and employees, along with MaxWorldwide, Inc. (formerly L90, Inc.) and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. In November
2002, the Plaintiff filed a first amended consolidated class action complaint naming the Company, certain of its current officers and employees, certain of our
former officers, directors and employees, and various other parties, including among others MaxWorldwide, Inc., PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, AOL and
Cendant. The amended complaint makes various allegations, including that the Company violated federal securities laws and seeks an unspecified amount of
damages.
On March 7, 2003, the court dismissed, with prejudice, the Plaintiff’s claims against a number of corporate and individual defendants whom the Plaintiff
alleged either assisted in the planning and execution of the purportedly fraudulent transactions at issue, or who were parties to those transactions. Those
defendants included MaxWorldwide, Inc., AOL and Cendant, among others. The court also dismissed, without prejudice, the Plaintiff’s claims against a number
of the Company’s current and former officers and employees. With regard to those claims dismissed without prejudice, the Plaintiff has the opportunity to file
another amended complaint attempting to cure the defects in the original claims against those defendants. At the same time, the court denied the motions to
dismiss of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and the Company’s former chief executive officer. The Company did not file a motion to dismiss the Plaintiff’s claims
against it, but answered the complaint. Accordingly, the March 7, 2003 decision did not make any ruling with respect to the claims asserted against the Company.
It is possible that the Company may be required to pay substantial damages or a substantial settlement amount in connection with the litigation although, as
is the case with any litigation, it is difficult to predict the outcome of this matter. However, in light of the fact that the Company determined that it was necessary
to restate its 2000 and 2001 financial results, due to the circumstances forming the basis of the Plaintiff’s allegations, and the fact that four of the Company’s
former employees have pled guilty to violating federal
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securities laws in connection with the financial results which required restatement, this litigation poses a significant risk of a material adverse effect on the
conduct and scope of the Company’s business, its results of operations and its financial position. Because the Company is unable to estimate the amount of
damages that it might incur as a result of the outcome of this litigation, no liability or reserve has been recorded related to it.
In September 2002, Matt L. Brody filed a class action complaint in Superior Court for the State of California, Los Angeles County against the Company,
certain of its former officers and directors, and certain underwriters, purporting to state claims under Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Exchange Act, alleging
that the Company’s January 26, 2000 registration statement contained materially false and misleading statements. In October 2002, defendants removed the
action to the United District Court, Central District of California. As the case is in a very early stage, the Company is unable to express an opinion at this time as
to its merits.
In November 2002, Stuart Siegel and certain other former owners and directors of iPlace filed a complaint against the Company in the United States District
Court, Eastern District of Pennsylvania alleging fraudulent inducement and promissory fraud due to misrepresentations by Homestore of its financial condition
prior to the Company’s acquisition of iPlace, securities fraud pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b−5 thereunder and Section 20(a) of the
Exchange Act, common law fraud, negligent misrepresentation, breach of contract, and unjust enrichment in connection with the Company’s acquisition of
iPlace in August 2001. On March 19, 2003, the court granted the Company’s motion to transfer this case to the United States District Court, Central District of
California. The Company believes this case is without merit and intends to defend this claim vigorously.
In November 2002, plaintiff Gregory C. Pyfrom filed a complaint in Superior Court for the State of California, Ventura County against the Company and
certain of its former officers and directors, alleging violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b−5 thereunder, as well as intentional fraud,
negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, violations of California Corporation Code §§
25400(d) and 25500, violation of Business and Professions Code § 17200, and negligent and intentional infliction of emotional distress. As the case is in a very
early stage, the Company is unable to express an opinion at this time as to its merits.
In December 2002, Jeff Paradise and certain other former shareholders of iPlace filed a complaint in the United Sates District Court, Central District of
California against the Company, alleging violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b−5 thereunder, as well as common law fraud and
negligent misrepresentation in connection with the Company’s acquisition of iPlace in August 2001. As the case is in a very early stage, the Company is unable
to express an opinion at this time as to its merits.
SEC Investigation
In January 2002, the Company was notified that the SEC had issued a formal order of private investigation in connection with matters relating to the
restatement of the Company’s financial results that occurred in March 2002. The SEC has requested that the Company provide them with certain documents
concerning the restatement of the Company’s financial results. The SEC has also requested access to certain of the Company’s current and former employees for
interviews. The Company has cooperated and continues to cooperate fully with the SEC’s investigation.
In September 2002 and March 2003, certain former employees of Homestore entered into plea agreements with the United States Attorney’s Office and the
SEC in connection with the investigation. Also in September 2002, the SEC and the Department of Justice informed the Company that they would not bring any
enforcement action against Homestore because of the actions taken by its Board of Directors and its Audit Committee and its cooperation in the SEC’s
investigation. Because the investigation is on−going and the Company is committed to cooperating with the SEC, the Company will likely continue to incur
additional
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costs related to the investigation and management time and attention may be diverted until the investigation concludes.
Derivative Litigation
In January 2002, Robert Sparaco filed a complaint in California Superior Court, Los Angeles County, derivatively on the Company’s behalf as nominal
defendant, against certain of the Company’s current and former officers and directors. Two additional shareholder derivative actions were filed against
substantially the same defendants on the Company’s behalf as nominal defendants. The three derivative actions allege breaches of fiduciary duty, negligence,
abuse of control, misconduct, waste of corporate assets and other violations of state law. In March 2002, the court entered an order consolidating the three
actions. In November 2002, the plaintiffs filed a first−amended consolidated shareholder derivative complaint. The parties have lodged with the court a
stipulation agreeing to defer all proceedings and continue all responsive dates until further action by the parties. As the case is in a very early stage, the Company
is unable to express an opinion at this time as to its merits.
In January 2002, Jeff Joerg filed a complaint in Delaware Chancery Court, derivatively on behalf of the Company as nominal defendant, against certain of
the Company’s current and former officers and directors. The complaint alleges that defendants breached their fiduciary duties by failing to maintain adequate
accounting controls and by employing improper accounting practices and procedures. As the case is in a very early stage, the Company is unable to express an
opinion at this time as to its merits.
Insurance Coverage Litigation
Between September 2002 and November 2002, Genesis Insurance Company, Federal Insurance Company, Clarendon National Insurance Company, Royal
Indemnity Company and TIG Insurance Company of Michigan sent the Company notices of rescission of the officers and directors liability policies issued to
Homestore for the period of August 2000 through August 2001. The same carriers filed complaints to judicially confirm the rescissions or for declaratory relief in
the United States District Court, Central District of California against Homestore and certain current and former officers, directors and employees. The
complaints allege misrepresentations contained in the original applications for insurance, the renewal applications and warranty letters. The Company requested
that the court stay the Federal Insurance Company and Genesis Insurance Company actions but those requests were denied in March 2003. The Company is in
the process of responding to the complaints. Federal Insurance Company’s motion for summary judgment is scheduled to be heard in May 2003.
In February 2003, TIG Insurance Company dismissed its federal court rescission action and filed a new rescission action against the Company and certain of
its current and former officers and directors in California State Superior Court. Responses are due in April 2003.
In October 2002, Lumbermen’s Mutual Casualty Company rescinded and filed a similar complaint against Homestore and certain current and former
officers, directors and employees to confirm the rescission in the Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles. The Company has filed an answer and
discovery is beginning. Trial has been set for January 2004.
The Company intends to defend these actions vigorously; however, the Company is unable to form a judgment as to the ultimate outcomes.
Other Litigation
In connection with the Company’s acquisition of the Move.com Group, Cendant has alleged that the Company may have breached certain representations
and warranties made in the acquisition agreement as a result of the restatement of the Company’s 2000 financial statements. In connection with the acquisition,
the
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Company entered into a series of related agreements with Cendant that provided the Company with certain promotion and exclusive data rights and placed
certain restrictions on Cendant’s ability to dispose of the Company’s shares. Cendant has proposed amendments to certain of the related agreements in
consideration of settling any potential claims related to the Company’s acquisition of the Move.com Group. The Company has been engaged with Cendant in
discussions relating to Cendant’s allegations, and the Company and Cendant have considered certain amendments to the agreements that would materially alter
the Company’s rights and Cendant’s restrictions and obligations in order to settle these potential claims. The Company cannot assure that these discussions will
yield a satisfactory resolution.
In June 2000, Anil K. Agarwal filed a petition for declaratory judgment against the Company in the District Court of Douglas County, Nebraska. The lawsuit
arises from a transaction between Dr. Agarwal and Michael K. Luther, in relation to which Mr. Luther directed InfoTouch Corporation (“InfoTouch”), the
Company’s predecessor, to transfer certain shares of InfoTouch Series B Preferred Stock to Dr. Agarwal. Dr. Agarwal seeks a declaratory judgment that he
should have been issued shares of Series B Preferred stock of InfoTouch sufficient to entitle him to receive 76,949 shares of common stock (on a pre−split basis),
and that there is a shortfall of 46,950 shares, pre−split (or 104,375 shares of common stock, post−split) due and owing to him. As the case is in the early stages of
discovery, the Company is unable to express an opinion at this time as to its merits.
In November 2000, Amica Mutual Insurance Co. (“Amica”) filed a demand for arbitration against GETKO Group, Inc. (“GETKO”), one of the Company’s
subsidiaries, alleging breach of a Marketing Services Agreement effective January 2000. Amica is seeking compensatory and consequential damages and lost
profits due to GETKO’s alleged failure to comply with the Agreement. Arbitration of this matter began in February 2003 and should be completed in April 2003.
Although the Company intends to defend the claims vigorously and believes that the allegations are without merit, the Company is unable to express an opinion
as to the probable outcome of the arbitration.
In December 2001, Pentawave Inc. filed a suit for fraud, breach of contract and defamation in Ventura County Superior Court seeking $5.0 million in
compensatory and punitive damages. Although the Company believes that this case is without merit and intends to defend this claim vigorously, the Company is
unable to express an opinion as to the probable outcome of the litigation. No trial date is currently scheduled, however the Company believes that it will be set
for late spring 2003.
In June 2002, Tren Technologies (“Tren”) served a complaint on Homestore, NAR and NAHB in the United States District Court, Eastern District of
Pennsylvania. The Complaint alleges a claim for patent infringement based on activities related to the websites REALTOR.com® and Homebuilder.com.
Specifically, Tren alleges that it owns a patent on an application, method and system for tracking demographic customer information, including tracking
information related to real estate and real estate demographics information, and that the Company has developed an infringing technology for the NAR’s
REALTOR.com® and the NAHB’s Homebuilder.com websites. The complaint seeks unspecified damages and a permanent injunction against the Company
using the technology. In January 2003, counsel for Tren withdrew their representation. On February 3, 2003, the court ordered that the case would be dismissed
twenty days later unless prior to that date an attorney entered an appearance on behalf of Tren along with a sworn statement that it was counsel’s intention to
prosecute the action through trial. No qualifying appearance was entered on or before February 23, 2003, and the case was dismissed without prejudice.
However, no assurance can be made that they will not assert the claim again in the future.
Contingencies
From time to time, the Company is party to various other litigation and administrative proceedings relating to claims arising from its operations in the
ordinary course of business. As of the date of this Form 10−K and except as set forth herein, the Company is not a party to any litigation or administrative
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proceedings that management believes will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. In
connection with various purchase agreements and acquisitions, the Company enters into contractual guarantees. In addition, in the normal course of business the
Company may periodically enter into agreements that incorporate indemnification provisions. While the maximum amount to which the Company may be
exposed under such agreements cannot be estimated, it is the opinion of management that these guarantees and indemnifications are not expected to have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations or financial position.
22.

Subsequent Events
Stock Plans

In January 2003, in accordance with plan provisions, the number of shares reserved for issuance under the SIP and the ESPP were increased by an additional
5,330,104 and 592,234, shares, respectively.
AOL Settlement
In January 2003, the Company entered into a new marketing agreement with AOL that settled the arbitration and terminated the obligation under the old
agreement. As part of the new marketing agreement, which continues through June 2004, the Company has the exclusive right to provide AOL with real estate
listings, and AOL members also will retain access to a wide array of the Company’s professional content. AOL will offer increased promotion and more
prominent integration of the Company’s content in a redesigned real estate area on the AOL service. The parties will continue to share advertising revenue in
certain home−related categories. The Company will pay AOL $7.5 million in cash to terminate the previous agreement and also will allow AOL to fully draw
down on an existing $90.0 million letter of credit secured by restricted cash on the Company’s balance sheet at December 31, 2002. Termination of the previous
agreement also eliminates the Company’s responsibility to provide AOL with an additional “make−whole” payment in July 2003 which would have been
approximately $57.0 million, payable in cash or stock. Transfer restrictions relating to the approximately 3.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock
issued to AOL under the previous agreement also have been removed. Over the term of the agreement, the Company will make quarterly cash payments of
$3.75 million, in six equal installments beginning January 2003 and ending April 2004.
Hessel
In January 2003, the Company entered into four separate agreements to sell substantially all of the assets of Hessel for a total of approximately $1.5 million
in cash. The operations of Hessel were not material and thus have not been reclassified as discontinued operations.
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23.

Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
Provided below is the selected unaudited quarterly financial data for 2001 and 2002:

Three months Ended
Mar. 31,
2001

June 30,
2001

Sept. 30,
2001

$ 63,818
36,013

$ 77,700
44,349

$ 80,790
50,290

Dec. 31,
2001

Mar. 31,
2002

June 30,
2002

Sept. 30,
2002

Dec. 31,
2002

$ 65,894
44,548

$ 63,779
45,956

$ 60,824
43,889

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue
Gross profit
Loss from continuing
operations(1)
Income (loss) from
discontinued operations
Net loss
Basic and diluted income
(loss) per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net loss

(1)

$

81,474
59,640

$ 74,116
51,916

(99,810)

(120,868)

(137,756)

(1,111,969)

(35,655)

(62,436)

(40,351)

(37,619)

—
$ (99,810)

—
$ (120,868)

(569)
$ (138,325)

5,383
$ (1,106,586)

846
$ (34,809)

10,179
$ (52,257)

582
$ (39,769)

1,029
$ (36,590)

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

$
$
$

(1.05)
—
(1.05)

(1.12)
—
(1.12)

(1.25)
(0.01)
(1.25)

(9.56)
0.05
(9.51)

(0.30)
0.01
(0.29)

The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 in 2002 and ceased amortizing goodwill as required by that standard.
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(0.53)
0.09
(0.44)

(0.34)
—
(0.34)

(0.32)
0.01
(0.31)
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Item 9.

Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

PART III
Pursuant to Paragraph G(3) of the General Instructions to Form 10−K, the information required by Part III of Form 10−K, to the extent not set forth herein,
is incorporated by reference to our proxy statement relating to our annual meeting of stockholders to be held on May 29, 2003.

Item 10.

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information concerning our directors and executive officers appears in our proxy statement under the caption “Election of Directors” is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 11.

Executive Compensation

Information concerning executive compensation appears in our proxy statement, under the caption “Executive Compensation” and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Information concerning the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management appears in our proxy statement under the caption “Election of
Directors” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information concerning certain relationships and related transactions appears in our proxy statement under the captions “Election of Directors” under the
headings “Director Compensation,” “Executive Compensation,” and “Related Party Transactions” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14.

Controls and Procedures

Within the 90−day period prior to the date of this report, an evaluation was carried out, under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures
pursuant to Rule 13a−15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms.
There have been no significant changes in our internal controls or other factors that could significantly affect those controls since the date of our last
evaluation of its internal controls, and there have been no corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in those controls.
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PART IV

Item 15.

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8−K

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data: See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements at Item 8 on page 58 of this report.
(2) Financial Statement Schedule, Exhibit Number 99.01.
(b) Reports on Form 8−K
(1) Current report of Form 8−K filed October 9, 2002 reporting the resignation of Barbara T. Alexander from our Board of Directors.
(2) Current report of Form 8−K filed December 23, 2002 reporting the appointment of Bruce G. Willison to our Board of Directors.
(c) Exhibits
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Number

2.01
2.02
2.03
2.04
2.05
2.06
2.07
3.01
3.02
3.03.1
3.03.2
3.04
4.01
4.02.1
4.02.2
4.03

Exhibit Title

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated December 31, 1998 between NetSelect, Inc. and InfoTouch Corporation. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.01 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated June 20, 1998 among NetSelect, Inc., National New Homes Co., Inc., MultiSearch
Solutions, Inc., Fred White, and R. Fred White III. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.02 to our registration statement on
Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Exchange Agreement dated March 31, 1998 among NetSelect, Inc., The Enterprise of America, Ltd., and Roger Scommegna.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.03 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Agreement and Plan of Reorganization/ Merger dated May 19, 1999 between NetSelect, Inc. and SpringStreet.com, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.04 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 12, 1999 among Homestore.com, Inc., The Homebuyer’s Fair, Inc., certain shareholders of
The Homebuyer’s Fair, Inc., and Central Newspapers, Inc., as Shareholder Agent. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.01 to our
current report on Form 8−K/ A filed December 7, 1999.)
Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 12, 1999 among Homestore.com, Inc., FAS−Hotline, Inc., the shareholders of
FAS−Hotline, Inc., and Central Newspapers, Inc., as Shareholder Agent. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.02 to our current
report on Form 8−K/ A filed December 7, 1999.)
Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated October 26, 2000 among Homestore.com, Inc., Metal Acquisition Corp., WW
Acquisition Corp., Move.com, Inc., Welcome Wagon International, Inc., Cendant Membership Services Holdings, Inc. and Cendant
Corporation. (Incorporated by reference herein to the Annex A to the definitive proxy statement filed November 29, 2000.)
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated February 2, 1998. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.01 to our
registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Amended and Restated Bylaws dated February 4, 1999. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.03 to our registration statement on
Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
RealSelect, Inc.’s Certificate of Incorporation dated October 25, 1996. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.05.1 to our
registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
RealSelect, Inc.’s Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation dated November 25, 1996. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.05.2 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
RealSelect, Inc.’s Amended By−laws dated December 1999. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.07 of our Form 10−K for the
year ended December 31, 1999.)
Form of Specimen Certificate for Homestore.com, Inc. common stock. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.01 to our registration
statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
NetSelect, Inc. Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement dated January 28, 1999. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.02.1 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Amendment No. 1 to NetSelect, Inc. Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement dated April 9, 1999. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.02.2 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Registration Rights Agreement dated October 26, 2000 between Homestore.com, Inc., Cendant Corporation and the Shelf
Stockholders signatory thereto.(2)
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Number

10.01.1
10.01.2
10.01.3
10.02
10.03
10.04
10.05
10.06
10.07
10.08
10.09
10.10
10.11.1
10.11.2

Exhibit Title

Operating Agreement dated November 26, 1996, between REALTORS® Information Network, Inc. and RealSelect, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02.1 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
First Amendment to Operating Agreement dated December 27, 1996 between REALTORS®Information Network, Inc. and
RealSelect, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02.2 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Amendment No. 2 to Operating Agreement dated May 28, 1999 between REALTORS® Information Network, Inc. and RealSelect,
Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02.3 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Master Agreement dated November 26, 1996, among NetSelect, Inc., NetSelect, L.L.C., RealSelect, Inc., CDW Internet, L.L.C.,
Whitney Equity Partners, L.P., Allen & Co., InfoTouch Corporation, and REALTORS® Information Network, Inc. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.03 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Joint Ownership Agreement dated November 26, 1996, among National Association of REALTORS®, NetSelect, L.L.C., and
NetSelect, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.04 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Trademark License dated November 26, 1996, between National Association of REALTORS® and RealSelect, Inc. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.05 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Agreement dated August 21, 1998 among RealSelect, REALTORS® Information Network, Inc., National Association of
REALTORS®, NetSelect and NetSelect L.L.C. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to our registration statement on
Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Agreement dated May 28, 1999 among NetSelect, Inc., RealSelect, Inc., REALTORS®Information Network, Inc. and National
Association of REALTORS®. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to our registration statement on Form S−1
(File No. 333−79689).)
Letter Agreement Regarding Rental Site Acquisition dated May 17, 1999 among National Association of REALTORS®,
REALTORS® Information Network, Inc. and RealSelect, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to our registration
statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)(1)
Stock and Interest Purchase Agreement (NetSelect Series A and B Preferred) dated November 26, 1996, among NetSelect, Inc.,
NetSelect L.L.C., and InfoTouch Corporation. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.06 to our registration statement on
Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 16, 2002 between Experian Holdings, Inc. and Homestore.com, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Form 8−K filed March 19, 2002.)
Distribution Agreement dated January 9, 2003 between America Online, Inc. and Homestore, Inc.(2),(3)
Office Lease dated September 18, 1998 between RealSelect, Inc. and WHLNF Real Estate Limited Partnership for 225 West
Hillcrest, Suite 100, Thousand Oaks, California. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24.1 to our registration statement on
Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
First Amendment to Office Lease dated March 31, 1999 between RealSelect, Inc. and WHLNF Real Estate Limited Partnership for
225 West Hillcrest, Suite 100, Thousand Oaks, California. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24.2 to our registration
statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
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Number

10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30

Exhibit Title

Standard Office Lease Form, Westlake North Business Park dated March 7, 2000 between Westlake North Associates, LLC, and
Homestore, Inc. for 30700 Russell Ranch Road, Westlake Village, California. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to our
Form 10−K for the year ended December 31, 2001.)
NetSelect, Inc. 1996 Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to our registration statement on Form S−1
(File No. 333−79689).)
NetSelect, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to our registration statement on Form S−1
(File No. 333−79689).)
Homestore.com, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to our registration statement on
Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Homestore.com, Inc. 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to our registration statement
on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Homestore.com, Inc. 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.04 to our registration statement on
Form S−8 (File No. 333−89172).)
InfoTouch Corporation 1994 Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to our registration statement on
Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Move.com, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.04 to our Registration Statement on Form S−8
(File No. 333−55828).) Cendant Corporation Move.com Group 1999 Stock Option Plan as assumed by Cendant Corporation from
Move.com, Inc. and amended and restated effective as of March 21, 2000. (Incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 4.05 to our
Registration Statement on Form S−8 (File No. 333−55828).)
1997 Stock Initiative Plan of Cendant Corporation as amended and restated through October 14, 1998. (Incorporated by reference
herein to Exhibit 4.06 to our Registration Statement on Form S−8 (File No. 333−55828).)
Amendment to Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Incentive Plan of Cendant Corporation dated March 27, 2000. (Incorporated by
reference herein to Exhibit 4.07 to our Registration Statement on Form S−8 (File No. 333−55828).)
Amendment to Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Incentive Plan of Cendant Corporation dated March 28, 2000. (Incorporated by
reference herein to Exhibit 4.08 to our Registration Statement on Form S−8 (File No. 333−55828).)
Homestore 401(k) Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File
No. 333−79689).)
Form of Indemnity Agreement between Homestore.com, Inc. and each of its directors and executive officers. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.01 to our registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Employment Agreement dated March 6, 2002 between Homestore.com, Inc. and W. Michael Long. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 6.01(A) to our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002.)
Employment Agreement dated March 6, 2002 between Homestore.com, Inc. and Jack D. Dennison. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 6.03(A) to our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002.)
Memorandum dated March 29, 2002 to Jack Dennison. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6.07(A) to our Form 10−Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2002.)
Employment Agreement dated March 6, 2002 between Homestore.com, Inc. and Lewis R. Belote III. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 6.02(A) to our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002.)
Executive Retention and Severance Agreement dated April 24, 2002 between Homestore.com, Inc. and Allan Merrill. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 6.06(A) to our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002.)
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Number

10.31
10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35
10.36
10.37
10.38
10.39
21.01
23.01
23.02
99.01
99.02

Exhibit Title

Executive Retention and Severance Agreement dated April 24, 2002 between Homestore.com, Inc. and Patrick R. Whelan.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6.10(A) to our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002.)
Memorandum dated March 29, 2002 to Patrick R. Whelan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6.11(A) to our Form 10−Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2002.)
Executive Retention and Severance Agreement dated September 30, 2002 between Homestore.com, Inc. and Allan Dalton.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.)
Offer Letter dated September 30, 2002 between Homestore.com, Inc. and Allan Dalton. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.)
Annual Bonus Plan, 2002 of Allan Dalton. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2002.)
Executive Retention and Severance Agreement dated September 30, 2002 between Homestore.com, Inc. and Michael Douglas.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.)
Offer Letter dated September 30, 2002 between Homestore.com, Inc. and Michael Douglas. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.)
Annual Bonus Plan, 2002 of Michael Douglas. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 10−Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2002.)
Employment Agreement between NetSelect, Inc. and Stuart H. Wolff, Ph.D. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to our
registration statement on Form S−1 (File No. 333−79689).)
Subsidiaries of Homestore, Inc.(2)
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Accountants.(2)
Report of Independent Accountants on Financial Statement Schedule.(2)
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.(2)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002 (Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. §1350(a) and (b)).(2)

(1)

Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to certain information in these exhibits pursuant to a confidential treatment request.

(2)

Filed herewith.

(3)

Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to certain information in this exhibit pursuant to a confidential treatment request.

Item 16.
Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Information concerning principal accountant fees and services appears in our proxy statement, under the caption “Report of the Audit Committee” and is
incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Homestore, Inc. has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
HOMESTORE, INC.
By:

/s/ W. MICHAEL LONG

W. Michael Long
Chief Executive Officer
By:

/s/ LEWIS R. BELOTE, III

Lewis R. Belote, III
Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 25, 2003
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

Title

Date

/s/ W. MICHAEL LONG

Chief Executive Officer and Director

March 25, 2003

Chief Financial Officer

March 25, 2003

Chairman of the Board and Director

March 25, 2003

Director

March 25, 2003

Director

March 25, 2003

Director

March 25, 2003

Director

March 25, 2003

Director

March 25, 2003

Principal Executive Officer:

W. Michael Long
Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer:
/s/ LEWIS R. BELOTE, III
Lewis R. Belote, III
Additional Directors:
/s/ JOE F. HANAUER
Joe F. Hanauer
/s/ TERRENCE M. MCDERMOTT
Terrence M. McDermott
/s/ L. JOHN DOERR
L. John Doerr
/s/ WILLIAM E. KELVIE
William E. Kelvie
/s/ KENNETH K. KLEIN
Kenneth K. Klein
/s/ BRUCE G. WILLISON
Bruce G. Willison
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I, W. Michael Long, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10−K of Homestore, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
annual report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a−14 and 15d−14) for the registrant and have:
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
b. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this
annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and,
c. presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of
the Evaluation Date;
5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and,
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
controls; and,
6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in
other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with
regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
/s/ W. MICHAEL LONG
W. Michael Long
Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 25, 2003
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I, Lewis R. Belote, III certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10−K of Homestore, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
annual report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a−14 and 15d−14) for the registrant and have:
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
b. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this
annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and,
c. presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of
the Evaluation Date;
5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and,
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
controls; and,
6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in
other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with
regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
/s/ LEWIS R. BELOTE, III
Lewis R. Belote, III
Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 25, 2003
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EXHIBIT 4.03
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made as of October 26, 2000, and effective as of
the Effective Time as defined in the Reorganization Agreement, by and between Homestore.com, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (the "Company"), Cendant Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("Stockholder") and the
Shelf Stockholders (as hereinafter defined) who are signatories to this Agreement.
WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms and conditions of that certain Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated as
of October 25, 2000 (the "Reorganization Agreement"), the Company will issue shares of its common stock to
Stockholder; and
WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Company has agreed to grant certain
registration rights to Stockholder and certain other holders of the tracking stock of Stockholder or options
to purchase the tracking stock of Stockholder with respect to such shares.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises, mutual covenants and conditions herein contained, and of
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the
parties hereby agree as follows:
1.
Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms
shall have the following respective meanings:
"1933 Act"

means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"1934 Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
"Affiliate" shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Rule 12b−2 of
the General Rules and Regulations under the 1934 Act.
"Closing" shall have the meaning set forth in the Reorganization
Agreement.
"Eligible Time" means the third anniversary of the Closing.

"Existing Registration Rights Agreements" means any written agreement dated as of a date prior to the date
of the Reorganization Agreement obligating the Company to register shares of any of the Company's securities
for its stockholders, including, without limitation, the Second Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement,
dated January 28, 1999, by and among the Company and certain of its stockholders, as amended by Amendment
No. 1 thereto dated April 9, 1999.
"Existing Stockholders" shall have the meaning ascribed to the term "Stockholders" in the Existing
Registration Rights Agreements, and any other stockholder or holder of any security convertible into or
exchangeable for any of the Company's securities.
"Person" means a corporation, an association, a partnership, a limited liability company, an organization, a
business, an individual, a joint venture, a trust or a governmental or political subdivision thereof.

"Register," "registered," and "registration" refers to a registration effected by preparing and filing a
registration statement or similar document in compliance with the 1933 Act, and the declaration or ordering
of effectiveness of such registration statement or document.
"Registrable Securities" shall mean the Shelf Shares and the
Stockholder Shares.
"Registration Statement" means any registration statement described in
Sections 2.1 or 2.2 of this Agreement.
"Rule 144" means Rule 144 promulgated under the 1933 Act, or any successor
rule thereto.
"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Shelf Shares" means the shares of common stock of the Company issued or issuable to the Shelf Stockholders
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Reorganization Agreement, and any securities of the
Company issued as a dividend on or other distribution with respect to, or in exchange for or replacement of,
such common stock.
"Shelf Stockholders" shall mean the Persons listed on Exhibit A.
"Stockholder" shall have the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto.
"Stockholder Demand" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1
below.

"Stockholder Shares" means the shares of common stock of the Company issued or issuable to the Stockholder
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Reorganization Agreement, and any securities of the
Company issued as a dividend on or other distribution with respect to, or in exchange for or replacement of,
such common stock.
2.

Registration Rights.
2.1

Demand Registration.

(a) If at any time after the Eligible Time the Stockholder requests in writing (the "Stockholder Demand")
that the Company file a registration statement on Form S−3 (or any successor form to Form S−3) for a public
offering of Stockholder Shares, the Company shall, subject to Section 4.1, file such Registration Statement
with the SEC within sixty (60) days after its receipt of such request. The Company shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause such Registration Statement to be declared effective as soon thereafter as
practicable and keep such registration statement effective until the Stockholder notifies the Company in
writing that the Company is no longer required to keep such Registration Statement effective. In no event,
however, shall the Company be required to (i) effect more than three (3) registrations pursuant to this
section, (ii) keep any registration statement filed pursuant to this section effective for more than an
aggregate of one hundred twenty (120) days, (iii) to register more than 10% of the Stockholder Shares in any
single registration or (iv) effect more than one registration pursuant to this section in any 12−month
period following the Eligible Time. The "Incidental Registration" rights of the Existing Stockholders, to
the extent provided for in Section 4.2 of the Existing Registration Rights Agreement, shall be applicable to
a registration effected pursuant to this Section 2.1.
(b)
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall not be
obligated to take any action pursuant to subparagraph (a):

(i) if the Company, within ten (10) days of the receipt of the Stockholder Demand, gives notice of its bona
fide intention to effect the filing of a registration statement to register on behalf of the Company any of
its common stock under the 1933 Act in connection with a public offering of such common stock solely for
cash with the SEC within sixty (60) days of receipt of such demand (other than a registration relating
primarily to the sale of securities to participants in a Company stock plan or employee benefit plan, a
transaction covered by Rule 145 under the 1933 Act or the resale of securities issued in such transaction, a
registration in which the only stock being registered is common stock issuable upon conversion or exchange
of debt securities which are also being registered or any registration on any form which does not include
substantially the same information as would be required to be included in a registration statement covering
the sale of the Stockholder Shares, any of which may hereafter be referred to as an "Excepted Registration
Statement"): provided, however, that if such registration statement is not filed by the Company within sixty
(60) days of receipt of such Stockholder Demand and declared effective by the Commission within ninety (90)
days after the Company's receipt of such Stockholder Demand, the Company shall be obligated to cause such
Stockholder Shares to be registered in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.1 provided that the
Company is actively employing in good faith all reasonable efforts to cause such registration statement to
become effective; or
(ii) during the period starting with the Company's date of filing of, and ending on the date ninety (90)
days immediately following, the effective date of any registration statement pertaining to securities of the
Company (the "90−Day Postponement Period"), which registration was subject to Section 2.2 hereof; provided
that if the Company, within the 90−Day Postponement Period, files any other registration statement (other
than an Excepted Registration Statement), the Company will not be exempted from its obligations pursuant to
this Section 2.1; provided further that the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the
registration statement relating to the Stockholder Demand to be filed and become effective within thirty
(30) days after the 90−Day Postponement Period.
(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company agrees to cause such Stockholder Shares to be registered in
accordance with the provisions of Section 2.1(a) within one hundred twenty (120) days of the occurrence of
the postponement of a registration pursuant to Sections 2.1(b)(i) or 2.1(b)(ii); provided further that the
Company may not postpone a demand registration more than once in any twelve (12) month period.
2.2

Incidental Registration.

(a) Notwithstanding Section 2.1(a) of this Agreement and Section 1.2(c) of the Stockholder Agreement between
stockholder and the Company dated as of even date herewith, if at any time after the first anniversary of
the Closing, the Company proposes to register (for its own account, on behalf of its stockholders, or a
combination of the foregoing) any of its common stock under the 1933 Act in connection with a public
offering of such common stock solely for cash (other than pursuant to an Excepted Registration Statement)
the Company shall, at such time, give the Stockholder notice of such registration. Upon the written request
of the Stockholder, given within ten (10) days after notice has been given by the Company in accordance with
Section 9.1, the Company shall, subject to Section 4, cause to be registered under the 1933 Act all of the
Stockholder Shares that the Stockholder has requested to be registered. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if,
at any time after giving written notice of its intention to register any securities and prior to the
effective time of the registration statement filed in connection with such registration, the Company shall
determine for any reason not to register or to delay registration of such securities, the Company may, at
its election, give written notice of such determination to Stockholder and (i) in the case of determination
not to register, shall be relieved of its obligation to

register any Stockholder Shares in connection with such registration (but not from any obligation of the
Company to pay any Registration Expenses (as defined in Section 7 below)), without prejudice, however, to
the rights of Stockholder to request that such registration be effected pursuant to Section 2.1 above and
(ii) in the case of a determination to delay registering, shall be relieved of its obligation to register
any Stockholder Shares for the same period as the delay in registering such other securities. No
registration effected under this Section 2.2 shall relieve the Company of its obligation to effect any
registration upon request under Section 2.1.
2.3 Shelf Registration. Subject to Section 4 below, no later than the earlier of (i) ninety (90) days after
the Closing or (ii) May 31, 2001, the Company shall file a registration statement on Form S−3 (or any
successor form to Form S−3) for a public offering of the Shelf Shares. The Company shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to cause such Registration Statement to be declared effective as soon thereafter as
practicable and keep such registration statement effective, subject to Section 4 below, for a period of one
year. The "Incidental Registration" rights of the Existing Stockholders, to the extent provided for in the
Existing Registration Rights Agreements, shall be applicable to a registration effected pursuant to this
Section 2.3; provided that the Shelf Stockholders shall not be cut back.
2.4

Underwriting Requirements.

(a) In connection with any underwritten public offering pursuant to Section 2.2 hereof, the Company shall
not be required to include any of the Stockholder Shares in such underwriting unless the Stockholder accepts
the terms of the underwriting as agreed upon between the Company and the underwriters for the offering
(which underwriters shall be selected by the Company).
(b) If the total amount of securities, including Stockholder Shares, requested to be included in an
underwritten public offering pursuant to Section 2.2 hereof exceeds the amount of securities that the
underwriters determine in their sole discretion is compatible with the success of the offering, then the
Company shall be required to include in the offering only that number of such securities, including
Stockholder Shares, which the underwriters determine in their sole discretion will not jeopardize the
success of the offering. In such event, the Company may reduce the number of Stockholder Shares to be
included in the offering prior to reducing or excluding the shares proposed to be offered by the Company and
the holders of registration rights under the Existing Registration Rights Agreement.
3.

Further Obligations of the Company After Registration.

3.1 Blue Sky Compliance. The Company shall, in connection with a Registration Statement covering Registrable
Securities, use its commercially reasonable efforts to register and qualify the Registrable Securities
covered by the Registration Statement under such other securities or "blue sky" laws of such jurisdictions
as shall be reasonably requested by the stockholder or the Shelf Stockholders, as the case may be, provided
that the Company shall not be required in connection therewith or as a condition thereto to qualify to do
business or to file a general consent to service of process in any such states or jurisdictions unless the
Company is already subject to service in such jurisdiction and except as may be required by the 1933 Act.
3.2 Furnishing of Prospectus. With respect to a Registration Statement filed pursuant to Sections 2.1, 2.2
or 2.3, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to furnish to the Stockholder or the Shelf
Stockholders, as applicable, copies of any preliminary prospectus and, as expeditiously as reasonably
possible after the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, furnish to the Stockholder or the Shelf
Stockholders, as applicable, such numbers of copies of a final prospectus in

conformity with the requirements of the 1933 Act, and such other documents as the Stockholder or a Shelf
Stockholder, as the case may be, may reasonably request, in order to facilitate the resale or other
disposition of Registrable Securities owned by such Stockholder or Shelf Stockholder, as the case may be.
3.3 Amendments. With respect to a Registration Statement filed pursuant to Section 2.1, 2.2 or 2.3 of this
Agreement, and, subject to Section 4.1 of this Agreement, the Company shall prepare and file with the SEC
such amendments to the Registration Statement and amendments or supplements to the prospectus contained
therein as may be necessary to keep such Registration Statement effective and such Registration Statement
and prospectus accurate and complete for the entire period for which the Registration Statement remains
effective.
3.4

Notices. The Company shall:

(a) Notify the Stockholder or the Shelf Stockholders, as applicable, promptly after it shall receive notice
thereof, of the date and time when any Registration Statement and each post−effective amendment thereto has
become effective covering Registrable Securities held by such stockholder;
(b) Notify the Stockholder or the Shelf Stockholders, as applicable, promptly of any request by the SEC for
the amending or supplementing of any Registration Statement or prospectus or for additional information
covering Registrable Securities held by such stockholder;
(c) Notify the Stockholder or the Shelf Stockholders, as applicable, at any time when a prospectus relating
to Registrable Securities is required to be delivered under the 1933 Act, of any event which would cause any
such prospectus or any other prospectus as then in effect to include an untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements
therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and, subject to Section
4.1, promptly prepare and file with the SEC, and promptly notify the Stockholder or the Shelf Stockholders,
as the case may be, of the filing of, such amendments or supplements to any Registration Statement or
prospectus as may be necessary to correct any such statements or omissions;
(d) Notify Stockholder or the Shelf Stockholders, as applicable, promptly after it shall receive notice of
the issuance of any stop order by the SEC suspending the effectiveness of any Registration Statement
covering Registrable Securities or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for that purpose and,
subject to Section 4.1, promptly use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any stop
order or to obtain its withdrawal if such stop order should be issued.
4. Conditions and Limitations on Registration Rights. The registration rights granted by this Agreement are
subject to the following additional conditions and limitations:
4.1 Delays and Suspension. The Company may delay the filing of, or suspend or delay the effectiveness of a
Registration Statement for a reasonable period of time (but not exceeding 180 days), if the Company
determines, in its reasonable judgment, that such registration or offering would interfere with any
financing, acquisition, corporate reorganization or other material transaction involving the Company or any
of its Affiliates or would require premature disclosure thereof and promptly give Stockholder or the Shelf
Stockholders, as applicable, written notice of such delay, provided, however, that the Company may postpone
a filing in such manner only once in each twelve (12) month period; provided that if the Company files any
other registration statement during this postponement period (other than an Excepted Registration
Statement), the Company's obligations shall no longer be permitted its rights to

delay and suspension under this Section 4.1. In such event, the Company's obligation under this Agreement to
file a registration statement, seek effectiveness of a registration statement or keep such registration
statement effective shall be deferred. If the Company shall postpone the filing of a registration statement
pursuant to request for registration pursuant to Section 2.1 hereof. Stockholder shall have the right to
withdraw the request for registration by giving written notice to the Company within thirty (30) days after
receipt of the notice of postponement and, in the event of such withdrawal, such request shall not be
counted for purposes of the requests for registration to which such selling Stockholder is entitled pursuant
to Section 2.1 hereof. If the Company suspends the effectiveness of a Registration Statement, the Company
will promptly deliver notice to the Stockholder or the Shelf Stockholders, as applicable, of such suspension
and will again deliver notice to the Stockholder when such suspension is no longer necessary and the
duration for which the Company is required to keep a Registration Statement effective shall be extended by
an additional number of days equal to the length of any suspension period.
4.2 Amended or Supplemented Prospectus. The Stockholder and the Shelf Stockholders agree that, as a
condition to the receipt of the registration rights contained herein, upon receipt of any notice from the
Company described in Section 4.1 hereof that suspends an effective registration statement, such stockholder
shall forthwith discontinue disposition of Registrable Shares until such stockholder's receipt of copies of
a supplemented or amended prospectus from the Company, or until it is advised in writing by the Company that
the use of the prospectus may be resumed, and has received copies of any additional or supplemental filings
which are incorporated by reference in the prospectus. If so directed by the Company, such stockholder will
deliver to the Company all copies of the prospectus covering such Registrable Shares current at the time of
receipt of such notice of suspension.
5.

Indemnification.

5.1 Indemnification by the Company. The Company will, and hereby does, indemnify and hold harmless.
Stockholder and each of the Shelf Stockholders, as the case may be, and their respective directors,
officers, partners, agents and Affiliates and each other Person who participates as an underwriter in the
offering or sale of the Stockholder Shares or the Shelf Shares, as the case may be, and each other Person,
if any, who controls Stockholder or a Shelf Stockholder, as the case may be, or any such underwriter within
the meaning of the 1933 Act, insofar as losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions or proceedings,
whether commenced or threatened, in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon any untrue statement or
alleged untrue statement of any material fact contained in any registration statement under which
Stockholder Shares held by Stockholder or Shelf Shares held by the Shelf Stockholders, as the case may be,
were registered under the 1933 Act, any preliminary prospectus, final prospectus or summary prospectus
contained therein, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or any omission or alleged omission to state
therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein in light
of the circumstances in which they were made not misleading, and the Company will reimburse Stockholder or
the Shelf Stockholders, as the case may be, and each such director, officer, partner, agent or Affiliate,
underwriter and controlling Person for any legal or any other expenses reasonably incurred by them in
connection with investigating or defending any such loss, claim, liability, action or proceeding; provided,
that the Company shall not be liable in any such case to the extent that any such loss, claim, damage,
liability (or action or proceeding in respect thereof) or expense arises out of or is based upon an untrue
statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made in such registration statement,
any such preliminary prospectus, final prospectus, summary prospectus, amendment or supplement in reliance
upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company through an instrument executed by
or on behalf of Stockholder or a Shelf Stockholder (as the case may be) or such underwriter, as the case may
be, specifically stating that it is for use in the preparation thereof; and provided, further, that the
Company shall not be liable to any Person who participates as an underwriter in the offering or sale of
Stockholder Shares or any other Person, if

any, who controls such underwriter within the meaning of the 1933 Act, in any such case to the extent that
any such loss, claim, damage, liability (or action or proceeding in respect thereof) or expense arises out
of such Person's failure to send or give a copy of the final prospectus, as the same may be then
supplemented or amended, to the Person asserting an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission
or alleged omission at or prior to the written confirmation of the sale of Stockholder Shares to such Person
if such statement or omission was corrected in such final prospectus so long as such final prospectus, and
any amendments or supplements thereto, have been furnished to such underwriter. Such indemnity shall remain
in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of Stockholder or the Shelf
Stockholders, as the case may be, or any such underwriter, director, officer, partner, agent or Affiliate or
controlling Person and shall survive the transfer of such securities by Stockholder or the Shelf
Stockholders, as the case may be.
5.2 Indemnification by Stockholders. Stockholder and each Shelf Stockholder will, and hereby does, severally
indemnify and hold harmless (in the same manner and to the same extent as set forth in Section 5.1) the
Company, and each director of the Company, each officer of the Company and each other Person, if any, who
controls the Company within the meaning of the 1933 Act, with respect to any statement or alleged statement
in or omission or alleged omission from such registration statement, any preliminary prospectus, final
prospectus or summary prospectus contained therein, or any amendment or supplement thereto, if such
statement or alleged statement or omission or alleged omission was made in reliance upon and in conformity
with written information furnished to the Company through an instrument duly executed by Stockholder or such
Shelf Stockholder, as the case may be, specifically stating that it is for use in the preparation of such
registration statement, preliminary prospectus, final prospectus, summary prospectus, amendment or
supplement; provided, however, that the liability of any stockholder under this Section 5.2 shall be limited
to the amount of proceeds received by such stockholder in the offering giving rise to such liability. Such
indemnity shall remain in full force and effect, regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of the
Company or any such director, officer or controlling Person and shall survive the transfer of such
securities by such stockholder.
5.3 Notices of Claims, etc. Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party of notice of the commencement of
any action or proceeding involving a claim referred to in the preceding subdivisions of this Section 5 such
indemnified party will, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against an indemnifying party, give
written notice to the latter of the commencement of such action; provided, however, that the failure of any
indemnified party to give notice as provided herein shall not relieve the indemnifying party of its
obligations under the preceding subdivisions of this Section 5, except to the extent that the indemnifying
party is actually prejudiced by such failure to give notice. In case any such action is brought against an
indemnified party, unless in such indemnified party's reasonable judgment a conflict of interest between
such indemnified and indemnifying parties is reasonably likely to exist in respect of such claim, the
indemnifying party shall be entitled to participate in and, to assume the defense thereof, jointly with any
other indemnifying party similarly notified to the extent that it may wish, with counsel reasonably
satisfactory to such indemnified party, and after notice from the indemnifying party to such indemnified
party of its election so to assume the defense thereof, the indemnifying party shall not be liable to such
indemnified party for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by the latter in connection with the
defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation unless in such indemnified party's reasonable
judgment a conflict of interest between such indemnified and indemnifying parties arises in respect of such
claim after the assumption of the defense thereof and the indemnified party notifies the indemnifying party
of such indemnified party's judgment and the basis therefor. No indemnifying party shall be liable for any
settlement of any action or proceeding effected without its written consent, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld. No indemnifying party shall, without the written consent of the indemnified party,
consent to entry of any judgment or enter into

any settlement which does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or
plaintiff to such indemnified party of a release from all liability in respect of such claim or litigation.
5.4 Contribution. If the indemnification provided for in this Section 5 shall be judicially determined (by
the entry of final judgment or decree by a court of competent jurisdiction and the expiration of time to
appeal or the denial of the last right of appeal) to be unavailable to a party seeking indemnification under
Section 5.1 or 5.2 hereof in respect of any loss, claim, damage or liability, or any action in respect
thereof, then, in lieu of the amount paid or payable under Section 5.1 or Section 5.2 hereof, the
indemnified party and the indemnifying party under Section 5.1 or Section 5.2 hereof shall contribute to the
aggregate losses, claims, damages and liabilities (including legal or other expenses reasonably incurred in
connection with investigating the same), (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative
fault of the Company, on the one hand, and Stockholder and each Shelf Stockholder, on the other hand, with
respect to the statements or omissions which resulted in such loss, claim, damage or liability, or action in
respect thereof, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations or (ii) if the allocation provided
by clause (i) above is not permitted by applicable law, in such proportion as shall be appropriate to
reflect the relative benefits received by the Company, on the one hand, and Stockholder and each Shelf
Stockholder, on the other hand, from the offering of the securities covered by such registration statement.
No Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section ll(f) of the 1933 Act) shall
be entitled to contribution from any Person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. In
addition, no Person shall be obligated to contribute hereunder any amounts in payment for any settlement of
any action or claim effected without such Person's consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld.
5.5 Other Indemnification. Indemnification and contribution similar to that specified in the preceding
subdivisions of this Section 5 (with appropriate modifications) shall be given by the Company, on the one
hand, and Stockholder and each Shelf Stockholder, on the other hand, with respect to any required
registration or other qualification of securities under any federal or state law or regulation of any
governmental authority other than the 1933 Act.
6. Information from Stockholder. In the event that either the Stockholder or a Shelf Stockholder fails to
furnish to the Company such information regarding itself, the shares of Registrable Securities held by it,
or the intended method of disposition of such securities as may be required to effect the registration of
the Registrable Securities, the Company shall not be obligated to take any action pursuant to this Agreement
with respect to such Stockholder Shares or Shelf Shares held by such Stockholder or Shelf Stockholder.
7. Expenses of Registration. The Company shall pay all registration, filing and qualification fees
(including SEC filing fees and the listing fees of the Nasdaq Stock Market or any stock exchange on which
the Company securities are traded) attributable to the Stockholder Shares and Shelf Shares registered under
this Agreement, and any legal, accounting or other professional fees or expenses incurred by the Company
(collectively, "Registration Expenses"). The Stockholder and each Shelf Stockholder, as the case may be,
shall pay all underwriting discounts, selling commissions and stock transfer taxes, if any, attributable to
the sale of such Stockholder Shares or Shelf Shares, as the case may be, registered by such stockholder and
any legal, accounting or other professional fees incurred by such stockholder. The Company shall pay all
expenses in connection with any registration initiated pursuant to Section 2 which is withdrawn (pursuant to
a written request made with the SEC pursuant to Rules 477 or 478 of the 1933 Act or any successor rules
thereto), delayed or abandoned, except if such withdrawal, delay or abandonment is a result of: (i) a
request by the Stockholder or the Shelf Stockholders to withdraw, delay or abandon such registration; (ii)
the failure to comply with the requirements of Section 6 hereof by the Stockholder or Shelf Stockholder, as
applicable; or (iii) any withdrawal, delay or abandonment of the

registration caused by the fraud, material misstatement or omission of a material fact by the Stockholder or
a Shelf Stockholder, as applicable, to be included or required to be included in such registration.
8. Rule 144. In the event that Stockholder or a Shelf Stockholder may, under Rule 144, resell or otherwise
dispose of all such stockholder's Stockholder Shares or Shelf Shares, as the case may be, in a ninety (90)
day period without registration under the 1933 Act, the registration rights granted under this Agreement to
such stockholder and the obligations of the Company hereunder (other than its obligations under Sections 5
and 7 and this Section 8) to such stockholder, shall be of no further force and effect whatsoever without
any further action on the part of the Company or such stockholder; provided that the registration rights
provided hereunder shall be reinstated as to the Stockholder or a Shelf Stockholder if at any time the
provisions of Rule 144(k) do not permit the Stockholder or such Shelf Stockholder to dispose of all of the
Stockholder Shares or such Shelf Stockholder's shares, as the case may be, then held by it in any
three−month period; provided, however, that such reinstatement shall exist for only so long as the
Stockholder or such Shelf Stockholder, as applicable, cannot sell all of the Stockholder Shares or such
Shelf Stockholder's shares as are then held by the Stockholder or such Shelf Stockholder during any
three−month period pursuant to Rule 144(k).
9.

Miscellaneous.

9.1 Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be made in the
manner and to addresses set forth in the Reorganization Agreement, in the case of the Stockholder and the
Company, and, in the case of Shelf Stockholders, in the manner set forth in the Reorganization Agreement to
the address of such Shelf Stockholder set forth on Exhibit A hereto.
9.2 Interpretation. The words "include," "includes" and "including" when used herein shall be deemed in each
case to be followed by the words "without limitation." The headings contained in this Agreement are for
reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
9.3 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which shall be
considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been
signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other party, it being understood that all parties need
not sign the same counterpart.
9.4 Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the documents and instruments and other agreements among the
parties hereto referenced herein: (a) constitute the entire agreement among the parties with respect to the
subject matter hereof and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among
the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof; and (b) other than the rights expressly set forth
herein with respect to the Shelf Stockholders, are not intended to confer upon any other person any rights,
remedies, obligations or liabilities hereunder.
9.5 Assignment. This Agreement, and the rights and obligations hereunder, shall not be assigned by the
Stockholder or any Shelf Stockholder without the prior written consent of the Company, which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld; provided that the Stockholder shall be permitted to assign its rights and
obligations under this Agreement, in whole or in part, to any wholly−owned direct or indirect subsidiary of
the Stockholder in connection with the transfer of at least 1,000,000 Shares to such subsidiary. Any
assignment of rights or delegation of duties under this Agreement by the Stockholder or a Shelf Stockholder
without the prior written consent of the Company shall be void ab initio. This Agreement shall be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and its respective successors and assigns.

9.6 Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof, becomes or
is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this
Agreement will continue in full force and effect and the application of such provision to other persons or
circumstances will be interpreted so as reasonably to effect the intent of the parties hereto. The parties
further agree to replace such void or unenforceable provision of this Agreement with a valid and enforceable
provision that will achieve, to the extent possible, the economic, business and other purposes of such void
or unenforceable provision.
9.7 Attorneys' Fees. In any action at law or suit in equity in relation to this Agreement, the prevailing
party in such action or suit shall be entitled to receive a reasonable sum for its attorneys' fees and all
other reasonable costs and expenses incurred in such action or suit.
9.8 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State of Delaware, regardless of the laws that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of
convicts of laws thereof. Each of the parties hereto agrees that process may be served upon them in any
manner authorized by the laws of the State of Delaware for such persons and waives and covenants not to
assert or plead any objection which they might otherwise have to such jurisdiction and such process.
9.9 Term. Except as expressly provided herein, the rights and obligations hereunder shall terminate ten (10)
years from the date of this Agreement.
9.10 Shelf Stockholders. Acceptance of any benefit under this Agreement by any Shelf Stockholder shall
render it a party hereto and shall obligate it to all provisions with respect to Shelf Stockholders
hereunder.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed the Agreement as of the
date first above written.
HOMESTORE.COM, INC.

By:

/s/ David M. Rosenblatt
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

Name:
Title:

David M. Rosenblatt
General Counsel

CENDANT CORPORATION
By:

/s/ Eric Bock
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
Name: Eric Bock, Esq.
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EXHIBIT A
NAMES AND ADDRESS OF SHELF STOCKHOLDERS
EXHIBIT A

WW
Douglas Patterson
Wendy L. Beerbower
Larry Thomas
Janis Jarosz
Michael Bowyer
TERMINATED COPPER
Charles Bartels
Michael D'alba
Maura Dykstra
Carole Hankin
Robert Kunisch
Jeanne M. Murphy
John D. Snodgrass
Caitlin Williams
Valerie Wilson
Kristen Woodring
Wendy Levine
Andrea Bates
Rebecca Savidge
CENDANT
Myra J. Biblowit
John C. Malone
Cheryl D. Mills
Shell Z. Rosenberg
Michael E. Simon
Jerry D. Anderson
Scott W. Anderson
Robert C Andwood
John B. Arcario
Emily Becher
Steven J. Belmonte
John J. Benoit
Thomas Bemardo
Scott W. Bernstein
Bruce V. Bloom
Elliot Bloom
Eric J. Bock
Scott J. Bojczuk

John E. Borger
William F Brown
Joel R. Buckberg
James E. Buckman
Peter D. Burgdorff
Charles P. Cardwell
John H. Carley
Donald J Casey
Brenda W. Casserly
John Chidsey
Thomas Christopoul
Duncan H. Cocroft
Bill Cogan
Fred a Coia
Leonard S. Coleman
Terence Conley
J. G. Constantine
Paris Couturiaux
David M. Crook
F Van V. Davis
James C. Dennis
John P. Doyle
Michael A. Doyle
Martin L. Edelman
Terence Edwards
Charles M. Fallen
Anthony A. Falor
Michael K. Field
Robert Foley
Scott E. Forbes
Martin L Foster
Helen C. Galasso
Craig Gangi
Kenneth Gaskell
Marshell Gayden
Gregory a Gentek
Peter Giamalva
Denise L. Gillen
James R. Gillespie
Gregory A. Goolkasian
Guy T. Gray
Kevin Greene
Robert Groody
Craig E. Hamway
William Hanley

Nelson Hitchcock
Jean V. Hoagland
Thomas Hocker
Stephen Holmes
Kirsten A. Hotchkiss
Tobia Ippolito
Ron E. Jackson
David Johnson
John H. Johnson
Joseph R. Kane
Peter Karpiak
Samuel Katz
William H. Keeble
Kenneth L. Keith
Kevin J. Kelleher
Judith P Kent
Michael Kistner
Richard Leutwyler
Samuel J. Levenson
Frank M. Lindsey
Nathaniel Lipman
Michael D. Lister
John J Lott
Florence Lugli
Mary K. Mahoney
Robert Mason
William J. Maxwell
Mark Maybrey
John T. Me Clain
Peter Mcgonagle
Brien J Mcmahon
Deborah E. Meeks
Richard Meisner
John J. Menzie
Valerie A. Mercurio
David L. Miller
Robert T. Moles
Brian Mulroney
Robert E. Nederlander
Louis Nemtsov
Daniel Neuburger
John P. Nichols
Shelley B. Northrop
Albert J. Novak
Dennis M. O'gara

Michael J. O'hara
Carlos J. Parraga
Gerald G. Pearce
Jose I. Perez
Alexander E. Perriello
Eric Pfeffer
Birgit S. Philipp
Edward Pictroski
Keith J. Pierce
Robert W. Pittman
Dennis S. Relihan
Kenneth D. Rodgess
Steven L. Savino
Nancy S. Sedensky
Donald F. Smith
Richard Smith
Robert F. Smith
lan A. Sparks
Jacob F. Stepan
Joseph E Suter
Stephen Swordy
Daniel Tarantin
Donald B. Taylor
Regina A. Taylor
Peter Tittler
Terri A. Vaccarino
Donna a Van Osten
Vincent Ventura
W. Brace Wallin
David J. Weaving
Robert N. Weller
Suzanne M Wetherington
Keith Woodcock
Samuel H. Wright
David B. Wyshner
NHC
Bethany Adams
Michael Brander
Theodore Ciricillo
Jean Clarizio
Ethan Cline
John Davis
Jean Marie Hickey
Phil Mattia
Angela McNeice

David Mittleman
James Napier
Robert Newlin
Brian Robinson
Daniel Roth
Mitchell Roth
Harpreet Singh
Tina Tharpe
Tracey Trueba
Mark Woelfel
Debbie Woon
David B. Bay
Noelle Johnson
Amy Jones
Susan Linder
Julie Millikan
Mark Thomassen
TRACKING STOCK
Liberty Digital, Inc.
Chatham Street Holdings
NRT Incorporated
R.R. Donnely & Sons Co.
Sonia & Richard Henkin
Joseph Preis
John McWeeny
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EXECUTION COPY
CONFIDENTIAL
DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT

This DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT (this "AGREEMENT"), effective as of January 9, 2003 (the "EFFECTIVE DATE"), is
made and entered into by and between America Online, Inc. ("AOL"), a Delaware corporation, with its
principal offices at 22000 AOL Way, Dulles, Virginia 20166, on the one hand, and Homestore, Inc. ("HS"), a
Delaware corporation, with offices at 30700 Russell Ranch Road, Westlake Village, California 91362, on the
other hand. AOL and HS may be referred to individually as a "PARTY" and collectively as the "PARTIES."
INTRODUCTION

AOL, RealSelect, Inc. and Homestore.com, Inc. (f/n/a NetSelect, Inc.) entered into an interactive marketing
relationship pursuant to that certain Second Amended and Restated Interactive Marketing Agreement, effective
as of April 8, 1999 and executed by such parties in June, 1999 and that certain Distribution Agreement,
effective as of April 8, 1999 and executed by such parties in June, 1999, each of which were terminated by
the Parties pursuant to the terms of the Existing Agreement, and that certain Distribution Agreement
effective as of April 25, 2000 (the "EXISTING AGREEMENT"). RealSelect, Inc. and Homestore.com, Inc. are each
predecessors−in−interest to HS. AOL and HS each desire to expand and modify their existing relationship by
terminating the Existing Agreement and entering into a new mutually beneficial interactive marketing
relationship in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. Capitalized terms used
but not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall be as defined on Exhibit B, attached hereto and made a
part hereof.
TERMS
1.

DISTRIBUTION; PROGRAMMING
1.1

PROMOTIONS ON HOME CHANNEL. AOL shall provide HS with the
Promotions set forth on Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a
part hereof (the "CARRIAGE PLAN"), including Promotions in a
home−and−real−estate−related channel or equivalent on the AOL
Service, Netscape.com, CompuServe and a
home−and−real−estate−related screen on Digital City
(collectively the "HOME CHANNEL"), as depicted for the AOL
Service in the screen shots attached hereto as Exhibit H,
which shall be subject to the provisions of Section 1.3.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, HS acknowledges that the screen
shots represent a new design for the Home Channel which has
not yet been built and which will not be fully launched until
approximately [*] (the "LAUNCH DATE"). In the event the new
Home Channel (or portions thereof) launches prior to the
Launch Date, the Carriage Plan shall be adjusted to reflect
the earlier availability of new Promotions (and the
discontinuation of old Promotions); provided, however, the
number of integrated Impressions and media Impressions
provided on the adjusted Carriage Plan shall be at least the
number of Impressions in the Integrated Placement Commitment
and Media Placement Commitment, respectively. In the event the
new Home Channel (or portions thereof)

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
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launches after the Launch Date, the Carriage Plan shall be
adjusted to reflect the later availability of new Promotions
(and the continuation of old Promotions) and the Term shall be
extended (without additional payments by HS) by one day for
each day past the Launch Date that the new Home Channel fully
launches; provided that any delay in the Launch Date (or
portion thereof) which is caused by actions or omissions by
HS, or by factors outside the reasonable control of AOL, shall
not lead to an extension of the Term. The Promotions shall
link directly to the Customized Sites and/or Customized
Programming. Except to the extent expressly described herein,
the exact form, placement and nature of the Promotions shall
be determined by AOL in its reasonable editorial discretion.
Any changes to the Carriage Plan shall be made in writing and
signed by both Parties prior to implementation of such
changes.
1.2

IMPRESSIONS COMMITMENT. During the Term, AOL shall deliver at
least the number of Impressions set forth in the Carriage
Plan, from placement of HS Presences on the AOL Network, which
Impressions shall be integrated Impressions as set forth on
Exhibit A−1 (the "INTEGRATED PLACEMENT COMMITMENT") and media
Impressions as set forth on Exhibit A−2 (the "MEDIA PLACEMENT
Commitment"), in each case on the line entitled Integrated
Placement Commitment and Media Placement Commitment,
respectively, (or on the line entitled "Grand Total" in the
column entitled "Totals" on any replacement Carriage Plan
agreed to in writing by the Parties, if so designated). AOL
shall not be obligated to provide more Impressions than
provided for in the Carriage Plan.
1.2.1

In the event there is (or will be in AOL's reasonable
judgment) a shortfall in the Integrated Placement
Commitment as of the end of the Term (a "TERM
INTEGRATION SHORTFALL"), AOL shall provide HS, as its
sole remedy, at AOL' s option with either (a) an
extension of the Term of this Agreement until the
Term Integration Shortfall is remedied, or (b) a
refund calculated by multiplying the Term Integration
Shortfall by [*], or (c) some combination thereof. In
the event this Agreement is extended pursuant to this
Section 1.2.1, AOL shall not be required to deliver
any media Impressions if AOL met or exceeded the
Media Placement Commitment during the Term. In the
event there is (or will be in AOL's reasonable
judgment) a shortfall in the Media Placement
Commitment as of the end of the Term (a "TERM MEDIA
SHORTFALL"), AOL shall provide HS, as its sole
remedy, at AOL's option with either (a) Impressions
on the AOL Network which have a comparable overall
total value calculated based on the following
makegood ratios: [*] for [*] Impressions; [*] for [*]
Impressions; [*] for [*] Impressions; [*] for [*]
Impressions; [*] for [*] Impressions; and [*] for [*]
Impressions, so that a [*] Impression is assigned a
value of [*] times as much as a [*] impression (for
example, in the event there was a shortfall of 100
Impressions in [*] and AOL wished to makegood with
[*] Impressions, then AOL would multiply the number
of [*] Impressions (in this case 100 Impressions) by
[*] to calculate [*] Impression equivalent (in this
example, the equivalent would be [*] Impressions), or
(b) a refund of the value of the Term Media Shortfall
(calculated by multiplying the Term Media Shortfall
by [*]) , or (c) some combination thereof.

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
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1.2.2

The Impressions listed on each line item on the
Carriage Plan are for the purposes of calculating
refund values pursuant to Sections 1.2.1 and 1.4.1
only and do not represent guarantees or commitments
of Impressions to individual line items. Similarly,
Impressions listed in Year 1 and Year 2 columns in
any replacement Carriage Plan agreed to in writing by
the Parties (or any draft plan exchanged by the
parties at any time) do not represent annual
guarantees or commitments. AOL shall have no
obligation or responsibility with respect to
Impression delivery except to deliver the number of
Impressions specified on the lines entitled
Integrated Placement Commitment and Media Placement
Commitment (or on the line entitled "Grand Total" in
the column entitled "Totals" on any replacement
Carriage Plan agreed to in writing by the Parties, if
so designated) on each of Exhibit A−1 and Exhibit
A−2, or to remedy the failure to do so under Section
1.2 above. The foregoing notwithstanding, AOL shall
not be entitled to satisfy its Integrated Placement
Commitment by delivering more MapQuest Impressions
than the [*] Impressions shown on the Carriage Plan
unless otherwise mutually agreed by the Parties.

1.3

REDESIGNS AND MAKEGOODS. AOL reserves the right to redesign or
modify the organization, structure, "look and feel,"
navigation and other elements of the AOL Network at any time.
In the event such modifications materially and adversely
affect any specific Promotion, or if AOL is unable to deliver
any particular Promotion for any other reason, AOL will
provide HS as soon as commercially reasonable, as its sole
remedy, a comparable promotional placement in a successor area
of the portion of the AOL Network that has been redesigned or
replaced, or other area that is substantially similar to the
redesigned or replaced area; provided, however, that in the
event such redesign or modification results in a substantial
redesign of the Home Channel, such redesigned or replaced Home
Channel is promoted as any other top level channel on the AOL
Service such as Careers, Travel and Health. AOL shall promptly
provide written notice to HS of (i) the proposed comparable or
alternative promotional placement(s), and (ii) the Promotion
or Promotions for which the proposed comparable promotional
placement is a substitute. Within thirty (30) days of AOL's
written notice, HS shall provide written notice to AOL of
either (i) its acceptance of the proposed promotional
placement as a substitute Promotion or (ii) its refusal of the
proposed comparable promotional placement, together with a
written statement of the reasons HS believes the proposed
placement is not a comparable promotional placement. HS's
failure to so respond within thirty (30) days shall be deemed
acceptance. HS's approval of a proposed comparable placement
shall not be unreasonably withheld. In no event will any
notice requirement, acceptance or rejection provided pursuant
to this Section 1.3 prohibit AOL from implementing any
proposed redesign or modification. In the event that HS
refuses a proposed comparable promotional placement offered by
AOL pursuant to this Section 1.3, HS and AOL shall attempt, in
good faith, to resolve the matter informally within fifteen
(15) days. In the event the Parties are unable to resolve the
matter informally, either Party may commence the arbitration
provisions of this Agreement; provided, however, that any such
dispute that is not presented to the Management Committee and,
if necessary, arbitration as provided in Section VII of
Exhibit D for final and binding resolution within ninety (90)
days of AOL's written notice of the proposed promotional
placement shall be waived by HS.

1.4

PROGRAMMING AND CONTENT.
1.4.1

CONTENT. The Promotions shall link only to the
Customized Programming or Customized Sites and shall
promote only the HS Services. The Customized Sites
and Customized Programming shall contain the Content
described on the

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
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Programming Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit C (the
"PROGRAMMING PLAN"), as such Programming Plan may be
updated from time to time by mutual agreement of the
Parties. HS shall have the right to include any of
its Content within the HS Services on the Customized
Sites and Customized Programming consistent with this
Agreement. Each Promotion shall link to a portion of
the Customized Programming or Customized Sites which
is contextually relevant to the page on which the
Promotion appears and the Content of the Promotion.
The inclusion of any Content that is not within the
HS Services shall be subject to AOL's prior written
approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld. HS shall provide Content that will meet the
objectives set forth in the Programming Plan, and, in
AOL's reasonable editorial discretion, such Content
shall be accurate, well−organized and professional
and shall comply with (i) AOL's technical
specifications set forth in Exhibit F, attached
hereto and made a part hereof, and any additional or
modified specifications made available to HS that AOL
deems necessary and appropriate from time to time
during the Term so long as AOL consistently requires
compliance with such standards from similarly
situated third parties, (ii) the terms of this
Agreement, and (iii) AOL's then−generally acceptable
policies relating to advertising and promotions (as
consistently applied to similarly situated third
parties and as have been made available to HS ).
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
Agreement, HS shall ensure that any Content provided
by HS pursuant to this Agreement (including, without
limitation, the Promotions, the Customized Site, and
the Customized Programming) does not directly
promote, advertise, market or distribute the
products, services or content of any other
Interactive Service, and that neither the Promotions
nor the Customized Programming directly promotes,
advertises, markets or distributes any products or
services in any category in which AOL has an
exclusive relationship as identified on Exhibit I,
attached hereto and made a part hereof, as such list
may be amended by AOL from time to time; provided AOL
shall not amend Exhibit I to include any of the HS
Exclusive Services. In the event that the addition by
AOL of a category to Exhibit I requires HS to remove
an integrated element of Content from the Customized
Programming, the line item on the Carriage Plan
representing such Content, if any, shall be deemed
deleted from the Carriage Plan, AOL shall refund to
HS the value of the undelivered Impressions to such
line item(s) (calculated based on the applicable
value for the Impressions as set forth in Section 1.2
for Integrated Placements and Media Placements), and
the overall Integrated Placement Commitment and/or
Media Placement Commitment, as applicable, shall be
reduced by the number of Impressions for which a
refund was provided. In the event that the removal of
an integrated element of Content from the Customized
Programming requires an alteration to the design of
the Customized Programming, AOL shall discuss the
redesign of the particular portion of the Home
Channel affected by such alteration with HS. HS shall
host the following screens containing Customized
Programming until such time as AOL may elect to host
such screens: [*].
1.4.2

HS CONTENT AND SITE MANAGEMENT OBLIGATIONS. HS shall
design, create, edit, manage, review, update (as
reasonably determined by HS and no less frequently
than its Generally Available Sites are updated), and
maintain the Customized Sites, Customized Programming
and other Licensed Content in a timely and
professional manner and in accordance with the terms
of this Agreement and shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to keep the Licensed Content
current, accurate and well−organized at all times
during the Term. HS shall be responsible for any
hosting or communication costs associated with the
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Customized Sites and Customized Programming,
including, without limitation, the costs associated
with AOL's direct cost of any agreed−upon direct
connections between the AOL Network and the
Customized Sites or Customized Programming. The
Customized Programming shall have AOL Look and Feel,
consistent with the examples set forth in Exhibit H,
attached hereto, in all material respects.
AOL shall be entitled to revise the AOL Look and Feel
in its sole discretion; provided that, in the event
that AOL substantially changes the AOL Look and Feel
more than once every six (6) months during the Term,
AOL shall bear the costs and expenses associated with
any alterations or conversions to be made to the
Customized Programming for any additional substantial
changes to the AOL Look and Feel during the Term.
1.4.3

EQUALITY OF CONTENT. Subject to the other terms and
conditions of this Agreement, HS shall ensure that
the Licensed Content within the Customized Sites and
Customized Programming is substantially the same as
the Content then available on the comparable
Generally Available Sites in all material respects,
including without limitation, quality, breadth,
depth, timeliness, functionality, features, prices of
products and services and terms and conditions,
unless otherwise required by this Agreement (for
example, if Content, tools or functionality that HS
would be required to include to comply with this
sentence violates another provision of this
Agreement, HS shall not provide such Content, tools
or functionality on the Customized Sites or in the
Customized Programming). In the event HS enters into
an agreement to provide Content relevant to the HS
Services and not available on the Generally Available
Sites ("CUSTOM CONTENT") to any third party, HS shall
provide AOL the opportunity to obtain the Custom
Content on substantially the same terms as the third
party (including, without limitation, delivery of the
Custom Content to AOL at the same time the Custom
Content is delivered to the third party).

1.5

REGISTRATION. AOL Users shall not be subject to a
registration process (or any similar process) in
order to access and use the Customized Programming or
the Customized Sites unless otherwise mutually
agreed; provided, however, that AOL Users may be
subject to a registration process in order to use a
specialized tool or for specific opt−in features and
functionality of the Customized Sites. In the event
that registration is required to access and use the
Customized Sites, any registration or similar process
on the Customized Sites shall be no more burdensome
than any other registration or similar process on the
corresponding Generally Available Site. During the
Term and for the two (2) year period after the
expiration or termination thereof, HS shall allow AOL
Users to access and use a Generally Available Site on
terms and conditions no less favorable than the terms
and conditions generally available to other similarly
situated users of such Generally Available Site.

1.6

MEMBER BENEFITS. HS will promote through the
Customized Sites any special or promotional offers
made available by or on behalf of HS through any
Generally Available Site. The Parties shall work
together in good faith to promote, through the
Customized Sites and the AOL Network, special Content
exclusively available to AOL Users.

1.7

COMPLIANCE. In the event HS provides Content for the
Customized Programming and the Customized Sites that
fails to materially comply with Sections 1.4, 1.5,
2.5.1, 4.1, 4.2(a), 4.2(b), 4.2(c), or 4.3 of this
Agreement (a "MATERIAL NON−COMPLIANCE EVENT"), AOL
shall: (a) give email notice to HS of its
non−compliance specifying the nature of the Material
Non−Compliance Event and the location of the
non−complying Content (if applicable and to the
extent of AOL's knowledge of the location(s)); and
(b) have the

5
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immediate right (in addition to any other remedies
available to AOL hereunder) to (i) decrease the
promotion it provides to HS hereunder solely on
screens which include or provide a link to such
non−complying Content and/or (ii) remove carriage of
the Customized Programming and/or other Licensed
Content from the AOL Properties that are implicated
by such non−complying Content; in each case, until
such time as HS corrects its non−compliance. If HS
does not cure its non−compliance during a [*] ([*])
day period (or a [*] ([*]) day period in the event
that the non−compliance results from a modification
to technical requirements and cannot reasonably be
cured in [*] days) beginning the date on which AOL
gives HS notice of its non−compliance as provided in
subsection (a) hereof, AOL shall be relieved during
the period of such HS noncompliance only of the
proportionate amount of any promotional commitment
made to HS by AOL hereunder in accordance with any
decrease, cessation or removal of HS Content or
Promotions pursuant to the foregoing sentence.
2.

CROSS−PROMOTION
2.1

COOPERATION. Each Party shall cooperate with and reasonably
assist the other Party in supplying material for marketing and
promotional activities.

2.2

HS PROMOTION OF CUSTOMIZED SITES AND AOL.

2.3

2.2.1

OFFLINE
offline
promote
through

PROMOTION. As provided in Exhibit G, in its
promotions HS will promote AOL and will
the availability of the Customized Sites
the AOL Network.

2.2.2

ONLINE PROMOTION. In the event that HS allows a third
party Interactive Service to purchase advertising for
placement on the Generally Available Sites as part of
a cooperative transaction whereby the parties thereto
trade products or services rather than cash, or as
part of an affiliate or bounty program, then HS will
provide AOL with the opportunity to purchase
comparable online promotion for the remaining Term of
this Agreement and on other terms and conditions that
are no less favorable than the proposed promotion
with the third party Interactive Service. HS shall
provide AOL with ten (10) days prior written notice
of its intent to enter into such transaction and
shall specify all material terms of such transaction
in the written notice (other than those terms which
HS is prohibited from disclosing under any
commercially reasonable nondisclosure agreement or
confidentiality provision that an Interactive Service
may have required prior to negotiating the
arrangements). In the event that AOL desires to
purchase the comparable promotions, AOL shall provide
HS written notice of its intent to participate within
five (5) days of HS' notice. Thereafter, the parties
will use their commercially reasonable good faith
efforts to enter into a definitive agreement for the
provision of such promotions. HS shall be free to
enter into an agreement with the third party on terms
no more favorable to the third party than those
contained in HS' notice. This section shall not apply
to those matters covered by Section 2.5.

AOL PROMOTION OF CUSTOMIZED SITES AND HS. At HS's request
during the Term, AOL shall discuss with HS opportunities to
include HS in AOL promotional materials to the extent AOL
includes any similarly situated partners in such materials.
The terms and

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
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conditions of any such promotion shall be determined by the
Parties at the time of such promotion.
2.4

AOL PARTICIPATION IN MARKETING OR PROMOTIONAL OPPORTUNITIES.
In the event that HS enters into any transaction to promote or
market the products or services of any third party Interactive
Service, HS shall provide AOL with the opportunity to promote
or market the products or services of AOL in a comparable
manner for the remainder of the Term of this Agreement and on
other terms and conditions that are no less favorable than the
proposed promotion of the products and services of the third
party Interactive Service. HS shall provide AOL with notice
ten (10) days after entering into any such transaction and
shall specify all material terms of such transaction in the
written notice (other than those terms which HS is prohibited
from disclosing under any commercially reasonable
nondisclosure agreement or confidentiality provision that the
Interactive Service may have required). In the event that AOL
desires to acquire comparable promotion or marketing from HS,
AOL shall provide HS written notice of its intent to
participate within five (5) days of HS' notice. Thereafter the
parties will use their commercially reasonable good faith
efforts to enter into a definitive agreement for the provision
of such promotions. In no event shall Section 2.4 and Section
2.2.2 prohibit or limit HS from entering into a distribution
agreement or carriage agreement with an Interactive Service
pursuant to which HS provides its content to such service even
if as an ancillary part thereof HS promotes or markets the
services of such Interactive Service. This Section shall not
apply to matters covered by Section 2.5.

2.5

USE OF AOL TOOLS

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

2.5.1

CUSTOMIZED SITES. In the event that HS chooses to
integrate any third party tools, technologies or
functionality, other than any instant messaging
product, on any Customized Site, and AOL provides
tools, technology or functionality that are
reasonably comparable to that available from such
third party, then HS shall negotiate in good faith
with AOL to determine terms and conditions for HS to
use AOL's tools prior to HS negotiating with any
third party regarding the same. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in the event that HS chooses to integrate
any instant messaging tool on any Customized Site, HS
shall use, and AOL shall provide, "AOL Instant
Messenger(TM)" ("AIM") or alternate −−−
AOL−designated instant messaging tool. In the event
that HS integrates one or more third party's tools,
technologies and functionality on any Customized Site
to the extent permitted in this Section 2.5.1, (i) HS
shall be prohibited from displaying any links to such
third party web site or other site displaying or
distributing such third party's tools, technologies
and functionality unless such links are to a
"cul−de−sac" site which (a) provides only the third
party tool's functionality without further links to
the third party's products or services and (b) has an
HS Look and Feel, and (ii) HS shall be prohibited
from displaying any branding for any third party
Interactive Service in connection with such tools,
technologies, or functionality; provided, however,
that in the event that HS chooses to display any
branding for any third party's tools, regardless of
whether such third party is an Interactive Service,
HS shall remove the third party's tools and branding
from the Customized Sites upon AOL's written notice
to HS requesting such removal.

2.5.2

LICENSE TO AOL TOOLS. To the extent AOL provides HS
with AOL Tools for inclusion on the Customized Sites,
AOL and HS shall enter into a license agreement, to
be mutually agreeable to both Parties, pursuant to
which AOL will license to HS such AOL Tools for use
on the Customized Sites, and upon mutual agreement of
the Parties, the Generally Available Sites, during
the Term. In the
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event that either Party seeks revenue from users of
the Customized Sites or the Generally Available Sites
for such AOL tools, the Parties shall negotiate in
good faith to determine the revenue share of any
revenues derived therefrom.
3.

4.

ADVERTISING AND MERCHANDISING
3.1

AOL NETWORK ADVERTISING INVENTORY. AOL owns all right, title
and interest in and to the advertising and promotional spaces
within the AOL Network including, without limitation, the
screens containing Customized Programming and, except to the
extent otherwise provided herein, shall have the right to all
revenues therefrom. The specific advertising inventory within
any AOL forms or pages shall be as determined by AOL. HS shall
reasonably assist AOL in serving ads to any screens containing
Customized Programming which are hosted by HS.

3.2

CUSTOMIZED SITE ADVERTISING INVENTORY. HS owns all right,
title and interest in and to the advertising and promotional
spaces on the Customized Sites and shall have the right to all
revenues therefrom.

3.3

INTERACTIVE COMMERCE. Subject to Section 1.4.1, HS shall have
the right to provide the HS Services and any other services
expressly permitted herein, and sell or offer for sale through
the Customized Sites and/or Customized Programming any
products, goods or services reasonably related to the HS
Services.

CUSTOMIZED PROGRAMMING AND CUSTOMIZED SITES
4.1

PRODUCTION; PERFORMANCE. HS shall write all Customized
Programming and design all Customized Sites for distribution
hereunder according to AOL's standard programming and
publishing specifications and guidelines and the Technical
Operating Standards, all as set forth on Exhibit F, and any
additional or modified specifications provided to HS that AOL
deems necessary and appropriate from time and time during the
Term so long as AOL requires compliance with such standards
from similarly situated third parties.

4.2

CUSTOMIZATION. In addition to any customization requirements
set forth elsewhere herein, HS shall customize all Customized
Programming and the Customized Sites for AOL Users as follows:
(a)

HS shall co−brand each Customized Site, including a
Customized Site for Classifieds, in accordance with
AOL's specifications for such co−branding as they may
be modified and generally applicable to similarly
situated AOL partners from time to time, for each AOL
Property on which each Customized Site is promoted.
HS shall integrate tools, technologies and
functionality on any Customized Site in accordance
with the provisions of Section 2.5. AOL shall provide
a header and footer to HS for use on the Customized
Sites that is as wide as the Customized Sites
require.

(b)

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, HS shall
ensure that:
(i)

the Customized Sites and Customized
Programming do not (a) directly promote,
advertise, market or distribute the
products, services or content of any other
Interactive Service, or (b) violate any
standard written AOL policy on advertising
or promotion made available to HS and as
generally

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
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applied (e.g., with respect to objectionable
content (e.g., illegal or illicit,
inappropriate for minors, etc.));

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

(ii)

the Customized Programming does not directly
promote, advertise, market or distribute any
products or services in any category in
which AOL has an exclusive relationship in
accordance with the lists provided to HS
pursuant to Section 1.4.1; and

(iii)

the Customized Programming will not use or
display any pop−up Advertising during the
Term, and no pop−up advertising will be
displayed to any AOL User on any page linked
to directly from Promotions or the
Customized Programming .

(c)

HS shall host all pages of the Customized Sites under
a URL address co−branded with the applicable
Customized Site and AOL Property (e.g., aol.hs.com,
netscape.hs.com, etc.) in such a − − manner that HS
receives traffic credit for such pages. HS and/or AOL
shall host all pages of the Customized Programming
under a URL address co−branded with the applicable
Customized Site and AOL Property in such a manner
that AOL receives traffic credit for such pages
provided, however, that HS may elect to use a
different URL for pages of Customized Programming
hosted by HS so long as HS takes all necessary steps
to ensure that AOL receives traffic credit for all
pages of Customized Programming (e.g., without
limitation, by sending a letter to each of the
traffic reporting agencies stating that AOL shall
receive traffic credit for such pages).

(d)

Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this
Agreement, unless the Parties otherwise agree, HS (i)
shall discontinue hosting the Customized Sites under
the co−branded domain name, and (ii) for a period of
twelve (12) months thereafter, host a jump page under
each such co−branded domain name. The design of such
jump page shall be mutually agreed to by the Parties.
The jump page shall be co−branded with each Party's
brands and shall contain prominent navigation to both
the Generally Available Site and an area(s) of the
AOL Network, or other Content area(s), selected by
AOL in its reasonable discretion and related in
subject matter to the Content contained on the
Customized Sites.

(e)

Except for the customization requirements set forth
in this Section 4.2, HS reserves the right to
redesign or modify the organization, structure, "look
and feel," navigation and other elements of the
Customized Sites at any time. In the event such
modifications materially and adversely affect the
user interface of the Customized Sites, HS shall
promptly provide written notice to AOL of the
proposed modifications. Within thirty (30) days of
HS' written notice, AOL shall provide written notice
to HS of either (i) its acceptance of the proposed
modifications or (ii) its rejection of the proposed
modifications, together with a written statement of
the reasons AOL rejects the proposed modifications as
adversely affecting the user interface the Customized
Sites. AOL's failure to so respond within thirty (30)
days shall be deemed acceptance. AOL's approval of a
proposed modification shall not be unreasonably
withheld. In the event that AOL rejects a proposed
modification offered by HS pursuant to this Section
4.2(e), HS and AOL shall attempt, in good faith, to
resolve the matter informally within fifteen (15)
days. In the event the Parties are unable to resolve
the matter informally, either Party may commence the
arbitration provisions of this Agreement; provided,
however, that any such dispute that is not presented
to the Management Committee and, if necessary, to
arbitration pursuant to Section VII
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of Exhibit D for final and binding resolution within
ninety (90) days of HS' written notice of the
proposed modification shall be waived by AOL.
4.3

5.

INTEGRITY OF AOL NETWORK. The Parties will work together on
mutually acceptable links (including links back to the AOL
Network) within the Customized Sites in order to create a
robust and engaging AOL member experience and the Customized
Sites may include reasonable editorial links that are
contextually related to the Content described on the
Programming Plan subject to the terms of this Agreement and
the following:
(a)

HS shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
ensure that AOL traffic is generally either kept
within the Customized Sites or channeled back into
the AOL Network; provided that this paragraph (a)
shall not restrict HS' right and ability to (i) sell
Advertisements on the Customized Sites that link to
the advertiser's sites or (ii) link to third party
Content that is included on the Customized Site as
permitted under this Agreement.

(b)

Except if and to the extent otherwise expressly set
forth herein with respect to the Customized
Programming, AOL will exercise complete control over
the navigation, design and layout of any screens,
forms or other Content on the AOL Network preceding
the Customized Sites.

EXCLUSIVITY
5.1

HS EXCLUSIVE SERVICES.
5.1.1

EXCLUSIVITY. Subject to the terms and conditions of
this Agreement, HS shall be the exclusive provider of
HS Exclusive Services that are directly promoted by
AOL or its Affiliates within the AOL Properties.

5.1.2

EXCEPTIONS. The provisions of Section 5.1.1 shall be
subject to the provisions of this Section 5.1.2.

(a)

SINGLE BRAND LISTING SERVICES. With respect to any
Person who offers aggregated listings of real estate
properties under such Person's own brand with respect
to its own listings (e.g., − − Century 21, ERA or
Coldwell Banker, each with respect to its own
listings), AOL and its Affiliates shall have the
right to provide nonintegrated promotions (i.e.,
banner advertisements, buttons and text links) for
such Person and such Person's HS Exclusive Services;
provided, however, that (i) on the AOL Service, AOL
may only include one permanent non−integrated
promotion per screen (i.e., banner advertisements,
buttons and text links) for a single such Person
throughout the Home Channel at any one time (i.e.,
such promotion will be for the same Person throughout
the Home Channel), and (ii) on each of the other AOL
Properties, AOL may only include one permanent
non−integrated promotion (i.e., banner
advertisements, buttons and text links) for no more
than a total of two such unaffiliated Persons at any
one time within the Home Channel. AOL shall use
commercially reasonable efforts (including, without
limitation, with respect to existing and future
agreements) to ensure that any such Person's site
promoted on the AOL Properties does not link to HS
Exclusive Services offered by other third parties
(related or unrelated). If HS notifies AOL of such a
cross link to a third party HS Exclusive Service, AOL
shall work with the applicable advertiser to remove
such link in accordance with the terms of such
advertisers' agreement with AOL regarding such link.
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(b)

OTHER LINES OF BUSINESS. In the event that
any Person providing HS Exclusive Services
provides products or services other than the
HS Exclusive Services, AOL and its
Affiliates shall not be restricted from
promoting such Person (on or off the AOL
Network), provided however that, except as
otherwise provided in this Section 5.1, AOL
and its Affiliates shall not directly
promote such Person's HS Exclusive Services
within the AOL Properties (e.g., AOL could
promote Classified Ventures' car listings
but not its realty listings).

(c)

FSBOS. AOL and its Affiliates shall have the
right to promote for sale by owner listings
("FSBOS") on the AOL Properties provided,
however, AOL shall not promote a third party
which aggregates FSBOs as its primary
business (e.g., ForSaleByOwner.com). The
location of any integrated links for FSBOs
in the Home Channel shall be subject to HS's
consent, which consent shall be withheld
only if a proposed integrated link would
violate HS's contract with the National
Association of Realtors.

(d)

CLASSIFIEDS. No provision of this Agreement
shall limit AOL's or its Affiliates' ability
(on or off the AOL Network) to continue to
promote and populate any classified listings
developed by AOL or one of its Affiliates
("CLASSIFIEDS") with other AOL or third
party aggregator listings in HS Apartments
Listings, or where AOL Users wish to
advertise themselves.

(e)

CANADA. The exclusivity set forth in this
Section 5.1 shall not apply to the AOL
Canada Service with respect to HS Apartment
Listings.

(f)

GENERAL EXCEPTIONS. Notwithstanding anything
to the contrary (and without limiting any
actions which may be taken by AOL without
violation of HS' rights hereunder), no
provision of this Agreement shall limit
AOL's right (on or off the AOL Network) to
do each of the following: (i) undertake
activities or perform duties pursuant to
those existing arrangements with third
parties; provided AOL shall not extend or
renew any such existing agreements or
commitments to the extent such agreements or
commitments could not otherwise be entered
into after the Effective Date; (ii) enter
into an arrangement with any third party for
the primary purpose of acquiring AOL Users
whereby such third party is allowed to
promote or market any or all HS Exclusive
Services on a limited basis solely to AOL
Users that are acquired as a result of such
agreement (but not to AOL Users acquired
through any other means); provided, however,
that in the event AOL enters into such an
arrangement with any of the Named Entities,
HS shall have the option to require that AOL
discontinue display of the Customized
Programming and the Customized Site solely
to AOL Users acquired as a result of such
agreement to the extent the product offering
made pursuant to AOL's agreement with the
Named Entity permits the Named Entity to
promote HS Exclusive Services; (iii) create,
distribute and display editorial commentary
relating to any third party provider of any
HS Exclusive Service generated by persons
unrelated to such third party; or (iv)
populate AOL's proprietary directories
(including without limitation AOL Yellow
Pages and Digital City directories) and any

locally−oriented search directories or
databases. With respect to clause (i) above,
to the best of the knowledge of AOL's senior
executives, there is no existing agreement
with a value in excess of Two Million
Dollars ($2,000,000) that authorizes a third
party to distribute HS Exclusive Services
through the AOL Properties.
5.2

BEST−OF−BREED EXCEPTION.
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6.

5.2.1

IN GENERAL. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement (and without limiting any actions which may be taken
by AOL without violation of HS' rights hereunder), HS shall
provide HS Exclusive Services that comply with the following
"KEY INDICATORS": (a) the maintenance of at least [*] percent
([*]%) of the available listings of resale and, to the extent
listed on multiple listing services, new properties in the
United States carried by multiple listing services (excluding
any multiple listing service which prohibits all entities with
access to its listings from distributing its listings online);
(b) the maintenance of listings of apartments within [*]
Rental Properties, at least [*] percent ([*]%) of which shall
be spread across the top [*] ([*]) Metropolitan Statistical
Areas, as determined by the U.S. Bureau of the Census from
time to time, within the United States; and (c) HS's existing
agreement with the National Association of Realtors is still
in force and effect and has not terminated or otherwise
expired.

5.2.2

If at any time during the Term HS fails to meet either of the
Key Indicators set forth in Sections 5.2.1(a) or (b), such
failure shall be a material breach entitling AOL to invoke
Section 7.2 hereof. If at any time during the Term HS fails to
meet the Key Indicator set forth in Section 5.2.1(c), such
failure shall entitle AOL to invoke Section 7.3 hereof. HS
shall give written notice to AOL within five (5) days of the
date on which it fails to meet any of the Key Indicators at
any time during the Term. For the sole purpose of ensuring
compliance with the Key Indicators, AOL shall have the right,
to direct an independent certified public accounting firm
subject to strict confidentiality restrictions to conduct a
reasonable and necessary copying and inspection of HS'
records, contracts and other information that are related to
the Key Indicators. Any such audit may be conducted after
twenty (20) business days prior written notice. HS shall bear
the expense of such audit which determines that HS has failed
to meet a Key Indicator; AOL shall bear the expense for any
such audit which determines that HS not failed to meet a Key
Indicator.

5.2.3

REPRESENTATION. HS represents and warrants that, as of the
Effective Date and throughout the Term, HS shall be in
compliance with the Key Indicators.

REPORTING; PAYMENT; PAYMENT PROCEDURES; TAXES.
6.1

PAYMENT. As consideration for the services provided by AOL pursuant to
this Agreement, HS agrees to pay AOL Twenty−Two Million Five Hundred
Thousand Dollars ($22,500,000), with Three Million Seven Hundred Fifty
Thousand Dollars ($3,750,000) payable by wire transfer immediately upon
confirmation by Merrill Lynch that the letter of credit referred to in
Section 13.1.1 and related credit agreement have been terminated
pursuant to the terms of the side letter referred to in Sections 13.1.3
and 13.2.2 below ("LOC TERMINATION"), and the balance payable in five
equal quarterly installments due April 1, 2003, July 1, 2003, October
1, 2003, January 1, 2004, and April 1, 2004. In addition, as
consideration for termination of the Prior Agreements provided in
Section 11 below (including for advertising delivered through December
31, 2002 pursuant to the Existing Agreement) and the Settlement
Agreement and Release being delivered pursuant to Sections 13.1.2 and
13.2.1 below, HS shall pay AOL Seven Million Five Hundred Thousand
Dollars ($7,500,000) by wire transfer immediately upon LOC Termination.
All amounts not paid when due and payable shall bear interest from the
date such amounts are due and payable at the prime rate in effect at
such time.

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
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6.2

SALES REVENUE SHARE ON CUSTOMIZED SITES. HS shall be entitled
to retain [*] percent ([*]%) of the Sales Revenues collected
by HS or its agents or by any other Person with respect to the
Customized Sites.

6.3

PREFERRED PARTNER SHARE. As a preferred partner of AOL, HS
shall be entitled to receive the following shares (the
"CATEGORY SHARE") of online Sales Revenues on the AOL
Properties (excluding AOL Canada) in each calendar quarter as
follows:
(a)

[*] percent ([*]%) of Sales Revenues collected by AOL
or its agents during such quarter from (i) sales of
Advertisements (excluding Advertisements for local
entities on Digital City, i.e., advertising targeted
at an audience within a single DMA) within the Home
Channel, and (ii) sales of Designated Products within
the Home Channel (excluding any Sales Revenues
derived from links to Shop@AOL and/or any other AOL
marketplace−type offering); and

(b)

[*] percent ([*]%) of Sales Revenues collected by AOL
or its agents during such quarter from (i) sales of
Advertisements (excluding Advertisements for local
entities on Digital City, i.e., Advertisements
targeted at an audience within a single DMA) outside
of the Home Channel that are derived directly from
the HS Services and (b) sales of Designated Products
outside of the Home Channel (excluding any Sales
Revenues derived from Shop@AOL and/or any other AOL
marketplace−type offering).

AOL represents and warrants that, as of the Effective Date, no
AOL compensation policy creates disincentive for sales
personnel to sell Advertisements subject to the [*] percent
([*]%) revenue share above. In the event that AOL changes its
compensation policy at any time during the Term of this
Agreement which creates a disincentive for sales personnel to
sell Advertisements subject to the [*] percent ([*]%) revenue
share set forth in subsection (a) above, AOL shall (i)
implement an alternative means of ensuring that Advertisements
Revenue subject to the [*] percent ([*]%) revenue share set
forth in subsection (a) above are not disadvantaged, and (ii)
notify HS in writing of such change in AOL's compensation
policy, provided that the failure of AOL to provide notice to
HS shall not be deemed a material breach of this Agreement.
AOL shall pay to HS any amounts owed pursuant to this Section
6.3 within thirty (30) days after the end of each quarter
(including the last quarter of the Term). For purposes of
determining whether an Advertisement runs within or outside of
the Home Channel, the area inside the Home Channel shall be
deemed to include all screens on which the Home Channel header
(or any successor indicia of inclusion within a channel or
successor thereto) is included (e.g., the pets area to the
extent it resides on screen pages within the Home Channel
header shall be considered inside the Home Channel). In the
event there are no such indicia, the parties shall mutually
decide on a means for determining what is inside the Home
Channel.
6.4

SALES REFERRALS. Within 30 days of the Effective Date, HS may
provide to AOL a written list of Persons who offer aggregated
listings of real estate properties under such Person's own
brand with whom HS has a relationship and to whom AOL may wish
to sell

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
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Advertisements (the "HS LIST"). Within 30 days of receipt of
the HS List, AOL shall respond by informing HS in writing of
any entities on the HS list for which AOL wishes that HS
provide an introduction (the "AOL LIST"). If, during the
remainder of the Term, AOL sells Advertisements on the AOL
Properties to any Person on the AOL List for whom HS provided
an introduction, AOL shall pay HS an Advertising Sales
Commission of [*] percent ([*]%) of the net revenues collected
by AOL for such Advertisements. For the avoidance of doubt,
this provision shall not apply in any manner to any
Advertisements sold by any division of AOL Time Warner Inc.
other than AOL.
6.5

AOL USAGE REPORTING. AOL shall make available to HS a monthly
report on or before the 18th of each month specifying for the
prior calendar month Impressions and click−through with
respect to HS Presences on the AOL Network (other than the
Customized Programming), which are similar in substance and
form to the reports provided by AOL to other content partners
similar to HS.
6.5.1

AD SERVED IMPRESSIONS. Reports relating to
Impressions delivered to HS Presences which are
displayed on the AOL Network through AOL's ad serving
technology ("AD SERVED IMPRESSIONS") will tie on a
line−by−line basis to the Carriage Plan.

6.5.2

NON AD−SERVED IMPRESSIONS.

(a)

AOL Service. Reports regarding the reporting periods
through February 28, 2003, to be reported on or
before March 18, 2003 as provided in Section 6.5,
relating to Impressions delivered to HS Presences
which are displayed on the AOL Service through
technology other than AOL's ad server ("NON−AD SERVED
IMPRESSIONS") will not automatically tie to the
Carriage Plan on a line−by−line basis. During this
time period, AOL will make good faith efforts to
manually provide to HS reports which correspond to
the line items in the Carriage Plan for the Non−Ad
Served Impressions on the AOL Service. Except as
provided in Section 6.5.2(c), reports regarding the
reporting periods beginning March 1, 2003, to be
reported on reports on or after April 18, 2003 as
provided in Section 6.5, relating to Non−Ad Served
Impressions on the AOL Service will tie to the
Carriage Plan on a line−by−line basis.

(b)

Netscape.com, Compuserve and MapQuest. Reports
regarding the reporting periods ending January 31,
2003, to be reported on or before February 18, 2003
as provided in Section 6.5, relating to Non−Ad Served
Impressions on Netscape.com, Compuserve and MapQuest
will not automatically tie to the Carriage Plan on a
line−by−line basis. During this time period, AOL will
make good faith efforts to manually provide to HS
reports which correspond to the line items in the
Carriage Plan for the Non−Ad Served Impressions on
Netscape.com, Compuserve and MapQuest. Reports
regarding the reporting periods beginning February 1,
2003, to be reported on reports on or after March 18,
2003 as provided in Section 6.5, relating to Non−Ad
Served Impressions on Netscape.com, Compuserve and
MapQuest will tie to the Carriage Plan on a
line−by−line basis.

(c)

Digital City, AOL Canada and AOL PF Items.
Reports relating to Non−Ad Served Impressions on
Digital City, AOL Canada and the two line items
entitled "PF − AOL − Real Estate Main − HTML Feed"
and "PF − AOL − Real Estate Mortgages − HTML Feed" in
the Carriage Plan will not tie to the Carriage Plan
on a line−by−line

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
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basis. AOL will make good faith efforts to manually
provide to HS reports which correspond to the line
items in the Carriage Plan for the Non−Ad Served
Impressions on Digital City and AOL Canada.
(d)

6.6

Other Properties. The Carriage Plan attached hereto
as of the Effective Date does not anticipate Non−Ad
Served Impressions on portions of the AOL Network
other than those identified in subsections (a)
through (c) above. In the event that the Parties
modify the Carriage Plan to include Non−Ad Served
Impressions on additional portions of the AOL
Network, AOL will notify HS, upon HS's request,
whether the reports related to Non−Ad Served
Impressions in such additional locations will tie to
the Carriage Plan on a line−by−line basis. In cases
where the available reports will not tie to the
Carriage Plan on a line−by−line basis, AOL will make
good faith efforts to manually provide to HS reports
which correspond to the line items in the Carriage
Plan for the Non−Ad Served Impressions in the
affected areas.

6.5.3

MANUAL IMPLEMENTATION. HS acknowledges that even in
cases where technology enables reporting which ties
to the Carriage Plan on a line by line basis, certain
manual input is required to produce accurate reports,
and the complexity of the Carriage Plan [*]. [*]
shall not be a breach of this Agreement by AOL, [*].
In the event that HS believes that, [*], HS may
submit such concern to the Management Committee for
resolution solely by mutual agreement of the
Management Committee; provided, however, that this
sentence shall not adversely affect HS' rights to
receive the reports set forth in Section 6.5.4 and to
enforce its rights pursuant to Section 1.2.

6.5.4

THIRD PARTY AUDIT. The reports shall be based upon
reporting methodology which is audited regularly by
an independent third party chosen by AOL; provided,
however, that Digital City reporting shall not be
audited.

6.5.5

REPORTING EXPIRATION. HS shall have the right to
review any reports provided by AOL pursuant to this
Section 6.5 or Section 6.6. HS must notify AOL in
writing of anything other than an arithmetic error
contained in the reports to be provided by AOL
pursuant to this Section 6.5.5 or Section 6.6 within
thirty (30) days of HS's receipt of the report. Such
written notice must specify the alleged error. In the
event that HS notifies AOL of an alleged error by AOL
pursuant to this Section 6.5.5, HS and AOL shall
attempt, in good faith, to resolve the matter
informally within fifteen (15) days. In the event the
Parties are unable to resolve the matter informally,
either Party may commence the arbitration provisions
of this Agreement; provided, however, that any such
dispute that is not presented to the Management
Committee and, if necessary, arbitration as provided
in Section VII of Exhibit D for final and binding
resolution within ninety (90) days of HS's written
notice of the alleged error shall be waived by HS.

6.5.6

CLASSIFIEDS. AOL shall not provide any report of any
nature to HS regarding any Impressions delivered to
Classifieds.

CUSTOMIZED PROGRAMMING REPORTING. AOL shall make available to
HS a monthly report on or before the 18th of each month
specifying for the prior calendar month Impressions to the
Customized Programming, subject to cooperation from HS as set
forth in this Section 6.6, which are similar in substance and
form to the reports provided by

−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
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AOL to other content partners similar to HS. AOL shall provide
to HS certain tags which HS shall embed in specified locations
on the pages of Customized Programming in strict accordance
with AOL's instructions. HS shall further provide AOL with a
monthly report on or before the 18th of each month specifying
for the prior calendar month Impressions to the Customized
Programming as tracked by HS. HS acknowledges and agrees that
the reports provided by AOL shall be the governing reports
under this Agreement for all purposes, and further
acknowledges that there will be discrepancies between the HS
reports and the AOL reports. However, AOL may elect to monitor
the discrepancies between the two reports as an indication of
whether the AOL tags have been properly installed on the
Customized Programming. In the event that HS fails to properly
install the tags in accordance with AOL's instructions, AOL
shall be relieved of its obligation to provide Impressions to
the portion of the Customized Programming where such tags have
been improperly installed. The provisions of Sections 6.5.3,
6.5.4 and 6.5.5. shall apply to this Section 6.6.
6.7

CUSTOMIZED SITES REPORTING. HS will supply AOL with monthly
reports which reflect total Impressions and aggregate usage by
AOL Visitors to the Customized Sites during the prior calendar
month and, to the extent permitted by law and HS' standard
privacy policy applicable to the Generally Available Sites,
any registration information obtained from AOL Visitors at the
Customized Sites during the period in question. HS shall
provide AOL with a written list of all URLs related to the
Customized Sites and HS shall update such list promptly upon
any change thereto. Such reports shall be in such format as
reasonably requested by AOL, consistent in substance and form
with the reports required from other interactive marketing
partners similar to HS, provided that, in the event that AOL
changes the form of its reports and the change in form causes
HS to suffer more than incremental costs, AOL shall pay the
amount of any excess costs over and above such incremental
costs.

6.8

ADVERTISING. AOL shall provide monthly detailed information to
HS regarding all Advertisements appearing on the Home Channel
and any Advertisements on any other portion of the AOL Network
for which a revenue share is payable to HS hereunder. In
reporting any Advertisements, AOL shall provide reasonably
sufficient detail to enable HS to confirm the accuracy of its
revenue share payments.

6.9

SALES REPORTS. With respect to sales of Designated Products by
AOL on the Home Channel with each payment, AOL shall provide
HS with a monthly report containing such information as is
reasonably required for measuring Transaction Revenue activity
through the AOL Network with respect to such Designated
Products. Such report may include, without limitation, the
following to the extent available to or practicable for the
Party providing such report: (i) summary sales information by
day (date, number of Designated Products, number of orders,
total Transaction Revenues); and (ii) detailed sales
information to the extent AOL tracks such information (e.g.,
order date/time stamp, purchaser name and screenname, SKU,
product description). HS shall be entitled to use the reports
in its business operations and to disclose information derived
from such reports in an aggregate form.

6.10

PAYMENT SCHEDULE. Except as otherwise specified herein, AOL
agrees to pay HS all amounts owed to HS as described herein on
a quarterly basis within thirty (30) days of the end of the
quarter in which such amounts were collected by AOL. The first
quarter for which payment is to be made shall (i) begin on the
first day of the month following the month of execution of
this Agreement and (ii) include the portion of the month of
execution following the Effective Date (unless this Agreement
was executed on the first
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day of a month, in which case the quarter shall be deemed to
begin on the first day of such month).

7.

6.11

WIRED PAYMENTS. All payments by HS hereunder shall be paid in
immediately available, non−refundable U.S. funds wired to the
"America Online" account, Account Number [*] at [*], or such
other account of which AOL shall give HS written notice. In
the event of any questions regarding a payment made (or
expected to be made) by HS to AOL, AOL may contact [*].

6.12

TAXES. All payments provided in this Agreement are exclusive
of any sales, use, gross receipts, excise, import or export
value added or similar taxes or duties (the "TAXES"). HS shall
collect and pay and indemnify and hold AOL harmless from, any
Taxes arising from or related to the operation of the
Customized Sites and/or the sale of any products or services
by HS or its Affiliates and agents, including any penalties
and interest, as well as any costs associated with the
collection or withholding thereof, including attorneys' fees.

TERM; TERMINATION; REMEDIES
7.1

TERM. Unless earlier terminated or renewed, or extended, as
set forth herein, the Term of this Agreement shall commence on
the Effective Date and end on June 30, 2004 (the "TERM"). Upon
the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, AOL
may, at its discretion, for a period of up to [*] ([*]) days,
continue to promote one or more "pointers" or links from the
AOL Network to the Generally Available Sites and continue to
use HS' trade names, trademarks and service marks for such
purpose, and HS shall have no promotional payment or other
obligations of any kind to AOL during such [*] ([*]) day
period.

7.2

TERMINATION FOR BREACH. Either Party may terminate this
Agreement at any time in the event of a material breach by the
other Party which remains uncured after thirty (30) days
written notice thereof; provided, however, that the cure
period with respect to any scheduled payment shall be five (5)
days from the date such payment is due. In the event that AOL
elects to terminate this Agreement based upon a scheduled
payment which was not received by five (5) days after its due
date, HS shall continue to maintain the Customized Programming
and the Customized Sites in accordance with this Agreement for
a period of [*] ([*]) days after receipt of a termination
notice from AOL; provided, however, that in the event that
AOL's termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section
7.2 occurs during the last calendar quarter of the Term, HS
shall continue to maintain the Customized Programming and the
Customized Sites in accordance with this Agreement until June
30, 2004.

7.3

TERMINATION BY AOL. AOL may terminate this Agreement
immediately upon the sending of written notice of such
termination to HS if at any time during the Term, HS fails to
meet the Key Indicator set forth in Section 5.2.1(c).

7.4

TERMINATION FOR BANKRUPTCY/INSOLVENCY. Either Party may
terminate this Agreement immediately following written notice
to the other Party if the other Party (i) becomes or is
declared insolvent or bankrupt, (ii) is the subject of any
proceeding related to its
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liquidation or insolvency (whether voluntary or involuntary)
which is not dismissed within ninety (90) calendar days after
it is initiated, (iii) makes an assignment for the benefit of
creditors, or (iv) admits in writing that it is unable to pay
its debts in the ordinary course.
7.5

TERMINATION AND RELEASE FOR CHANGE OF CONTROL. AOL may
terminate this Agreement by providing HS with thirty (30) days
prior written notice of such intent to terminate in the event
of a Change of Control of HS resulting in control of HS by any
of the following or one of its Affiliates: (a) [*]; (b) [*],
(c) [*], (d) any Internet connectivity services (e.g., an
Internet service provider) that received over $[*] in gross
revenues from the provision of Internet connectivity services
during its most recent fiscal annual reporting period; or (e)
any of the top [*] Interactive Sites or services featuring a
broad selection of aggregated third party interactive Content
or navigation thereto (e.g., Alta Vista, Lycos) as measured
based on "reach" (as measured by Media Metrix or its
successor).

8.

PRESS RELEASES. In addition to the requirements of Exhibit D, each
Party will submit to the other Party, for its prior written approval,
any press release or any other public statement ("PRESS RELEASE")
regarding the transactions contemplated hereunder, which approval will
not be unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either
Party may issue Press Releases and other disclosures as required by
law, rule, regulation or court order or as reasonably advised by legal
counsel without the consent of the other Party and in such event, the
disclosing Party will provide at least five (5) business days prior
written notice of such disclosure unless a shorter period is required
by such law, rule, regulation or court order, in which case the
disclosing Party shall provide as much notice as possible. The failure
by one Party to obtain the prior written approval of the other Party
prior to issuing a Press Release (except as required by law, rule,
regulation or court order) shall be deemed a material breach of this
Agreement.

9.

PERFORMANCE BY SUBSIDIARIES. To the extent this Agreement requires
performance by a subsidiary of AOL, AOL, in its capacity as stockholder
of such subsidiary, shall cause such subsidiary to perform in
accordance with this Agreement. To the extent this Agreement requires
performance by a subsidiary of Homestore, Homestore, in its capacity as
stockholder of such subsidiary, shall cause such subsidiary to perform
in accordance with this Agreement.

10.

REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTY. HS represents and warrants that it is the
successor−in−interest of RealSelect, Inc. and Homestore.com, Inc. and
that it has the ability to terminate the Existing Agreement on behalf
of RealSelect, Inc. and Homestore.com, Inc.

11.

TERMINATION OF PRIOR AGREEMENTS. Upon the execution hereof, subject to
the fulfillment of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 13,
except as expressly provided in this Section 11, the Parties hereby
terminate as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Existing
Agreement, that certain Securities Purchase Agreement (the "SECURITIES
PURCHASE AGREEMENT") and that certain Registration Rights Agreement,
each dated as of April 25, 2000, between AOL and HS (including HS's
predecessors−in−interest) (collectively, the "PRIOR AGREEMENTS") and,
upon such termination, such Prior Agreements shall have no further
force or effect, except as expressly provided in this Section 11.
Without limiting the foregoing, the Parties specifically acknowledge
and agree that as a result of the termination of the Prior Agreements
all contractual restrictions and/or limitations contained in the Prior
Agreements relating to AOL's disposition of any or all shares of HS
common stock previously acquired pursuant to the Prior Agreements are
terminated and are of no further force and effect, including, without
limitation, all restrictions or limitations set forth in Sections 3(c)
and 4 of the Securities Purchase Agreement. Promptly upon AOL's
request, HS shall instruct its transfer agent to issue new certificates
to AOL evidencing such
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shares without restrictive legends against delivery of the old
certificates. Upon termination of the Prior Agreements, AOL shall be
entitled to no further issuances of shares pursuant to the Prior
Agreements and shall have no put rights or price guaranties or similar
arrangements for equity downside protection with respect to such
shares. The foregoing notwithstanding, the following provisions in the
Prior Agreements shall expressly survive the termination of the Prior
Agreements (or the termination of the Prior Agreements shall not effect
the matters set forth below): (i) any rights with respect to any
warrants or other equity of HS held by AOL, which rights do not arise
out the Prior Agreements; (ii) any rights of AOL to receive any amounts
available for drawing under the Letter of Credit (as defined in the
Existing Agreement) unless and until the side letter described in
Sections 13.1.3 and 13.2.3 is signed by all parties thereto and AOL has
been paid Ninety Million Dollars ($90,000,000) by Merrill Lynch; and
(iii) Sections IV, V, VI, and VII of Exhibit D to the Existing
Agreement and the following sections of Section VIII of Exhibit D to
the Existing Agreement: Auditing Rights (including audit rights with
respect to Sales Revenue for purposes of computing payments due under
the Existing Agreement pursuant to revenue sharing arrangements (and
the obligation to pay any additional amounts owed based on the results
of such audit)), Notice, Return of Information, Entire Agreement,
Amendment, Construction; Severability, Remedies, Headings, and
Applicable Law, but survival shall not apply to any provision in
Section 6.6 of the Existing Agreement .
12.

STANDARD TERMS. All Exhibits and Schedules hereto (including the
Standard Legal Terms & Conditions set forth on Exhibit D) are each
hereby made a part of this Agreement.

13.

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT.
13.1

13.2

The obligations of AOL under this Agreement are subject to the
fulfillment of each of the following conditions, any one or
more of which may be waived by AOL:
13.1.1

AOL has received the amount of Ninety Million Dollars
($90,000,000) drawn pursuant to that certain
Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No. 200020
issued by Merrill Lynch Bank USA ("MERRILL LYNCH"),
dated May 18, 2000, as partial consideration for the
termination of the Existing Agreement;

13.1.2

HS shall have delivered to AOL a Settlement Agreement
and Release in a form acceptable to AOL, executed by
its duly authorized representative;

13.1.3

HS shall have delivered to AOL a side letter among
Merrill Lynch , HS and AOL regarding the payment of
the Ninety Million Dollars ($90,000,000) to AOL
pursuant to Section 13.1.1 in a form acceptable to
AOL, executed by its duly authorized representative
and by a representative of Merrill Lynch.

13.1.4

HS shall have paid to AOL Eleven Million Two Hundred
Fifty Thousand Dollars ($11,250,000) upon LOC
Termination as provided in Section 6.1.

The obligations of HS under this Agreement are subject to the
fulfillment of each of the following conditions, any one or
more of which may be waived by HS:
13.2.1

AOL shall have delivered to HS a Settlement Agreement
and Release in a form acceptable to HS, executed by
its duly authorized representative;

13.2.2

AOL shall have delivered to HS a side letter among
Merrill Lynch Bank USA, HS and AOL regarding the
payment of the Ninety Million Dollars ($90,000,000)
to
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AOL pursuant to Section 13.1.1 in a form acceptable
to HS, executed by its duly authorized representative
and by a representative of Merrill Lynch.
14.

THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY. Notwithstanding any other provision of this
Agreement, the Parties agree that AOL Canada, Inc. is an express third
party beneficiary of this Agreement, with any rights and remedies
associated therewith.

15.

EMPLOYEE OFFER. AOL shall make available to HS the special employee
membership offer outlined on Exhibit J attached hereto.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as
of the Effective Date.
AMERICA ONLINE, INC.

HOMESTORE, INC.

By:

By: /s/ Allan P. Merrill
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
Print Name: Allan P. Merrill
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
Title: EVP Corporate Development
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
Date:
January 9, 2003
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
Tax ID/EIN#:
52−2284225
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

/s/ Joseph A. Ripp
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
Print Name:
Joseph A. Ripp
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
Title:
Vice Chairman
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
Date:
01/09/03
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
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EXHIBIT A
CARRIAGE PLAN

CONFIDENTIAL
EXHIBIT A−1
INTEGRATED PLACEMENT COMMITMENT

AOL LOCAL

FLIGHT
TOTALS
COPY SIZE
START
END
IMPRESSIONS
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
AOL Local− Real Estate Main− Functional Integration 1
Functional Integration 1/15/2003 6/30/2004
[*]
AOL Local− Real Estate Main− Functional Integration 2
Functional Integration 1/15/2003 6/30/2004
[*]
AOL Local− Real Estate Main− Graphic w/ Link 1
Graphic/Photo
6/1/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
AOL Local− Real Estate Main− Graphic w/ Link 2
Graphic/Photo
1/15/2003 5/31/2003
[*]
AOL Local− Real Estate Main− Text Link 1
Text 1
1/15/2003 6/30/2004
[*]
AOL Local− Real Estate Main− Text Link 2
Text 1
1/15/2003 6/30/2004
[*]
AOL Local− Real Estate Main− Text Link 3
Text 1
1/15/2003 6/30/2004
[*]
AOL Local− Real Estate Main− Text Link 4
Text 1
1/15/2003 6/30/2004
[*]
AOL Local− Real Estate Main− Text Link 5
Text 1
1/15/2003 6/30/2004
[*]
RealEstate − Digital Cities − Featured Homes− Listings Feed
Functional Integration
1/15/2003 6/30/2004
[*]
RealEstate − Digital Cities − Featured New Homes− Listings Feed
Functional Integration
1/15/2003 6/30/2004
[*]
RealEstate − Digital Cities − Featured Apartments− Listings Feed
Functional Integration
1/15/2003 6/30/2004
[*]
====================================================================================================================================
SUB TOTAL
[*]

−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
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AOL LOCAL

FLIGHT
TOTALS
COPY SIZE
START
END
IMPRESSIONS
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−
AOL−

House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
House &Home−
navigation 1
AOL− House &Home−
navigation 2
AOL− House &Home−
AOL− House &Home−

Decorating subscreens− Text Link 1
Decorating subscreens− Text Link 2
Gardening subscreens− Text Link 3
Gardening subscreens− Text Link 4
Home Improvement subscreens− Text Link 1
Home Improvement subscreens− Text Link 2
Home Services− Functional Integration
Home Services− Graphic w/ link
Home Services− Text Link 1
Home Services− Text Link 2
Home Services− Text Link 3
Home Services− Text Link 4
Home Services− Text Link 5
Home Services− Text Link 6
Home Services− Text Link 7
Home Services− Text Link 8
Home Services− Text Link 9
Real Estate− Buying &Selling− Text Link−

Graphic with Text
Graphic with Text
Text 1
Text 1
Text 1
Text 1
Functional Integration
Graphic with Text
Text 1
Text 1
Text 1
Text 1
Text 1
Text 1
Text 1
Text 1
Text 1
Text 1

1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
5/31/2003
6/30/2004
5/31/2003
6/30/2004
5/31/2003
5/31/2003
5/31/2003
5/31/2003
5/31/2003
5/31/2003
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468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60

1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004

−−−−−−−−−−
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[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]

home insurance (Search Banner)
home listings (Search Banner)
home listings (Search Banner)
home loans (Search Banner)
home maintenance (Search Banner)
home mortgages (Search Banner)
home office (Search Banner)
home plans (Search Banner)
home remodeling (Search Banner)
home security (Search Banner)
home services (Search Banner)
home tech (Search Banner)
home theater (Search Banner)
homes (Search Banner)
house plans (Search Banner)
insurance (Search Banner)
interior design (Search Banner)
loan rates (Search Banner)
loans (Search Banner)
manufactured housing (Search Banner)

468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60

1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004

−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
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[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]

mobile home (Search Banner)
mobile homes (Search Banner)
modular homes (Search Banner)
mortages (Search Banner)
mortgage (Search Banner)
mortgage calculator (Search Banner)
mortgage rates (Search Banner)
mortgages (Search Banner)
move (Search Banner)
moving (Search Banner)
new home (Search Banner)
new homes (Search Banner)
personal finance (Search Banner)
prefab home (Search Banner)
real estate (Search Banner)
realtor (Search Banner)
refinancing (Search Banner)
relocation (Search Banner)
remodeling (Search Banner)
rentals (Search Banner)

468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60
468x60

1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004

−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
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[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]

tax (Search Banner)
tools (Search Banner)
vacation homes (Search Banner)
AOL SERVICE
AOLTW Home &Interest Network − AOL
Run of House &Home {5100000570}
Run of Parenting Channel {5100009326}
COASTAL LIVING
Run of CoastalLiving.com (468x60)
COMPUSERVE
Run of Home &Family 468x60 {5100011080}

468x60
468x60
468x60

(MULTI)
(MULTI)
(MULTI)

468x60

468x60

1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004

[*]
[*]
[*]

1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004

[*]
[*]
[*]

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

FORTUNE
FORTUNE − Run of Fortune.com (Top468x60)

468x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

PARENTING.COM
Run of Parenting.com (All)

(MULTI)

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

REAL SIMPLE
Run of RealSimple.com − All art sizes

(MULTI)

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

SOUTHERN LIVING
Homes − SouthernLiving.com − Top (468x60)
Run of SouthernLiving.com (120x240)
Run of SouthernLiving.com (468x60)

468x60
120x240
468x60

1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004

[*]
[*]
[*]

SUNSET
Run of Sunset.com − Homes (120x60)

120x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

Run of Sunset.com (468x60)
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
================================================================================================================================
SUB TOTAL
[*]

−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
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[*]

FLIGHT
TOTALS
COPY SIZE
START
END
IMPRESSIONS
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
AOL CANADA
Canada − Finance − Main Page
Canada − Finance − Real Estate Centre− Permanent
Sponsor
AOL LOCAL
AOL Local − Run of Real Estate (120x60)
Run of Real Estate − AOL Local − (234x60)
AOL SERVICE
Run of Research &Learn 2 {5100035876}

234x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

120x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

120x60
234x60

1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004

[*]
[*]

234x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

CNNMONEY.COM
Personal Finance − CNNMoney.com − Money 101 − Buying
A Home (Lesson) − Text 3 (150x10)
150x10
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
Personal Finance − CNNMoney.com − Your Home − Real
Estate Calculators (468x60)
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
Personal Finance − CNNMoney.com − Your Home (160x600)
160x600
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
==================================================================================================================================
SUB TOTAL
[*]

−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
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[*]

FLIGHT
TOTALS
COPY SIZE
START
END
IMPRESSIONS
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
AOL CANADA
Canada − Local Guide − Main
Canada − Local Guide − Main− Permanent Anchor
Canada − Mail in Box

234x60
136x27
234x60

1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004

[*]
[*]
[*]

AOL LOCAL
Run of Health − AOL Local − (234x60)

234x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

Run of Mains − AOL Local − (234x60)

234x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

234x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

234x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

234x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

CNNMONEY.COM
Run of CNNMoney.com (7) (468x60)

468x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

INTERNATIONAL
Canada − AOL Anywhere − Home Page (Web)
Canada − Netscape − Main Page
Canada − Netscape − Main Page
Canada − Time − Time Main Page
Canada − Time − Time Main Page

120x60
120x60
234x60
468x60
120x60

1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004
6/30/2004

[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]

CLASSIFIEDS
ClassifiedPlus − General Home &Garden Package
{5100010773}
ClassifiedPlus − Real Estate Home Sales Package
{5100010848}
ClassifiedPlus − Real Estate Main and Services
Package {5100010850}

NETSCAPE
AOLTW Personal Finance Network − Netscape
(MULTI)
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
Run of Money − NET Network (468x60)
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
EBAY
Ebay − AOL − Run of Home &Garden Department
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
eBay − AOL − Run of Real Estate Department
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
eBay − CSI − Run of Home &Garden Main
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
eBay − NET − Run of Home &Garden Department
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
eBay − Public − Category Browse − Run of Home &
Garden
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
eBay − Public − Category Browse − Run of Real Estate
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
eBay − PUBLIC − Run of Home and Garden Search Terms
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
eBay − Public − Themes − Home Interiors
120x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
==================================================================================================================================
SUB TOTAL
[*]

−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH
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[*]

FLIGHT
TOTALS
COPY SIZE
START
END
IMPRESSIONS
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
AOL LOCAL
Run of Personal Finance − AOL Local

234x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

AOL SERVICE
Run of Career's and Work Channel {5100001077}
Run of Personal Finance (AOL) (Financial)

234x60
234x60

1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004

[*]
[*]

CNN.COM
Run of CNN.com (1) (468x60)

468x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

COMPUSERVE
Run of Business &Professional 120x60 {5100012753}
Run of Personal Finance − CSI (468x60)
(Non Financial)

120x60
468x60

1/15/2003
1/15/2003

6/30/2004
6/30/2004

[*]
[*]

MAPQUEST
MapQuest − QR− Non Specific Target (120x240 and
160x600)
120x240
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
==================================================================================================================================
SUB TOTAL
[*]

−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH
RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.
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[*]

FLIGHT
TOTALS
COPY SIZE
START
END
IMPRESSIONS
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
AOL ANYWHERE
AOL.com − Webmail Read Mail

234x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

AOL LOCAL
Run of Other Markets (Yourtown)

234x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

AOL SEARCH
Search Term General Rotation (ICQ, CSI, NET)
{5100034951}

468x60

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

AOL SERVICE
Run of AOL Network {5100494563}

(MULTI)

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

COMPUSERVE
Run of Compuserve {5100496125}

(MULTI)

1/15/2003

6/30/2004

[*]

NETSCAPE
Run of NET Network (120x240)
120x240
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
Run of NET Network (468x60)
468x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
==================================================================================================================================
SUB TOTAL
[*]

−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH
RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.

CONFIDENTIAL

[*]

FLIGHT
TOTALS
COPY SIZE
START
END
IMPRESSIONS
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
AIM − Buddy List − MAC − Top (120x60)
120x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
AIM − Buddy List − Top (120x60)
120x60
1/15/2003
6/30/2004
[*]
==================================================================================================================================
SUB TOTAL
[*]
MEDIA PLACEMENT COMMITMENT

[*]

==================================================================================================================================
16. TOTAL IMPRESSIONS COMMITMENT FROM INTEGRATED PLACEMENT COMMITMENT AND MEDIA PLACEMENT COMMITMENT

With respect to any inventory designated as "EBAY − PUBLIC" (or similar
designation of inventory on the publicly available version of EBay, Inc.'s
primary interactive site), this Insertion Order incorporates by reference the
EBay terms and conditions (the "EBay Ad Terms") which provide, among other
things, that EBay is an express third party beneficiary of this Insertion Order.
The EBay Ad Terms appear at keyword "EBay Ad Terms 1" on the U.S.−based America
Online brand service and at "http://mediaspace.aol.com/ebayadterms1.html." A
hard copy of the EBay terms and will be provided to Advertiser upon request.
Advertiser acknowledges that it has been provided an opportunity to review the
EBay Ad Terms and agrees to be bound by them.
−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
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[*]

EXHIBIT B
DEFINITIONS

DEFINITIONS. The following definitions shall apply to this Agreement:
AD SERVED IMPRESSIONS. As defined in Section 6.5.1 of the Agreement.
ADVERTISEMENTS. Promotions, advertisements, links, pointers, sponsorships, and
similar services or rights.

ADVERTISEMENTS REVENUE. The aggregate amount of all cash collected from third parties by AOL or its agents,
recognized as revenue under generally accepted accounting principles arising from the license or sale of
Advertisements on the AOL Properties, as the case may be, less applicable Advertising Sales Commissions and
net of any cancellations. Advertising Revenues shall not include HS Professional Fees or AOL Subscription
Fees. HS and AOL agree that: (a) with respect to the Home Channel, the fair market value of barter received
by a Party or its agents in any calendar quarter from third parties other than Affiliates from the license
or sale of Advertisements shall also be included in Advertising Revenues, but only to the extent that the
fair market value of such barter received by such Party or its agents from all such third parties other than
Affiliates in any period of measurement exceeds in the aggregate fifteen percent (15%) of the aggregate
amount of all the value (including cash and the fair market value of barter) received by such Party or its
agents during such period of measurement from the license or sale of such Advertisements; and (b) outside of
the Home Channel on the AOL Properties, the fair market value of barter shall not be included in Advertising
Revenues; however, if HS feels that AOL is abusing barter in HS Service related areas outside of the Home
Channel and as a result is depriving HS of a meaningful revenue source hereunder, then HS shall have the
right to raise the issue to the Management Committee for resolution as provided in Section VII of Exhibit D.
ADVERTISING SALES COMMISSIONS. (i) Actual amounts paid as commission to third party agencies by either buyer
or seller in connection with sale of the Advertisement or (ii) [*]%, in the event the Party has sold the
Advertisement directly and will not be deducting any third party agency commissions.
AFFILIATE. With respect to any Person any agent, distributor or franchisee of such Person, or an entity
that, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such Person,
including any entity in which such Person holds, directly or indirectly, at least a nineteen percent (19%)
equity interest, except that with respect to the provisions of Section 1.4.4 and Article 5 of the body of
this Agreement the required equity interest shall be at least fifty percent (50%).
AGREEMENT. As defined in the introductory paragraph of the Agreement.
AIM. As defined in Section 2.5.1 of the Agreement.
AOL. As defined in the introductory paragraph of the Agreement.

AOL.COM. AOL's standard narrowband version of the primary Internet−based Interactive Site marketed under the
"AOL.com(SM)" brand, regardless of whether users access such standard narrowband version of such primary
Internet−based Interactive Site by narrowband, DSL, cablemodem or other high speed or broadband access
medium, specifically excluding (a) the AOL Service, (b) any international versions of such site, (c)
CompuServe.com, Netscape.com, any other CompuServe or Netscape products or services or interactive sites,
(d) "ICQ(SM)," "AOL Search," "AOL Instant Messenger(SM)," "AOL NetMail(SM)" or any similar independent
product or service offered by or through such site or any other AOL Interactive Site, (e) any programming or
Content area offered by or through such site over which AOL does not exercise complete operational control
(including, without limitation, Content areas controlled by other parties and member−created Content areas),
(f) any programming or Content area offered by or
−−−−−−−−−−
[*] CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMMITTED AND FILED SEPERATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH RESPECT TO
THE OMMITTED PORTIONS.
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through the U.S. version of the America Online brand service which was operated, maintained or controlled by
the former AOL Studios division, (g) any yellow pages, white pages, classifieds or other search, directory
or review services or Content offered by or through such site or any other AOL Interactive Site, (h) any
property, feature, product or service which AOL or its Affiliates may acquire subsequent to the Effective
Date and (i) any other version of an America Online Interactive Site which is materially different from
AOL's primary Internet−based Interactive Site marketed under the "AOL.COM" brand, by virtue of its branding,
distribution, functionality, Content or services, including, without limitation, any co−branded versions and
any version distributed through any broadband distribution platform or through any platform or device other
than a desktop personal computer.
AOL BROADBAND. The specific Content and functionality which is available through the U.S. version of the
America Online brand service and which is accessible solely through a high speed (generally over 100 kbps)
broadband distribution platform, specifically excluding (a) the components of the AOL Service accessible
through narrowband distribution platforms, (b) AOL.com, any AOL Interactive Site and the international
versions of an America Online service (e.g., AOL Japan) and any broadband component available through such
AOL Properties and versions (c) the CompuServe brand service and any other CompuServe products or services
whether broadband or narrowband, (d) Netscape.com and any other Netscape products or services whether
broadband or narrowband, (e) "ICQ" "AOL NetFind," "AOL Instant Messenger," "Digital City" "NetMail," "Real
Fans", "Love@AOL", "Entertainment Asylum," "AOL Hometown" or any similar independent product, service or
property which may be offered by, through or with the U.S. version of the America Online brand service or
the broadband component thereof, (f) any programming or content area offered by or through the U.S. version
of the America Online brand service over which AOL does not exercise complete operational control
(including, without limitation, Content areas controlled by other parties and member−created Content areas),
whether broadband or narrowband, (g) any yellow pages, white pages, classifieds or other search, directory
or review services or Content offered by or through the U.S. version of the America Online brand service
whether broadband or narrowband, (h) any property, feature, product or service which AOL or its Affiliates
may acquire subsequent to the date of this Agreement and (i) any other version of an America Online service
(and broadband Content associated therewith) which is materially different from the narrow−band U.S. version
of the America Online brand service, by virtue of its branding, distribution, functionality, Content or
services, including, without limitation, any co−branded version of the service and any version distributed
through any platform or device other than a desktop personal computer.
AOL CANADA. The standard narrow−band Canadian version of the America Online(R) brand service regardless of
whether users access such standard narrowband service by narrowband, DSL, cablemodem or other high−speed or
broadband access medium, specifically excluding (a) AOL.com and any other AOL Interactive Site(b) other
international versions of an America Online service (e.g., AOL Japan), (c) the CompuServe(R) brand service
and any other CompuServe products or services, (d) Netscape Netcenter(TM) and any other Netscape(R) products
or services, (e) "ICQ(SM)," "AOL Search," "AOL Instant Messenger(SM)," "Digital City(SM)," "AOL
NetMail(SM)," "Real Fans(SM)", "Love@AOL(SM)", "Entertainment Asylum(SM)," "AOL Hometown(SM)" or any similar
independent product, service or property which may be offered by, through or with the Canadian version of
the America Online(R) brand service, (f) any programming or content area offered by or through the Canadian
version of the America Online(R) brand service over which AOL does not exercise complete operational control
(including, without limitation, Content areas controlled by other parties and member−created Content areas),
(g) any yellow pages, white pages, classifieds or other search, directory or review services or Content
offered by or through the Canadian. version of the America Online(R) brand service, (h) any property,
feature, product or service which AOL or its Affiliates may acquire subsequent to the Effective Date and (i)
any other version of an America Online service which is materially different from the standard narrow−band
Canadian version of the America Online brand service, by virtue of its branding, distribution,
functionality, Content or services, including, without limitation, any co−branded version of the service and
any version
2
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distributed through any platform or device other than a desktop personal computer or, except as expressly
provided above, through any broadband distribution platform.
AOL INTERACTIVE SITE. Any interactive site which is managed, maintained, owned
or controlled by AOL or its agents.
AOL LIST. As defined in Section 6.4 of the Agreement.

AOL LOOK AND FEEL. The elements of graphics, design, organization, presentation, layout, user interface,
navigation, trade dress and stylistic convention (including the digital implementations thereof) within the
AOL Network and the total appearance and impression substantially formed by the combination, coordination
and interaction of these elements.
AOL NETWORK. (i) The AOL Service, AOL Broadband, AOL.com, the CompuServe Service, Digital City and
Netscape.com and (ii) any other product, service or property owned, operated, distributed or authorized to
be distributed by or through AOL or its Affiliates worldwide (and including those products, services and
properties that are excluded from the definitions of the AOL Service, AOL.com or any other AOL Property). It
is understood and agreed that the rights of HS relate solely to particular AOL Properties as expressly set
forth in this Agreement and not generally to the AOL Network.
AOL PROPERTIES. The AOL Service, AOL Broadband, AOL.com, the Compuserve Service,
Netscape.com, Digital City, and AOL Canada.

AOL PURCHASER. In the case of the Customized Sites, (i) any AOL User who enters the Customized Sites from
the AOL Properties and generates Transaction Revenues from the purchase of Products on the Customized Sites,
(ii) any AOL User who generates Transaction Revenues from any other electronic means through a promotion
directed at AOL Users (e.g., e−mail offers), or (iii) any AOL User who generates Transaction Revenues from
an "offline" means (e.g. toll−free number) for receiving orders related to specific offers within the
Customized Sites requiring purchasers to reference a specific promotional identifier or tracking code,
including, without limitation, products sold through surcharged downloads (to the extent expressly permitted
hereunder). In the case of the AOL Properties, (i) any AOL User who enters the AOL Properties and generates
Transaction Revenues thereon from the purchase of Products within any HS Service, (ii) any AOL User who
generates Transaction Revenues from any other electronic means through a promotion directly relating to
Products within any HS Service, or (iii) any AOL User who generates Transaction Revenues from an "offline"
means (e.g. toll−free number) for receiving orders related to specific offers within the AOL Properties
directly relating to Products within any HS Service requiring purchasers to reference a specific promotional
identifier or tracking code, including, without limitation, products sold through surcharged downloads.
AOL SERVICE. The standard narrow−band U.S. version of the America Online(R) brand service regardless of
whether users access such standard narrowband version of such service by narrowband, DSL, cable modem or
other high−speed or broadband access medium, specifically excluding (a) AOL.com(SM) and any other AOL
Interactive Site, (b) the international versions of an America Online service (e.g., AOL Japan), (c) the
CompuServe(R) brand service and any other CompuServe products or services, (d) Netscape.com and any other
Netscape(R) products or services, (e) "ICQ(SM)," "AOL Search," "AOL Instant Messenger(SM)," "Digital
City(SM)," "AOL NetMail(SM)," "Real Fans(SM)", "Love@AOL(SM)", "Entertainment Asylum(SM)," "AOL
Hometown(SM)" or any similar independent product, service or property which may be offered by, through or
with the U.S. version of the America Online(R) brand service, (f) any programming or content area offered by
or through the U.S. version of the America Online(R) brand service over which AOL does not exercise complete
operational control (including, without limitation, Content areas controlled by other parties and
member−created Content areas), (g) any yellow pages, white pages, classifieds or other search, directory or
review services or Content offered by or through the U.S. version of the America Online(R) brand service,
(h) any property, feature, product or service which AOL or its Affiliates may acquire subsequent to the
Effective Date and (i) any other version of an America Online service which is materially different
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from the standard narrow−band U.S. version of the America Online brand service, by virtue of its branding,
distribution, functionality, Content or services, including, without limitation, any co−branded version of
the service and any version distributed through any platform or device other than a desktop personal
computer or, except as expressly provided above, through any broadband distribution platform.
AOL SUBSCRIPTION FEES. Any subscription, licensing or other fees for use of the products, services and
properties included within the definition of the AOL Network (i.e., the subscription fees for the AOL
Service).
AOL TOOLS. As defined in Section 2.5.1 of the Agreement.

AOL USER. Any user of the AOL Network, including authorized users (including any sub−accounts under an
authorized master account) of the AOL Service and/or the CompuServe Service.
AOL VISITOR. Any Person who enters the Customized Site or the Customized Programming from the AOL Network
including, without limitation, from any third party area therein (to the extent entry from such third party
area is traceable through both Parties' commercially reasonable efforts), (regardless of whether such Person
provides an e−mail address during registration or entrance to the Customized Site which includes a domain
other than an "AOL.com" domain); and (ii) any other Person who, when purchasing a product, good or service
through an HS Interactive Site, provides an AOL.com domain name or a CompuServe.com domain name as part of
such Person's e−mail address.
CARRIAGE PLAN. As defined in Section 1.1 of the Agreement.
CATEGORY SHARE. As defined in Section 6.3 of the Agreement.

CHANGE OF CONTROL. (a) The consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation or sale or other
disposition of substantially all of the assets of a Party (a "FUNDAMENTAL TRANSACTION"), other than a
Fundamental Transaction which would result in the holders of the Party's voting securities outstanding
immediately before the Fundamental Transaction continuing after the Fundamental Transaction to own more than
50% of the outstanding voting securities of (A) the Company, (B) the surviving entity in the Fundamental
Transaction, or (C) in the case of a division, each entity resulting from the division; or (b) the
acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d−3
promulgated under such Act) of more than 50% of either (i) the then outstanding shares of common stock of
such party; or (ii) the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such party
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors.
CLASSIFIEDS. As defined in Section 5.1.2 of the Agreement.

COMPUSERVE SERVICE. The standard HTML version of the narrow−band U.S. version of the CompuServe brand
service, regardless of whether users access such standard narrowband service by narrowband, DSL, cable modem
or other high−speed or broadband access medium, specifically excluding (a) any international versions of
such service (e.g., NiftyServe), (b) any web−based service including "compuserve.com", "cserve.com" and
"cs.com", or any similar product or service offered by or through the U.S. version of the CompuServe brand
service, (c) Content areas owned, maintained or controlled by CompuServe Affiliates or any similar
"sub−service," (d) any programming or Content area offered by or through the U.S. version of the CompuServe
brand service over which CompuServe does not exercise complete or substantially complete operational control
(e.g., third−party Content areas), (e) any yellow pages, white pages, classifieds or other search, directory
or review services or Content (f) any co−branded or private label branded version of the U.S. version of the
CompuServe brand service, (g) any version of the U.S. version of the CompuServe brand service which offers
Content, distribution, services or functionality materially different from the Content, distribution,
services or functionality associated with the standard, narrow−band U.S. version of the CompuServe brand
service, including, without limitation, any version of such service distributed through any platform or
device other than a desktop personal computer, (h) any property, feature, product or service which
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CompuServe or its Affiliates may acquire subsequent to the Effective Date, (i) the America Online brand
service and any independent product or service which may be offered by, through or with the U.S. version of
the America Online brand service and (j) the HMI versions of the CompuServe brand service.
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION. Any information relating to or disclosed in the course of this Agreement, which
is, or should be reasonably understood to be, confidential or proprietary to the disclosing Party,
including, but not limited to, the material terms of this Agreement, information about AOL Users, technical
processes and formulas, source codes, product designs, sales, cost and other unpublished financial
information, product and business plans, projections and marketing data. "Confidential Information" shall
not include information (a) already lawfully known to or independently developed by the receiving Party, (b)
disclosed in published materials, (c) generally known to the public through no fault of the disclosing
Party, or (d) lawfully obtained from any third party.
CONTENT. Text, images, video, audio (including, without limitation, music used in time relation with text,
images, or video), and other data, products, services, Advertisements, promotions, URLs, keywords and other
navigational elements, links, pointers, technology and software.
CPM. Cost per one thousand Impressions.

CREDIT REPORTS. A report aggregating and detailing consumer credit information from one or more of the
following credit agencies: Experian, Equifax and TransUnion. Products included, without limitation, 3 bureau
credit report, 3 bureau credit score, and credit monitoring.
CRIME REPORTS. Reports detailing crime statistics for a particular geographic area, including, without
limitation, violent crime, aggravated assault, murder, and robbery.
CUSTOMIZED PROGRAMMING. Any (a) areas within the AOL Network or outside the AOL Network but exclusively
available to AOL Users and all Licensed Content thereon, to the extent such area is developed, programmed,
and/or managed by HS or its Affiliates or their respective agents pursuant to this Agreement (including,
without limitation, message boards, chat and other AOL User−supplied content areas contained therein and
including any sites or areas linked thereto) including, without limitation, any co−branded site or page, but
excluding the Customized Site and (b) Licensed Content provided to AOL by HS or its Affiliates or their
respective agents pursuant to this Agreement and used by AOL in accordance with this Agreement for
distribution on or through the AOL Network other than on the Customized Site.
CUSTOMIZED SITES. Collectively, each version of the Generally Available Sites that is customized for
distribution through the AOL Network in accordance with this Agreement.
DESIGNATED PRODUCTS. Credit Reports and Property Reports.

DIGITAL CITY. The standard, narrow−band U.S. version of DCI's local content offerings marketed under the
Digital City brand name, regardless of whether users access such standard, narrowband version of such local
content offerings by narrowband, DSL, cablemodem or other high−speed or broadband access medium,
specifically excluding (a) the AOL Service, AOL.com or any other AOL Interactive Site, (b) any international
versions of such local content offerings, (c) the CompuServe brand service and any other CompuServe products
or services (d) "Driveway," "ICQ," "AOL Search," "AOL Instant Messenger," "Digital City," "AOL NetMail,"
"Electra", "Thrive", "Real Fans", "Love@AOL", "Entertainment Asylum," "AOL Hometown," "My News" or any
similar independent product, service or property which may be offered by, through or with the standard
narrow band version of DCI's local content offerings, (e) any programming or Content area offered by or
through such local content offerings over which AOL does not exercise complete operational control
(including, without limitation, Content areas controlled by other parties and member−created Content areas),
(f) any yellow pages, white pages, classifieds or other search, directory or review services or Content
offered by or through such local content offerings, (g) any property, feature, product or service which AOL
or its Affiliates may acquire subsequent to the Effective Date, (h) any other version of a DCI local content
offering which is materially different from the narrow−band U.S. version of DCI's local
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content offerings marketed under the Digital City brand name, by virtue of its branding, distribution,
functionality, Content or services, including, without limitation, any co−branded version of the offerings
and any version distributed through any broadband distribution platform or through any platform or device
other than a desktop personal computer, and (i) Digital City−branded offerings in any local area where such
offerings are not owned or operationally controlled by AOL, Inc. or DCI (e.g., Chicago, Orlando, South
Florida, and Hampton Roads).
EFFECTIVE DATE. As defined in the introductory paragraph of the Agreement.
EXISTING AGREEMENT. As defined in the Introduction of the Agreement.
FSBOS. As defined in Section 5.1.2 of the Agreement.
FUNDAMENTAL TRANSACTION. As defined in the definition of "Change of Control."

GENERALLY AVAILABLE SITES. The Internet sites and Content, currently located at the following URLs and all
related URLs and any successors thereto containing HS Services, which are owned or operated by HS or its
Affiliates or their respective agents or to which HS or its Affiliates or their respective agents licenses
information, content or other materials:
http://www.homestore.com
http://www.realtor.com
http://www.homebuilder.com
http://www.springstreet.com
http://www.remodel.com
http://www.homefair.com
http://www.manufacturedhousing.com
http://www.homeplans.com
http://www.homestyle.com
http://www.rent.net
http://www.rentnet.com
http://www.move.com
http://www.seniorhousing.net
HOME CHANNEL. As defined in Section 1.1 of the Agreement.
HS. As defined in the introductory paragraph of the Agreement.

HS APPLIANCES. The aggregation of service provider directories (consisting of listings) and Content directly
related to assisting persons select, purchase, install and/or maintain appliances in their homes, including,
without limitation, kitchen appliances, washer and dryer appliances, heating and cooling appliances in an
online database searchable by such prospective persons.
HS APARTMENTS LISTINGS SERVICES. The aggregation of nation−wide real property listings from third party
content providers for residential Rental Properties and short term corporate housing (excluding vacation and
time−share properties) in an online database searchable by prospective home renters. HS Apartments Listings
does not include any listings or other Content encompassed within any other HS Service.
HS HOME DECORATING. The aggregation of service provider directories (consisting of listings) and Content
directly related to assisting persons to plan, understand, and undertake home decorating projects,
including, without limitation, color choice, paint choice, painting techniques, room design, feng shui, and
furniture arrangement.
HS EXCLUSIVE SERVICES. HS Apartments Listings Services, HS Home Listings
Services, and HS Senior Listings Services.

HS HARDWARE. The aggregation of third−party Content directly related to assisting persons to select and
purchase the proper hand and power tools necessary for projects for their homes.
HS HOME LISTINGS SERVICE. The aggregation of nation−wide property listings from the multiple listings
service and other third party content providers for new and/or existing homes (including manufactured
housing (i.e., mobile homes)) and vacation homes for sale (not rental) but excluding time−share properties)
in an online database searchable by prospective home buyers and the aggregation of listings for realtors and
home builders in an online searchable database. HS Home Listings Service does not include: (i) listings for
any other form of real estate other than new and existing homes (including, without limitation, Rental
Properties or commercial real estate), (ii) any home listings posted online by AOL Users other than an AOL
User which aggregates for sale
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by owner listings as its primary business, and (iii) any listings or other
Content encompassed within any other HS Service.

HS HOME FINANCE. Fee−based services directly related to (a) the origination of first mortgages and second or
other subordinate mortgages, home improvement loans, home equity loans, and (b) the other fee−based services
included on the HUD−1 form (e.g., appraisals, credit reports, flood certifications and title reports).
HS HOME OFFICE. The aggregation of service provider directories (consisting of
listings) and Content directly related to home office design.

HS HOME SECURITY. The aggregation of service provider directories (consisting of listings) and Content
directly related to assisting persons in securing their homes from intrusion by third parties, including,
without limitation, alarm systems, and similar technology based solutions.
HS HOME SERVICES. The aggregation of home service provider directories (consisting of listings) related to
assisting persons in hiring third party contractors for services directly related to the maintenance and
improvement of the physical systems and structures of their homes such as, without limitation, architects,
electricians, plumbers, roofers, cleaners and carpenters. HS Home Services does not include any listings or
other Content encompassed within any other HS Service.
HS HOME TECHNOLOGY. The aggregation of service provider directories (consisting of listings) and Content
directly related to assisting persons select, purchase and/or install technology solutions in their homes to
make a home more efficient, easier to manage or safer, including, without limitation, lighting products and
services, heating and cooling technology, but excluding telecommunications and Internet access related
services.
HS LAWN & GARDEN. The aggregation of service provider directories (consisting of listings) and Content
directly related to assisting persons to design, grow and/or maintain their lawns, gardens, and landscapes,
including, without limitation, gardening and landscape services, gardening supplies, seeds and plants.
HS LIST. As defined in Section 6.4 of the Agreement.

HS LOOK AND FEEL. The elements of graphics, design, organization, presentation, layout, user interface,
navigation, trade dress and stylistic convention (including the digital implementations thereof) within the
HS Interactive Sites and the total appearance and impression substantially formed by the combination,
coordination and interaction of these elements.
HS MOVING SERVICES. The aggregation of moving service provider directories, together with transactions for
related products and services and related Content, all directly related to assisting persons move from one
home to another, including, without limitation, national and regional packing and moving services, van
lines, movers and truck rentals. HS Moving Services does not include any listings or other Content
encompassed within any other HS Service.
HS PRESENCE. Any (a) HS trademark or logo, (b) headline or picture from HS Content, (c) teaser, icon, or
link to the Customized Site or Customized Programming and/or (d) other Content which originates from,
describes or promotes HS or HS' Content.
HS PRODUCT. Any product, good or service which HS (or others acting on its behalf or as distributors)
offers, sells, provides, distributes or licenses to users of the Generally Available Sites.
HS PROFESSIONAL FEES. The aggregate amounts collected by HS and its agents from third party professionals
for the provision of web site development and hosting services.
HS PROPERTIES. The Customized Sites and the Generally Available Sites.

HS SENIOR LISTINGS SERVICES. The aggregation of service provider directories (consisting of listings) and
Content directly related to assisting senior citizens in finding housing providing long term care and/or
meeting other retirement needs.
HS SERVICES. HS Home Listings Service, HS Apartments Listings Services, HS
Senior Listings Services, HS Home Decorating, HS Home
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Finance, HS Home Office, HS Home Security, HS Home Services, HS Home Technology,
HS Lawn & Garden, HS Appliances, HS Hardware, and HS Moving Services.

IMPRESSION. User exposure to a page or screen containing an HS Presence, as such exposure may be reasonably
determined and measured by AOL in accordance with its standard methodologies and protocols consistent with
generally accepted standards. Each HS Presence on any such page or screen will count as a separate
Impression.
INTEGRATED PLACEMENT COMMITMENT. As defined in Section 1.2 of the Agreement.

INTERACTIVE SERVICE. An entity offering one or more of the following: (i) online or Internet
services (e.g., an Internet service provider); (ii) an interactive site or service featuring
selection of aggregated third party interactive content (e.g., Yahoo, Alta Vista, Lycos), or
thereto (e.g. Google) ; or (iii) communications software capable of serving as the principal
which a user creates, sends or receives electronic mail or real time online messages.

connectivity
a broad
navigation
means through

KEY INDICATORS. As defined in Section 5.2.1 of the Agreement.

KEYWORD SEARCH TERMS. (a) The Keyword online search terms made available on the AOL Service, combining AOL's
Keyword online search modifier with a term or phrase specifically related to HS (and determined in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement) and (b) the Go Word online search terms made available on the
CompuServe Service, combining CompuServe's Go Word online search modifier with a term or phrase specifically
related to HS (and determined in accordance with the terms of this Agreement). Keyword Search Terms provided
to HS are set forth in the Programming Plan attached as Exhibit C to the Agreement.
LAUNCH DATE. As defined in Section 1.1 of the Agreement.

LICENSED CONTENT. All Content provided by or on behalf of HS or its Affiliates and/or their respective
agents to AOL, its Affiliates and/or their respective agents pursuant to this Agreement (e.g., offline
promotional content or online Content for distribution through the AOL Network), including without
limitation all Customized Programming.
LOC TERMINATION. As defined in Section 6.1 of the Agreement.
MATERIAL NON−COMPLIANCE EVENT. As defined in Section 1.7 of the Agreement.
MEDIA PLACEMENT COMMITMENT. As defined in Section 1.2 of the Agreement.
MERRILL LYNCH. As defined in Section 13.1.1 of the Agreement.
NAMED ENTITIES. Each of:
[*]

NEIGHBORHOOD REPORTS. An editorial and statistical report regarding population and general demographics of a
geographic area, including, without limitation, population, composition, average home price, average home
size, home types available, and urbanization.
NETSCAPE.COM. Netscape Communications Corporation's primary narrowband version of the Internet−based
Interactive Site marketed under the "Netscape Netcenter SM" brand, regardless of whether users access such
standard narrowband version of such Internet−based Interactive Site by narrowband, DSL, cablemodem or other
high−speed or broadband access medium, specifically excluding (a) the AOL Service and the CompuServe
Service, (b) AOL.com and CompuServe.com, (c) any international versions of such site, (d) "ICQ,"
"AOLSearch," "AOL Instant Messenger," "AOL NetMail," "AOL Hometown," "My News," "Digital City," or any
similar independent product or service offered by or through such site or any other AOL Interactive Site,
(e) any programming or Content area offered by or through such site over which AOL does not exercise
complete operational control (including, without limitation, Content areas controlled by other parties and
member−created Content areas), (f) any programming or Content area offered by or through the U.S. version of
the America Online brand service which was operated, maintained or controlled by the former AOL Studios
division (e.g., Electra), (g) any yellow pages, white pages,
−−−−−−−−−−
[*] CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMMITTED AND FILED SEPERATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH RESPECT TO
THE OMMITTED PORTIONS.
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classifieds or other search, directory or review services or Content offered by or through such site or any
other AOL Interactive Site, (h) any property, feature, product or service which AOL or its Affiliates may
acquire subsequent to the Effective Date and (i) any other version of an AOL or Netscape Communications
Corporation Interactive Site which is materially different from Netscape Communications Corporation's
primary Internet−based Interactive Site marketed under the "Netscape Netcenter TM" brand, by virtue of its
branding, distribution, functionality, Content or services, including, without limitation, any co−branded
versions and any version distributed through any broadband distribution platform or through any platform or
device other than a desktop personal computer (e.g., Custom NetCenters built specifically for third
parties).
NON−AD SERVED IMPRESSIONS. As defined in Section 6.5.2 of the Agreement.
PARTY. As defined in the introductory paragraph of the Agreement.

PERSON. A natural person, a corporation, a partnership, a limited liability company, a trust, a joint
venture, any governmental authority or any other entity or organization.
PRESS RELEASE. As defined in Section 8 of the Agreement.
PRIOR AGREEMENTS. As defined in Section 11 of the Agreement.

PRODUCT. Any product, good or service which HS or AOL (or others acting on its behalf or as distributors)
offers, sells, provides, distributes or licenses to AOL Users directly or indirectly through (i) the
Customized Site, Customized Programming or AOL Properties, (ii) any other electronic means directed at AOL
Users (e.g., e−mail offers), or (iii) an "offline" means (e.g., toll−free number) for receiving orders
related to specific offers within the Customized Site, Customized Programming or AOL Properties requiring
purchasers to reference a specific promotional identifier or tracking code, including, without limitation,
products sold through surcharged downloads (to the extent expressly permitted hereunder).
PROGRAMMING PLAN. As defined in Section 1.1 of the Agreement.
PROMOTION. The promotions described on Exhibit A and any other promotions
provided by AOL to HS.

PROPERTY REPORTS. A report designed to assist potential buyers/sellers in valuing a home by detailing
relevant information on a subject property, including, without limitation, physical property information,
comparable sales, School Reports, Crime Reports, Neighborhood Reports, natural hazards and environmental
hazards.
REFERENCE. As defined in Exhibit G of the Agreement.
RENTAL PROPERTIES. A building or buildings owned by the same Person, which
building or buildings contain one or more dwelling units held for rent.
SALES REVENUES. Advertisements Revenues plus Transaction Revenues.

SCHOOL REPORTS. An editorial and statistical report detailing relevant information on a given school or
schools in a given area, including, without limitation, student population, student teacher ratio, average
class size, graduation rate, and number of computers in class rooms.
SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT. As defined in Section 11 of the Agreement.
SHOP@AOL. The aggregated shopping services on the AOL Properties (e.g.,
Shop@AOL, the Shopping Channel).
TAXES. As defined in Section 6.12 of the Agreement.

TERM. The period beginning on the Effective Date and ending upon the expiration or earlier termination of
this Agreement, as further defined in Section 7.1 of the Agreement.
TERM INTEGRATION SHORTFALL. As defined in Section 1.2 of the Agreement.
TERM MEDIA SHORTFALL. As defined in Section 1.2 of the Agreement.
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TRANSACTION REVENUES. The aggregate amount of all cash collected by a Party or its agents from third parties
and recognized as revenue under generally accepted accounting principles from AOL Purchasers in connection
with the sale, licensing, distribution or provision of any Designated Products, including, in each case,
handling, shipping, service charges, and excluding, in each case, (a) amounts collected for sales or use
taxes or duties and (b) credits and chargebacks for returned or canceled goods or services, but unreduced by
such Party's and its agents' direct cost of goods sold. Transaction Revenues shall not include AOL
Subscription Fees.
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EXHIBIT C
PROGRAMMING PLAN
GENERAL PROGRAMMING OVERVIEW AND REQUIREMENTS:

HS and its family of brands (e.g., Realtor.com, Rent.net, Homebuilder.com) will provide the editorial
content and functionality set forth below and otherwise mutually agreed by the Parties from time to time for
integration within the AOL Properties. The editorial content provided by HS will supplement existing content
offerings provided by other current channel partners and may primarily be used as rotating feature and
how−to articles. HS will provide features that are timely, reflecting current trends and interests, and
appropriate for the audience of each AOL property. All Content will be updated at least as frequently as the
industry standard set by other leading Content providers in the relevant category and in accordance with the
schedule set forth below where specified. HS will provide to AOL any Content optimized for broadband access
which is available on the Generally Available Sites.
CUSTOMIZED SITES

HS shall deliver the programming specified below on each version of the Customized Site co−branded with the
applicable AOL property. AOL's provision of the Promotions specified in Exhibit A−1 and A−2 shall be
contingent on HS providing the following Content. If any such Content is unavailable, AOL be relieved of the
obligation to provide any Promotion related to such Content from the date such Content becomes unavailable
until [*] ([*]) days after such Content again becomes available. In the event that AOL does not deliver any
Promotions in accordance with the foregoing sentence, AOL shall be relieved of a proportional amount of the
Integrated Placement Commitment and/or Media Placement Commitment, as applicable, related to the Promotions
which were not displayed.
GENERAL CONTENT & FUNCTIONALITY REQUIREMENTS:
(AOL will provide HS with technical specifications for feeds after the Effective
Date).
REAL ESTATE:

HS will provide the following tools, functionality and Content:

Content, listings, links and backend support for the following widgets on AOL
Service, Netscape and CompuServe:
− Home/apartment search
− Existing/New home search
− Find a lender
− Find a mover
− Apartment search
− Find storage
− Rent calculator
− Neighborhood search
− City or school comparison tool
− Salary calculator
− Senior housing
− Moving checklist
− Mortgage calculator
− Home affordability calculator
− Rent vs. buy calculator
− Credit links
HS will ad serve the following widgets:
− Local featured home on ~3 pages/brand
− Local featured apartment on ~3 pages/brand
− Local featured Realtor on ~3 pages/brand
− Featured new homes~3 pages/brand
− Featured builder~3 pages/brand
HS will provide the following Feeds:
−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH
RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.
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−

Mortgage rates (Localized & national) for each brand

Logo graphic for sponsorship on all Real Estate main and sub areas
Real Estate/Moving/Home Finance editorial for the AOL Properties:
− Real Estate tools, calculators and decision guides, including, but not limited
to the following:
− Home appreciation;
− Home affordability;
− Mortgage calculator;
− Rent vs. buy;
− City comparison;
− School comparison;
− Neighborhood comparison;
− Find a neighborhood;
− Home valuation;
− Closing checklist;
− Buying guide;
− Selling guide;
− Moving checklist;
− Calculate moving costs;
− Calculate packing supplies;
− Rent calculator;
− Crime report; and
− Cost of living calculator.
− HS shall at all times display the most recent real estate listings Content
available. Additionally, HS shall make available supporting real estate news
Content
− News/topical information shall be updated every other week at minimum (tools
and other static links should be updated as necessary or as mutually agreed
upon by the Parties).
− News/topical articles are defined as information that reflects the current
status of an ever−changing industry. (News/topical articles do not generally
include tools, calculators, buying/selling basics and other such Content that
does not change over the course of time). Should newer articles become
available that supersedes the article/information on
Homes/Apartments/Neighborhoods/Senior Housing, the article/information will be
considered out of date and HS will replace the "dated" article within [*]
([*]) days, or remove it completely until such time that a replacement article
can be authored.
− If news/topical links are not updated or removed as provided herein, AOL will
provide HS notice and HS will have [*] days to perform the refreshes. Should
those updates not be made, Homestore will be considered in breach of contract
without regard to any additional cure period set forth in the Agreement (i.e.,
this [*] day cure period replaces the 30 day cure period set forth in Section
7.2).
"LIVING" CATEGORIES: HS will provide the following tools, functionality and
Content.
Home Improvement:
− How−to home improvement articles with images and step−by−step;
− Before and after home improvement articles;
− Material and project estimator calculators and tools;
− Content such as ,Top 10 Lists, Smart Tips, etc.);
− Photo galleries;
− Content feed (including the above−described Content), updated weekly, for
CompuServe and Netscape;
Decorating:
− Decorating how−to features;
− Inspirational decorating features;
− Celebrity decorating features;
−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH
RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.
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−
−
−
−
−
−

Decorating before−and−after features;
Room−by−room features (e.g., kitchens, bedrooms, living rooms);
Material and project estimator calculators and tools;
Content such as Top 10 Lists, Smart Tips, etc.;
Photo galleries;
Content feed (including the above−described Content), updated weekly, for the
AOL Properties.
Gardening:
− Inspirational, seasonally appropriate gardening features;
− Garden problem solver tool and content (HS will provide a "problem solver"
application, as currently executed on the H&H Gardening Main Screen, that
helps AOL Members identify and solve problems with flowers, houseplants,
vegetables, lawns, trees and shrubs);
− Content feed (including the above−described Content), updated weekly, for the
AOL Properties;
−
Cross−category home service directories content/links:
− Decorator/designer;
− Contractor;
− Painter;
− Landscaper;
− Gardener;
− Wallpaper hanger;
− Handyman/all purpose;
− Carpenter;
− Plumber;
− Electrician;
− Architect;
− Builder;
− Others as determined by AOL.
CLASSIFIEDS: HS will provide the following tools, functionality and Content:
− HS shall provide apartment listings to the AOL Properties
− HS shall provide AOL with the apartment listings data in a machine−readable
format through an FTP feed. The frequency of the feed will be determined by HS
in its reasonable discretion and communicated to AOL.
− HS shall adhere to the listing feed upload specifications for each AOL
Property.
− AOL has the right to modify the upload specification one (1) time per quarter.
AOL will notify HS of any changes. HS has [*] days from notification to comply
to the modified specification. If HS does not comply with the new
specification after such [*] day period, the data feed will fail and listings
will not be published until the feed meets the new specification.
− In the event that HS provides to AOL a feed that does not meet specifications
or the data contains errors (ex. monthly rental price for an apartment is a
$1), AOL reserves the right to suspend the feed or remove the erroneous
records until they can be corrected.
REAL ESTATE − PERSONAL FINANCE: HS will provide the following tools,
functionality and Content::
− Daily and weekly national and local mortgage rate data on the following
products: 30−year fixed mortgage, 15−year fixed mortgage and 1−Year ARM.
− The data shall include current rate, change vs. the week−ago rate, the monthly
cost of the mortgage itself on a $150k loan, for example, and the change over
the week ago cost. Feed shall also include URL to link in to a more detailed
rate table hosted by HS.
− Feed shall be provided in XML and delivered daily at midnight ET for the
previous day (for the 5 business days each week).
− Feed shall link through to a rate table on the Customized Site that displays
current rates for selected products from an aggregate of lenders.
−−−−−−−−−−
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− With respect to the `How Much House Can You Afford' widget, when an AOL user
clicks through to the Customized Site from the `Home Affordability' widget,
results shall be transparent, with no pop−ups or secondary screens displayed
before the user sees the results.
− Home and apartment search. HS shall at all times display the most recent real
estate listings Content available.
− How Much Can you Afford Widget
− Calculate your mortgage widget.
BROADBAND: HS will provide access to the following broadband Content in addition
to any other Content optimized for broadband access which is available on the
Generally Available Sites.
− Virtual home tours;
− Neighborhood tours, to the extend HS has such Content available;
− Apartment community tours;
− Buying/selling tutorials video, if made available by HS.

OTHER CATEGORIES: HS will provide AOL access to all other tools, functionality, and Content then available
on any Generally Available Site (e.g., appliances, commercial services, etc.) for use through the AOL
Network.
CUSTOMIZED PROGRAMMING

HS shall deliver the programming specified below for AOL's inclusion within the AOL Properties and, at AOL's
option, other portions of the AOL Network. AOL's provision of the Promotions specified in Exhibit A−1 and
A−2 shall be contingent on HS providing the following Content. If any such Content is unavailable, AOL be
relieved of the obligation to provide any Promotion related to such Content from the date such Content
becomes unavailable until [*] ([*]) days after such Content again becomes available. In the event that AOL
does not deliver any Promotions in accordance with the foregoing sentence, AOL shall be relieved of a
proportional amount of the Integrated Placement Commitment and/or Media Placement Commitment, as applicable,
related to the Promotions which were not displayed.
REAL ESTATE
−
−
−
−
−

−

Homes ([*])
Apartments ([*])
Senior Housing ([*])
Neighborhoods ([*])
Homes widget (New, Existing and Manufactured homes): Widget will be more
in−depth and robust than home search widget on main screen and will
include property type radio buttons.
Apartments widget (Rentals, Temporary housing, Senior housing): Will
include property type radio buttons.
Rates Widget or ticker
"Featured..." widget (Featured Homes, Realtors, Apartments, Builders).
"Find a..." widget, input box or dropdown (Find a Realtor, builder, home
plan, apartment community, lender)

−
−
−

[*] screens will all be built, hosted and programmed by HS in accordance with AOL UI, design and branding
direction and subject to final AOL approval. AOL will have input on the programming of these screens. HS
shall at all times display the most recent real estate news and information on these pages.
WIDGETS:
−−−−−−−−−−
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−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−

find a lender
find a mover
mortgage calculator
mortgage rate feed
find self storage
salary calculator
neighborhood information
school reports
check your credit/credit reports
home affordability calculator
relocation wizard

MOVING PAGE: [*] screen will be built, hosted and programmed by AOL. HS will
provide Content for integration within this page as follows.
SCREEN ELEMENTS:
− Planning section/navigation, with hyperlinks to more Content on the Customized
Site.
− "Executing" section/navigation, with hyperlinks to more Content on the
Customized Site.
− Moving checklist/s.
− "Payoff" section, where a paragraph or robust offering of Content is presented
to the member.
− AOL New Homeowners Guide section
− Additional promotional areas as space permits
− Find a mover widget

For the avoidance of doubt, inclusion of any Content on this Exhibit C does not represent any obligation of
or guarantee by AOL that such Content will be promoted by AOL in any particular manner; guaranteed promotion
of Content will be as set forth in the Carriage Plan and Sections 1.1 through 1.3 of the Agreement.
KEYWORD SEARCH TERMS
Subject to the provisions of Exhibit D, HS shall have the right to use the
following Keyword Search Terms:
Homestore
Homestore.com
Realtor.com
Homebuilder.com
Remodel.com
Springstreet.com
Springstreet
Homefair.com
Seniorhousing.net
Corporatehousing.net
Move.com
Homeplans.com
Homestyles.com
Rent.net
Rentnet
Welcome Wagon
The School Report
Additionally, AOL Canada will provide HS with the Keyword Search Term:
Homestore.
−−−−−−−−−−
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EXHIBIT D
STANDARD LEGAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
I.

AOL NETWORK

CONTENT. HS represents and warrants to the best of its knowledge and covenants to use all commercially
reasonable efforts to ensure that all Content contained within the Customized Site and Customized
Programming and all Licensed Content, at the time such Content or Licensed Content is made available by HS,
(i) conforms to the Terms of Service for the applicable AOL Property, the terms of this Agreement and any
other standard, written policy of AOL and any applicable AOL Property (including without limitation AOL's
kids policies to the extent applicable), (ii) does not infringe on or violate any copyright, trademark, U.S.
patent, rights of publicity or privacy, moral rights or any other third party right, including without
limitation, any music performance or other music related rights, and (iii) does not contain any Content
which violates any applicable law or regulation ((i), (ii) and (iii) collectively, the "RULES").
Subject to the provisions of Section 1.6 of the Agreement, in the event that AOL notifies HS in writing that
any such Content, as reasonably determined by AOL, does not comply or adhere to the Rules, then (a) HS shall
use commercially reasonable efforts to remove such Content or block access by AOL Users to such Content; (b)
in the event that HS cannot, remove such Content or block access by AOL Users to such Content in question,
then HS shall provide AOL prompt written notice of such fact; (c) AOL may, at its option, either (i)
restrict access from the AOL Network to the Content in question using technology available to AOL or (ii) in
the event access cannot be restricted, direct HS to remove any such Content; and (d) HS will cooperate with
AOL's reasonable requests to the extent AOL elects to implement any such access restrictions.
AOL NETWORK DISTRIBUTION. HS shall not authorize or knowingly permit any third party to distribute any
Content of HS through the AOL Network absent AOL's prior written approval. The distribution, placements
and/or promotions described in this Agreement or otherwise provided to HS by AOL shall be used by HS solely
for its own benefit, will promote solely the Licensed Content within the Customized Site or Customized
Programming expressly described on Exhibit A or as permitted in the Agreement and will not be resold,
traded, exchanged, bartered, brokered or otherwise offered or transferred to any third party or contain any
branding other than HS' branding. Further, the Content of all such distribution, placements and promotions
shall be subject to AOL's relevant written policies that are provided in writing to HS regarding
objectionable content (e.g., illegal, illicit or unfit for minors) and promotion (provided that such
policies shall not apply to the extent such policies would materially adversely affect HS' rights under the
Agreement).
KIDS AND TEENS POLICIES. At all times, HS shall comply with the applicable AOL Property's then−standard
policies regarding "child designated content." As used herein, "child designated content" means Content that
is designed for: (i) Kids (children 12 and under), (ii) Young Teens (children ages 13−15), (iii) Mature
Teens (children ages 16−17), and (iv) any combination of Kids, Young Teens, and Mature Teens. HS shall
ensure that all child designated content (including all advertising in child designated content areas)
distributed on or through the Customized Programming complies with any relevant written AOL policy (Kids,
Young Teens, Mature Teens) that is made available to HS, including any obligations that such child
designated content be marked or tagged so that it may operate properly in connection with viewing
restriction functionality provided to AOL Users. HS shall ensure that all child designated content
(including all advertising in child designated content areas) distributed on or through the Customized Site
complies with any relevant written AOL policy (Kids, Young Teens, Mature Teens) as of the Effective Date,
including any obligations that such child designated content be marked or tagged so that it may operate
properly in connection with viewing restriction functionality provided to AOL Users, and to the extent AOL
makes material changes to such policies during the Term, HS shall make commercially reasonable efforts to
comply with any such revised policies made available to it. Without
CONFIDENTIAL

limiting the generality of the foregoing or any other provision of this Agreement, HS shall notify AOL in
writing whenever it intends to distribute child designated content for these age groups on or through the
Customized Programming or the Customized Sites to ensure proper age restriction categorization.
CONTESTS. HS shall ensure that any contest, sweepstakes or similar promotion conducted or promoted through
the Customized Programming (a "CONTEST") complies with all applicable laws and regulations. HS shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that any Contest promoted through the Customized Site complies
with all applicable laws and regulations.
DISCLAIMERS. HS agrees to include within the Customized Site and Customized Programming a disclaimer (the
specific form and substance to be mutually agreed upon by the Parties) indicating that all Licensed Content
(including any products and services) is provided by HS and its licensors, and not AOL, and any transactions
are between HS and AOL Users using or purchasing such Content and AOL is not responsible for any loss,
expense or damage arising out of the Licensed Content or services provided through the Customized Site or
Customized Programming (e.g., "In no event shall AOL nor any of its agents, employees, representatives or
Affiliates be in any respect legally liable to you or any third party in connection with any information or
services contained herein and AOL makes no warranty or guaranty as to the accuracy, completeness,
correctness, timeliness, or usefulness of any of the information contained herein"). HS shall not in any
manner state or imply that AOL recommends or endorses HS or its Content. Within Shop@AOL, with respect to
any AOL Users who access Shop@AOL through the Customized Sites or the Customized Programming, AOL agrees to
include a similar disclaimer that excuses HS from liability with respect to any transactions conducted on
Shop@AOL.
EXPERT/SPECIALIST CONTENT. If any of the Licensed Content professes to provide
expert, professional or other specialty advice or Content (such as, without
limitation, medical or psychological, religious, financial, etc.), HS shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that all such Licensed Content is
prepared or reviewed by licensed, insured and qualified
practitioners/professionals in such field with expertise on the particular topic
and such Licensed Content complies with applicable standards of the applicable
profession and all applicable laws and regulations. Upon request by AOL from
time to time, HS shall provide AOL with evidence reasonably satisfactory to AOL
of compliance with the foregoing sentence.

INSURANCE. At all times during the Term, HS shall maintain an insurance policy or policies reasonably
satisfactory to AOL and adequate in amount to insure HS against all liability associated with the Licensed
Content. HS shall include AOL as an additional insured party on such policy or policies. If requested by AOL
in writing, HS shall provide AOL with a copy of such policy or policies within thirty (30) days after such
request, failing which, in addition to all other available remedies, AOL shall be entitled to delay the
launch of the Licensed Content on the AOL Network (and reduce AOL's promotional and Impressions obligations
proportionately). HS shall promptly notify AOL of any material change in such policy or policies.
REWARDS PROGRAMS. HS shall not offer, provide, implement or otherwise make available on the Customized Site
or Customized Programming any promotional programs or plans that are intended to provide customers with
rewards or benefits in exchange for, or on account of, their past or continued loyalty to, or patronage or
purchase of, the products or services of HS or any third party (e.g., a promotional program similar to a
"frequent flier" program), unless such promotional program or plan is provided exclusively through AOL's
"AOL Rewards" program, accessible on the AOL Service at Keyword: "AOL Rewards."
NAVIGATION. In cases where an AOL User performs a search for HS through any search or navigational tool or
mechanism that is accessible or available through the AOL Network (e.g., promotions, Keyword Search Terms,
navigation bars or any other promotions or navigational tools), AOL shall have the right to direct such AOL
User to the Customized Site, or any other Generally Available Site determined by AOL in its reasonable
discretion. HS shall ensure that navigation back to the AOL Network from the Customized Site (and from any
other Generally Available Site linked to from the AOL Network), whether through a particular pointer or
link, the "back" button on an Internet browser, the closing of an active window, or any other return
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mechanism, shall not be interrupted by HS through the use of any intermediate screen or other device not
specifically requested by the user, including without limitation through the use of any html pop−up window
or any other similar device.
CLIENT ALTERATIONS. HS shall not knowingly include on the Customized Site or Customized Programming any
downloadable software or other mechanism that allows users to alter the navigation, user interface, look and
feel, or any other element of any AOL or AOL Affiliate client software or software that is bundled therewith
(including, without limitation, the Internet browsers).
AOL LOOK AND FEEL. HS acknowledges and agrees that AOL shall own all right, title and interest in and to the
AOL Look and Feel. In addition, AOL shall retain editorial control over the portions of the AOL pages and
forms which frame the Customized Site or Customized Programming, if any, (the "AOL FRAMES") subject to the
provisions of this Agreement. Subject to the requirements of Section 5 of this Agreement, AOL may, at its
discretion, incorporate navigational icons, links and pointers or other Content into such AOL Frames, if
any.
HS LOOK AND FEEL. AOL acknowledges and agrees that HS shall own all right, title
and interest in and to the HS Look and Feel.

OPERATIONS. AOL shall be entitled to require reasonable changes to the Customized Site and Customized
Programming that are generally required of AOL's Content providers to the extent such site will, in AOL's
good faith judgment, adversely affect the technical operations of the AOL Network. AOL shall provide notice
to HS of any specific sites or events on such sites that adversely affect the technical operations of the
AOL Network.
AUCTIONS. HS shall not conduct any merchandising (other than auctions of real property) through the
Customized Site or Customized Programming through auctions or any method other than a direct sales format
without AOL's prior written consent.
MESSAGE BOARDS; CHAT ROOMS AND COMPARABLE VEHICLES. Any Content submitted by HS or its agents within message
boards, chat rooms or any comparable vehicles on the Customized Site and Customized Programming will be
subject to the license grant relating to submissions to "public areas" set forth in the AOL Terms of
Service. HS acknowledges that it has no rights or interest in AOL User submissions to message boards, chat
rooms or any other vehicles through which AOL Users may make submissions within the AOL Network. HS will
refrain from editing, deleting or altering, without AOL's prior approval, any opinion expressed or
submission made by an AOL User within Customized Programming except in cases where HS has a good faith
belief that the Content in question violates an applicable law, regulation, third party right or the
applicable AOL Property's Terms of Service.
DUTY TO INFORM. HS and AOL shall promptly inform the other Party of any information related to the
Customized Site, Customized Programming or the Licensed Content which it believes will reasonably lead to a
claim, demand or liability of or against AOL and/or its Affiliates or HS and/or its Affiliates by any third
party.
RESPONSE TO QUESTIONS/COMMENTS; CUSTOMER SERVICE. HS shall respond promptly and professionally to questions,
comments, complaints and other reasonable requests regarding the Customized Site, Customized Programming or
the Licensed Content by AOL Users or on request by AOL, and shall cooperate and assist AOL in promptly
answering the same. HS shall have sole responsibility for customer service (including, without limitation,
order processing, billing, shipping, etc.) regarding the Customized Site, Customized Programming or the
Licensed Content and AOL shall have no responsibility with respect thereto. HS shall not have any
responsibilities under this paragraph with respect to Content included in Shop@AOL other than the Customized
Programming and Licensed Content. HS and AOL shall each comply with all applicable requirements of any
federal, state or local consumer protection or disclosure law.
PRODUCTION WORK. In the event that HS requests any AOL production assistance, HS shall work with AOL to
develop detailed production plans for the requested production assistance (the "PRODUCTION PLAN"). Following
receipt of the final Production Plan, AOL shall notify HS of (i) AOL's availability to perform the requested
production work, (ii) the proposed fee or fee structure for the requested production work and (iii) the
estimated development schedule for such work. To the extent the Parties
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reach agreement regarding implementation of agreed−upon Production Plan, such agreement shall be reflected
in a separate work order signed by the Parties. All fees to be paid to AOL for any such production work
shall be paid pursuant to the terms of the applicable work order. To the extent HS elects to retain a third
party provider to perform any such production work, work produced by such third party provider must
generally conform to AOL's production standards available at Keyword "Styleguide." The specific production
resources which AOL allocates to any production work to be performed on behalf of HS shall be as determined
by AOL in its sole discretion. With respect to any routine production, maintenance or related services which
AOL reasonably determines are necessary for AOL to perform in order to support the proper functioning and
integration of the Promotions, Customized Programming and the Customized Site ("ROUTINE SERVICES"), HS will
pay the then−standard fees charged by AOL for such Routine Services.
PRODUCTION TOOLS. AOL shall provide to HS those of it's proprietary publishing tools (each a "PUBLISHING
TOOL") necessary for HS to comply with the requirements of the Programming Plan in order to develop and
implement the Licensed Content during the Term. HS shall determine, in its reasonable discretion and
consistent with the Programming Plan, which Publishing Tool(s) to utilize and shall be granted a
nonexclusive license during the Term to use any such Publishing Tool(s), which license shall be subject to:
(i) HS' compliance with all rules and regulations relating to use of the Publishing Tools, as published from
time to time by AOL, (ii) AOL's right to withdraw or modify such license at any time, and (iii) HS' express
recognition that AOL provides all Publishing Tools on an "as is" basis, without warranties of any kind.
TRAINING AND SUPPORT. AOL shall make available to HS standard AOL training and support programs necessary to
produce any AOL areas hereunder. HS can select its training and support program from the options then
offered by AOL. HS shall be responsible to pay the fees associated with its chosen training and support
package. In addition, HS will pay travel and lodging costs associated with its participation in any AOL
training programs (including AOL's reasonable travel and lodging costs when training is conducted at HS'
offices).
KEYWORDS. Any Keyword Search Terms to be directed to the Customized Site shall be (i) subject to
availability for use by HS and (ii) limited to the combination of the Keyword(TM) search modifier combined
with a trademark of HS and any Keyword Search Terms granted to HS during the Term of the Agreement. AOL
reserves the right to revoke HS' use of any Keyword Search Terms which do not incorporate trademarks of HS
upon [*] days written notice (or a shorter time period if continued use by HS of any such Keyword Search
Term may expose AOL to liability). HS acknowledges that its utilization of a Keyword Search Term will not
create in it, nor will it represent it has, any right, title or interest in or to such Keyword Search Term,
other than the right, title and interest HS holds in HS' registered trademark independent of the Keyword
Search Term. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, HS will not: (a) attempt to register or
otherwise obtain trademark or copyright protection in the Keyword Search Term; or (b) use the Keyword Search
Term, except for the purposes expressly required or permitted under this Agreement. This Section shall
survive the completion, expiration, termination or cancellation of this Agreement.
ACCOUNTS. To the extent AOL has granted HS any accounts on the AOL Service, HS will be responsible for the
actions taken under or through its accounts, which actions are subject to AOL's applicable Terms of Service
and for any surcharges, including, without limitation, all premium charges, transaction charges, and any
applicable communication surcharges incurred by any account issued to HS, but HS will not be liable for
charges incurred by any account relating to AOL's standard monthly usage fees and standard hourly charges,
which charges AOL will bear. Upon the termination of this Agreement, all accounts, related screen names and
any associated usage credits or similar rights, will automatically terminate. AOL will have no liability for
loss of any data or content related to the proper termination of any such account.
II.

TRADEMARKS

TRADEMARK LICENSE. In designing and implementing any marketing, advertising, or other promotional materials
(expressly excluding Press Releases) related to this Agreement and/or referencing the other Party and/or its
trade names, trademarks and service marks (the "PROMOTIONAL
−−−−−−−−−−
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MATERIALS") and subject to the other provisions contained herein: HS shall be entitled to use the following
trade names, trademarks and service marks of AOL: the "America Online(R)" brand service, "AOL(TM)"
service/software and AOL's triangle logo and, and the applicable trade names, trademarks and service marks
of AOL and its Affiliates relating to the AOL Properties in connection therewith; HS shall comply with the
AOL styleguide available at keyword: "Styleguide"; and AOL and its Affiliates shall be entitled to use the
trade names, trademarks and service marks of HS and its Affiliates relating to the Customized Sites and
Customized Programming (collectively, together with the AOL marks listed above, the "MARKS"); provided that
each Party: (i) does not create a unitary composite mark involving a Mark of the other Party without the
prior written approval of such other Party, (ii) displays symbols and notices clearly and sufficiently
indicating the trademark status and ownership of the other Party's Marks in accordance with applicable
trademark law and practice, and (iii) complies with all written guidelines provided to it by the other Party
related to use of the other Party's Marks. This Section other than the grant of licenses herein, shall
survive the completion, expiration, termination or cancellation of this Agreement.
RIGHTS. Each Party acknowledges the ownership right of the other Party in the Marks of the other Party and
agrees that all use of the other Party's Marks will inure to the benefit, and be on behalf, of the other
Party. Each Party acknowledges that its utilization of the other Party's Marks will not create in it, nor
will it represent it has, any right, title or interest in or to such Marks other than the licenses expressly
granted herein. Each Party agrees not to do anything contesting or impairing the trademark rights of the
other Party.
QUALITY STANDARDS. Each Party agrees that the nature and quality of its products and services supplied in
connection with the other Party's Marks shall conform to quality standards communicated in writing by the
other Party for use of its trademarks. Each Party agrees to supply the other Party, upon request, with a
reasonable number of samples of any Materials publicly disseminated by such Party which utilize the other
Party's Marks. Each Party shall comply with all applicable laws, regulations and customs and obtain any
required government approvals pertaining to use of the other Party's Marks.
PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. Each Party will submit to the other Party, for its prior written approval, which
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, any Promotional Materials (excluding Press Releases) related
to the Customized Sites and/or referencing the other Party and/or its trade names, trademarks, and service
marks; provided, however, that either Party's use of screen shots of the Customized Site for promotional
purposes will not require the approval of the other Party; and provided further, however, that, following
the initial public announcement of the business relationship between the Parties in accordance with the
approval and other requirements contained herein, either Party's subsequent factual reference to the
existence of a business relationship between the Parties in Promotional Materials will not require the
approval of the other Party. Each Party will solicit and reasonably consider the views of the other Party in
designing and implementing such Promotional Materials. Once approved, the Promotional Materials may be used
by a Party and its affiliates for the purpose of promoting the Customized Site and the Content contained
therein and reused for such purpose until such approval is withdrawn with reasonable prior notice. In the
event such approval is withdrawn, existing inventories of Promotional Materials may be depleted.
INFRINGEMENT PROCEEDINGS. Each Party agrees to promptly notify the other Party of any unauthorized use of
the other Party's Marks of which it has actual knowledge. Each Party shall have the sole right and
discretion to bring proceedings alleging infringement of its Marks or unfair competition related thereto;
provided, however, that each Party agrees to provide the other Party, at such other Party's expense, with
its reasonable cooperation and assistance with respect to any such infringement proceedings.
III. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that: (i) such Party has the full corporate right,
power and authority to enter into this Agreement, to grant the licenses granted hereunder and to perform the
acts required of it hereunder; (ii) the execution of this Agreement by such Party, and the performance by
such Party of its obligations and duties hereunder, do not and will not violate any agreement to which such
Party is a party or by which it is
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otherwise bound; (iii) when executed and delivered by such Party, this Agreement will constitute the legal,
valid and binding obligation of such Party, enforceable against such Party in accordance with its terms;
(iv) to its best knowledge, such Party's Promotional Materials will neither infringe on any copyright, U.S.
patent or any other third party right nor violate any applicable law or regulation; and (v) such Party
acknowledges that the other Party makes no representations, warranties or agreements related to the subject
matter hereof which are not expressly provided for in this Agreement.
IV.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Each Party acknowledges that Confidential Information may be disclosed to the other Party during the course
of this Agreement. Each Party agrees that it will take reasonable steps, at least substantially equivalent
to the steps it takes to protect its own proprietary information, during the term of this Agreement, and for
a period of three years following expiration or termination of this Agreement, to prevent the disclosure of
Confidential Information of the other Party, other than to its employees, or to its other agents who must
have access to such Confidential Information for such Party to perform its obligations hereunder, who will
each agree to comply with this section. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party may issue a press
release or other disclosure containing Confidential Information without the consent of the other Party, to
the extent such disclosure is required by law, rule, regulation or government or court order or as
reasonably advised by legal counsel. In such event, the disclosing Party will provide at least five (5)
business days prior written notice of such proposed disclosure to the other Party. Further, in the event
such disclosure is required of either Party under the laws, rules or regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission or any other applicable governing body, such Party will (i) redact mutually agreed−upon
portions of this Agreement to the fullest extent permitted under applicable laws, rules and regulations and
(ii) submit a request to such governing body that such portions and other provisions of this Agreement
receive confidential treatment under the laws, rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission or otherwise be held in the strictest confidence to the fullest extent permitted under the laws,
rules or regulations of any other applicable governing body. Notwithstanding the foregoing, AOL shall be
permitted to disclose this Agreement and any Confidential Information to AOL Canada, Inc.
V.

RELATIONSHIP WITH AOL USERS

SOLICITATION OF SUBSCRIBERS. (a) Except as otherwise provided in the main body of the Agreement, during the
Term of this Agreement and for a two year period thereafter, HS will not use the AOL Network (including,
without limitation, the e−mail network contained therein) to solicit AOL Users on behalf of another
Interactive Service. More generally, HS will not send unsolicited, commercial e−mail (i.e., "spam") or other
online communications through or into AOL's products or services, absent a Prior Business Relationship. For
purposes of this Agreement, a "PRIOR BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP" will mean that the AOL User to whom commercial
e−mail or other online communication is being sent has voluntarily either (i) engaged in a transaction with
HS or (ii) provided information to HS through a contest, registration, or other communication, which
included clear notice to the AOL User that the information provided could result in commercial e−mail or
other online communications being sent to that AOL User by HS, its Affiliates or their respective agents.
Any commercial e−mail or other online communications to AOL Users which are otherwise permitted hereunder
will (x) include a prominent and easy means to "opt−out" of receiving any future commercial communications
from HS and (y) shall also be subject to AOL's then−standard restrictions on distribution of bulk e−mail
(e.g., related to the time and manner in which such e−mail can be distributed through or into the AOL
product or service in question).
(b) HS and AOL shall ensure that their respective collection, use and disclosure of information obtained
from AOL Users under this Agreement ("MEMBER INFORMATION") complies with (i) all applicable laws and
regulations and (ii) AOL's standard privacy policies, available on the AOL Service at the keyword term
"Privacy" (or, in the case of the Customized Site, HS' standard privacy policies so long as such policies
are published on the site and provide adequate notice, disclosure and choice to users regarding HS'
collection, use and disclosure of user information). HS will not disclose Member Information collected
hereunder to any third party in a manner that identifies AOL Users as end users of an AOL product or service
or use Member
6
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Information collected under this Agreement to market another Interactive
Service.

EMAIL NEWSLETTERS. Any email newsletters sent to AOL Users by HS or its agents shall (i) be subject to AOL's
then current policies on use of the email functionality, including but not limited to AOL's then current
policy on unsolicited bulk email, (ii) be sent only to AOL Users requesting to receive such newsletters,
(iii) not contain Content which violates AOL's Terms of Service, and (iv) not contain any Advertisements,
marketing or promotion for any other third−party Interactive Service.
AOL USER COMMUNICATIONS. To the extent HS is otherwise permitted to send communications to AOL Users (in
accordance with the other requirements contained herein) in any such communications to AOL Users on or off
the Customized Sites (including, without limitation, e−mail solicitations), HS will not encourage AOL Users
to take any action inconsistent with the scope and purpose of this Agreement, including without limitation,
the following actions: (i) using an interactive site other than the Customized Site for the purchase of
Products, (ii) using Content other than the Licensed Content; (iii) bookmarking of interactive sites; or
(iv) changing the default home page on the AOL browser. Additionally, with respect to such AOL User
communications, in the event that HS encourages an AOL User to purchase Products through such
communications, HS shall ensure that (a) the AOL Network is promoted as the primary means through which the
AOL User can access the Customized Site and (b) any link to the Customized Site will link to a page which
indicates to the AOL User that such user is in a site which is affiliated with the AOL Network.
VI.

TREATMENT OF CLAIMS

LIABILITY. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL,
CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES (EVEN IF THAT PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH
DAMAGES), ARISING FROM BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE THE LICENSED CONTENT, THE
CUSTOMIZED SITE, THE CUSTOMIZED PROGRAMMING, THE GENERALLY AVAILABLE SITES OR THE AOL NETWORK OR ANY OTHER
PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT, SUCH AS, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, LOSS OF REVENUE OR ANTICIPATED PROFITS OR LOST
BUSINESS (COLLECTIVELY, "DISCLAIMED DAMAGES"); PROVIDED THAT EACH PARTY SHALL REMAIN LIABLE TO THE OTHER
PARTY TO THE EXTENT ANY DISCLAIMED DAMAGES ARE CLAIMED BY A THIRD PARTY AND ARE SUBJECT TO INDEMNIFICATION
BELOW. EXCEPT AS PROVIDED BELOW IN THE "INDEMNITY" SECTION, NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY
FOR MORE THAN THE AGGREGATE AMOUNTS PAYABLE HEREUNDER IN THE YEAR IN WHICH THE EVENT GIVING RISE TO SUCH
LIABILITY OCCURRED; PROVIDED THAT EACH PARTY SHALL REMAIN LIABLE FOR THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT OF ANY PAYMENT
OBLIGATIONS OWED TO THE OTHER PARTY UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT, SUBJECT TO ANY DEFENSES TO
PAYMENT.
NO ADDITIONAL WARRANTIES. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, NEITHER PARTY MAKES, AND EACH
PARTY HEREBY SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS, ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, REGARDING THE
LICENSED CONTENT, CUSTOMIZED SITE, THE CUSTOMIZED PROGRAMMING, THE GENERALLY AVAILABLE SITES, THE AOL
NETWORK, THE AOL TOOLS, OR THE PUBLISHING TOOLS, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND IMPLIED WARRANTIES ARISING FROM COURSE OF DEALING OR COURSE OF
PERFORMANCE. WITHOUT LIMITING THE GENERALITY OF THE FOREGOING, EACH PARTY SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY
WARRANTY REGARDING THE PROFITABILITY OF AOL NETWORK OR THE CUSTOMIZED SITE.
INDEMNITY. Each Party will defend, indemnify, save and hold harmless the other Party and the officers,
directors, agents, Affiliates, distributors, franchisees and employees of the other Party from any and all
third party claims, demands, liabilities, costs or expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees
("LIABILITIES"), resulting from the indemnifying Party's material breach or alleged breach of any
obligation, representation, or warranty of this Agreement. In addition, HS will defend, indemnify, save and
hold harmless AOL and AOL's officers,
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directors, agents, Affiliates, distributors, franchisees and employees from any and all Liabilities arising
out of or in any way related to the Licensed Content, including any allegation of or actual infringement of
any third party's intellectual property rights by Content on the Customized Programming or the Customized
Sites, except to the extent any such Liabilities are caused by AOL's acts or omissions. AOL will defend,
indemnify, save and hold harmless HS and HS' officers, directors, agents, Affiliates, distributors,
franchisees and employees from any and all Liabilities arising out of or related to HS' use of the AOL Tools
in accordance with this Agreement, except to the extent the use of the AOL Tools is governed by a separate
agreement mutually entered into by the Parties.
If a Party entitled to indemnification hereunder (the "INDEMNIFIED PARTY") becomes aware of any matter it
believes is indemnifiable hereunder involving any claim, action, suit, investigation, arbitration or other
proceeding against the Indemnified Party by any third party (each an "ACTION"), the Indemnified Party shall
give the other Party (the "INDEMNIFYING PARTY") prompt written notice of such Action. Such notice shall (i)
provide the basis on which indemnification is being asserted and (ii) be accompanied by copies of all
relevant pleadings, demands, and other papers related to the Action and in the possession of the Indemnified
Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have a period of ten (10) days after delivery of such notice to respond.
If the Indemnifying Party elects to defend the Action or does not respond within the requisite ten (10) day
period, the Indemnifying Party shall be obligated to defend the Action, at its own expense, and by counsel
reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party. The Indemnified Party shall cooperate, at the expense of
the Indemnifying Party, with the Indemnifying Party and its counsel in the defense and the Indemnified Party
shall have the right to participate fully, at its own expense, in the defense of such Action. If the
Indemnifying Party responds within the required ten (10) day period and elects not to defend such Action,
the Indemnified Party shall be free, without prejudice to any of the Indemnified Party's rights hereunder,
to compromise or defend (and control the defense of) such Action. In such case, the Indemnifying Party shall
cooperate, at its own expense, with the Indemnified Party and its counsel in the defense against such Action
and the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to participate fully, at its own expense, in the defense of
such Action. Any compromise or settlement of an Action shall require the prior written consent of both
Parties hereunder, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
ACKNOWLEDGMENT. AOL AND HS EACH ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT WERE NEGOTIATED TO
REFLECT AN INFORMED, VOLUNTARY ALLOCATION BETWEEN THEM OF ALL RISKS (BOTH KNOWN AND UNKNOWN) ASSOCIATED WITH
THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER. THE LIMITATIONS AND DISCLAIMERS RELATED TO WARRANTIES AND LIABILITY
CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT ARE INTENDED TO LIMIT THE CIRCUMSTANCES AND EXTENT OF LIABILITY. THE PROVISIONS
OF THIS SECTION VI SHALL BE ENFORCEABLE INDEPENDENT OF AND SEVERABLE FROM ANY OTHER ENFORCEABLE OR
UNENFORCEABLE PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT.
VII.

ARBITRATION

(a) Management Committee. The Parties will act in good faith and use commercially reasonable efforts to
promptly resolve any claim, dispute, controversy or disagreement (each a "DISPUTE") between the Parties or
any of their respective subsidiaries, affiliates, successors and assigns arising under, in connection with
or related to this Agreement or any document executed pursuant to this Agreement or any of the transactions
contemplated hereby.or any document executed pursuant to this Agreement or any of the transactions
contemplated hereby. If the Parties cannot promptly resolve the Dispute, the Dispute will be submitted in
writing to the Management Committee for resolution. For ten (10) days following submission of the Dispute to
the Management Committee, the Management Committee will have the exclusive right to resolve such Dispute;
provided that the Management Committee will have the final and exclusive right to resolve Disputes arising
from any provision of the Agreement which expressly or implicitly provides for the Parties to reach mutual
agreement as to certain terms. If the Management Committee is unable to amicably resolve the Dispute during
the ten−day period, then the Management Committee will consider in good faith for a period of thirty (30)
days the possibility of retaining a third party mediator to facilitate resolution of the Dispute. In the
event the Management Committee elects not to retain a
8
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mediator within such thirty (30) day period, the dispute will be subject to the resolution mechanisms
described below. "MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE" will mean a committee made up of a senior executive from each of the
Parties for the purpose of resolving Disputes under this Section VII and generally overseeing the
relationship between the Parties contemplated by this Agreement. Neither Party will seek, nor will be
entitled to seek, binding outside resolution of the Dispute unless and until the Parties have been unable
amicably to resolve the Dispute as set forth in this Section VII(a) and then, only in compliance with the
procedures set forth in the remainder of this Section VII.
(b) Arbitration. Except for Disputes relating to issues of proprietary rights, including but not limited to
intellectual property and confidentiality, any Dispute not resolved by amicable resolution as set forth in
Section VII(a) will be governed exclusively and finally by arbitration. Such arbitration will be conducted
by JAMS, or if not possible, another comparable ADR/arbitration company, in Washington, D.C. and will be
initiated and conducted in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules ("COMMERCIAL RULES") of JAMS,
including any supplementary procedures applicable to large complex commercial disputes ("COMPLEX
PROCEDURES"), as such rules will be in effect on the date of delivery of a demand for arbitration
("DEMAND"), except to the extent that such rules are inconsistent with the provisions set forth herein.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties may agree in good faith in writing that the Complex Procedures
will not apply in order to promote the efficient arbitration of Disputes where the nature of the Dispute,
including without limitation the amount in controversy, does not justify the application of such procedures.
(c) Selection of Arbitrators. The arbitration panel will consist of three arbitrators. Each Party will name
an arbitrator to be selected from the JAMS−approved list of arbitrators within ten (10) days after the
delivery of the Demand. The arbitrators should be neutral participants, with no prior relationship of any
kind with either Party that may create a conflict of interest. Each Party will select one arbitrator, and
the third arbitrator should be selected by the first two arbitrators. If the two arbitrators are unable to
select a third arbitrator within ten (10) days, a third neutral arbitrator will be appointed by JAMS from
its panel of commercial arbitrators for large and complex cases . Similarly, if either party objects to the
selection of any arbitrator because of an identifiable conflict of interest and the Parties are unable to
resolve the dispute within ten (10) days, then a replacement arbitrator will be appointed by JAMS from its
panel of commercial arbitrators for large and complex cases. If a vacancy in the arbitration panel occurs
after the hearings have commenced, the remaining arbitrator or arbitrators may not continue with the hearing
and determination of the controversy, unless the Parties agree otherwise. If the Parties so desire, the
Parties may agree to proceed with arbitration with one arbitrator upon mutual agreement.
(d) Governing Law. The Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. Secs. 1−16, and not state law, will govern the
arbitrability of all Disputes. The arbitrators will allow such discovery as is appropriate to the purposes
of arbitration in accomplishing a fair, speedy and cost−effective resolution of the Disputes. The
arbitrators will reference the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure then in effect in setting the scope and
timing of discovery. The Federal Rules of Evidence will apply in toto. The arbitrators may enter a default
decision against any Party who fails to participate in the arbitration proceedings.
(e) Arbitration Awards. The arbitrators will have the authority to award compensatory damages only. Any
award by the arbitrators will be accompanied by a written opinion setting forth the findings of fact and
conclusions of law relied upon in reaching the decision. Judgment upon the award may be entered by any court
of competent jurisdiction. The Parties agree that the existence, conduct and content of any arbitration will
be kept confidential and no Party will disclose to any person any information about such arbitration, except
as may be required by law or by any governmental authority or for financial reporting purposes in each
Party's financial statements.
(f) Fees. Each Party will pay the fees of its own attorneys, expenses of witnesses and all other expenses
and costs in connection with the presentation of such Party's case (collectively, "ATTORNEYS' FEES"). The
remaining costs of the arbitration, including without limitation, fees of the arbitrators, costs of records
or transcripts and administrative fees (collectively, "ARBITRATION COSTS") will be borne equally by the
Parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the arbitrators may modify the allocation of Arbitration Costs and
award Attorneys' Fees in those cases where fairness
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dictates a different allocation of Arbitration Costs between the Parties or an award of Attorneys' Fees to
the prevailing Party as determined to be appropriate by the arbitrators.
(g) Non Arbitratable Disputes. Any Dispute that is not subject to final resolution by the Management
Committee or to arbitration under this Section VII (collectively, "NON−ARBITRATION CLAIMS") will be brought
in a court of competent jurisdiction in the Commonwealth of Virginia. Each Party irrevocably consents to the
exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Commonwealth of Virginia and the federal courts situated in the
Commonwealth of Virginia, over any and all Non−Arbitration Claims and any and all actions to enforce such
claims or to recover damages or other relief in connection with such claims.
VIII.

MISCELLANEOUS

AUDITING RIGHTS. Each Party shall maintain complete, clear and accurate records of all expenses, revenues,
fees, transactions and related documentation (including agreements) in connection with the performance of
this Agreement ("RECORDS"). All such Records shall be maintained for a minimum of five (5) years following
termination of this Agreement. For the sole purpose of ensuring compliance with this Agreement, each of HS
and AOL shall have the right, at its expense, to direct an independent certified public accounting firm
subject to strict confidentiality restrictions to conduct a reasonable and necessary copying and inspection
of portions of the Records of the other Party that are directly related to amounts payable to HS or AOL
pursuant to this Agreement. Any such audit may be conducted after twenty (20) business days prior written
notice, subject to the following: Such audits shall not be made more frequently than once every twelve
months.
EXCUSE. Neither Party shall be liable for, or be considered in breach of or default under this Agreement on
account of, any delay or failure to perform as required by this Agreement as a result of any causes or
conditions which are beyond such Party's reasonable control and which such Party is unable to overcome by
the exercise of reasonable diligence. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, AOL's Promotion
commitments hereunder are subject to the prior timely receipt from HS of Licensed Content for such Promotion
which complies with all applicable terms of this Agreement and any standard written policies of AOL.
INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS. The Parties to this Agreement are independent contractors. Neither Party is an
agent, representative or partner of the other Party. Neither Party shall have any right, power or authority
to enter into any agreement for or on behalf of, or incur any obligation or liability of, or to otherwise
bind, the other Party. This Agreement shall not be interpreted or construed to create an association,
agency, joint venture or partnership between the Parties or to impose any liability attributable to such a
relationship upon either Party.
NOTICE. Any notice, approval, request, authorization, direction or other communication under this Agreement
will be given in writing and will be deemed to have been delivered and given for all purposes (a) on the
delivery date if delivered by confirmed facsimile or, in the case of AOL, by electronic mail on the AOL
Network (to screenname "[*]"; (ii) on the delivery date if delivered personally to the Party to whom the
same is directed; or (iii) one business day after deposit with a commercial overnight carrier, with written
verification of receipt; or (iv) on the date of receipt if sent by registered or certified mail. In the case
of AOL, such notice will be provided to both the Vice President, Interactive Marketing Business Development
(fax no. [*]) and the Deputy General Counsel (fax no. [*]), each at the address of AOL set forth in the
first paragraph of this Agreement. In the case of HS, except as otherwise specified herein, such notice will
be provided to the Vice President General Counsel and the Senior Vice President Business Development and the
notice address shall be the address for HS set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no notice related to the breach or termination of this Agreement will be
deemed to have been delivered and given if delivered by electronic mail.
NO WAIVER. The failure of either Party to insist upon or enforce strict performance by the other Party of
any provision of this Agreement or to exercise any right under this Agreement shall not be construed as a
waiver or relinquishment to any extent of such Party's right to assert or rely upon any such provision or
right in that or any other instance;
−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH
RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.
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rather, the same shall be and remain in full force and effect.

RETURN OF INFORMATION. Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement, each Party shall, upon the
written request of the other Party, return or destroy (at the option of the Party receiving the request) all
Confidential Information, documents, manuals and other materials specified by the other Party.
SURVIVAL. Sections IV, V, VI, VII and VIII of this Exhibit D, shall survive the completion, expiration,
termination or cancellation of this Agreement. In addition, all payment terms of this Agreement shall
survive with regard to any accrued payments due and owing before completion, expiration, termination or
cancellation of this Agreement, and any provision that expressly states that it shall survive or which, by
its nature, must survive the completion, expiration, termination or cancellation of this Agreement, shall
survive the completion, expiration, termination or cancellation of this Agreement.
ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and supersedes any and all prior agreements
of the Parties with respect to the transactions set forth herein. Neither Party shall be bound by, and each
Party specifically objects to, any term, condition or other provision which is different from or in addition
to the provisions of this Agreement (whether or not it would materially alter this Agreement) and which is
proffered by the other Party in any correspondence or other document, unless the Party to be bound thereby
specifically agrees to such provision in writing.
AMENDMENT. No change, amendment or modification of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid unless set
forth in a written instrument signed by the Party subject to enforcement of such amendment.
FURTHER ASSURANCES. Each Party shall take such action (including, but not limited to, the execution,
acknowledgment and delivery of documents) as may reasonably be requested by the other Party for the
implementation or continuing performance of this Agreement.
ASSIGNMENT. Neither Party shall assign this Agreement or any right, interest or benefit under this Agreement
without the prior written consent of the other Party. Except as provided below, assumption of this Agreement
by any successor of a Party (including, without limitation, by way of merger, consolidation or sale of all
or substantially all of HS' stock or assets) shall be subject to the other Party's prior written approval.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, HS shall have the right to assign this agreement to an entity controlling,
controlled by, or under common control with HS as part of an internal corporate reorganization without the
prior written approval of AOL. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement shall be fully binding upon, inure
to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.
SUBCONTRACTORS. Each Party shall be responsible for ensuring that all of its consultants and subcontractors
comply with this Agreement and such Party shall be liable for any breaches of this Agreement caused by any
of its consultants or subcontractors.
CONSTRUCTION; SEVERABILITY. In the event that any provision of this Agreement conflicts with the law under
which this Agreement is to be construed or if any such provision is held invalid by a court with
jurisdiction over the Parties to this Agreement, (i) such provision shall be deemed to be restated to
reflect as nearly as possible the original intentions of the Parties in accordance with applicable law, and
(ii) the remaining terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this Agreement shall remain in full
force and effect.
REMEDIES. Except where otherwise specified, the rights and remedies granted to a Party under this Agreement
are cumulative and in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other rights or remedies which the Party may
possess at law or in equity.
APPLICABLE LAW. This Agreement shall be interpreted, construed and enforced in all respects in accordance
with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia except for its conflicts of laws principles.
EXPORT CONTROLS. Both Parties shall adhere to
export of technical data and shall not export
the other Party or the direct product of such
applicable laws, regulations and rules unless
11
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or re−export any technical data, any products received from
technical data to any proscribed country listed in such
properly authorized.
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HEADINGS. The captions and headings used in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not
affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and
all of which together shall constitute one and the same document. Signatures sent by facsimile shall be
deemed original signatures.
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EXHIBIT E
AOL LOOK AND FEEL
INTENTIONALLY DELETED

CONFIDENTIAL
EXHIBIT F
TECHNICAL OPERATING STANDARDS
1.

Customized Site Infrastructure. HS will be responsible for all
communications, hosting and connectivity costs and expenses associated
with the Customized Site. HS will provide all hardware, software,
telecommunications lines and other infrastructure necessary to meet
traffic demands on the Customized Site from the AOL Network. HS will
design and implement the infrastructure and network between the AOL
Network and Customized Site such that (i) no single component failure over
which HS exercises control will have a materially adverse impact on AOL
Users seeking to reach the Customized Site from the AOL Network and (ii)
sufficient bandwidth is maintained to handle sustained load and regular
spikes in traffic. In the event that HS elects to create a custom version
of the Customized Site in order to comply with the terms of this
Agreement, HS will bear responsibility for all aspects of the
implementation, management and cost of such customized site.

2.

Optimization; Speed. HS will use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure
that: (a) the functionality and features within the Customized Site are
optimized for the client software then in use by AOL Members; and (b) the
Customized Site is designed and populated in a manner that minimizes
delays when AOL Users attempt to access such site. At a minimum, HS will
ensure that the Customized Site's data transfers initiate within fewer
than [*] ([*]) seconds on average, excluding HS feeds to AOL DCI. Prior to
commercial launch of any material promotions described herein, HS will
permit AOL to conduct performance, load and browser compatibility testing
of the Customized Site (in person or through remote communications), with
such commercial launch not to commence until such time as AOL is
reasonably satisfied with the results of any such testing.

3.

Technical Problems. HS agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to
address material technical problems (over which HS exercises control)
affecting use by AOL Users of the Customized Site (a "HS Technical
Problem") promptly following notice thereof. In the event of a HS
Technical Problem (including, without limitation, infrastructure
deficiencies producing user delays), AOL will have the right to regulate
the promotions it provides to HS hereunder until such time as HS corrects
the HS Technical Problem at issue.

4.

Monitoring. HS will ensure that the performance and availability of the
Customized Site is monitored on a continuous basis. HS will provide AOL
with contact information (including e−mail, phone, pager and fax
information, as applicable, for both during and after business hours) for
HS's principal business and technical representatives, for use in cases
when issues or problems arise with respect to the Customized Site.

5.

Telecommunications. Where applicable, HS will utilize encryption
methodology to secure data communications between the Parties' data
centers.

6.

Security. On non−email transfers HS will utilize Internet standard
encryption technologies (e.g., Secure Socket Layer − SSL) to provide a
secure environment for conducting transactions and/or transferring private
AOL User information (e.g. credit card numbers, banking/financial
information, and user address information) to and from the Customized
Site. AOL may periodically conduct reviews of the Customized site (hosting
infrastructure) in conjunction with, and facilitated by, HS in order to
evaluate any potential security risks of such site. HS will use
commercially reasonable efforts to promptly remedy any security risks or
breaches of security as may be identified.

7.

Technical Performance.
i.

HS will design the Customized Site to support the AOL−client
embedded versions of the Microsoft Internet Explorer 4.5 and higher
(Windows and Macintosh)and the Netscape Browser 4.7and 6.XX and make
commercially reasonable efforts to support all other AOL browsers
listed at: "http://webmaster.info.aol.com."

ii.

To the extent HS creates customized pages on the Customized Site for

AOL Members, HS shall develop and employ a methodology to detect AOL
Members.
iii.

HS will periodically review the technical information made available
by AOL at http://webmaster.info.aol.com.

iv.

HS will design its site to support HTTP 1.0, 1.1 or later protocol
as defined in RFC 1945 and to adhere to AOL's parameters for
refreshing or preventing the caching of information in AOL's proxy
system as outlined in the document provided at the following URL:
http://webmaster.info.aol.com. HS is responsible for the
manipulation of these parameters in web−based objects so as to allow
them to be cached or not cached as outlined in RFC 1945.

−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH
RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.
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v.

Prior to releasing major or material new functionality through the
Customized Site ("New Functionality"), HS will use commercially
reasonable efforts to (i) test the New Functionality to confirm its
compatibility with AOL Service client software and (ii) provide AOL
with notice of the New Functionality so that AOL can perform tests
of the New Functionality to confirm its compatibility with the AOL
Service client software. Should any new material, new functionality
or features through the Customized Site be released without
notification to AOL, AOL will not be responsible for any adverse
user experience until such time that compatibility tests can be
performed and the new material, functionality or features qualified
for the AOL Service.

8.

AOL Internet Services HS Support. AOL will provide HS with access to the
standard online resources, standards and guidelines documentation,
technical phone support, monitoring and after−hours assistance that AOL
makes generally available to similarly situated web−based partners. AOL
support will not, in any case, be involved with content creation on behalf
of HS or support for any technologies, databases, software or other
applications which are not supported by AOL or are related to any HS area
other than the Customized Site. Support to be provided by AOL is
contingent on HS providing to AOL demo account information (where
applicable), and will make reasonable efforts to provide a detailed
description of the relevant areas of the Customized Site's software,
hardware and network architecture and access to a replicated Quality
Assurance environment of the Customized Site for purposes of such
performance and load testing as AOL elects to conduct.

9.

Industry Standards. In addition to the foregoing standards, and if and to
the extent site standards are not established in this Exhibit with respect
to any other aspect or portion of the Customized Site (or the Products or
other Content contained therein), HS shall provide such aspect or portion
at a level of accuracy, quality, completeness, and timeliness which meets
or exceeds prevailing standards in the applicable industry.

10.

AOL Style Guidelines. HS will be in compliance with the AOL Style
Guidelines as available through the following link:
http://styleguide.aol.com.
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EXHIBIT G
OFFLINE PROMOTION

In (a) all HS television advertisements lasting 30 seconds or longer that include any reference to the HS
Properties (a "REFERENCE") and (b) all HS print advertisements that are greater than one−half (1/2) of the
page size of the publication in which they appear and that include a Reference, HS shall prominently promote
the Customized Sites' availability through America Online(R) and include prominent specific references or
mentions (verbally where possible) of the Customized Sites' availability through America Online(R) except
where the written, generally applicable policies of the publisher prohibits the mention of the HS
Properties' availability through America Online or where creative execution does not permit such promotion;
provided however, that in advertisements that for policy or creative reasons do not include AOL's "keywords"
in an advertisement, HS will provide AOL with mutually agreed alternative cross promotion. In all other HS
television, radio and print advertisements which include a Reference, HS will use commercially reasonable
good faith efforts to prominently promote the Customized Sites' availability through America Online(R) and
include prominent specific references or mentions (verbally where possible) of the Customized Sites'
availability through America Online(R) except where not possible due to space and programming constraints,
or where the creative execution does not permit such promotion. Listing of the "URL(s)" for the Generally
Available Sites in any of HS' advertisements will be accompanied by the AOL "keyword" for the Customized
Site. The foregoing notwithstanding, in the case of advertisements acquired or arranged on a cooperative
basis with any third party and over which HS therefore does not have editorial control, and which include a
Reference, HS shall use commercially reasonable good faith efforts to prominently promote the Customized
Sites' availability through America Online(R) and include prominent specific references or mentions
(verbally where possible) of the Customized Sites' availability through America Online(R).
CONFIDENTIAL

EXHIBIT H
HOME CHANNEL SCREEN SHOTS

CONFIDENTIAL
EXHIBIT I
AOL EXCLUSIVE RELATIONSHIPS
*** Subject to revision by AOL in accordance with the provisions of the
Agreement***
CATEGORY
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*] (Corporate event/company sponsored investor−related events)
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*] (i.e., in retail locations)
[*]
−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH
RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.
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CATEGORY
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*] (for market research purposes)
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]; provided, however, that inclusion of this item on the initial Exhibit I
shall not preclude HS from promoting its "Find a Realtor," "Find a Lender,"
"Find a Mover," "Find a Builder," or "Find Self−Storage" functionality within
the Customized Programming"
−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH
RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.

CONFIDENTIAL

EXHIBIT J
HOMESTORE EMPLOYEE OFFER

HS employees that are located in the United States and not current AOL Members (the "EMPLOYEES") shall be
entitled to receive the following offer during the sixty (60) day period immediately succeeding the Package
Delivery Date (as defined below) in accordance with the terms herein (the "EMPLOYEE OFFER"): unlimited
access to the AOL Service for a subscription fee of $[*] per month for one year from registration (the
"DISCOUNT PERIOD"). AOL shall, at its expense, deliver 1,800 AOL Packages to HS on a date no later than
forty five (45) days following the Effective Date (the "PACKAGE DELIVERY DATE"). HS shall promptly notify
all Employees of the availability of the Offer Request; provided that all communications by HS relating to
the Employee Offer shall be subject to AOL's prior written approval (which may be provided via e−mail), not
to be unreasonably withheld. HS shall provide one (1) AOL Package to each Employee electing to participate
in the Employee Offer. HS shall be responsible for the costs and expenses associated with its distribution
or promotional obligations set forth under this Exhibit J. As used herein, "AOL PACKAGE" means an
AOL−supplied CD−ROM containing the AOL Software and related promotional and packaging materials included
therewith and "AOL SOFTWARE" means the proprietary software used to connect to and use the AOL Service.
Each Employee participating in the Employee Offer must register for the AOL Service during the two (2) month
period immediately succeeding the Package Delivery Date and agree to the terms and conditions of the AOL
Service. The Parties acknowledge that each Employee shall be responsible (and in no event shall AOL or HS be
responsible) for (i) the actions taken by any such Employee under or through his or her AOL Service account,
which actions are subject to AOL's applicable Terms of Service and (ii) for any surcharges, including,
without limitation, all premium charges, transaction charges, and any applicable communication surcharges
incurred by any AOL Service account issued to any such Employee. HS understands and agrees that each AOL
Service account offered to Employees hereunder may only be provided to an Employee and may not be sold,
bartered, exchanged or otherwise provided to any other person or entity for use by such person or entity
(the "EMPLOYEE USAGE REQUIREMENT"). AOL shall have the right to terminate immediately any such AOL Service
account for violation of AOL's Terms of Service or the Employee Usage Requirement, and shall have no
obligation to reinstate or replace any such terminated AOL Service account. Following the Discount Period
for each Employee participating in the Employee Offer hereunder, continued use of such Employee's AOL
Service account established pursuant to the Employee Offer will be subject to payment by the applicable
Employee of AOL's then−standard monthly subscription fee for the AOL Service.
AOL DOES NOT MAKE, AND HEREBY SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS, ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED,
REGARDING THE AOL SOFTWARE, THE AOL PACKAGES, OR ANY OTHER AOL DELIVERABLES UNDER THIS EXHIBIT J, INCLUDING
ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR NONINFRINGEMENT AND IMPLIED
WARRANTIES ARISING FROM COURSE OF DEALING OR COURSE OF PERFORMANCE.
−−−−−−−−−−
[*]
CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS EXHIBIT HAS BEEN OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY
WITH THE COMMISSION. CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT HAS BEEN REQUESTED WITH
RESPECT TO THE OMITTED PORTIONS.
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EXHIBIT 21.01
SUBSIDIARIES OF HOMESTORE, INC.

FULL NAME OF ENTITY
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.

RealSelect, Inc.
The Enterprise of America, Ltd.
National New Homes Co., Inc.
Homebuilder.com (Delaware), Inc.
Homebuyer's Fair, Inc.
WyldFyre Technologies, Inc.
HSTPUS, Inc.
Homestore Sales Company, Inc.
Homestore Service Company, Inc.
Homestore Mobility Technologies, Inc.
Homestore Management Company
Homestore Operations Company
HomeWrite Incorporated
Move.com, Inc.
Welcome Wagon International, Inc.
Getko Direct Response Ltd.
GTKY Printing &Mailing Corp.
Homestore Apartments &Rentals, Inc.
Homestore Consumer Information Corp.
Dealtrack, Inc. (formerly Transactor, Inc.)
(formerly Transco Platform, Inc.)
ConsumerInfo.com, Inc.
Qspace, Inc.
eNeighborhoods, Inc.
InteliQ, LLC
Homestore Laboratories, LLC

26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.

3041776 Nova Scotia Company
3537498 Canada Limited
3537501 Canada Limited
3537510 Canada Limited
3537528 Canada Limited
A−Z Home Store Private Limited
Billart Limited
Blazebest Limited
Homestore Australia Pty Limited

STATE OF INCORPORATION
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

Delaware
Wisconsin
Delaware
Delaware
Arizona
California
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
New York
New York
New York
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Pennsylvania
Pennsylvania
California
California

Nova Scotia, Canada
Ontario, Canada
Ontario, Canada
Ontario, Canada
Ontario, Canada
Delhi, India
England &Wales
England &Wales
Australia

FULL NAME OF ENTITY
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

STATE OF INCORPORATION
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

35.
36.
37.
38.
39.
40.
41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.
48.
49.
50.
51.
52.
53.

Denmark
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Japan
Norway
British Virgin Islands
Hong Kong
Sweden
British Virgin Islands
Brazil
Ireland
British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
England &Wales
Spain
England &Wales
Nova Scotia, Canada
Ontario, Canada
Ontario, Canada

Homestore Europe ApS
Homestore Europe Corporation
Homestore International Licensing Corporation
Homestore International LTD.
Homestore International Ltd.
Homestore International Limited
Homestore International Limited
Homestore International Sweden Kommanditbolag
Homestore International Website Co., Inc.
Homestore Internet LTDA
Homestore Internet Limited
Homestore Japan Domain Ltd.
Homestore Latin America Corporation
Homestore Mobility Technologies Ltd.
Inmoclick Online, S.A.
Movedotcom (UK) Limited
Top Producer Systems Company
Touchtech Corporation
VT Canada Inc.

EXHIBIT 23.01
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S−8 (Nos.
333−72192, 333−58510, 333−55828, 333−54886, 333−48582, 333−46252, 333−84545, 333−89170 and 333−89172) and on
Form S−3 (Nos. 333−72746, 333−61410, and 333−80419) of Homestore, Inc. of our reports dated March 25, 2003,
relating to the financial statements and financial statement schedule of Homestore, Inc. which appear in
this Annual Report on Form 10−K.
/s/

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Century City, California
March 25, 2003

EXHIBIT 23.02
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Homestore, Inc.:

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated March 25, 2003,
appearing in the 2002 Annual Report to Stockholders of Homestore, Inc. (which report and consolidated
financial statements are included in this Annual Report on Form 10−K) also included an audit of the
financial statement schedule listed in Item 14(a)(2) of this Form 10−K. In our opinion, this financial
statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in
conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.
/s/

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Century City, California
March 25, 2003

EXHIBIT 99.01
SCHEDULE II−VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001, AND 2000
(IN THOUSANDS)

ALLOWANCE FOR
DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

BALANCE AT
BEGINNING OF YEAR
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

CHARGED TO COSTS
AND EXPENSES
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

OTHER
−−−−−−−−−

WRITE−OFFS NET
OF RECOVERIES
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

BALANCE AT END
OF YEAR
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−

2002
2001
2000

$

24,225
4,477
1,627

$

5,115
29,990
3,035

$

$

18,642
14,155
974

$

10,698
24,225
4,477

2002
2001
2000

$

323,619
74,611
16,570

$

(28,137)
294,944
42,261

−−
−−
−−

$

348,793
323,619
74,611

−−
3,913 (1)
789 (1)

VALUATION ALLOWANCE FOR
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
$ 53,311 (1)(2)
(45,936)(1)(2)
15,780 (1)(2)

$

−−−−−−−−−−
(1) Balances acquired from acquisitions.
(2)

Balances will be credited to equity upon reduction of valuation allowances.

Exhibit 99.02
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES−OXLEY ACT OF 2002
(CHAPTER 63, TITLE 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350(A) AND (B))

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of 2002 (Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. Section 1350(a) and
(b)), each of the undersigned hereby certifies in his capacity as an officer of Homestore, Inc. (the
"Company") that the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10−K for the year ended December 31, 2002 fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the
information contained in such Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company at the end of and for the periods covered by such Report.
Dated: March 25, 2003
/s/ W. Michael Long
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
W. Michael Long
Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Lewis R. Belote, III
−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−−
Lewis R. Belote, III
Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes−Oxley Act of
2002 (Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. Section 1350(a) and (b)), is not deemed to be filed as a part of the Form
10−K to which it refers and is, to the extent permitted by law, provided by each of the above signatories to
the extent of his knowledge. A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been
provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.
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